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Critical acclaim for
THE WAR ON FREEDOM

“Thisrivetingand thoroughly documented study is a ‘must’ resource for

everyone seeking to understand the attack on the World Trade Center of New
York on September 11, 2001 and ‘America's New War' since. It connects
together over 10 years of relevant covert actions and decisions by top-level
U.S. security-state operations, and organises the whole into a coherent and
devastating expose of the real meaning and construction of the historic turn
of ‘the war againgt terrorism’ now rewriting laws and congtitutions across
borders. For those who have seen or filed facts on these matters from web-
disclosures and scattered revelations of newspapers, this volume provides the
detailed documentation in a definitive and masterful record.”
Professor John McMurtry, Department of Philosophy, University of
Ontario; Fellow at the Royal Society of Canada; Chair of Jurists, War
Crimes and Crimes Against Humanity Tribunal at the Alternative
World Summit in Toronto, 1989 (Canada)

“The most complete book | know of, summarizing the relevant background
and foreground intersecting upon the events of September 11, 2001... A tour de
force in every respect: organization, methodology, timeliness, clarity of
purpose and of scope, activist commitment to more inquiry, evenness, relaive
comprehensiveness... | can’t say how much | admirethiswork. It must be seen
by as many people as possible al over the world as soon as possible.”

Barry Zwicker, Producer and Host, MediaFile, Vison TV Insight;
award-winningjournalist on CBC-TV and CTV (Canada)

“The material you have collected isimmensdly important and useful. You
look at the right subjects and report anumber of things | had missedentirely...
We need more people doing the important research that you have done.”
Professor Peter Dale Scott, Co-Founder of the Peace and Conflict
Studies Program, University of California, Berkeley (United States)

“Powerful, disturbing, and interesting indeed. Y our excellent research on
the background of Sep 11 should become known to a larger audience.”
Professor Arno  Tausch, Institute  for Palitical Science,
University of Innsbruck (Austria)

“A meticulous investigation of circumstances, events and circumstantial
evidence of what really happened before and on September 11. There aren’t
many people who till take the task of following the trails of their own
doubts... Your excellent report goes deep into what realy happened and
what the American defense machinery had let happen.”

Peter G. Spengler, Editor, Contemporary Studies (Germany)
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in the terrorist attacks against the United States on
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and to all the other victims of terrorism around the world,

including those killed, injured and starving in Afghanistan.
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Quotations 9

“In the councils of government, we must guard against the
acquisition of unwarranted influence, whether sought or unsought,
by the military-industrial complex. The potential for the disastrous

rise of misplaced power exists and will persist. We must never let the
weight of this combination endanger our liberties or democratic
processes. We should take nothing for granted. Only an alert and
knowledgeable citizenry can compel the proper meshing of the huge
industrial and military machinery of defense with our peaceful
methods and goals, so that security and liberty may
prosper together.”

Dwight D. Eisenhower, President of the United States of America,
Farewell Address (17 January 1961)

“Turkistan, Afghanistan, Transcaspia, Persia... are the pieceson a
chessboard upon which is being played out a game for the dominance
of theworld.”

Lord George Curzon, British Foreign Secretary,
Russia in Central Asia (1889)

“Power tendsto corrupt, and absolute power corrupts absolutely.”

Lord John Acton, Regius Professor of Modern History
at Cambridge University (1887)

“Those who would sacrifice liberty for security deserve neither.”

Benjamin Franklin, Founding Father of the United States of America,
Historical Review of Pennsylvania (1759)
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Preface

On the 11™ September 2001, a catastrophe occurred which signaled
unprecedented transformations in world order. Two hijacked jetliners hit the
World Trade Center (WTC) in New York City, a third hit the Pentagon
outside Washington, and a fourth hijacked plane crashed into a field in
Pennsylvania. Trading on Wall Street stopped. The Federal Aviation
Administration (FAA) halted all flight operations at U.S. airports. President
Bush addressed the nation, vowing to “find those responsible and bring them
to justice” Hundreds of New York City firemen and policemen sent to
rescue WTC workers were lost when the WTC Twin Towers collapsed. So
far, the confirmed desth toll appears to be just under 3,000.

The world has, indeed, changed forever—but not necessarily in the way
davishly described by the mgjority of academic and media commentators.
This study analyses the events of 11" September 2001, the responses of U.S.
government, military, and intelligence agencies, as well as the historica,
strategic and economic context of current U.S. policy. The study examines
the development of U.S. policy prior to, and in the aftermath of, the 11"
September attacks, in relation to Afghanistan and the surrounding region, as
well as within the U.S. It builds on the conclusions of previous papers by this
author, Afghanistan, the Taliban and the United States: The Role of Human
Rights in Western Foreign Policy1 and Distortion, Deception and Terrorism:
The Bombing of Afghanistan 2 aswell asthe work of other researchers.

The study begins by examining the history of U.S. palicy in Afghanistan
from the 1980s to the year 2001. It highlights evidence that a war on
Afghanistan had been planned for severa years prior to the terrible tragedy
that occurred on 11" September on U.S. soil. It attempts to explore the
interests from which these U.S. military plans may have sprung, principally
those related to the strategic and economic domination of Central Asia and
the Caspian. The study further investigates the multiple warnings of the 11"
September attacks received by the U.S. intelligence community, and in that
context considers in detail the U.S. response to those attacks. It aso
investigates the history of relations between the U.S. and Osama bin Laden,
and their possible impact on the events of the 11" September.

The study then considers the developments in Afghanistan as well as
within the United States, as a consequence of the U.S.-led military
intervention that began in October 2001. The purpose of this study is not to
provide exhaustive conclusions, but to point to the most pertinent questions
and issues that have as yet to be thoroughly examined in a comprehensive
manner, by assessing the facts on record.
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Nevertheless, | do outline a variety of conclusions based on examination
of the facts surrounding the 11" September attacks. Neither the facts
themsealves, nor the inferences | draw therefrom, are palatable. However,
they are worthy of urgent consideration, not only by members of the public,
but by our purported politica leaders and representatives. In the fina
analysis, this study is an attempt to collate the facts on the 11" September
attacks, no matter how unsavory they may be. While | frequently analyse
these facts to derive their logical implications, thus arguing and articulating
my conclusions, ultimately | leave it to the reader to make up their mind as to
what they believe the facts suggest. My hope is that the reader will find the
most value in this study in the scandalous facts recorded herein, rather than
merely in my logical inferences therefrom.

Notes

! Ahmed, Nafeez M., ‘Afghanistan, the Taliban and the United States: The Role
of Human Rights in Western Foreign Policy,’ Institute for Afghan Studies,
January 2001. Republished by Media Monitors Network, April 2001. Featured
on Central Asia section of Conflict Prevention Initiative, Program on
Humanitarian Policy and Conflict Research, Cambridge MA, Harvard
University, www.preventconflict.org/portal/centralasialresearch_taliban. php.

2 Ahmed, Nafeez, ‘Distortion, Deception and Terrorism: The Bombing of
Afghanistan,” Media Monitors Network, October 2001. Republished by Global
Issues, October 2001, www.globalissues.org. Republished in revised format by
International Socialist Review, November-December 2001.
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Foreword: a Synopsis

In The War on Freedom brilliant British scholar Nafeez M. Ahmed
writes with cool, factua understatement a story that begs comprehension:
compelling evidence that the U.S government instigates terrorism as the
perfect pretext to justify an aggressive foreign policy—up to and including
the September 11 attacks on the World Trade Center and Pentagon.
Agtonishing as his thesis may seem, the thoughtful reader will find that it
explains many obvious puzzles.

How could our intelligence services fail to thwart such an ambitious
project as 9/117?

Why did our government immediately point the finger at Bin Laden, yet
refuse to release the evidence? Were they loath to reveal their complicity,
if they had been monitoring the ‘Boeing Bombing' plot al aong, and let
it happen?

Why did the White House ram through legal measures immediately after
the attacks that essentially repedl the Bill of Rights and the Freedom of
Information Act?

Ahmed's extensive research also brings to light some less well-known
puzzles. Isn't it strange that:

An investment from the bin Laden family started George Bush Jr. in
business, and the war in Afghanistan will make the Bush family richer.

The activities of aformer U.S. Army Sergeant who trained Al-Qaeda and
participated in the Embassy bombings suggest that the U.S. continues to
protect bin Laden as a strategic asset.

Members of Al-Qaeda were trained in terrorism by the CIA in the USA,
and the hijackers themselves were trained by the U.S. military.

The U.S. financialy supported the Pakistani secret services, which
funded presumed hijacker Mohammed Atta.

A crescendo of warnings from intelligence services around the world in
early September were selectively ignored, while high-level orders were
issued to block investigations of suspected terrorists linked to Bin Laden.
Three FBI officers tegtified that they had known the names of the
hijackers and the date of the planned attack weeks before it happened, but
were muzzled by superiors under threat of prosecution; their counsel was
the U.S. Congress' chief prosecutor in the Clinton impeachment case.

Standard operating procedure is for Air Force fighters to intercept
hijacked planes immediately, but this was not done until it was al over
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on September 11, an hour and a haf after the World Trade Center was
hit.

Intelligence experts deride the possibility that Bin Laden could have
carried out such sophisticated, precise attacks without the support of a
state-run intelligence organization.

Bin Laden got away, and the war on him remains an open-ended
campaign, justifying any presidentia policy, from attacking Iraq to
plundering Social Security.

Loyal, law-abiding American readers may find al this too difficult to
believe. We ae taught certain civic vaues, and we believe our
democraticaly elected government upholds them. Yet, even Genera Dwight
D. Eisenhower warned us against the military-industrial complex...

How and why could the American presidency in effect wreak terror on
its own citizens? The WTC attack, widely considered epoch-making, was
certainly an immense opener for the war and oil lobbies, and for the
projection of naked power. Ahmed unveils the linkages between the Bush,
Cheney, Saudi, and Iragi oil fortunes, as well as the shared anti-Soviet
geopolitics of the CIA and the Iamic mujahideen in Centra Asia

How much of U.S. history and foreign policy has been made by
manufacturing a pretext to attack a weaker enemy? Ahmed answers the
guestion here in reference to the Afghan war, as he has earlier in a series of
brilliant articles on U.S. intervention in Latin America and other regions (see
http://nafeez.mediamonitors.net.)

| am not an historian by trade, but | remember not only the Alamo, but
the Maine, which we found out 100 years later the Spanish didn’t blow up;
our intercession in WWI, from which Europe never recovered; and how FDR
invited the Japanese to demolish our navy at Pearl Harbor. Isn't it time to
investigate this subversive government within a government, the war party
with its ruthless secret services?

People around the world are saying they like America and Americans—
it's our government they can’t stand. Yet itisour civic responsibility to keep
an eye on it, and not hide our heads in the sand of so-called patriotism.

God willing, Ahmed's call for an investigation will be heard and the
evidence he has so diligently gathered will be examined. If his thesis is
proved right, then the September 11 attacks will truly be epoch-making for
freedom and democracy.

John Leonard

Tree of Life Publications
February 2002
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Executive Summary®

The current state of affairs in Afghanistan has its roots in a history that
can be traced back to at least the end of the 19™ century. Afghanistan has
been the victim of numerous catastrophic interventions by the world's
superpowers, from the British Empire, to the Soviet Union and the United
States, which have left the country devastated and in ruins. Yet even a brief
historical overview of these interventions makes it clear that the superpowers
had no intention to improve the affairs of the people of Afghanistan. Rather,
their involvement was motivated by their own interests, that were primarily
dtrategic and economic in nature.

During the late 1970s, the USSR installed a puppet regime, the Peopl€’s
Democratic Party of Afghanistan (PDPA), that served its own interests and
trampled upon those of the common people. A Communist party, the PDPA
came to power through a coup d'etat that was largely sponsored and
supported by the Soviet Union, athough it did implement a variety of
modernisation programmes. However, there was a general discontent with
this regime which, despite some beneficial reforms, consolidated its power
through a variety of brutal policies.

Fearing that it would lose its influence in the region, the Soviet Union
sent troops into the Afghan capital, Kabul, in a full-fledged invasion of the
country. Contrary to conventional wisdom, which presupposes that American
support for the Afghan resistance against Soviet occupation was triggered by
the USSR’s invasion, historical records prove otherwise. In redity, the U.S.
had been sponsoring rebel movements within Afghanistan prior to the Soviet
invasion. The result, anyhow, was a brutal civil war in the country effectively
engineered by both superpowers to secure their influence and control. There
was no regard for either human rights or democracy, despite the jingoistic lip
service paid to these by top U.S. and Soviet officias.

The U.S. supported the Afghan rebels in their fight against the Soviet
Union throughout the 1980s, until Soviet forces pulled out of Afghanistan.
This support from Washington came in overt forms, such as alowing and
encouraging client states, Saudi Arabia and Pakistan, to sdl ams to the
Afghan mujahideen, and covertly, through direct CIA involvement, such as
funds and training. After the Soviet withdrawal from Afghanistan in 1988,
the country fell into a chaotic civil war between the various rebel factions
previoudy supported by the U.S. Eventudly, one of these factions, the
Taliban, gained control over most of the country by the mid-1990s.

The Tdliban, like their Northern Alliance predecessors, were no
democrats, no agrarian reformers. Their policies of cruel oppression towards
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women, their ethnic cleansing of minorities such as the Hazaras of the north,
their indiscriminate use of torture againgt prisoners, and many other such
atrocities, are well-documented by numerous human rights groups. But such
issues were irrelevant in the eyes of the U.S. government, whose only interest
in the region was that a “stable’ regime emerge, which in officia
doublespeak means a regime that serves U.S. dtrategic and economic
interests, even if that be at the expense of the Afghan population.

Also well documented is the crucial factor of the abundant oil and gas
resources recently discovered in the Caspian Sea. Afghanistan is considered
the prime trans-shipment route for pipelines to these energy deposits. From
another perspective, Afghanistan has great strategic value to those powers
who desire to expand their hegemony® to global proportions. In fact,
Afghanistan has long been recognised as the principal gateway to Centra
Asia, which was described in a 1997 Council on Foreign Relations (CFR)
study as the instrument of control of Eurasia, and thus the world.

In other words, there could be no claim to ‘democracy’ or ‘human rights
when the U.S. government was covertly supporting the Taliban. The cozy
relationship between certain U.S. high-ranking officials and Taliban
members in the later half of the 1990s is not a secret. Indeed, when strategic
and economic interests were weighed in contrast to ideals such as human
rights and freedom, the former took precedence. We see this played out
perfectly in American policy towards Afghanistan.

Indeed, the anti-Tdiban stance of the U.S. government grew, not out of
any specific concern for the human rights of the Afghan people, but out of a
more general and growing redlisation that the Taliban regime would be
incapable of serving as a vehicle of U.S. entry into Central Asia. In relation
to this, extensve U.S. government and corporate planning for the
establishment of pipelines to the vast oil and gas reserves of the Caspian
basin were put on hold, because of the insufficient security in Afghanistan
under Tdiban rule. As confirmed in 1998 Congressional hearings on U.S.
interests in Central Asia, a unified, stable and friendly regime in Afghanistan
was needed to allow the pipelines to be built and remain safe.

A number of factors were critical in the growing U.S. recognition that the
Taiban could not provide any such security. By the year 2001, while
formulating specific plans to invade Afghanistan and topple the Tdiban,
George W. Bush Jr.’s administration began a series of negotiations with the
Taliban to save its relationship with that regime. U.S. officias called for a
government of national unity, in which al factions, including the Taliban,
would participate—but the Taliban were unwilling to compromise their own
power.
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Accordingly, U.S. officials promised the Taliban that they would suffer
the consequences by facing “a carpet of bombs,” and further noted privately
that the military plans would be implemented by October 2001. Extensive
evidence on record indicates that the Bush administration intended to invade
Afghanistan and overthrow the Taliban regime quite independently of the
events of 11" September. The war on Afghanistan was thus not a response to
11™ September. On the contrary, there is a long record of in-depth strategic
planning at the root of U.S. military plans to invade Afghanistan. Much of
this evidence is available in a 1997 CFR study by former National Security
Adviser Zbigniew Brzezinski, who discusses in detail U.S. plans to secure
hegemony over Central Asia as a means to the control of Eurasia, and
thereby the expansion and consolidation of globa U.S. hegemony,
unhindered by potential rivals, such as Russia and China.

Againgt this backdrop, there is considerable evidence that, from 1995 to
2001, the American intelligence community was in receipt of multiple
credible warnings of aterrorist attack on U.S. soil orchestrated by Osama bin
Laden. Contrary to the officia line of the Bush administration, this
information, which was taken serioudly by the U.S. intelligence community,
specified the hijacking of civilian arplanes to be flown into key U.S.
buildings in Washington, DC and New Y ork City, including the World Trade
Centre. The nature of these urgent warnings converged in a manner
specifying that the attacks would occur between early and mid-September,
while other credible information pinpointed 11" September as a likely watch
date. Yet despite this extensive forewarning of the attacks, the Bush
administration failed to act.

The failure to act was even more apparent on 11" September itself.
There are clear rules established by the Federal Aviation Administration and
the Department of Defense for responding to emergency situations, including
hijacking. Y et, athough four planes were almost simultaneoudy hijacked on
11™ September, the U.S. Air Force systematicaly failed to respond in
accordance with these rules, which are normaly adhered to with routine,
since they constitute Standard Operating Procedures (SOP). Subsequently,
various officiad government accounts and statements have been issued
attempting to deflect public attention from, thus denying the redlity of, the

collapse of SOP on 11" September.

In this context, the systematic violation of Standard Operating
Procedures by the U.S. Air Force is an event that appears to have occurred
with the complicity of key government and military officials in the Bush
administration. This notion is supported by evidence that both President
George W. Bush Jr. and Chairman of the Joint Chiefs of Staff Richard B.
Myers displayed utter indifference to notification they received of the
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commencement of an air attack on the World Trade Centre, despite their
responsibility at that time to ensure the security of the American nation.

The ominous implications of these facts are exacerbated in light of
various revelations about the long-standing financial, diplomatic, military
and intelligence ties between the members of the Bush administration and
figures linked to Osama bin Laden—not to mention Osama himself. Reports
indicate that until just after 11" September, the Bush family had close
financial ties to the bin Laden family, and both were set to reap substantial
profits from the war on Afghanistan through their mutua involvement in the
U.S. defence industry. This has been accompanied by credible reports that
Osama bin Laden has not broken away from his family and maintains ties
with them. Further reports show that the Bush administration has
systematically blocked attempts to apprehend Osama bin Laden, aong with
intelligence investigations of the terrorist connections of the bin Laden
family and Saudi royals implicated in supporting Osama.

This state of affairs has largely continued in the aftermath of 11™
September, despite the fact noted by former Deputy Director and Director of
Antiterrorism for the FBI, John O’ Nelll, that the key to Osamabin Laden lies
in Saudi Arabia. Indeed, abundant evidence indicates that the U.S.
government has simultaneously maintained ties with figures in Saudi Arabia
and Pakistan who support Osama bin Laden and Al-Qaeda, while blocking
al meaningful investigations of those figures.

A particularly damning example is the U.S. response to revelations first
in India, and then in Pakistan, that the then Director-Genera of Pakistani
military intelligence, Mahmoud Ahmad, had funneled $100,000 to the lead
hijacker, Mohamed Atta, shortly before 11" September. The Bush
administration, on confirming this fact through the FBI, blocked any further
inquiry into the role of Pakistani military intelligence in supporting Al-Qaeda
by requesting that Ahmad, from behind-the-scenes, quietly pursue early
retirement as a purported consequence of routine re-shuffling.

In the aftermath of 11" September, the Bush administration embarked on
a devastating bombing campaign in Afghanistan, killing up to 5,000 Afghan
civilians—amost double the number of civilians killed in the World Trade
Center and Pentagon attacks. This massive bombardment of the country
resulted in the destruction of the Taliban regime, making way for the
installation of a new, interim government.

The new regime effectively constituted a return to the pre-Taliban era,
when Northern Alliance factions ruled most of Afghanistan, brutalisng and
repressing the civilian population in the same manner as the Taliban. Now,
however, Northern Alliance warlords have been bound by U.S.-UN brokered
agreements designed to ensure the minimisation of civil war breaking out
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between rival warlords, the idea being to create the regiona stability
essential to lending an appropriate degree of security for proposed pipelines
to Caspian oil and gas. The rights and wishes of the Afghan people,
meanwhile, have been ignored.

Subsequently, on the pretext of entering into a new “war on terror,” the
Bush administration successfully secured unlimited war powers, free from
Congressional accountability. This has edablished an open-ended
militarisation of foreign policy in which any country can be targeted at will
on the pretext of harbouring terrorists.

In the U.S., this has been accompanied by unprecedented curbs on civil
liberties and basc human rights, the crushing of domestic dissent, and the
criminalisation of legitimate protest. Many authoritative commentators have
described these domestic measures as moves toward the establishment of an
American police state. The combinationof militarisation abroad and repression
at home has granted the Bush administration a free hand to pursue its strategic
and economic interests, consolidating a permanent military presence in
Afghanistan and Central Asia, and moving swiftly to establish lucrative
pipeline dedl's to secure access to regional resources and energy deposits. It has
alowed the Bush adminidration to chalenge its principa rivals—Europe,
China and Russa—in the pursuit of control of Central Asia, with the final
objective of consolidating U.S. hegemony over the entirety of Eurasia, thus
moving toward the establishment of unrivalled gl obal hegemony.

Prior to 11" September, al of this was inconceivable. The tragic
catastrophe of 11™ September, which was apparently permitted to occur by
the Bush administration—and further effectively pushed forward by the
administration through its ongoing support of key alies in Saudi Arabia and
Pakistan who support bin Laden and Al-Qaeda—allowed the U.S. to expand,
consolidate and empower its hegemony, both a home and abroad, to an
unprecedented level.

In the epilogue, John Leonard gives a historical perspective on the

Federa executive's repeated, clandestine use of staged provocations to get
America into foreign wars, and presents published evidence pointing to the

involvement of Maossad, Isragli military intelligence, in September 11.

Notes

® Mohamed Ahmad, a Researcher for the Institute for Policy Research &
Development, contributed to this Executive Summary.

* Hegemony: The predominant influence or rule, as of a state, region, or group,
over another or others.
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1. The Role of the International Community
in the Afghan Crisis

“Civilians are the targets of human rights abusesin awar they have
not chosen, by one faction after another... They are pawnsin a game
of war between armed groups inside Afghanistan backed by different
regional powers. Meanwhile, the world has watched massacr es of
civilians without making any meaningful effort to protect them.”

(Amnesty International News Release,
‘Civilians in a game of war they have not chosen,’
27" May 1999)

Many opinion-makers deride the idea that the September 11th terrorist
attacks could have been somehow linked to American foreign policy. To
seek such connections may be seen as adding insult to injury, or unpatriotic.

At the same time, it is clear that such an outrage could not appear smply
out of the blue. We have the explanation of George W. Bush, that it was an
attack on freedom, by terrorists who hate freedom. While this makes an
excellent formula for a speech to elementary schoolers, little evidence to
support such a smple theory was found, during this author's extensive
research on the origins of the 9-11 attacks.

The abundant documentation provided in the following analysis does
show how globa terrorism is intimately interconnected with U.S. foreign
policy, in complex and surprising ways. To fully understand how and why
New York City and the Pentagon could have been targeted by Al-Qaeda
terrorists out of Afghanistan, we need to grasp the roots of this terrorism, and
the thrust of U.S. policy in Afghanistan, both before and after September 11,
2001

To plumb the welsprings of U.S. and Al-Qaeda policies, we will need
some familiarity with the historical context that gave rise to them, from the
severe crises that have ravaged Afghanistan for many decades; the impact of
U.S. and Soviet strategy and intervention during and since the Cold War; the
rise of extremist religious factions, of Al-Qaeda, and the Taliban in
Afghanistan, during the 1990s; the rise of global “Idamic terrorism,” and
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finaly, to the logistics of the devastating terror attacks that brought down the
Twin Towers. To do judtice to the task of uncovering how and why the
September 11th terrorist attacks took place, we start at the beginning of both
how and why, with an ingpection of the political changes in Afghanistan
during the Cold War.

Cold War Imperialism

The decades-long Afghan criss is a direct result of self-seeking
interference by the two leading superpowers, the United States and the Soviet
Union, during the Cold War. The roots of this interference can be found in
Afghanistan’'s coup of 1978, which brought a new government to power in
the Afghan capital, Kabul, headed by Nur Muhammad Taraki. This coup
d'etat by Taraki’'s party—the People’'s Democratic Party of Afghanistan
(PDPA)—had been precipitated by the previous government's arrest of
amost the entire leadership of the PDPA. That had been an attempt to
annihilate any viable opposition to the government of the time, which was
led by Muhammad Daud.

The leader of the PDPA, Taraki, had then been freed in an uprising by
the lower ranks of the military. Within a day, Daud and his government were
overthrown, with Daud killed in the process. Many of the leaders of the
PDPA had studied or received military training in the USSR; moreover, the
Soviet Union had pressured the PDPA—which had split into two factions in
1967—t0 reunite in 1977. So the PDPA was the main Soviet-orientated
Communist organisation in Afghanistan.

The military coup of 1978 was thus effectively engineered by the USSR,
which had significant leverage over the PDPA and its activities. Afghanistan
subsequently became exclusively dependent on Soviet aid, unlike previous
governments that had attempted to play off the U.S. and USSR against each
other, refraining from exclusive aignment with either.

Like the previous government, the PDPA did go on to implement certain
programmes of socia development and reform—athough these were
primarily related to urban areas. For example, Daud's government had used
foreign aid from both the USSR and the U.S. (primarily the USSR) to build
roads, schools and implement other development projects, thereby increasing
the mobility of the country’s people and products—not that this necessarily
eliminated the severe problems faced by masses of the Afghan population.

For instance, 5 per cent of Afghanistan's rura landowners still owned
more than 45 per cent of arable land. A third of the rura people were
landless labourers, sharecroppers or tenants, and debts to the landlords were a
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regular feature of rurd life. An indebted farmer ended up turning over half
his annua crop to the moneylender. Illiteracy in rural areas was 90.5 per
cent, and literacy was four times rarer among women than men, with a
femaleilliteracy at 96.3 per cent.

The Communist PDPA government under Taraki had similarly imposed
some socia programmes like Daud’' s government: It moved to remove both
usury and inequalities in land-ownership and cancelled mortgage debts of
agricultural labourers, tenants and small landowners. It established literacy
programmes, especialy for women, printing textbooks in many languages,
training more teachers, building additiona schools and kindergartens, and
ingtituting nurseries for orphans.

Nonetheless, the new regime was the result of a violent military coup by
atiny faction, without rapport with the wishes of the mgjority of the Afghan
people, and it did not gain their support or participation. PDPA policies, as a
stage in a revolutionary programme imposed by force and without the
approval of the people, served instead to destroy even the state institutions
established over the previous century.

The new government, like previous ones, was essentialy illegitimate,
with no substantial representation of the Afghan population. It was, for
example, responsible for arresting, torturing and executing both real and
suspected enemies, setting off the first mgjor refugee flows to neighbouring
Pakistan. Such policies of repression and persecution, resulting in the killing
of thousands, as well as the forceful impostion of a Communist
revolutionary programme that was oblivious to the sentiments of the majority
of the Afghan masses, sparked off popular revolts led by loca sociad and
religious leaders—usually with no link to national political groups. These
revolts broke out in different parts of the country in response to the
government’s atrocities. Furthermore, during the Soviet occupation, despite
the modest ‘modernising’ policies that were primarily urban in character, the
bifurcation® of Afghan society and economy deepened greatly. °

The PDPA was, therefore, essentially a Communist dictatorship alied
with the Soviet Union. This was unlike the previous government of Daud's,
that was not exclusively dlied to ether superpower (neither the U.S. nor the
USSR). However, each superpower wished Afghanistan to remain within its
own sphere of influence, due to the traditiona brand of political, economic
and strategic interests. Their wishes resulted in one of the last brutal episodes
of the Cold War: the Afghanistan war, that began several months after the
1978 Saur coup (named after the Afghan month when the coup took place),
and was a manifestation of the two superpowers attempts to gain control of a
region of very high geostrategic significance.
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Although the USSR had been interfering in Afghan affairs long before
the United States, it is worth noting that, contrary to conventiona wisdom,
the U.S. appears to have begun operations in Afghanistan before the full-
fledged Soviet invasion. Former National Security Adviser under the Carter
Administration, Zbigniew Brzezinski, has admitted that an American
operation to infiltrate Afghanistan was launched long before Russia sent in
its troops on 27" December 1979. Agence France Press reported that:
“Despite forma denias, the United States launched a covert operation to
bolster anti-Communist guerrillas in Afghanistan at least six months before
the 19797 Soviet invasion of the country, according to a former top U.S.
official.”

Elaborating, Brzezinski confirmed that: “We actualy did provide some
support to the mujahideen before the invasion.”® “We did not push the
Russians into invading, but we knowingly increased the probability that they
would.” He aso bragged: “That secret operation was an excellent idea. The
effect was to draw the Russians into the Afghan trap.”® Former CIA Director
Robert Gates similarly affirmed in his memoirs From the Shadows that U.S.
intelligence began to aid rebels in Afghanistan six months before the Soviet
intervention. ™

In other words, the U.S. appears to have been attempting to foster and
manipulate unrest amongst various Afghan factions to destabilise the aready
unpopular Communist regime and bring the country under the U.S. sphere of
influence. This included the recruitment of local leaders and warlords to form
mercenary rebel groups, who would wage war against the Soviet-backed
government in order to institute a new regime under American control.

In December 1979, Russia intervened in order to reinforce its dominance
over Afghanistan because the PDPA was, according to Brzezenski's
testimony, being destabilised by a U.S. operation to infiltrate Afghanistan
that had commenced at a much earlier date. The U.S. had evidently aso
wished to bring this strategic region under its own hegemony. Anticipating
this attempt by the U.S. to destabilise the pro-Soviet PDPA and ingtdl a new
pro-American regime in Afghanistan, Russia undertook a full-fledged
invasion to keep the country under its own sphere of influence. Afghan
analyst Dr. Nour Ali observes of the ensuing U.S. policy:

“Following the invasion of Afghanistan by the former Soviet Union in
late December 1979, hundreds of high ranking Afghan politicians and
technocrats as well as army officers including generas entered into
Pakistan with the hope of organizing the needed resistance to oppose
the invader in order to liberate Afghanistan. Unfortunately and
regrettably the U.S. Government in collusion with Pakistan’'s leaders
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took abusive advantage of the opportunity so as to exploit it fully and

by al manner of means to their own and exclusive illegitimate benefits

and objectives, which had been threefold: (i) to rule out the creation of
any responsible and independent Afghan organization among Afghans,

interacting directly with Washington, to support Afghan resistance, (ii)

to repulse the Red Army by using exclusively the blood of Afghans,

and (iii) to make of Afghanistan a satellite if not an integrated part of

Pakistan in return for Pekistani leaders services, but in complete

disregard to Afghan peopl€'s sovereignty and sacrifices.”™*

The CIA, in dliance with Pakistani military intelligence, did provide
covert military aid, training and direction to the Afghan rebels. The U.S--
sponsored operation aso involved the creation of an extremist religious
ideology derived from, but distorting the actua teachings of, Idam:
“Predominant themes were that Islam was a complete socio-political
ideology, that holy Idlam was being violated by the atheistic Soviet troops,
and that the Idamic people of Afghanistan should reassert their independence
by overthrowing the leftist Afghan regime propped up by Moscow.”* The
overal result was a brutal civil war manipulated by the two superpowers that
drove 6 million Afghan people from their homes.

Afghanistan After the Cold War

By 1991-92, the U.S. and the USSR finally reached an agreement that
neither would continue to supply aid to any faction in Afghanistan. However,
the numerous militant factions previously funded and armed by the U.S. have
been vying for supremacy. Out of these factions funded by the CIA, various
elements went on to form the Taliban, an apparently |damic movement. With
the departure of Soviet troops in 1989, these factions began competing with
one another for dominance, the Taliban eventualy arising as the most
powerful force in Afghanistan. As a coherent politico-military faction or
movement, the Taliban did not exist prior to October 1994, but were
members of other factions, such as Harakat-e Iami and Mohammad Nabi
Mohammadi, or operated independently without a centralised command
centre.

The ultimate result was that post-Cold War Afghanistan remained in a
dtate of anarchical civil war, with the Taliban emerging as the most powerful
faction in the country by the mid-1990s. One can therefore conclude that, as
aresult of astring of proxy wars that were the result of manipulation by both
the U.S. and the former USSR, Afghanistan has been plunged into a state of
perpetual humanitarian catastrophe.
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Development specidist Dr. J. W. Smith, founder and Director of
Research for the Californiabased Institute for Economic Democracy,
summarises the humanitarian catastrophe of Afghanistan, commenting on
Brzezinski’ s admission of the U.S. operation in the country:

“Afghanistan was also a U.S. destabilization. In 1998, Zbigniew
Brzezinski, President Carter's National Security Advisor... admitted
that covert U.S. intervention began long before the USSR sent in
troops... Take note of what was ‘an excellent idea’: A country rapidly
developing and moving towards modernization was politically and
economically shattered, amost 2 million Afghans were killed, the most
violent and anti-American of the groups supported by the CIA are now
the leaders of Afghanistan, these religious fundamentalists set human
rights back centuries to the extent they are even an embarrassment to
neighboring Mudim fundamentalists, and both Mudim and non-
Muslim governments within the region fear destabilization through
Taleban fundamentalism.” **

Smith fails, however, to take into account the illegitimacy of the Soviet
puppet regime and its policies of repression. The fact is, both the U.S. and
USSR bear responsibility for having attempted to control Afghanistan,
thereby shattering the country in the process. If these powers had merely
attempted to help the Afghan people develop their country, rather than
enforce hegemony over the country for their own self-interested strategic
designs, there would have been no such humanitarian crisis.

Thus, as Barnette Rubin of the U.S. Council on Foreign Relations
reports: “Despite the end of the proxy war, the massive arms supplies il
held by both the Soviet-aided army and the Idamic resistance fighters
(backed by the U.S., with help from Pakistan, Saudi Arabia and others)
continue to fuel the fighting.”**

Northern Alliance Rule 1992-1996

By August 1992, ongoing rocketing by the forces of Gulbuddin
Hekmatyar—a one-time favourite of Pakistan and the U.S—had driven half
amillion civilians from the capital city, Kabul, and killed over 2,000 people.
HRW reports that by the end of the year, “international interest in the conflict
had al but vanished and Afghanistan appeared to be on the brink of a
humanitarian catastrophe,” while the U.S.-Pakistani favourite masterminded
the escdation of terror, “carried out with U.S. and Saudi financed
weaponry.” The Economist reported that, by summer 1993, about 30,000
people had been killed and 100,000 wounded in the capital. The
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bombardment of civilian targets has continued ever since, with casualty and
refugee figures rising rapidly and steadily. ™

It isimportant to note that the Taliban and the forces of Hekmatyar were
two separate factions. Moreover, it should adso be emphasised that
Hekmatyar and his forces are not solely responsible for the deaths of
thousands in Kabul or for the city’s destruction. While Hekmatyar’s forces
may have killed and destroyed more than other groups, factions under
Ahmed Shah Masoud, Burhanuddin Rabbani, Abdul Rashid Dostum, Abdul
Ali Mazari and Abdul Karim Khalili are equally responsible for the violence
that raged between 1992 and 1996.

Indeed, atrocities by the Northern Alliance factions against the Afghan
people were of exactly the same nature as those committed by the bruta
Taliban regime that, by the late 1990s, ruled the mgjority of Afghanistan.
British Middle East specialist Robert Fisk refers in The Independent to “the
whole bloody, rapacious track record of the killersin the ‘Alliance,’” a“gang
of terrorists... The Northern Alliance, the confederacy of warlords, patriots,
rapists and torturers who control a northern diver of Afghanistan,... have
done their [fair share of] massacres on home turf, in Afghanistan. Just like
the Taliban...”*® He points out that: “... it remains a fact that from 1992 to
1996, the Northern Alliance was a symbol of massacre, systematic rape, and
Eglqgagg._.. ;I;he Northern Alliance left the city in 1996 with 50,000 dead

ind it.”

Human Rights Watch (HRW) has also documented the anti-humanitarian
policies of the Northern Alliance which, after 1996, aso came to be known
as the ‘United Front.” Sidney Jones, Executive Director of the Asia division
of HRW, noted that the Alliance “commanders whose record of brutaity
raises questions about their legitimacy inside Afghanistan,” were responsible
for gross violations of human rights in late 1999 and early 2000, including
“summary executions, burning of houses, and looting, principaly targeting
ethnic Pashtuns and others suspected of supporting the Taliban.” HRW aso
describes the parties comprising the ‘United Front’ as having “amassed a
deplorable record of attacks on civilians between the fal of the Nagjibullah
regime in 1992 and the Taliban’s capture of Kabul in 1996.”*°

HRW has provided a detailed but concise overview of the systematic
abuses committed by Northern Alliance/United Front forces in areas under
their control, and in their war against Taliban forces:

“Late 1999-early 2000: Internaly displaced persons who fled from
villages in and around Sangcharak district recounted summary
executions, burning of houses, and widespread looting during the four
months that the area was held by the United Front. Severd of the
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executions were reportedly carried out in front of members of the
victims families. Those targeted in the attacks were largely ethnic
Pashtuns and, in some cases, Tgjiks.

September 20-21, 1998: Severa volleys of rockets were fired at the
northern part of Kabul, with one hitting a crowded night market.
Estimates of the number of people killed ranged from seventy-six to
180. The attacks were generally believed to have been carried out by
Massoud's forces, who were then stationed about twenty-five miles
north of Kabul. A spokesperson for United Front commander Ahmad
Shah Massoud denied targeting civilians. In a September 23, 1998
press statement, the International Committee of the Red Cross
described the attacks as indiscriminate and the deadliest that the city
had seen in three years.

Late May 1997: Some 3,000 captured Taliban soldiers were summarily
executed in and around Mazar-i Sharif by Junbish forces under the
command of Gen. Abdul Mdik Pahlawan. The killings followed
Malik’s withdrawal from a brief aliance with the Taliban and the
capture of the Taliban forces who were trapped in the city. Some of the
Taliban troops were taken to the desert and shot, while others were
thrown down wells and then blown up with grenades.

January 5, 1997: Junbish planes dropped cluster munitions on
residential areas of Kabul. Severa civilians were killed and others
wounded in the indiscriminate air raid, which aso involved the use of
conventional bombs.

March 1995: Forces of the faction operating under Commander
Massoud, the Jamiat-i Islami, were responsible for rape and looting
after they captured Kabul's predominantly Hazara neighborhood of
Kate Seh from other factions. According to the U.S State
Department’s 1996 report on human rights practices in 1995,
‘Massood’s troops went on a rampage, systematically looting whole
streets and raping women.’

On the night of February 11, 1993, Jamiat-i Iami forces and those of
another faction, Abdul Rasul Sayyaf's Ittihad-i ISlami, conducted a raid
in West Kabul, killing and *disappearing’ ethnic Hazara civilians, and
committing widespread rape. Estimates of those killed range from
about seventy to more than one hundred.

In addition, the parties that constitute the United Front have committed
other serious violations of internationally recognized human rights. In
the years before the Taliban took control of most of Afghanistan, these
parties had divided much of the country among themselves while
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battling for control of Kabul. In 1994 adone, an estimated 25,000 were
killed in Kabul, most of them civilians killed in rocket and artillery
attacks. One-third of the city was reduced to rubble, and much of the
remainder sustained serious damage. There was virtually no rule of law
in any of the areas under the factions control. In Kabul, Jamiat-i
Idami, Ittihad, and Hizb-i Wahdat forces al engaged in rape, summary
executions, arbitrary arrest, torture, and ‘ disappearances.” In Bamiyan,
Hizb-i Wahdat commanders routinely tortured detainees for extortion

purposes.”*®

TheRiseof the Taliban

Control of Afghanistan by the warlords of the Northern Alliance was,
however, increasingly curbed by the Taliban forces backed by Pakistan and
Saudi Arabia. When the Tdiban took control of Kabul in 1996, signding the
faction’s domination of Afghanistan, respected French observer Oliver Roy
noted that: “When the Taeban took power in Afghanistan (1996), it was
largely orchestrated by the Pakistani secret service [ISI] and the oil company
Unocal, with its Saudi adly Deta.” Furthermore, it appears that at this time
Pakistan’s support for the Taliban drew the approval of public and private
Saudi authorities, the CIA, and the American oil company UNOCAL %

The Taliban’s bruta policies were particularly exemplified when its
forces captured Mazar-e Sharif in 1998. Following this military takeover on
8 Augudt, Taliban guards systematicaly killed 8,000 civilians. The vast
majority of those killed were from the Hazara ethnic group, who are mostly
Shi’a Mudims. They were killed deliberately in their homes and in the
dtreets, where their bodies were left for severa days, or in locations between
Mazar-e Sharif and Hairatan.

Victims of these acts of genocide included women, children and the
elderly—many of whom were shot trying to flee. Furthermore, 11 Iranian
nationals (ten diplomats and one journalist) were killed when Taliban guards
entered the Iranian Consulate in Mazar-e Sharif. According to eyewitnesses,
their bodies were left in the consulate for two days before being buried in a
mass grave a the Sultan Razieh girls school.*

Having sealed their military capture of Mazar-e Sharif, Taliban guards
imposed a curfew in the city. In the Uzbek populated areas, people were
ordered to hand in their weapons, while in the Hazara area people were
ordered to stay in their homes. Taliban forces subsequently entered Hazara
houses, killing older men and children, and taking away young men without
explanation. In some houses, they aso abducted young women, this time
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with explanation: they would be married off, whether they liked it or not, to
the Taliban militia®*

Thousands of detainees were reportedly transferred in military vehicles
to detention centres in Mazar-e Sharif and Shebarghan and interrogated to
identify their ethnic identity. Non-Hazaras were released after a few days.
Amnesty Internationa reports that former detainees were beaten during their
detention, sometimes severely. Moreover, hundreds were reportedly taken by
ar to Kandahar, while many others were taken during the night to fields in
the surrounding areas of Mazar-e Sharif and Shebarghan to be executed®

Severe redtrictions were imposed on the movement of Afghan people in
and out of Mazar-e Sharif—again, for apparently genocidal purposes.
Amnesty reports that families who managed to leave the area were stopped at
many checkpoints on the way. At each checkpoint, Taliban guards would ask
them whether Hazaras were among them. Anyone whom the guards
suspected of being a Hazara was abducted. Hazara men, and boys younger
than 12 years old, were taken to Jalalabad prison, while women and girls
were sent to Sarshahi camp.

Such reports reveal the simple but horrifying fact that the Taiban was
implementing a two-pronged programme of ethnic cleansing and genocide.
As Amnesty International observes, “A new pattern in Afghanistan’s human
rights tragedy is the targeting of people on the basis of their group identity.”
Al confirms that “The Taeban,” which is composed of the largest ethnic
group in Afghanistan, “is targeting minorities such as Tajiks and Hazaras.”
By May 1999, bruta trestment of civilians continued as territory around the
city of Bamiyam was captured and recaptured by the Taliban and another
faction, Hezb-e Wahdat. While the magjority of people fled after the Taliban
recaptured the city on 9 May, many civilians who stayed behind were later
systematically slaughtered by arriving Taliban guards.®

In continuation of such policies of terror and repression, in August, 1999,
tens of thousands of people were violently evicted from their homes by
Taliban forces who were attempting to uproot rebels in northern Afghanistan.
The Taliban was undertaking a ‘ scorched earth’ policy, involving the burning
of homes, villages and crops, to prevent residents from returning to their
homes in the Shomali Valley north of Kabul.

After the massive expulsion, long lines of men, women and children
reportedly trudged toward Kabul. According to a UN statement from officials
in Pakistan, “Families speak of whole villages being burned to the ground
and crops set on fire to deter them from moving back to this once-fertile
valley.”
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At this time, Kabul was already hosting a refugee population of 400,000.
Thanks to the Taiban-sponsored ‘cleansing’ of the Shomali Valley, tens of
thousands more refugees arrived. Additiondly, as many as 150,000
reportedly fled the region towards rebel bases northeast of Kabul. %

Humanitarian Catastrophe Under Factional War

It is, of course, important to remember that systematic human rights
abuses were routinely perpetrated by al major factions in the ongoing
conflict in Afghanistan, not just by the Taliban. These have included:

“... the killing of tens of thousands of civilians in deliberate or
indiscriminate attacks on residential areas, deliberate and arbitrary
killing of thousands of men, women and children by armed guards
during raids on their homes, unacknowledged detention of severa
thousand people after being abducted by the various armed politica
groups, torture of civilians including rape of women, routine beating
and ill-treatment of civilians suspected of belonging to rival politica
groups or because of their ethnic identity.” *°

More than 25,000 people were killed from 1992 to 1997 in deliberate or
indiscriminate attacks against civilian areas, with killings often occurring on
a daily basis after severe battles for control of territory. With the war for
territory between the Taiban and other factions escalating, civilians
increasingly became the victims of indiscriminate attacks. Air raids on
residential areas, ongoing fighting, landmines, gunfire, unreported massacres
and the uncovering of mass graves illustrate the extent to which warring
factions have dragged the country into a downward spiral of devastation.?’

As Human Rights Watch reported at the end of the year 2000 in a
succinct overview of the tragedy plaguing Afghanistan:

“ Afghanistan has been at war for more than twenty years. During that
time it has lost a third of its population. Some 1.5 million people are
estimated to have died as a direct result of the conflict. Another 5
million fled as refugees to Iran and Pakistan; others became exiles
elsawhere abroad. A large pat of its population is internaly
displaced... Throughout the war, al of the magor factions have been
guilty of grave breaches of internationa humanitarian law. Their
warmaking is supported and perpetuated by the involvement of
Afghanistan's neighbors and other states in providing weapons,
ammunition, fuel, and other logistical support. State and non-state
actors across the region and beyond continue to provide new arms and
other materiel, as well as training and advisory assistance. The arms
provided have been directly implicated in serious violations of
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international humanitarian law. These include aeria bombardments of
civilian targets, indiscriminate bombings, rocketing and other artillery
attacks on civilian-populated areas, reprisa killings of civilians,
summary executions of prisoners, rape, and torture.”*

Due to the ravages of such ongoing war, Kabul has been without
municipa water and electricity since 1994. This state of affairs had not
improved by the beginning of 2002. Trade is frequently blockaded and
subjected to extortionate ‘taxes by local power holders. Nearly everywhere,
anew generation has emerged with minimal education in aland infested with
landmines, due to which thousands of civilians continue to be killed or
maimed. U.N. reports repestedly show that the socio-economic conditions of
the population are amongst the worst in the world.

The investment of previous governments in schools, roads and hospitals
has been reduced to near insignificance. Literacy rates are extremely low,
with nationwide literacy rates for women plunging to 4 per cent, the leved in
rural areas before the war. Healthcare is rudimentary at best, with many
people lacking access to even the basics. Every year, thousands of children
die from malnutrition and respiratory infections, while maternal mortality
rates are among the highest in the world. Irrigation systems and the
agricultural sector are neglected and destroyed.

Afghanistan has been plagued by a perpetua orgy of destruction,
impoverishment and repression. One to two million Afghans have been
killed. Before 11" September 2001, there were aready over 2 million Afghan
refugees in Iran and Pakistan, making Afghans the largest single refugee
group in the world. Under the successive rule of Northern Alliance and later
Taliban warlords, the magjority of the population have been denied ther
social and human rights. Torture, arbitrary detention, mass killings and
ongoing warfare have been the norm. The masses have remained embedded
in growing poverty; while the rulers have falsely legitimised their actions
under the guise of Ilam.?

A brief review of certain aspects of this crisis suffices to help us
understand its grotesque scale. One may begin with a particularly pertinent
indicator, poverty, which has been endemic. According to the U.N. Office for
the Coordination of Humanitarian Affairs:

“Millions of Afghans have little or no access to food through
commercial markets, just as their access to food through self-
production has been severely undermined by drought. The purchasing
power of most Afghans has been serioudy eroded by the absence of
employment. About 85 percent of Afghanistan’s estimated 21.9 million
people are directly dependent on agriculture... The agricultura
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infrastructure has been severely damaged due to war and irrigation
facilities are in urgent need of rehabilitation.”*

Afghanistan also has one of the worst records on education in the world.
According to UNICEF estimates, only 4-5 per cent of primary aged children
received a broad based schooling—for secondary and higher education, the
picture was worse. As Kate Clark reported:

“Twenty years of war has meant the collapse of everything. Both sides
in the long running civil war prefer to spend money on fighting...
However, the desire for schooling runs deep in Afghanistan, even
among the uneducated. But the chances of getting a decent education
are very dim. A whole generation of children is losing out, prompting
guestions about where this leaves the future of this devastated
country.”*

Then, of course, there has been the notorious repression of women. It
should be noted that, as the international Muslim newsmagazine Crescent
International rightly observed, “Criticism of the Taliban, whether it comes
from non-Mudlims or Mudlims, is often heavily overlaid with prejudices or
political interests.” It is therefore important to ensure that facts are separated
from propaganda. Nevertheless, Crescent admits that the Taliban regime has
undoubtedly been highly repressive, to the extent that therein “the phrase
‘Idamic justice' [is] used as a synonym for tyranny.” Numerous reports of
“draconian restrictions on women” being enforced in the name of Idam
unfortunately reveal harsh redlities.

“Men responsible for enforcing public decency are said to beat women
in the streets who show their faces or ankles. Most women are ‘not
allowed to work.” They are forbidden to see male doctors, yet there are
few female doctors available [to compensate]. Most girls schools have
been closed, and the only religious instruction is for girls who have not
reached puberty.”*

When the Taliban marched into Kabul in 1996, its policies of repression
were highlighted. Political opponents were executed without trial. Females
were barred from schools and employment; the ban including up to 50,000
war widows who were the sole support of their families.® Indeed, there have
been endless reports concerning the mass oppresson of women in
Afghanistan by the Taliban.

While an increasing number of women were having to beg to survive and
support their families, there were many reported cases of forced marriages
and prostitution; of women being forcefully taken from their homes, or
forcefully separated from their husbands and moved to camps;, of huge
numbers of women throughout the country suffering from clinical depression
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due to unceasing confinement; and even of sexua assaults. Radhika
Coomaraswamy, the U.N. Special Rapporteur on Violence Against Women
concluded: “Never have | seen a people suffering as much as in
Afghanistan... The situation looks very bleak in terms of poverty, in terms of
war, in terms of the rights of women.” Coomaraswamy has concluded that
discrimination against females is officia Taliban policy, a veritable war on
women which is “widespread, systematic and officially sanctioned.”**

Misogynism Under Taliban Rule

The facts have been documented extensively by numerous independent
human rights organisations that have directly witnessed the impact of the
Taliban and undertaken meticulous grassroots research. It is worth quoting
copiously from a survey conducted by the international Physicians for
Human Rights (PHR) in 1998 to comprehend the scale of the crisis in
Afghanistan under Taliban rule, utilisng direct interviews with Afghan
citizens and investigations on the ground. PHR reports that:

“One of the first edicts issued by the regime when it rose to power was
to prohibit girls and women from attending school. Humanitarian
groups initiated projects to replace through philanthropy what prior
governments had afforded as a right to both sexes... On June 16, 1998,
the Taliban ordered the closing of more than 100 privately funded
schools where thousands of young women and girls were receiving
training in skills that would have helped them support their families.
The Taliban issued new rules for nongovernmental organizations
providing the schooling: education must be limited to girls up to the
age of eight, and restricted to the Qur'an... PHR’s researcher when
visiting Kabul in 1998, saw a city of beggars—women who had once
been teachers and nurses now moving in the streets like ghosts...
salling every possession and begging so as to feed their children.”

The Taiban had thus:

“... deliberately created such poverty by arbitrarily depriving half the
population under its control of jobs, schooling, mobility, and health
care. Such redtrictions are literaly life threatening to women and to
their children. The Tdiban's abuses are by no means limited to
women. Thousands of men have been taken prisoner, arbitrarily
detained, tortured, and many killed and disappeared. Men are beaten
and jailed for wearing beards of insufficient length (that of a clenched
fist beneath the chin), are subjected to cruel and degrading conditions
in jail... Men are aso vulnerable to extortion, arrest, gang rape, and
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abuse in detention because of their ethnicity or presumed political
VieWS."35

PHR goes on to note that there are “extraordinarily high levels of mental
stress and depression” in the country. 81 per cent of participants in the PHR
survey “reported a decline in their mental condition. ..

“A large percentage of respondents met the diagnostic criteria for
posttraumatic stress disorder (PTSD) (42%) (based on the Diagnostical
and Statistical Manual of Menta Disorders, Fourth Edition) and major
depression (97%), and aso demonstrated significant symptoms of
anxiety (86%) Twenty-one percent of the participants indicated that
they had suicidal thoughts ‘extremely often’ or ‘quite often.’ It is clear
from PHR's forty interviews with Afghan women that the general
climate of cruelty, abuse, and tyranny that characterizes Taliban rule
has had a profound affect on women's menta hedth. Ninety-five
percent of women interviewed described a decline in their menta
condition over the past two years. The denial of education aso
contributes to Afghan women's deteriorating mental health... The
interviews revealed that women attributed the anxiety and depression
that affects the vast mgority of them to their fear of limited
opportunities for their children, specifically denial of education to girl
children. Poor and uneducated women spoke with particular urgency of
their desire to obtain education for children, and saw hedth care,
schooling, and protection of human rights as a key towards achieving a
better future.”

PHR notes that the women interviewed “consistently described high
levels of poor hedth...

“... multiple specific symptoms, and a significant decline in women’s
physical condition since the beginning of the Taliban occupation.
Sixty-six percent of women interviewed described a decline in their
physical condition over the past two years. An Afghan physician
described declining nutrition in children, an increasing rate of
tuberculosis, and a high prevalence of other infectious diseases among
women and children.”

Investigating the Rabia Bakhi Hospital, previoudy the only facility in
Kabul open to women, PHR “found that it lacked basic medical supplies and
equipment such as X-ray machines, suction and oxygen, running water, and
medications... Yet even these poor facilities are not available to many
women who seek treatment for themselves or their children.” A massive 87
per cent of women surveyed by PHR “reported a decrease in their access to
health services. The reasons given included: no [male] chaperone available



A4 The War on Freedom

(27%), restrictions on women’s mobility (36%), hospital refused to provide
care (21%), no female doctor available (48%), do not own a burga (6%), and
economics (61%).” A general environment of constant terror has been
ingtituted.

“Sixty-eight percent of women interviewed described incidents in
which they were detained and physically abused by Taliban officials...
Witnessing executions, fleeing religious police with whips who search
for women and girls diverging from dress codes or other edicts, having
a family member jailed or beaten; such experiences traumatize and
retraumatize Afghan women, who have aready experienced the
horrors of war, rocketing, ever-present landmines and unexploded
ordnance, and the loss of friends and immediate family.”®

Given the higtorical context of these developments, it is indisputable that
a mgor portion of the responsibility for this escalating humanitarian crisis
lies a the door of the leading players in the international community. In other
words, not only the then Soviet Union, but principally the United States.

The Distortion of |lam

The U.S. role, in cultivating extremism while establishing the network of
Afghan fighters who later went on to form the various warring factions, was
particularly crucial and damaging. As aready noted, U.S. support of the
mujahideen involved inculcating extremist religious ‘war values,’ garbed
with Idamic jargon.®” Central Asia expert Selig Harrison of the Woodrow
Wilson International Center for Scholars recalls that: “1 warned them that we
were creating a monster. They told me these people were fanatical, and the
more fierce they were the more fiercely they would fight the Soviets.”*® The
U.S. government was well aware of the monster it had created. As U.S.
journalist Ken Silverstein notes:

“Though Reagan called the rebels ‘freedom fighters,” few within the
government had any illusions about the forces that the United States
was backing. The mujahidin fighters espoused a radical brand of
Islam—some commanders were known to have thrown acid in the
faces of women who refused to wear the veil—and committed horrific
human rights violations in their war against the Red Army.”**

Indeed, the extremist religious ‘jihadi’ ideology cultivated in CIA-
sponsored training programmes, intertwined with tribal norms and values,
combined and gave rise to the distorted ‘Idamic’ system within Afghanistan
under the rule of various factions, including the Taliban. It should thus be
noted that the Taliban’s status as a genuinely Islamic movement is at the very
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least highly questionable—there are very few Mudim scholars who would
agree that the policies discussed above constitute Ilamic policies.

As pointed out by former U.S. Congressman Paul Findley, Chairman
Emeritus of the Washington-based Council for Nationa Interest and
Chairman of the lllinois-based Human Relations Commission, the Taliban
“cdls itsdlf ‘Idamic,’ but its regulations directly violate some of the most
cherished principles of the Islamic faith.”*°

Indeed, most Muslim scholars do not ratify or condone Taliban-like
repression or atrocities. For instance, the Pakistani newspaper, the Daily Sar,
reports that “lIsamic scholars in neighbouring Pakistan say the Taliban's
laws reflect tribal traditions more than Ilamic tenets”*' Abdullahi An-
Naim, aMudim and U.S.-based legal scholar, challenges the Taliban claims
that their edicts come from the Qu'ran. He writes, “Unless Mudims
[condemn these policies and practices| from an Islamic point of view as well,
the Taliban will get away with their false claim that these heinous crimes
against humanity are dictated by ISam asareligion.” **

The Associated Press further reports the little known but important fact
that while the “Taliban have imposed their harsh brand of Ilamic Laws on
the 90 per cent of Afghanistan they rule” in actual fact, “Idamic scholars
elsewhere say that the Taliban's laws are based more on triba traditions than
the Koran, Iam’s holy book.”*®

In a study of Taliban policies in comparison with a wide-ranging survey
of Idamic thought and culture, American journalist Robin Travis points out:

“As to whether the Tdiban's practice of ISam is the pure form of
Idam, we can see that there is much debate on the interpretation of the
Qur’ an.... Thus far, we have been able to determine that there are many
interpretations of the Qur'an and many definitions of the religious
practice of Idam. What we can aso see here, is that the mgority of
those who practice this religion, do not interpret the Qur'an as
endorsing oppression and abuse of women.”

Travis concludes. “[R]esearch and discussion of the practice of the
Idamic faith [shows] that the Taliban are practicing an extreme version of
Idam, because other forms and practices do not include the oppression of
women... The Taliban has clearly manipulated the Qu'ran to serve its own
purposes in causing abuse and hardships on women.”*

The Muslim Women'’s League concurs with this analysis, observing that:

“[The] Taliban's insistence on secluding women from public life is a
political maneuver disguised as ‘Idamic’ law. Before seizing power,
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Taliban manipulated and used the rights of women as tools to gain
control of the country. To secure financia and political support,
Taiban emulated authoritarian methods typica of many Middle
Eastern countries. The Taliban's stand on the secluson of women is
not derived from Idam, but, rather, from a cultura bias found in
suppressive movements throughout the region... The Qur’an and the
examples of the firss Mudim society give the Musim Women's
League a voice to state that the current manipulation of women to serve
geo-political interests, in Afghanistan or elsewhere, is both unidamic
and inhumane.”*®

A representative example of the Taliban's actual contempt for basic
Idamic edicts is one of the numerous issues noted by the United Nations
Special Rapporteur of the U.N. Commisson on Human Rights, in
Afghanistan:

“The Speciad Rapporteur was informed by scholars that it was a
religious obligation in Iam to acquire education and that deprivation
of education congtituted a disobedience of Idamic principles. The view
was expressed that the motivations for banning femae education on
part of the Taliban were neither legal, financial or based on security but
were probably politicaly motivated. One of the most serious
consequences of the conflict in Afghanistan was the brain-drain of its
educated people.”*

The U.N. report further confirmed that:

“It should be recalled that the Taiban have a highly idiosyncratic
vison of Idam that has been disputed by numerous Sunni Ilamic
scholars as representing at best a tribal rural code of behaviour applied
only in some parts of Afghanistan of which only one aspect is being
exploited.”*’

Elsewhere, the report points out again that:

“The Special Rapporteur heard persistent affirmations from qualified
sources that the policies applied by the Tdiban in the areas under their
control did not congtitute a correct interpretation of the Shariah
(Islamic law) but were at best a narrow tribal and rural code of conduct
in limited parts of Afghanistan.”*®

It should also be noted that the repression of women in Afghanistan is
not something that was solely introduced by the Taliban, an impression
wrongfully propagated by conventional opinion. While Taliban rule certainly
led to the exacerbation of this brutal repression, it is a historical fact that such
repression had existed long before the concrete establishment of this faction.
For example, between 1992 and 1996, under the fragmented rule of Northern
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Alliance factions, the same sort of brutal and repressive policies existed. Y et
prior to the Taiban's consolidation in Afghanistan—and even during that
consolidation—the international community had largely ignored this
repression, afact that at the very least illustrates the extremely fickle nature
of the West's promotion of humanitarian principles. Indeed, even when the
Taiban had gained power, despite public professions of opposition to the
regime’s abuses of human rights and repression of women, certain leading
members of the international community had approved of—and indeed
supported—the Taliban, in a bid to secure their regional strategic and
economic interests.
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2. The United States, Afghanistan and the 2
Taliban, 1994-2001

“Lifeunder the Taliban is so hard and repressive, even small displays

of joy are outlawed, children aren’t allowed to fly kites, their mothers

face beatings for laughing out loud. Women cannot work outside the

home, or even leave their homes by themselves... The plight of

women and children in Afghanistan isa matter of deliberate human
cruelty, carried out by those who seek to intimidate and control...

Afghan women know, through hard experiences, what the rest of the
world isdiscovering: The brutal oppression of women isa central

goal of theterrorists.”

Laura Bush, First Lady,
delivering the weekly Presidential Radio Address
(CNN, 17 November 2001)

Throughout the 1990s, urgent calls by human rights organisations for the
meaningful intervention of an international body in the escalating Afghan
crisis continued, unanswered. This continued despite the fact that two key
members of the international community, America and Russia, bear primary
respons bility for the state of war that plagues Afghanistan to this day, due to
their respective sdf-interested manipulations of the country. Disregarding
their responsbility, these powers refused to undertake a significant
intervention, be it diplomatic or otherwise. Meaningful pressure that could
have been exerted upon the Taliban to change its policies was smply

avoided.

Turning a Blind Eye

BBC foreign correspondent Matt Frei rightly observes that: “ Afghanistan
today isthe product of awar fought by others on its soil....

“The U.S. and its allies plied this country with Stinger missiles and
cash to fuel the mujahideen’s opposition against Soviet occupation.
They encouraged the growth of Idamic fundamentaism to frighten
Moscow and of drugs to get Soviet soldiers hooked. The CIA even
helped ‘Arab Afghans like Osama bin Laden, now ‘America's most

wanted,’ to fight here.”*
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The responsibility of the U.S. for the ongoing crisis in Afghanistan is
therefore not in dispute. But while the U.S. bears principa responsibility,
other leading players in the international community cannot be absolved. As
Amnesty International (Al) notes. “For two decades, the international
community has mostly averted its eyes from the human rights catastrophe in
Afghanistan... The United States, its West European alies and the former
Soviet Union have failed to bring to an end the very human rights crisis that
they helped to create.”

The systematic, ethnically-motivated killings of thousands of Hazara
Afghans, for example, was not enough to dlicit other than a rhetorica
response from the Western powers, who thereby illustrated their lack of
genuine concern for this tide of genocide. While issuing a statement
condemning the killing of Iranian diplomats at Mazar-e-Sharif and calling for
investigations into their death, “The UN Security Council... has remained
slent about the deaths and arbitrary detention of thousands of ‘ordinary’
people.”

As Al emphasises, public condemnation combined with internationa
pressure “has been shown to be effective in revealing the truth about human
rights abuses’ and “prevent[ing] further massacres.” Yet, Western powers
refused to follow through properly with both condemnation and pressure.
Twenty years of such ongoing refusa and failure had, quite predictably,
signaed effective international consent for the Taliban to continue with its
policies. In studioudy refraining from implementing even the most simple of
such steps, this behaviour by Western powers suggested that there may have
been other, more important, interests in alowing the Taliban to rise to power
and consolidate its control. *°

The only countries that openly accepted the Taliban as Afghanistan’s
legitimate government were Pakistan, Saudi Arabia and the United Arab
Emirates—all of which happen to be U.S/Western clients®* If the United
States had exerted political or economic pressure on these countries to cease
their well documented financia and military sponsoring of Taliban terrorism,
it is highly likely that they would have been forced to acquiesce, smply
because of their criticad dependence on Western (particularly American)
ad.”

Indeed, while sometimes condemning atrocious Taliban policies in
rhetoric, the West turned a blind eye to the actions of its own regiona clients
who were actively supporting the same policies. The result was an effective
‘green light’ to the Tdiban to pursue its policies.

Barnett Rubin of the Council on Foreign Relations reports that the
professed U.S. policy of promoting peace in Afghanistan has “ suffered from
a variety of internal contradictions. U.S. policy toward Iran conflicts with
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U.S. stated policy toward Afghanistan, and is one of the reasons that many in
the region believe the U.S. supports the Taliban.” Rubin notes. “If the U.S. is
in fact supporting the joint Pakistani-Saudi backing of the Taliban in some
way, even if not materialy, then it has in effect decided to make Afghanistan
the victim of yet another proxy war—this time aimed at Iran rather than the
USSR.”

America s professed commitment to supporting the UN as the means of
creating peace in Afghanistanis similarly highly flawed: “U.S. support of the
U.N. as the proper vehicle for a negotiated settlement of the Afghan conflict
is undermined by congressional refusal to alocate funds for U.N. dues or the
U.S. share of peacekeeping expenses.”

Moreover, “The U.S. has not described and criticized in a
straightforward manner the specific types of external interference occurring
in Afghanistan,” from Pekistan and Saudi Arabia, for instance. “Public
statements by the State Department condemn such interference but never
specify who is undertaking it,” annulling the whole purpose of
condemnation. **

Indeed, expressing the conclusions of the mgjority of Afghan analysts on
U.S-U.N. policy in the late 1990s, former Afghan Minister of Finance
(1965-69) Dr. Nour Ali, an expert on Afghan affairs, noted other vast interna
contradictions in the approach. Highlighting the U.N.’s clam to have
“mediated the withdrawal of foreign (Soviet) forces from Afghanistan,” Nour
Ali observed that the policy only succeeded in “planting and strengthening
the warring factions and factionalism in Afghanistan...

“For in connection with this mediation there is a question: mediation
between who and who? Normally, logicaly, and legdly, it should be
conducted between Afghanistan and the former Soviet Union, and the
Geneva Accords should be concluded accordingly. Scandaloudy and
shamefully, the mediation took place among al the interested parties,
but in the sheer exclusion of Afghanistan. And the accords were signed
between the delegate of the Soviet-installed government in Kabul
representing the former Soviet Union and that of the Government of
Paki stan representing somehow the Government of the United States.”

This peculiar form of “mediation,” which deliberately excluded
Afghanistan, indicated the “U.S. Administration’s policy—implemented by
the United Nations—to deny Afghanistan its right for a national government
representing its people in its relations with foreign nations, letting other
powers decide its fate” Furthermore, this dtate of affairs had been
exacerbated by the ongoing funding of various Afghan factions by foreign
powers attempting to secure their own regional interests:
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“There is no doubt that the presaging has been confirmed by the
subsequent development: No national Afghan government has yet
emerged; the country is fragmented and no longer independent; its fate
is in the hands of dien powers, al its socid, politica, and
administrative services are abolished; the warring factions and
factionalism—introduced by the U.S. Administration and maintained
by the United Nations—are prevailing.”>*

The Western powers had thus primarily ignored Afghanistan's
humanitarian catastrophe, refraining from implementing any significant
action to dleviate it. Indeed, one is led to wonder why the NATO powers
were o willing to impose massive pressure on a country such as Serbia for
its aleged human rights abuses against Kosovars, athough they refused for
S0 long to impose a comparable kind of pressure on the Taliban—despite the
fact that the Taliban implemented the same brand of mass abuses, yet on a
much more brutal and extensive scale.

This sort of comparative analysis of Western foreign policy under U.S.
leadership illustrates the selectivity of aleged Western commitment to the
promotion of democracy and the protection of human rights. Such Western
indifference is probably linked to the fact that, as Ben C. Vidgen remarks:
“In Afghanistan and Pakistan, fundamentalism could not have bloomed
without the CIA’s covert assistance—a fact that is apparent when one
examines the history of the area.”*

Americaand the Taliban: Dancing with the Devil

In this connection, there is considerable evidence that the anti-Taliban
stance of the United States constitutes a shift in policy. From 1994 to 1998,
the United States supported the Taliban while attempting to secure a variety
of srategic and economic interests. U.S. support of the Taliban was
envisaged to be a vehicle of sustained and directed American involvement in
the region. Between 1999 and 2000, this support continued, but began to
wane.

Amnesty International (Al) reports that athough the “United States has
denied any links with the Taleban,” according to then U.S. Assistant
Secretary of State Robin Raphel, Afghanistan was a “crucible of strategic
interest” during the Cold War, though she denies any U.S. influence or
support of factions in Afghanistan today, dismissing any possible ongoing
strategic interests. However, former Department of Defense officiad Elie
Krakowski, who worked on the Afghan issue in the 1980s, points out that

Afghanistan remains important because:
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“[1t] is the crossroads between what Haford MacKinder caled the
world's Heartland and the Indian sub continent. It owes its importance
to its location at the confluence of mgor routes. A boundary between
land power and sea power, it is the meeting point between opposing
forces larger than itself. Alexander the Great used it as a path to
conquest. So did the Moghuls. An object of competition between the
British and Russian empires in the 19th century, Afghanistan became a
source of controversy between the American and Soviet superpowers
in the 20th. With the collapse of the Soviet Union, it has become an
important potential opening to the sea for the landlocked new states of
Centra Asia. The presence of large oil and gas deposits in that area has
atracted countries and multinational corporations... Because
Afghanistan is a mgjor strategic pivot what happens there affects the
rest of the world.”*°

Raphel’s denial of U.S. interests in the region also stands in contradiction
to the fact that, as Amnesty reports, “many Afghanistan anaysts believe that
the United States has had close palitical links with the Taleban militia. They
refer to visits by Taleban representatives to the United States in recent
months and severa visits by senior U.S. State Department officias to
Kandahur, including one immediately before the Taeban took over
Jalalabad.”

Al further refers to a comment by The Guardian: “Senior Taeban
leaders attended a conference in Washington in mid-1996 and U.S. diplomats
regularly traveled to Taleban headquarters.” The Guardian points out that
although such “visits can be explained,” “the timing raises doubts as does the
generally approving line which U.S. officias take towards the Taleban.”’
Raphe’s denial aso stands in contradiction to her own behaviour. Agence
France Presse reported that:

“In the months before the Taliban took power, former U.S. Assistant
Secretary of State for South Asia Robin Raphel waged an intense
round of shuttle diplomacy between the powers with possible stakes in
the [UNOCAL] project. ‘Robin Raphel was the face of the Unoca
pipeine, said an official of the former Afghan government who was
present at some of the meetings with her... In addition to tapping new
sources of energy, the [project] also suited a mgjor U.S. strategic aim
in the region: isolating its nemesis Iran and stifling a frequently mooted
rival pipeline backed by Tehran, experts said.”*®
Amnesty goes on to confirm that recent “accounts of the madrasas
(religious schools) which the Taleban attended in Pakistan indicate that these
[Western] links [with the Taleban] may have been established at the very
inception of the Taeban movement...
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“In an interview broadcast by the BBC World Service on 4October
1996, Pakistan's then Prime Minister Benazir Bhutto affirmed that the
madrasas had been set up by Britain, the United States, Saudi Arabia
and Pakistan during the Jihad, the Idamic resistance against Soviet
occupation of Afghanistan.”*®

The CIA’s sponsoring of the Taliban movement through Pakistan and
Saudi Arabia has been documented extensively by Michel Chossudovsky,
Professor of Economics at the University of Ottawa, Canada®® According to
Selig Harrison, an expert on U.S. relations with Asia, the creation of the
Taliban was “actively encouraged by the [Pakistani] IS and the CIA."® As
former Pakistani Interior Minister, retired Major General Naseerullah Babar
commented: “[The] CIA itself introduced terrorism in the region and is only
shedding crocodiles tears to absolve itself of the responsibility.”®® Thus,
when the Taliban succeeded in consolidating its power in 1996, U.S. State
Department spokesperson Glyn Davies explained that the U.S. found
“nothing objectionable”’ in the event.

Indeed, Chairman of the Senate Foreign Relations Subcommittee on the
Near East and South East, Senator Hank Brown, announced gleefully that:
“The good part of what has happened is that one of the factions at last seems
capable of developing a new government in Afghanistan”®® After a visit by
the head of Saudi intelligence, Prince Turki, to Islamabad and Kandahar,
U.S. aly Saudi Arabia funded and equipped the Taliban march on Kabul. ®*
U.S. Afghan experts, including Radha Kumar of the Council on Foreign
Relations, now admit that the U.S. supported the rise of the Taiban. Agence
France Press reported in early October 2001 that: “Afghanistan’s Tdiban
regime, now bracing for punitive U.S. military strikes, was brought to power
with Washington's silent blessing as it dallied in an abortive new ‘Gresat
Game' in centra Asa...

“Keen to see Afghanistan under strong centra rule to alow a U.S-led
group to build a multi-billion-dollar oil and gas pipeline, Washington
urged key allies Pakistan and Saudi Arabia to back the militias bid for
power in 1996, analysts said... The United States encouraged Saudi
Arabia and Pakistan to support the Taliban, certainly right up to their
advance on Kabul... One key reason for U.S. interest in the Taliban
was a 4.5-billion-dollar oil and gas pipdine that a U.S-led ail
consortium planned to build across war-ravaged Afghanistan... [The
oil] consortium feared there could be no pipeline as long as
Afghanistan, battered by war since the Soviet withdrawal in 1989, was
split among rival warlords. The Taliban, whose rise to power owed
much to their bid to stamp out the drugs trade and install law and order,
seemed attractive to Washington.”
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U.S. support of the Taliban did not end there, but in fact continued
throughout most of the 1990s. Professor William O. Beeman, an
anthropologist specialising in the Middle East at Brown University, who has
conducted extensive research into ISlamic Central Asia, points out:

“It is no secret, especialy in the region, that the United States, Pakistan
and Saudi Arabia have been supporting the fundamentalist Taliban in
their war for control of Afghanistan for some time. The U.S. has never
openly acknowledged this connection, but it has been confirmed by
both intelligence sources and charitable ingtitutions in Pakistan.”®°

Professor Beeman, a long-time observer of Afghan affairs, observes that
the U.S-backed Taiban “are a bruta fundamentalist group that has
conducted a cultural scorched-earth policy” in Afghanistan. Extensive
documentation shows that the Taliban have “committed atrocities against
their enemies and their own citizens... So why would the U.S. support them?’

Beeman concludes that the answer to this question “has nothing to do
with religion or ethnicity—but only with the economics of oil. To the north
of Afghanistan is one of the world’'s wealthiest oil fields, on the Eastern
Shore of the Caspian Sea in republics formed since the breakup of the Soviet
Union.” Caspian oil needs to be trans-shipped out of the landlocked region
through awarm water port, for the desired profits to be accumulated.

The “simplest and cheapest” pipeline route is through Iran—but Iran is
essentialy an ‘enemy’ of the U.S,, due to its over-independence. As Beeman
notes. “The U.S. government has such antipathy to Iran that it iswilling to do
anything to prevent this.” The dternative route is one that passes through
Afghanistan and Pakistan, which “would require securing the agreement of
the powersthat-be in Afghanistan”—the Taiban. Such an arrangement
would aso benefit Pakistani dlites, “which is why they are willing to defy the
Iranians.” Therefore, as far as the U.S. is concerned, the solution is “for the
anti-Iranian Taliban to win in Afghanistan and agree to the pipeline through
their territory.”®’

Apart from the oil stakes, Afghanistan remains a strategic region for the
U.S. in another related respect. The establishment of a strong client state in
the country would strengthen U.S. influence in this crucia region, partly by
strengthening Pakistan—at that time a prime supporter of the Taliban—
which is America’'s main source of regiona leverage. Of course, this aso
furthers the cause of establishing the required oil and gas pipelines to the
Caspian Sea, while bypassing Russia and opening up the Commonwesdlth of
Independent States (ClS)—the Central Asian republics—bordering Russia to
the U.S. dominated global market.
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“The Tdiban will probably develop like the Saudis,” commented one
U.S. diplomat in 1997. “There will be Aramco [consortium of oil companies
controlling Saudi ail], pipelines, an emir, no parliament and lots of Sharia
law. We can live with that”®® Thus, in December 1997, Tdiban
representatives were invited as guests to the Texas headquarters of
UNOCAL, to negotiate their support of the pipeline.

At that time, UNOCAL had aready begun training Afghan men in the
sKills required for pipeline construction, with U.S. government approval: “A
senior delegation from the Taleban movement in Afghanistan is in the United
States for talks with an international energy company that wants to construct
a gas pipeline from Turkmenistan across Afghanistan to Pakistan. ..

“A spokesman for the company, Unocal, said the Taeban were
expected to spend several days at the company's headquarters in
Sugarland, Texas... A BBC regiona correspondent says the proposal to
build a pipeline across Afghanistan is part of an international scramble
to profit from developing the rich energy resources of the Caspian
Sea... Unocadl... has commissioned the University of Nebraska to teach
Afghan men the technical skills needed for pipeline construction.
Nearly 140 people were enrolled last month in Kandahar and Unocal
aso plans to hold training courses for women in administrative skills.
Although the Taleban authorities only alow women to work in the
health sector, organisers of the training say they haven't so far raised
any objections.”®

U.S. Support of the Taliban

Strategic and economic interests, therefore, motivated what The
Guardian referred to as “the generally approving line that U.S. officials take
towards the Taeban.” Elaborating, Cable News Network (CNN) reported
that the “United States wants good ties [with the Tdiban] but can't openly
seek them while women are being repressed’—hence they can be sought
covertly.

The Inter Press Service (IPS) reported that underscoring “the geopolitical
stakes, Afghanistan has appeared prominently in U.S. government and
corporate planning about routes for pipeines and roads opening the ex-
Soviet republics on Russia’s southern border to world markets.” Hence, amid
the fighting, “some Western businesses are warming up to the Taliban
despite the movement’s ingtitutionalisation of terror, massacres, abductions,
and impoverishment.”

“Leili HeIms, a spokeswoman for the Taiban in New York, told IPS
that one U.S. company, Union Qil of Cdifornia (Unoca), helped to
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arrange the visit last week of the movement’'s acting information,
industry and mines ministers. The three officias met lower-level State
Department officials before departing for France, Helms said.”

“Several U.S. and French firms are interested in developing gas lines
through central and southern Afghanistan, where the 23 Taliban-controlled
states’ just happen to be located, as Helms added, to the ‘chance
convenience of American and other Western companies.”

Lelli Helms was hired by the Taliban to be their PR representative in
Washington. She happens to be well versed in the clandestine workings of
U.S. intelligence agencies—her uncle, Richard Helms, is a former director of
the U.S. Centra Intelligence Agency (CIA).”?

An article appearing in the prestigious German daily Frankfurter
Rundschau, in early October 1996, reported that UNOCAL “has been given
the go-ahead from the new holders of power in Kabul to build a pipdine
from Turkmenistan via Afghanistan to Pakistan. It would lead from
Krasnovodsk on the Caspian Seato Karachi on the Indian Ocean coast.”

The same article noted that UN diplomats in Geneva believe that the war
in Afghanistan is the result of a struggle between Turkey, Iran, Pakistan,
Russia and the United States “to secure access to the rich oil and natural gas
of the Caspian Sea.””® Other than UNOCAL, companies that are jubilantly
interested in exploiting Caspian oil, apparently at any human expense,
include AMOCO, BP, Chevron, EXXON, and Mobile.™

It isin this context that Franz Schurmann, Professor Emeritus of History
and Sociology at the University of California, commented on “Washington's
discreet backing of the Taliban,” noting the announcement in May 1996 “by
UNOCAL that it was preparing to build a pipéline to transport natural gas
from Turkmenistan to Pakistan through Western Afghanistan.. UNOCAL’s
announcement was premised on an imminent Taliban victory.””® The
respected Pakistan Observer notes that:

“As for the U.S. government, it wanted UNOCAL to build the oil and
gas pipelines from Centra Asian states to Pakistan through
Afghanistan so that the vast untapped oil and gas reserves in the
Central Asian and Caspian region could be transported to markets in
South Asia, South-East Asia Far East and the Pacific.”®

It therefore comes as no surprise to see the Wall Sreet Journal reporting
that the main interests of American and other Western lites lie in making
Afghanistan “a prime transshipment route for the export of Central Asa's
vast oil, gas and other natural resources.” “Like them or not,” the Journal
continues, without fear of contradiction, “the Taliban are the players most
capable of achieving peace in Afghanistan at this moment in history.” The
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Journal is referring to the same faction that is responsible for the severe
repression of women; massacres of civilians, ethnic cleansing and genocide;
arbitrary detention; and the growth of widespread impoverishment and
underdevelopment.”’

Despite dl this, asthe New York Times similarly reported: “The Clinton
Adminigtration has taken the view that a Taliban victory... would act as a
counterweight to Iran... and would offer the possibility of new trade routes
that could wesken Russian and Iranian influence in the region.”®

In asimilar vein, the International Herald Tribunal reported that in the
summer of 1998, “the Clinton administration was talking with the Taleban
about potential pipeline routes to cary oil and naturd gas out of
Turkmenistan to the Indian Ocean by crossing Afghanistan and Pakistan,” "
clarifying why the U.S. was approving the consolidation of the Taiban's rule
in the country, depriving the indigenous population of the freedom to utilise
the region’s strategic position for their own benefit. P. Stobdan, Research
Fellow at the Ingtitute for Defence Studies and Anaysis (IDSA) in New
Ddhi, reported in the Institute’ s respected journal Srategic Analysis that:

“ Afghanistan figures importantly in the context of American energy
security politics. Unocd’s project to build oil and gas pipelines from
Turkmenistan through Afghanistan for the export of oil and gas to the
Indian subcontinent, viewed as the most audacious gambit of the 1990s
Centrd Asian oil rush had generated great euphoria The U.S.
government fully backed the route as a useful option to free the Central
Asian states from Russian clutches and prevent them getting close to
Iran. The project was also perceived as the quickest and cheapest way
to bring out Turkmen gas to the fast growing energy market in South
Asia. To help it canvass for the project, Unoca hired the prominent
former diplomat and secretary of state, Henry Kissinger, and a former
U.S. ambassador to Pakistan, Robert Oakley, as well as an expert on
the Caucasus, John Maresca... The president of Unocal even
speculated that the cost of the construction would be reduced by half
with the success of the Taliban movement and formation of a single
government.”

Worse still, this corporate endeavour, backed wholeheartedly by the U.S.
government, involved direct, materia support of the Taiban: “It was
reported by the media that the U.S. oil company had even provided covert
materia support to help push the militia northward against Rabbani’s
forces” However, as Stobdan also notes, the American corporation
UNOCAL indefinitely suspended work on the pipeline in August 1998.% It
took three months for the oil company to pull out of the CentGas consortium
that it had organised to build its proposed pipeline®* Since then, the U.S.
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grew progressively more hostile towards the Taliban, and began exploring
other possibilities to secure its regiona supremacy, while maintaining basic
ties with the regime, to negotiate a non-military solution.

Even members of the U.S. government have criticised covert U.S.
support of the Taliban. One should note, for instance, the authoritative
testimony of U.S. Congressman Dana Rohrabacher on American policy
toward Afghanistan. Rohrabacher has been involved with Afghanistan since
the early 1980s when he worked in the White House as Special Assistant to
then U.S. President Ronald Reagan. He is now a Senior Member of the U.S.
House International Relations Committee and has been involved in U.S.
policy toward Afghanistan for some 20 years. In 1988, he traveled to
Afghanistan as a member of the U.S. Congress with mujahideen fighters and
participated in the battle of Jalaabad against the Soviets. He testified before
a Senate Foreign Relations Subcommittee in April 1999:

“Having been closdly involved in U.S. policy toward Afghanistan for
some twenty years, | have caled into question whether or not this
administration has a covert policy that has empowered the Taliban and
enabled this brutal movement to hold on to power. Even though the
President and the Secretary of State have voiced their disgust at the
brutal policies of the Taliban, especially their repression of women, the
actua implementation of U.S. policy has repeatedly had the opposite
effect.”

After documenting a large number of factors indicating a concrete degree
of U.S. support of the Taliban, Rohrabacher concludes:

“I am making the claim that there is and has been a covert policy by
this administration to support the Taliban movement’s control of
Afghanistan... [T]his amoral or immoral policy is based on the
assumption that the Taliban would bring stability to Afghanistan and
permit the building of oil pipelines from Central Asia through
Afghanistan to Pekistan... | believe the administration has maintained
this covert goa and kept the Congress in the dark about its policy of
supporting the Taliban, the most anti-Western, anti-female, anti-human
rights regime in the world. It doesn’t take a genius to understand that
this policy would outrage the American people, especialy America's
women. Perhaps the most glaring evidence of our government’s covert
policy to favor the Taliban is that the administration is currently
engaged in a mgjor effort to obstruct the Congress from determining
the details behind this policy. Last year in August, after several
unofficial requests were made of the State Department, | made an
officiad request for all diplomatic documents concerning U.S. policy
toward the Taliban, especidly those cables and documents from our
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embassies in Pakistan and Saudi Arabia. As a senior Member of the
House International Relations Committee | have oversight
responsibility in this area. In November, after months of stonewalling,
the Secretary of State hersdf promised before the Internationa
Relations Committee that the documents would be forthcoming. She
reconfirmed that promise in February when she testified before our
Committee on the State Department budget. The Chairman of the
Committee, Ben Gilman, added his voice to the record in support of
my document request. To this time, we have received nothing. There
can only be two explanations. Either the State Department is totally
incompetent, or there is an ongoing cover-up of the State Department’s
true fundamental policy toward Afghanistan. You probably didn’t
expect me to praise the State Department at the end of this scathing
testimony. But | will. 1 don't think the State Department is
incompetent. They should be held responsible for their policies and the
American people should know, through documented proof, what they
are doing.”®

As noted in the San Francisco Chronicle, Centrd Asian specidist

Ahmed Rashid has reported in his Yae University study, Taliban: Militant
Idam, Oil and Fundamentalismin Central Asa, that:

“Impressed by the ruthlessness and willingness of the then-emerging
Taliban to cut a pipeline ded, the State Department and Pakistan's
Inter-Services Intelligence agency agreed to funnel arms and funding
to the Taliban in their war against the ethnically Tajik Northern
Alliance. As recently as 1999, U.S. taxpayers paid the entire annual
salary of every single Taliban government official.”®

As late as 2000, hearings in the House of Representatives International

Relations Committee confirmed that U.S. support of the Taliban was secured
through the Pakistani 1Sl (also see Appendix B):

“[T]he United States has been part and parcel to supporting the Taliban
al aong, and ill is let me add... You have a military government [of
President Musharraf] in Pakistan now that is arming the Taliban to the
teeth.... Let me note; that [U.S.] aid has aways gone to Taliban aress...
We have been supporting the Taliban, because al our aid goes to the
Taliban areas. And when people from the outside try to put aid into
areas not controlled by the Taliban, they are thwarted by our own State
Department... At that same moment, Pakistan initisted a mgor
resupply effort, which eventually saw the defeat, and caused the defest,
of amost al of the anti-Taliban forces in Afghanistan.”®

This documentation illustrates that the U.S. was certainly supportive of

the Taiban while they were scoring sweeping victories throughout
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Afghanistan. As has been noted by Ahmed Rashid, the Pakistan, Afghanistan
and Centra Asia correspondent for the Far Eastern Economic Review and
the Daily Telegraph (London), from 1994 to 1997 at least, the United States
“did support the Tdiban, and [the Americans] cannot deny that fact.” In his
authoritative study of the issue, Taliban, Rashid showed that “between 1994-
96 the U.S. supported the Taiban politically through its alies Pakistan and
Saudi Arabia, essentially because Washington viewed the Taliban as anti-
[ranian, anti-Shia and pro-western... [B]etween 1995-97, U.S. support was
driven by the UNOCAL oil/gas pipeline project.”®°

Thus, as Afghan scholar Nour Ali accurately points out, by its covert
policy “to make of Afghanistan a satellite or a protectorate of Pakistan, the
U.S. Administration ignored the very objectives of Afghans themselves to
repulse the invader, to recover their independence, to establish the style of
government of their choice, and to live in peace... It disregarded the
aspirations of the Afghan masses who bore the actua burden of the war and
rendered an unparalleled sacrifice to the cause of freedom.” Rather than
providing genuine help to the Afghan people by making available to them
“the necessary facilities to rebuild an independent Afghan state and to
reconstruct the Afghan economy, the U.S. Government has shamefully
rewarded Pakistan in authorizing it to control Afghanistan as suzerain
through the heads of Units—the warring faction's leaders.” The U.S. policy
is evident in America's failure to condemn the policies of its subservient
Pekistani client.

“The current warfare in Afghanistan is not a civil war. It is rather an
international war among the involved regiona states, through their
respective proxies—Afghan warring factions—using Afghanistan
territory as their battle field... the war is between the interfering
foreign powers for their expansionist or protectionist objectives within
and beyond the region; the warring factions and their leaders are their
surrogates and defacto extension of their state organizations.”

Summarising the U.S. economic and dtrategic interests that motivate
current policy, Dr. Ali remarks that the Great Game in Centra Asia is not
ending, but rather “going on briskly.” Today however, it is “the United States
that is looking North and intended to cross Afghanistan from Pakistan so as
to be able (i) to sway Iran; (ii) to expand its power beyond the Amou Dariato
control the resources of Centra Asia; and (iii) to influence the Federation of
Russa from South, and the mainland China from North West, as and when
required...

“The U.S. Government, in complicity with its regiona alies, and for
want of anything better, is trying to put therein a servile government of
its own choice so as to possess the necessary leverage to influence the
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overal politics and economics of the region in accordance with its
imperiaistic objectives. Pending the identification and installation of
such a government the country has to endure the state of anarchy and
instability accordingly.”®

The Decline of the U.S.-Taliban Alliance
and U.S. War Plans

However, U.S. support of the Tdiban continued to decline with the
coming of the Bush Administration. The primary reason for this certainly
appears to be the fact that the Taliban was incapable of playing the
U.S.-friendly role of a*“servile government.” As Ahmed Rashid points out:

“The UNOCAL project was based on the premise that the Taliban were
going to conquer Afghanistan. This premise was fed to them by various
countries like Saudi Arabia, Pakistan and elements within the U.S.
administration. Essentidly it was a premise that was very wrong,
because it was based on conquest, and would therefore make it
absolutely certain that not only would they not be able to build the
pipeline, but they would never be able to have that kind of security in
order to build the pipeline.”®’

Once this became absolutely clear to the United States, it also became
clear that the Taliban was incapable of providing the security essential for the
pipeline to go ahead, as required. This was compounded by the fact that the
faction had begun developing an intensifying propensity toward non-
subservience in relation to U.S. interests. An increasingly anti-American
worldview “appeared to dominate the thinking of senior Taliban leaders...

“Until [Osama Bin Laden’s] arriva, the Taliban leadership had not
been particularly antagonistic to the USA or the West but demanded
recognition for their government. However, after the Africa bombings
the Taliban became increasingly vociferous against the Americans, the
UN, the Saudis and Mudim regimes around the world. Ther
statements increasingly reflected the language of defiance Bin Laden
had adopted and which was not an original Taliban trait.”®

Thus, by 1999, the U.S. had begun to see the Tdiban as a fundamental
obstacle to U.S. interests. Due to this, U.S. policy toward the Taliban took an
about-turn. This sequence of events has been described in great detail by the
French intelligence anadysts, Jean-Charles Brisard and Guillaume Dasquié,
who record that the “U.S. government’s main objective in Afghanistan was
to consolidate the position of the Taliban regime and thereby obtain access to
the oil and gas reserves in Central Asia”®
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In their recently released, widely acclamed study of the subject, Bin
Laden: the forbidden truth,” they report that until as late as August 2001, the
U.S. government hoped, despite a declining relationship with the regime, that
the Taliban would be “a source of stability in Central Asiathat would enable
the construction of an oil pipeline across Centra Asia” from the rich
oilfields in Turkmenistan, Uzbekistan, and Kazakhstan, through Afghanistan
and Pakistan, to the Indian Ocean. From 1999 until 2001, it is clear that U.S.
hopes in this respect had grown increasingly skeptical.

It is a matter of record that, corresponding with the growing shift in U.S.
policy against the Taliban, a military invasion of Afghanistan was planned
long before 11" September. Extensive evidence indicates that in response to
the Taliban’s failure to meet U.S. requirements, the Bush administration had
been planning a war on Afghanistan for October 2001, in concert with
severa other powers, including Russia, India and Pakistan. Frederick Starr,
Chairman of the Centra AsiaCaucasus Ingtitute at Johns Hopkins's Nitze
School of Advanced International Studies, reported in December 2000 in the
Washington Post that:

“... the United States has quietly begun to aign itself with those in the
Russian government calling for military action against Afghanistan and
has toyed with the idea of a new raid to wipe out Osama bin Laden.
Until it backed off under local pressure, it went so far as to explore
whether a Central Asian country would permit the use of its territory
for such a purpose.”®*

Starr’ sinsight should not be in question. A specidist in Centra Asia, his
director a Johns Hopkins was Assistant Secretary of Defense Paul
Wolfowitz. In his Post report, Starr further noted that meetings between U.S,,
Russian and Indian government officials occurred at the end of 2000 “to
discuss what kind of government should replace the Taliban... [T]he United
States is now talking about the overthrow of a regime that controls nearly the
entire country, in the hope it can be replaced with a hypothetical government
that does not exist even on paper.”®?

The extensive military planning for awar on Afghanistan was also noted
by Canadian journalist Eric Margolis, a specidist in Middle East and Centra
Asian daffairs, with firsthand experience of Afghanistan. In a December 2000
edition of the Toronto Qun, he reported that the United States was planning to
invade Afghanistan to topple the Taliban regime and target Osama bin
Laden:

“The United States and Russia may soon launch a joint military assault
againgt Idamic militant, Osama Bin Laden, and against the leadership
of the Taliban, Afghanistan's de facto ruling movement. Such an attack
would probably include U.S. Delta Force and Navy Sedls, who would
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join up with Russids dlite Spetsnaz and Alpha commandos in
Tajikistan, the Central Asian state where Russia has military bases and
25,000 troops. The combined forces would be lifted by helicopters, and
backed by air support, deep into neighboring Afghanistan to attack Bin
Laden’s fortified base in the Hindu Kush mountains.”®®

By March 2001, Jan€'s Intelligence Review confirmed that India had
joined “Russia, the USA and Iran in a concerted front against Afghanistan's
Taliban regime... Severa recent meetings between the newly instituted Indo-
U.S. and Indo-Russian joint working groups on terrorism led to this effort to
tactically and logistically counter the Taliban.” The United States, Russia,
India and Iran were aready providing military, informational and logistical
support to anti-Taliban forces in Afghanistan. “Military sources indicated
that Tajikistan and Uzbekistan are being used as bases to launch anti-Taliban
operations by India and Russia”®*

By June 2001, the public affairs magazine India Reacts reported the
escdation of joint U.S-Russian plans to conduct a military assault on
Afghanistan. According to Indian officias. “India and Iran will only play the
role of ‘facilitator’ while the U.S. and Russia will combat the Tdiban from
the front with the help of two Centra Asian countries, Tgjikistan and
Uzbekistan.” The magazine clarified that: “Tagjikistan and Uzbekistan will
lead the ground attack with a strong military backup of the U.S. and Russia
Vita Taliban installations and military assets will be targeted. India and Iran
will provide logistic support.”

In a Moscow mesting in early June, “Russian President Vladimir Putin
[had] already hinted of military action against the Taliban to CIS nations.”
According to diplomats, the formation of this anti-Taliban front “followed a
meeting between U.S. Secretary of State Colin Powell and Russian Foreign
Minister Igor lvanov and later between Powell and Indian foreign minister
Jaswant Singh in Washington. Russia, Iran and India have aso held a series
of discussions and more diplomatic activity is expected.”*®

The formulation of U.S. war plans against the Taiban had been
accompanied by the imposition of sanctions against Afghanistan. The shift in
U.S. policy from pro-Tdiban to anti-Taliban had not brought with it any
change in the tragic condition of the Afghan people, primarily because the
policy shift was rooted in Americd's attempt to secure its strategic and
economic interests. The sanctions on Afghanistan had not only faled to
affect the Taliban, but had served primarily to devastate the Afghan
population even more. “The U.S. engineered a punishing Irag-style embargo
of war-ravaged Afghanistan at a time when many of its 18 million people are
starving and homeless,” reported the Toronto Sun in December 2000.”° The

London Guardian similarly noted a month earlier that:
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“When the UN imposed sanctions a year ago on the Taliban because of

their refusal to hand over bin Laden, the suffering in Afghanistan

increased. The move has not hurt the Taliban. They are well off. It is
ordinary Afghans who have suffered. Those in jobs earn a sdary of
around $4 a month, scarcely enough to live on. The red losers are

Afghanistan’s women, who have been forbidden by the Taliban from

working. Kabul is full of burga-clad women beggars who congregate

every lunchtime outside the city’s few functioning restaurants in the
hope of getting something to eat.”

Indeed, the imposition of sanctions amidst the ongoing famine in
Afghanistan quite predictably resulted in the exacerbation of the country’s
humanitarian crisis. “The country is in the grip of an unreported
humanitarian disaster,” reported Luke Harding from Kandahar. “In the south
and west, there has been virtualy no rain for three years. The road from
Herat, near the Iranian border, to Kandahar, the southern desert city, winds
through half-abandoned villages and swirlingly empty riverbeds. Some 12m
people have been affected, of whom 3m are close to Starvation.”®” As
Pakistani correspondent Arshad Mahmoud observed, the people, particularly
the children of Afghanistan, “are facing the grave consequences of the UN
sanctions,” in tandem with the continuing drought. *®

Both the threat of war and the economic strangulation of the country
appear to have been designed to pressure the Taliban into conforming to U.S.
requirements. While establishing its war plans, the Bush administration
attempted to save its relationship with the brutal regime, despite the danger
of eroson. The methods employed by the administration to cautioudy
engage the Taliban have been described well by the Pakistan Observer :

“As recently as July this year, Christina Rocca, the U.S. Assistant
Secretary of State for South Asia met the Taliban officias in |damabad
and announced $43 miillion in food and shelter aid, bringing to $124
million the U.S. contribution to the IDPs this year done. Since the
humanitarian assistance is spent by the Taiban, without any
accountability, the renewed U.S. contacts with the Taliban, including a
visit by seven U.S. officiasto Kabul in late April preceded by another
visit by three U.S. officials earlier in that month, before the terror
struck America on September 11, led to media speculations about a
shift in the U.S. policy away from a single-focus on the Osama issue
towards an approach based on a cautious engagement with Taliban
even as they were under stringent sanctions by Washington and the UN
Security Council.”%°

Shortly after taking power in January 2001, the Bush administration
began to negotiate with the Taliban. U.S. and Tdiban diplomatic
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representatives met severa times in February 2001 in Washington, Berlin
and Idamabad. The last meeting between U.S. and Taliban representatives
took place in August 2001—five weeks before the attacks on New York and
Washington. Christina Rocca, then head of Central Asian affairs at the U.S.
Department of State, met the Taliban ambassador to Pakistan in Islamabad. 1
These negotiations with the Taliban in 2001 appear to have been conducted
by the Bush Administration as a last ditch attempt to savage a viable
relationship with the regime. The recognition that the Taliban would not be
capable of maintaining security through “conquest” meant that the U.S. was
instead hoping the regime would agree to ajoint government in Afghanistan
in dliance with the other factions—although the U.S. seemed to be aware
that this was exceedingly unlikely.

Until now, observe Brisard and Dasquié, “the oil and gas reserves of
Central Asia have been controlled by Russia. The Bush government wanted
to change al that.” However, confronted with the Taliban's refusal to accept
U.S. conditions, “this rationale of energy security changed into a military
one.” In an interview in Paris, Brisard noted that: “ At one moment during the
negotiations, the U.S. representatives told the Taliban, either you accept our
offer of a carpet of gold, or we bury you under a carpet of bombs.”

Describing the key theme of some of the several meetings that occurred
in 2001, the intelligence analysts record that:

“Several meetings took place this year under the arbitration of Francesc
Vendrell, persona representative of UN Secretary-General Kofi
Annan, to discuss the situation in Afghanistan. Representatives of the
U.S. government and Russia, and the six countries that border with
Afghanistan, were present a these meetings. Sometimes,
representatives of the Taliban also sat around the table.”***

The three Americans at one of these meetingsin Berlin in July were Tom
Simons, a former U.S. Ambassador to Pakistan, Karl ‘Rick’ Inderfurth, a
former Assistant Secretary of State for South Asian affairs, and Lee Coldren,
who headed the office of Pakistan, Afghan and Bangladesh affairs in the
State Department until 1997. These meetings, caled “6+2" due to the
number of states involved (six Centra Asian neighbours, plus the new
partners, Russa and the U.S)) have aso been confirmed by the former
Pakistani Minister for Foreign Affairs, Niaz Naik, who was present at the
meetings.

In an interview for French televison in early November 2001, Naik
testified that during one of these “6+2” meetings in Berlin in July 2001, the
discussions focused on: “... the formation of a government of nationa unity.
If the Taliban had accepted this codlition, they would have immediately
received international economic aid. And the pipelines from Kazakhstan and
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Uzbekistan would have come” Nak clarified that one of the U.S
representatives at the meetings, Tom Simons, openly threatened both the
Taliban and Pakistan:

“Simons said, ‘either the Taliban behave as they ought to, or Pakistan
convinces them to do so, or we will use another option.” The words Simons
used were ‘amilitary operation.’”**

Reporting on this, the London Guardian noted that “the Bush team had
prepared a new plan to topple the entire Afghan regime...

“[T]here were signs early this year that Washington was moving to
threaten Afghanistan militarily from the north, via the wild former
Soviet republics. A U.S. department of defence officia, Dr. Jeffrey
Starr, visited Tgjikistan in January. The Guardian's Felicity Lawrence
established that U.S. Rangers were also training special troops inside
Kyrgyzstan. There were unconfirmed reports that Tajik and Uzbek
specia troops were training in Alaska and Montana.

And U.S. General Tommy Franks visited Dushanbe on May 16, where
he conveyed a message from the Bush administration that the US
considered Tgjikistan ‘a strategically significant country.” On offer was
non-letha military aid. Tgikistan used the occasion to apply to join
NATO'’ s Partnership for Peace.

Shortly afterwards the Republican senator from Alabama who is vice-
chairman of the Senate intelligence committee, Richard C Shelby,
returned from a Gulf tour to bullishly tell the Washington Post that
U.S. counterterrorism officials were winning the war against Bin
Laden... Reliable western military sources say a U.S. contingency plan
existed on paper by the end of the summer to attack Afghanistan from
the north... By July 8, the Afghan opposition, Pakistani diplomats, and
senior staff from the British Foreign Office, were gathering at Weston
Park under UN auspices for private teach-ins on the Afghan situation...
And a couple of weeks later, another group gathered in a Berlin hotdl.
There, former state department official Lee Coldren passed on a
message he had got from Bush officials [thet] ... ‘the United States was
s0 disgusted with the Taliban that they might be considering some
military action’ ... The chilling quality of this private warning was that
it came—according to one of those present, the Pakistani diplomat
Niaz Naik—accompanied by specific details of how Bush would
succeed... The hawks in Washington could count on the connivance of
Russian troops, and on facilities in such places as Uzbekistan and
Tajikistan, already host to US miilitary advisers.”**

In another, earlier report, The Guardian reported that:



60 The War on Freedom

“Osama bin Laden and the Taliban received threats of possible
American military strikes against them two months before the terrorist
assaults on New Y ork and Washington...

The Taliban refused to comply but the serious nature of what they were
told raises the possibility that Bin Laden, far from launching the attacks
on the World Trade Centre in New York and the Pentagon out of the
blue 10 days ago, was launching a pre-emptive strike in response to
what he saw as U.S. threats.”

Lee Coldren confirmed that: “... there was some discussion of the fact
that the United States was so disgusted with the Taliban that they might be
considering some military action.” Naik, described by Tim Simons himself
as “a friend for years’ and “an honourable diplomat,” testifies that: “The
Americans indicated to us that in case the Taliban does not behave and in
case Pakistan also doesn't help us to influence the Taliban, then the United
States would be left with no option but to take an overt action against
Afghanistan. | told the Pekistani government, who informed the Taliban via
our foreign office and the Taliban ambassador here.”

The warning to the Taliban originated at the four-day Berlin meeting of
senior Americans, Russians, Iranians and Pakistanis in mid-July. When asked
whether he could be sure that the American officials were passing ideas from
the Bush administration rather than their own views, Nak clarified that:
“What the Americans indicated to us was perhaps based on officia
instructions. They were very senior people. Even in ‘track two' people are
very careful about what they say and don’'t say.” Naik aso cited Tim Simons
declaring that action against bin Laden was imminent: “This time they were
very sure. They had al the intelligence and would not miss him this time. It
would be aerid action, maybe helicopter gunships, and not only overt, but
from very close proximity to Afghanistan.” 1%

In an interview with the British Broadcasting Corporation (BBC), Niaz
Nak elaborated on what U.S. officials had informed him in July 2001,
specifying that the Bush administration was planning military action against
Afghanistan for mid-October. The BBC reported that:

“Niaz Naik, a former Pakistani Foreign Secretary, was told by senior

American officials in mid-July that military action against Afghanistan

would go ahead by the middlie of October... U.S. officids told him of

the plan at a UN-sponsored international contact group on Afghanistan
which took place in Berlin... [A]t the meeting the U.S. representatives
told him that unless Bin Laden was handed over swiftly America
would take military action to kill or capture both Bin Laden and the
Taeban leader, Mullah Omar. The wider objective, according to Mr.
Naik, would be to topple the Taleban regime and install a transitional
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government of moderate Afghans in its place—possibly under the
leadership of the former Afghan King Zahir Shah.”

The former Pakistani Minister of Foreign Affairs further stated that,
according to information passed on to him by the same U.S. officials in July,
“Washington would launch its operation from bases in Tajikistan, where
American advisers were adready in place” and “Uzbekistan would aso
participate in the operation... 17,000 Russian troops were on standby.” He
was aso told that “if the military action went ahead it would take place
before the snows started falling in Afghanistan, by the middle of October at
the latest.” He noted that the 11" September attacks provided a convenient
trigger for these war plans. “[H]e was in no doubt that after the World Trade
Center bombings, this pre-existing U.S. plan had been built upon and would
be implemented within two or three weeks,” noted the BBC. Indeed, the
plans did not even appear to have as their prime motive the capture of Osama
bin Laden: “[H]e said it was doubtful that Washington would drop its plan
even if Bin Laden were to be surrendered immediately by the Taleban.”*%

The shift in U.S. policy in Afghanistan from pro-Taliban to anti-Taliban
was thus rooted in America's attempts to secure its strategic and economic
interests. Because the Taliban no longer played a suitably subservient role,
U.S. policy grew increasingly hogtile to the faction. While establishing
extensve war plans, the U.S. continued to conduct negotiations with the
regime to ascertain whether it would conform to the latest requirements.
Faced with the Taliban’'s consistent refusals, the shift in policy against the
regime—which occurred “without public discussion, without consultation
with Congress™*—was fully sealed in August, athough it had been largely
established before then. The war plans for Afghanistan were by then firmly
grounded. All that was required was a trigger.

The need for a trigger was particularly exemplified in the fact that the
U.S. had backed down from its exploration of a possible war on Afghanistan
“under local pressure’—in Central Asia—as the Washington Post reported.'®’
Some sort of new pretext was thus required to bypass this lack of regiona
support.

Given that U.S. officids had informed Naik early on in the year 2001 of
U.S. plans to invade Afghanistan by mid-October, the U.S. may have
envisaged that the trigger that would justify implementation of its war plans
would manifest some time between August and October: i.e. September.

It is worth noting the observations of Francis A. Boyle, Professor of
International Law at the University of Illinois, in mid-October 2001:
“Obvioudly, the war against Afghanistan was planned for quite some time.
We know for afact that it had been war-gamed by the Pentagon going back
to 1997...
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“Right around September 11, two U.S. Aircraft carrier task forces
conveniently arrived in the Persian Gulf right at the same time on ‘rotation.’
Obvioudy, preplanned. Just before September 11, the UK had put together
what was hilled as the ‘largest armada since the Falklands War’ and had it
steaming towards Oman, where now 23,000 UK troops are on maneuvers.
This had been planned for at least 3 years. Also, the U.S. ‘Bright Star’
operation is currently going on in Egypt. 23,000 U.S. troops plus an
additional 17,000 from NATO and its associates. This had been planned at
least two years ago. Finaly, NATO just landed 12,000 troops into Turkey.
This had been planned for at least two years. It is obvious that we are seeing
an operational War Plan being executed here that had been in the works for
a Ieerslt0 E;[he past four years. September 11 is either a pretext or a trigger or
both.”
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3. Strategic Design Behind U.S. War Plans 3

“Thereisno such hidden agenda. Operation Enduring Freedom is
meant to get rid of terrorism in Afghanistan, Central Asia and the
surrounding areas.”

Bush administration official
(New York Times, 15 December 2001)

The United States, leading an international coalition of powers, began a
military invasion of Afghanistan in October 2001. Conventional opinion has
it that the U.S. invasion was initiated in response to the 11" September
attacks in the United States, and that its sole or principa objective was to
find and eliminate the Al-Qaeda terrorist network responsible for the attacks,
in particular the Al-Qaeda leader, Osama bin Laden.

However, the facts presented thus far clarify beyond any reasonable
doubt that the U.S war on Afghanistan that began in October had been
planned quite independently of the 11™ September attacks. Rather than being
a reaction to those attacks, it seems that the attacks provided a pretext to
justify, “build upon” and implement aready extant plans for a military
invasion. Moreover, those very specific plans were formulated in response to
the Taliban's failure to meet U.S. requirements in relation to its regiona
strategic and economic designs, and were intended for implementation in

October 2001.

Contemplating Central Asia

The U.S. military industrial complex has been contemplating a prolonged
intervention in Central Ada for at least a decade. As early as 1991, in the
aftermath of the Persian Gulf War, Newsweek reported in an article titled
‘Operation Steppe Shidd?, that the U.S. military was preparing an operation
in Kazakhstan. Planning for the operation was modeled on the Operation
Desat Shidd  deployment in Saudi Arabia, Kuwait and Irag, which
successfully resulted in the establishment of a network of permanent U.S.
military basesin the region.

More specifically, the U.S. war plan to invade Afghanistan has roots in
strategic and economic concerns in Central Asia, stretching as far back as
1989. Afghanistan has been widely recognised by U.S. officias as the
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gateway to Central Asiaand the Caspian, and thus to global primacy. Former
Department of Defense official Elie Krakowski, who worked on the Afghan
issue in the 1980s, records that:

“With the collapse of the Soviet Union, [Afghanistan] has become an
important potential opening to the sea for the landlocked new states of
Centra Asia. The presence of large oil and gas deposits in that area has
atracted countries and multinational corporations... Because
Afghanistan is a mgor strategic pivot what happens there affects the
rest of the world.”**

Afghanistan is thus the primary gateway to Centra Ada and the
immense energy deposits therein. A September 2001 report, on the results of
a May 2001 Brookings Institution conference, shows clearly that the
exploitation of Caspian and Asian energy markets was an urgent priority for
the Bush administration:

“[T]he administration’s report warned that ‘ growth in internationa oil
demand will exert increasing pressure on global oil availability’ and
that developing Asian economies and populations—particularly in
China and India—will be maor contributors to this increased
demand... options for constructing gas pipelines east to Asia from the
Caspian have been discussed for the last decade.”

Access to Centrd Asian and Caspian resources has thus been the
centerpiece of the Bush energy policy.™ Indeed, experts agree that both the
Caspian Basin and Central Asia are the keys to energy in the 21st century.
James Dorian, for instance, observes in the Oil & Gas Journal: “Those who
control the oil routes out of Central Asia will impact all future direction and
quantities of flow and the distribution of revenues from new production.”***

A 1999 study edited by the leading Central Asian experts Michael
Croissant and Bulant Aras, Oil and Geopolitics in the Caspian Sea Region,
provides further insight. In the book’s forward, Pat Clawson of the National
Defense University describes the Caspian Sea as a crucia oil region, the
target of the ongoing and conflicting interests of surrounding states, as well
as the Western powers. The economic and geostrategic issues relate
particularly to potentia pipeline routes, and attempts by the United States to
monopolise them by creating an appropriate international oil regime in the
region.**?

The establishment of such a regime, by nature, requires a combination of
economic, political, and military arrangements to support and protect ail
production and transportation to markets.™® U.S. policies, geared toward the
creation of an appropriate climate within the region, in accordance with U.S.
interests, have thus consisted of a three-pronged programme of economic,
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political and military penetration into the region. This has included persistent
efforts to sideline the intrusion of other powers, particularly Russia and
Europe, in attempts to control access to regional resources*

As noted in 1997 by an energy expert at the National Security Council on
U.S. policy in Centrd Asa “U.S. policy was to promote the rapid
development of Caspian energy ... We did so specificaly to promote the
independence of these ail-rich countries, to in essence break Russia’s
monopoly control over the transportation of oil from that region, and frankly,
to promote Western energy security through diversification of supply.”**

Former U.S. Energy Secretary Bill Richardson observed in 1998 in
relation to the republics of Central Asia

“We would like these newly independent countries reliant on Western
commercial and political interests rather than going another way.
We ve made a substantial political investment in the Caspian, and it's
very important to us that both the pipeline map and the politics come
out right.”**°

One year later, the 106th Congress passed the Silk Road Strategy Act of
1999, “...to amend the Foreign Assistance Act of 1961 to target assistance to
support the economic and political independence of the countries of the
South Caucasus and Centra Asia” The U.S. Congress noted that: “The
region of the South Caucasus and Central Asia could produce oil and gas in
sufficient quantities to reduce the dependence of the United States on energy
from the volatile Persian Gulf region.” Accordingly, one of the principal
objectives of U.S. palicy, it was agreed, is “to support United States business
interests and investments in the region.” **’

U.S. policy plansin Centra Asia are thus rooted in a broad imperiaistic
context. A 46-page Pentagon draft document, leaked by Pentagon officias in
March 1992, clearly reflects the interna planning and strategies produced by
the U.S. military in the post-Cold War era. The Pentagon document states
that the United States “first objective is to prevent the re-emergence of a
new rival” who may threaten America’'s domination of global resources in
the post-Cold War era. This would naturally involve the U.S. endeavour “to
establish and protect a new order that holds the promise of convincing
potential competitors that they need not aspire to a greater role or pursue a
more aggressive posture to protect their legitimate interests.” This world
order must “account sufficiently for the interests of the advanced industria
nations to discourage them from seeking to overturn the established political
and economic order” under U.S. hegemony. U.S. military dominance must be
maintained as “the mechanism for deterring potential competitors from even
aspiring to alarger regional or global role.”
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Such military dominance implicates the preservation of “NATO as the
primary instrument of Western defense and security” because NATO extends
U.S. hegemony over Western Europe. Thus, the U.S. “must seek to prevent
the emergence of European-only security arrangements which would
undermine NATO” and thereby U.S. hegemony over Europe. A “dominant
consideration underlying the new regiona defense strategy” is the necessity
for the U.S. to “endeavour to prevent any hostile power from dominating a
region whose resources would, under consolidated control, be sufficient to
generate global power.”

These regions include Western Europe, East Asia, the former Soviet
Union and the Middle East, which should, therefore, be integrated into the
U.S.-dominated global economic system, and thereby brought under
American world domination. What is therefore paramount to maintain is “the
sense that the world order is ultimately backed by the U.S. ...The U.S.
should be postured to act independently when collective action cannot be
orchestrated.”

There is no doubt that this Pentagon draft document reflects the
fundamental motivations and concerns of U.S. policy planners today.**®

For these reasons, tension between the United States and Russia dtill
exists in the post-Cold War era, dthough not with the same degree of
intensity and conflict of earlier years. This is primarily due to Russia’s
weakening since the collapse of the USSR. This weakening has contributed
significantly to Russia s willingness to join the U.S. in an aliance dominated
by the latter, while attempting to pursue its own goas within a U.S-
dominated framework, challenging that framework only marginally.

As noted by Douglas MacArthur and Professor Stephen Blank, the
principal expert on Russia, the Commonwedlth of Independent States, and
Eastern Europe at the U.S. Army War College's Strategic Studies Ingtitute,
“the Transcaspian has become perhaps the most important area of direct
Western-Russian contention today.”**® However, Russia is not the only rival
to U.S. interests in the Caspian. U.S. policy, with British complicity, aso
appears to be designed to eventually distance the Balkan and Centra Asian
countries from German-EU influence, as well as weaken competing Franco-
Belgian-Italian oil interests*°

Stephen Blank suggests that an ingenious method of imposing U.S.
hegemony is now being pursued in the form of peacekeeping missions.
Because an open military-backed diplomatic confrontation with U.S. rivals,
such as Russa, China and others, remains dangerous and therefore
inappropriate, U.S. policy is to find ways of implementing the “functional
equivalent... [i.e] peace operations.”*** Thus, there is good reason to argue
that U.S. involvement in Central Asia, undertaken ostensibly as humanitarian
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peace/security operations, are in fact designed to secure economic and
strategic interests.

Indeed, there can be no red disputing the fact that, as matter of policy,
military intervention is concerned fundamentally with the protection of
Western interests as opposed to human rights, or even domestic security.

Although NATO military expansion is publicly touted as a means of
legitimately strengthening the security of NATO members from conflict, and
more recently the human rights of peoples around the world thereby, the
reality is rather different. The actual objective of NATO, aong with NATO's
regiona programmes, such as Partnership for Peace, can be discerned from
NATO’s definition of “security” as any event or entity that challenges the
“collectiveinterests’ of NATO members

For example, former U.S. Secretaries of State and Defense, Christopher
and Perry, stated in 1997 that “the danger to security... is not primarily
potential aggression to their collective [NATO] territory, but thregts to their
collective interests beyond their territory... To deal with such threats alliance
members need to have a way to rapidly form military coalitions that can
accomplish goals beyond NATO territory.” %2

NATO is, therefore, to play the role of military enforcer and protector of
regional Western interests. References to “ security,” therefore, relate to these
interests, which are primarily economic in nature. That these interests are
primarily orientated around strategic and economic issues, such as access to
regiona resources and the countering of U.S. rivals, is clear from severa
examples, such as the fact that U.S. Centra Asia experts met at NATO
headquarters to discuss, not the threat of conflict, but rather major U.S.
interests in Caspian basin energy deposits. It is in this context that Javier
Solana, who became NATO Secretary-Genera during the intervention in
Kosovo and later EU Security Affairs chief, stated a a Washington
conference on NATO enlargement that Europe cannot be fully secure
without bringing the Caucasus into its security zone.**

U.S. Ambassador Nathan Nimitz elaborated on how U.S. policy should
hence be directed, in no uncertain terms. he concluded that the entirety of
Eurasia must be brought under U.S. military-economic hegemony. “Pax
NATO is the only logical regime to maintain security in the traditional
sense... [and] must recognize a need for expansion of its stabilizing influence
in adjacent areas, particularly in Southeastern Europe, the Black Sea region
(in concert of course with the regiona powers...) and in the Arabian/Persian
Gulf. The United States must continue to play the major role in this security
system.”*?
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As Stephen Blank thus reports, regional military exercises held in 1997
were designed to demonstrate to the world that “U.S. and NATO forces
could be deployed anywhere... The obvious implication of current policy is
that NATO, under U.S. leadership, will become an international policeman
and hegemon in the Transcaspian and define the limits of Russian
participation in the region’s expected oil boom.”*#

Strategies for I ntervention
by the Council on Foreign Relations

In other words, the Great Game of the nineteenth century, which
consisted of competition among the powers for control of Central Eurasia,
has continued into the twenty-first century with the United States leading the
way. While Afghanistan thus constitutes the essential vehicle of control of
Centra Asia, Centrd Asa isin turn an essentia instrument of global control.

This fact, adong with extensive drategic planning for future U.S.
intervention in the region, was discussed in a 1997 Council on Foreign
Relations (CFR) study, The Grand Chessboard: American Primacy and its
Geostrategic Imperatives. Authored by longtime U.S. strategic adviser and
former National Security Adviser under the Carter Administration, Zbigniew
Brzezinski, the CFR study goes into great detail about U.S. interests in
“Eurasid’ and the need for a “sustained and directed” U.S. involvement in
the Central Asian region to secure these interests**°

“Ever dince the continents started interacting politicaly, some five
hundred years ago, Eurasia has been the center of world power,” he
observes'?’ Eurasia consists of al the territory east of Germany and Poland,
al the way through Russia and China to the Pacific Ocean, including the
Middle East and most of the Indian subcontinent. Brzezinski notes that the
key to controlling Eurasia lies in establishing control over the republics of
Centra Asia.

He further describes Russia and China, both of which border Centra
Asia, as the two main powers that might threaten U.S. interests in the region,
Russia being the more prominent threat. The U.S. must accordingly manage
and manipulate the “lesser” surrounding powers, such as Ukraine,
Azerbaijan, Iran and Kazakhstan, as counter-actions to Russian and Chinese
moves to control the oil, gas and mineras of the republics of Central Asia,
namely Turkmenistan, Uzbekistan, Tgjikistan, and Kyrgyzstan. He aso notes
that any nation becoming predominant in Centra Asia would thus pose a
direct threat to U.S. control of oil resources both within the region and in the
Persian Gulf. The Centra Asian republics, he records, “are of importance
from the standpoint of security and historical ambitions to at least three of
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their most immediate and more powerful neighbors, namely Russia, Turkey
and Iran, with China aso signaling an increasing political interest in the
region...

“But the Eurasian Balkans are infinitely more important as a potential

economic prize: an enormous concentration of natural gas and oil
reserves is located in the region, in addition to important minerals,
including gold... The world's energy consumption is bound to vastly
increase over the next two or three decades. Estimates by the U.S.
Department of Energy anticipate that world demand will rise by more
than 50 percent between 1993 and 2015, with the most significant
increase in consumption occurring in the Far East. The momentum of
Asia's economic development is already generating massive pressures
for the exploration and exploitation of new sources of energy, and the
Centra Asian region and the Caspian Sea basin are known to contain
reserves of natural gas and oil that dwarf those of Kuwait, the Gulf of
Mexico, or the North Sea”® ... Kazakhstan is the shield and
Uzbekistan is the soul for the region’s diverse national awakenings ...
Uzbekistan is, in fact, the prime candidate for regiona leadership in
Central Asia'® ... Once pipelines to the area have been developed,
Turkmenistan's truly vast natural gas reserves augur a prosperous
future for the country’s people... In fact, an Isamic revival—already
abetted from the outside not only by Iran but also by Saudi Arabia—is
likely to become the mobilizing impulse for the increasingly pervasive
new nationalisms, determined to oppose any reintegration under
Russian—and hence infidel—control™* ... For Pakistan, the primary
interest is to gain Geostrategic depth through political influence in
Afghanistan—and to deny to Iran the exercise of such influence in
Afghanistan and Tgjikistan—and to benefit eventualy from any
pipeline construction linking Central Asia with the Arabian Sed' ...
Moreover, sensble Russian leaders redlize that the demographic
explosion underway in the new states means that their failure to sustain
economic growth will eventualy creste an explosive situation aong
Russa’s entire southern frontier."** Turkmenistan... has been actively
exploring the construction of a new pipeline through Afghanistan and
Pakistan to the Arabian Sea.”'*®

He then pointed out from the above that: “It follows that America's

primary interest is to help ensure that no single power comes to control this
geopolitical space and that the global community has unhindered financia

and economic accessto it.’

1134

“...China’s growing economic presence in the region and its politica
stake in the ared's independence are aso congruent with America’s
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interests'®... Americais now the only global superpower, and Eurasia

is the globe's central arena. Hence, what happens to the distribution of

power on the Eurasian continent will be of decisive importance to

America’s globa primacy and to America’s historical legacy... the

Eurasian Bakans threaten to become a cauldron of ethnic conflict and

great-power rivalry.”

Brzezinski then comes to the crucia conclusion that: “Without sustained
and directed American involvement, before long the forces of global disorder
could come to dominate the world scene. And the possibility of such a
fragmentation is inherent in the geopolitical tensions not only of today’s
Eurasia but of the world more generally.”**® These observations are rooted
indelibly in the Council on Foreign Relations principa concern—the
maintenance of global U.S. dominance:

“The last decade of the twentieth century has witnessed a tectonic shift
in world affairs. For the first time ever, a non-Eurasian power has
emerged not only as a key arbiter of Eurasian power relations but aso
as the world’s paramount power. The defeat and collapse of the Soviet
Union was the find step in the rapid ascendance of a Western
Hemisphere power, the United States, as the sole and, indeed, the first

137

truly global power™"...

But in the meantime, it is imperative that no Eurasian challenger
emerges, capable of dominating Eurasia and thus of also chalenging
America. The formulation of a comprehensive and integrated Eurasian
geostrategy is therefore the purpose of this book.™® ... For America,
the chief geopolitica prize is Eurasia... Now a non-Eurasian power is
preeminent in Eurasa—and Americas globa primacy is directly
dependent on how long and how effectively its preponderance on the
Eurasian continent is sustained™® ...

In that context, how America ‘manages Eurasiais critical. Eurasa is
the globe's largest continent and is geopolitically axial. A power that
dominates Eurasia would control two of the world's three most
advanced and economically productive regions. A mere glance at the
map aso suggests that control over Eurasa would amost
automatically entail Africa’'s subordination, rendering the Western
Hemisphere and Oceania geopolitically peripheral to the world's
central continent. About 75 per cent of the world's people live in
Eurasia, and most of the world's physical wedth is there as well, both
in its enterprises and undernesth its soil. Eurasia accounts for 60 per
cent of the world’'s GNP and about three-fourths of the world’'s known
energy resources™ ... Two basic steps are thus required: firgt, to
identify the geostrategically dynamic Eurasian states that have the



76

The War on Freedom

power to cause a potentially important shift in the international
distribution of power and to decipher the centra external gods of their
respective political dites and the likely consequences of their seeking
to attain them;... second, to formulate specific U.S. palicies to offsdt,
co-opt, and/or control the above ...

To put it in a terminology that harkens back to the more brutal age of
ancient empires, the three grand imperatives of imperial geostrategy
are to prevent collusion and maintain security dependence among the
vassals, to keep tributaries pliant and protected, and to keep the
barbarians from coming together*** ... Henceforth, the United States
may have to determine how to cope with regional codalitions that seek
to push America out of Eurasia, thereby threatening America's status
asagloba power** ... Hence, support for the new post-Soviet states—
for geopolitical pluraism in the space of the former Soviet empire—
has to be an integrd part of a policy designed to induce Russia to
exercise unambiguoudly its European option. Among these states, three
are geopolitically especially important: Azerbaijan, Uzbekistan, and
Ukraine... Uzbekistan, nationally the most vital and the most populous
of the central Adan dtates, represents the mgor obstacle to any
renewed Russian control over the region. Its independence is critical to
the survival of the other Centra Asian states, and it is the least
vulnerable to Russian pressures.”**®

Elaborating, Brzezinski observes that:

“With warning signs on the horizon across Europe and Asia, any
successful American policy must focus on Eurasia as a whole and be
guided by a geostrategic design ... That puts a premium on maneuver
and manipulation in order to prevent the emergence of a hogtile
coalition that could eventually seek to challenge America's primacy ...
The most immediate task is to make certain that no state or
combination of states gains the capacity to expel the United States
from Eurasia or even to diminish significantly its decisive arbitration
roe' ...

In the long run, global politics are bound to become increasingly
uncongenia to the concentration of hegemonic power in the hands of a
single state. Hence, America is not only the first, as well as the only,
truly global superpower, but it is also likely to be the very last.”**°

The next point made by Brzezinski is crucid:

“Moreover, as America becomes an increasingly multi-cultural society,
it may find it more difficult to fashion a consensus on foreign policy
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issues, except in the circumstance of a truly massive and widely
perceived direct external threat.”**®

Long-standing U.S. ams to establish hegemony—the “decisive
arbitration role” of “America’s primacy”—over “Eurasid’ through control of
Central Asia thus entailed the use of “sustained and directed American
involvement,” justified through the manufacture of “a truly massive and
widely perceived direct externa threat.” This should also be understood in
context with his earlier assertion that: “The attitude of the American public
toward the externa projection of American power has been much more
ambivalent. The public supported America’'s engagement in World War 11
largely because of the shock effect of the Japanese attack on Pearl
Harbor.”**’

Brzezinski clearly envisaged that the establishment, consolidation and
expansion of U.S. military hegemony over Eurasia through Centra Asa
would require the unprecedented, open-ended militarisation of foreign
policy, coupled with an unprecedented manufacture of domestic support and
consensus on this militarisation campaign.

He aso recognised that this would require the perception of an externa
threat of hitherto unprecedented proportions.

Given that Afghanistan constitutes the principal opening into Centra
Ada, it is clear that the CFR's dtrategic planning for the expansion and
consolidation of U.S. globa hegemony via control of Eurasia—itself secured
through control of Centra Asia—would of necessity be initiated through the
establishment of U.S. hegemony in Afghanistan.

Thelrrelevance of Bin Laden

All this clearly establishes the broad economic and strategic agenda
behind the military plans that were in place long before 11" September 2001.
This agenda was re-confirmed in February 1998 in U.S. House of
Representative hearings held by the Subcommittee on Asia and the Pacific (a
subcommittee of the House Committee on International Relations). These
meetings revealed the fundamental strategic and economic U.S. interests in
Central Asia, and Afghanistan’s crucid role in providing a vehicle by which
to secure these interests (see Appendix A).

Even in the aftermath of 11" September, contrary to what the public was
told, the U.S. General and head of U.S. Central Command directing the
operation in Afghanistan revedled that finding Osama bin laden was not
actually a mission objective. USA Today reported that: “The U.S. combat
commander in Afghanistan said Thursday that apprehending Osama bin
Laden isn't one of the missions of Operation Enduring Storm...
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“‘We have not said that Osama bin Laden is a target of this effort,’
Franks told reporters at his first Pentagon briefing since the war began
a month ago. Usualy, Franks, the commander in chief of Centra
Command and third in the war's chain of command after Bush and
Defense Secretary Donad Rumsfeld, is headquartered in Tampa
‘What we are about, he said, ‘is the destruction of the a-Qd eda
network, as well as the... Taliban that provide harbor to bin Laden and
a-Qaeda’ Marine Lt. Col. Dave Lapan, Central Command liaison at
the Pentagon, said Franks was trying to reflect the broader nature of the
goas in Afghanistan. ‘If tomorrow morning someone told us Osama's
dead, that doesn’t mean we're through in Afghanistan,’ Lapan said.”**®

The irrelevance of capturing bin Laden was further revealed when, as
London’s Daily Mirror reported: “... in late September and early October,
leaders of Pakistan's two Islamic parties negotiated bin Laden’s extradition
to Pakistan to stand trial for the September 11 attacks...

“The deal was that he would be held under house arrest in Peshawar.
According to reports in Pakistan (and the Daily Telegraph), this had
both bin Laden's approva and that of Mullah Omah, the Taliban
leader... Later, a U.S. officid said that ‘casting our objectives too
narrowly’ risked ‘a premature collapse of the international effort if by
some luck chance Mr bin Laden was captured'... What the Afghani
people got instead was ‘American justice —imposed by a president
who, as well as denouncing international agreements on nuclear
weapons, biological weapons, torture and global warming, has refused
to sign up for an internationa court to try war criminas: the one place
where bin Laden might be put on trial.”**°

As discussed, the war on Afghanistan, planned long before 11"
September, thus had as its basis much broader concerns. Capturing and trying
bin Laden was a public pretext, not an integral aim of the U.S. mission.
Long-standing military plans to invade Afghanistan were rooted in broad
strategic and economic concerns related to the consolidation of global U.S.
hegemony through control of Eurasia and Central Asia
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4. Warning Signsof 9-11 and Intelligence 4
Failures

“What is happening in the United Statestook me by surprise.
| anticipated that in the aftermath of Sept. 11, there would be an
enormous hue and cry to find out what went wrong. There has been
no hue and cry in the United States. No recriminations, nothing even
similar to what happened after Pear|l Harbor in 1941... The United
States hasdrawn a veil of silence over the issue of
intelligence failure.”

Wesley Wark, Canadian Intelligence Expert and Consultant to the Privy
Council Office of Canada on Intelligence Policy
(Globe & Mail, 18 December 2001)

“WEe' ve been focusing on this perpetrator Osama bin Laden for 3 years,
and yet we didn’t see this one coming,” said Vincent Cannistraro, former
chief of CIA counter-terrorism operations. A U.S. Air Force Genera
described the attack as “something we had never seen before, something we
had never even thought of.” FBI Director Robert Mueller further declared
that “there were no warning signs that I'm aware of.” Senior FBI officids
insisted that in terms of inteligence warnings received prior to 11"
September: “The notion of flying a plane into a building or using it as a
bomb never came up.”**® According to this official version of events, no one
in the Bush administration had the dightest idea of the identities of those
who orchestrated the 11" September attacks, the nature of their plans, or their
targets.

Contrary to these prolific claims, there is compelling evidence that the
U.S. intelligence community had extensive forewarning of the 11"
September attacks on New Y ork and Washington. Further evidence suggests
that the attacks may, in fact, have been in the interest of certain elements of
the Bush administration (see Chapter V1I).

Using Planes as Bombs

The Pentagon commissioned an expert pand in 1993 to investigate the
possibility of an airplane being used to bomb national landmarks. Retired Air
Force Col. Doug Menarchik, who organised the $150,000 study for the
Defense Department’'s Office of Speciad Operations and Low-Intensity
Conflict, recalled: “It was considered radica thinking, a little too scary for
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the times. After | left, it met aquiet death.” Other participants have noted that
the decision not to publish detailed scenarios issued to some extent from fear
that this may give terrorists ideas. Nevertheless, a draft document detailing
the results of the investigation was circulated through the Pentagon, the
Justice Department and the Federa Emergency Management Agency. Senior
agency officials decided against a public release.”™

The veracity of the Pentagon’s “radical thinking” was confirmed in 1994
when there occurred three attempted attacks on buildings using airplanes.
The first, in April of that year, involved a Federal Express flight engineer
facing dismissal.

Having boarded a DC-10 as a passenger, he invaded the cockpit,
planning to crash the plane into a company building in Memphis.
Fortunately, he was overpowered by the crew.

The second attempt occurred in September. A lone pilot crashed a small
plane into a tree on the White House grounds, just short of the President’s
bedroom.

The third incident occurred in December. An Air France flight in Algiers
was hijacked by members of the Armed Idamic Group (GIA)— who are
linked to Al-Qaeda—aiming to crash it into the Eiffel Tower. French Specia
Forces stormed the plane on the ground. ***

Al-Qaeda’ s Plans. Project Bojinka

Western intelligence had been aware of plans for such terrorist attacks on
U.S. soil as early as 1995. Both the Federa Bureau of Investigation (FBI)
and the Federal Aviation Administration (FAA) had detailed information
about the possible use of hijack/suicide attacks by terrorists connected to
Osama bin Laden. The New York Times reported that:

“In 1994, two jetliners were hijacked by people who wanted to crash
them into buildings, one of them by an Idamic militant group. And the
2000 edition of the FAA’s annua report on Crimina Acts Against
Aviation, published this year, said that athough Osama bin Laden ‘is
not known to have attacked civil aviation, he has both the motivation
and the wherewithal to do so,” adding, ‘Bin Laden’s anti-Western and
anti-American attitudes make him and his followers a significant threat
to civil aviation, particularly to U.S. civil aviation.”*>
Moreover, the U.S. intelligence community was aware of bin Laden's
specific intentions to use hijacked civilian planes as weapons. In this regard,
the Chicago Sun-Times reported that:



4. Warning signs of 9-11 and Intelligence Failures 83

“The FBI had advance indications of plans to hijack U.S. airliners and
use them as wegpons, but neither acted on them nor distributed the
intelligence to loca police agencies. From the moment of the
September 11th attacks, high-ranking federd officias inssted that the
terrorists method of operation surprised them. Many stick to that story.
Actually, elements of the hijacking plan were known to the FBI as
early as 1995 and, if coupled with current information, might have
uncovered the plot.”***

Details of these advanced indications have been noted in a report by the
respected German daily, Die Welt: “Western secret services knew as far back
as 1995 that suspected terror mastermind Osama bin Laden planned to attack
civilian sites using commercial passenger planes.” Quoting sources “close to
western intelligence agencies,” the newspaper reported that: “The plan was
discovered in January 1995 by Philippine police who were investigating a
possible attack against Pope John Paul Il on avisit to Manila...

“They found details of the plan in a computer seized in an apartment
used by three men who were part of Bin Laden’s a-Qaeda network. It
provided for 11 planes to be exploded simultaneoudly by bombs placed
on board, but also in an alternative form for severa planes flying to the
United States to be hijacked and flown into civilian targets. Among
targets mentioned was the World Trade Center in New York, which
was destroyed in the September 11 terror attacks in the United States
that killed thousands.”

This plot “re-surfaced during the trial in New York in 1997 of Pakistani
Rams Yousef, the mastermind of the attack on the World Trade Center in
1993... [The] U.S. Federal Bureau of Investigation and CIA would have
known about the plan at the latest at this time.”**> As the Washington DC-
based Public Education Center (PEC) observes, “Federa invegtigative
sources have confirmed that Murad’—who was “a close confidant and right-
hand man to Yousef, who was convicted of crimes relating to the 1993
bombing of the World Trade Center”—"detailed an entire plot to dive bomb
arcraft in the headquarters of the Central Intelligence Agency in Langley,
VA.” dong with other U.S. buildings. “Y ousef independently boasted of the
plot to U.S. Secret Service agent Brian Parr and FBI agent Charles Stern on
an extradition flight from Pakistan to the United States in February 1995,”
continues the PEC report. “The agents later testified to that fact in court...
[T]he plan targeted not only the CIA but other U.S. government buildings in
Washington, including the Pentagon.”**®

Rafadl M. Garcia Ill, Chairman/CEO of the Mega Group of Computer
Companies in the Philippines, who often works with the National Bureau of
Investigation (NBI) in his field of expertise, was involved in the intelligence
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operation that uncovered Project Bojinka. Garcia was responsible for the
decoding of Yousef’s computer. “This was how we found out about the
various plots being hatched by the cell of Ramzi Y ousef. First, there was the
plot to assassinate Pope John Paul I1,” he observes. “ Then, we discovered a
second, even more sinister plot: Project Bojinka, or a Yugodav term for loud
bang. ™’ This was a plot to blow up 11 airlines over the Pacific Ocean, al in a
48-hour period. The planes would have come from Seoul, Hong Kong,
Taipel, Tokyo, Bangkok, Singapore, and Manila...

“Then we found another document that discussed a second dternative
to crash the 11 planes into selected targets in the United States instead
of just blowing them up in the ar. These included the CIA
headquarters in Langley, Virginia; the World Trade Center in New
York; the Sears Tower in Chicago; the TransAmerica Tower in San
Francisco; and the White House in Washington, DC... | submitted my
findings to NBI officias, who most certainly turned over the report
(and the computer) either to then Senior Superintendent Avelino Razon
of the PNIP [the Philippine Nationa Police] or to Bob Heafner of the
FBI... | have since had meetings with certain U.S. authorities and they
have confirmed to me that indeed, many things were done in response
to my report.”**®

The World Tribune similarly reports, citing an intelligence source
involved in the Philippine operation, that: “The hijacked aircraft were to be
crashed into structures in the United States, including the World Trade
Center, the White House, Pentagon, the Transamerica tower in San Francisco
and the Sears Tower in Chicago.”**® Paul Monk, Senior Fellow a the
Australian Thinking Skills Institute and a Professor at the Australian Defense
University, cites “confidential sources’ in Manila and Washington detailing
that: “Project Bojinka was an AQ [Al-Qaeda] plan to hijack eleven airliners
simultaneously, exploding many of them at various places over the Pacific,
but flying at least two of them into major federal government buildings in the
United States. The flights to be hijacked were specified. They were all
United Airlines, Northwest Airlines and Deltaflights...

“The plan has been masterminded by one Ramz Y ousef, who was
arrested in Idamabad in the wake of Murad's interrogation. Both
Murad and Yousef were extradited to the United States, tried and
convicted for complicity in the 1993 attack on the WTC. The date of
Yousef’s conviction was 11 September 1996. From that point, given
the fascination terrorists have with anniversaries, 11 September should
surely have become awatch date.”**°

Detailed elaboration on this matter is provided by the Washington DC-
based media watch group, Accuracy In Media (AIM). AIM has harshly
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criticised the media for largely ignoring the U.S. intelligence community’s
advanced knowledge of Project Bojinka:

“In 1995, the CIA and the FBI learned that Osama bin Laden was
planning to hijack U.S. airliners and use them as bombs to attack
important targets in the U.S. This scheme was called Project Bojinka. It
was discovered in the Philippines, where authorities arrested two of bin
Laden’s agents, Ramzi Yousef and Abdul Hakim Murad. They were
involved in planting a bomb on a Philippine airliner. Project Bojinka,
which Philippine authorities found outlined on Abdul Murad's laptop,
caled for planting bombs on eleven U.S. airliners and hijacking others
and crashing them into targets like the CIA building...

It required aviators like Japan’s kamikaze pilots who were willing to
commit suicide. Bin Laden had no such pilots in 1995, but he set out to
train young fanatics willing to die for him to fly arliners. Abdul
Murad, whose laptop had revealed the plan, admitted that he was being
trained for a suicide mission. Bin Laden began training pilots in
Afghanistan with the help of an Afghan pilot and a Pakistani general.

Project Bojinka was known to the CIA and the FBI. It was described in
court documents in the trial in New York of Ramzi Y ousef and Abdul
Murad for their participation in the bombing of the World Trade Center
in 1993. Since the CIA had been mentioned as one of the targets in
Project Bojinka, it should have had an especidly strong interest in any
evidence that bin Laden was preparing to carry it out. The most
obvious indicator, and one that should have been watched most
carefully, was the recruitment of young, dedicated followers to learn to
fly American airliners. That would require keeping a close watch on
flight schools where that training is given.”**

Post-Bojinka I ntelligence Gathering

And indeed, the survelllance of flight schools is exactly what
subsequently occurred, indicating that the threat posed by Project Bojinka
was not dismissed—rather, it was taken seriously and used as the basis for
intensive intelligence gathering. As Garcia testifies, in meetings with “certain
U.S. authorities... they have confirmed to me that indeed, many things were
donein response’ to the findings of Project Bojinka.'** The Washington Post,
noting the plans outlined in Project Bojinka, reported that: “Since 1996, the
FBI had been developing evidence that internationa terrorists were using
flight schools to learn to fly jumbo jets.” This evidence began to accumulate
shortly after the FBI learned of Project Bojinka. “A foiled plot in Manila to
blow up U.S. airliners and later court testimony by an associate of bin Laden
had touched off FBI inquiries at severa schools, officials say.”*®® It should
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be noted that this report indicates that Al-Qaeda' s plans for Project Bojinka
were considered by U.S. intelligence to be a credible threat, and thus
“touched off” further investigations.

Early in the same year, U.S. officials had identified crop-dusters and
suicide flights as potentia terrorist weapons. Elaborate steps were adopted to
prevent an attack from the air during the Summer Olympic Games in Atlanta.
U.S. aircraft were deployed to intercept suspicious aircraft in the skies over
Olympic venues, while agents monitored crop-duster flights within hundreds
of miles of downtown Atlanta. According to Woody Johnson, head of the
FBI's Atlanta office a the time, law enforcement agents fanned out to
regional airports throughout northern Georgia “to make sure nobody hijacked
a small aircraft and tried to attack one of the venues.” From 6" July to 11"
August, when the Games ended, the FAA had banned al aviation within a
one-mile radius of the Olympic Village where athletes were resident. Aircraft
were aso ordered to stay a least three miles away from other sites,
beginning three hours before each event until three hours after each event
ended.'® These extensive measures in 1996, in response to the general threat
of a possible terrorist attack, should be duly noted—there is a stark contrast
between these measures and the amost total lack of preventive measures in
response to warnings of the 11" September attacks.

By 1999, the Federa Aviation Administration’s annual report on
Crimina Acts Against Aviation noted the threat posed by bin Laden,
recaling that a radica Mudim leader living in British exile had warned in
August 1998 that bin Laden “would bring down an airliner, or hijack an
airliner to humiliate the United States.” The 2000 edition of the annua
report, published early in 2001, reiterated concerns that although bin Laden
“is not known to have attacked civil aviation, he has both the motivation and
the wherewitha to do so... Bin Laden’s anti-Western and anti-American
attitudes make him and his followers a significant threat to civil aviation,
particularly to U.S. civil aviation.”*®®

By this time, knowledge of Al-Qaeda’s intentions to use planes as
missiles to target key U.S. buildings was widespread in the U.S. intelligence
community. The Washington Post recounts how “a 1999 report prepared for
the National Intelligence Council, an &ffiliate of the CIA, warned that
terrorists associated with bin Laden might hijack an airplane and crash it into
the Pentagon, White House or CIA headquarters...

“The report recounts well-known case studies of similar plots,
including a 1995 plan by al Qaeda operatives to hijack and crash a
dozen U.S. airliners in the South Pecific and pilot a light aircraft into
Langley. ‘Suicide bomber(s) belonging to a-Qadas Martyrdom
Battalion could crash-land an aircraft packed with high explosives (C-4
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and semtex) into the Pentagon, the headquarters of the Centra
Intelligence Agency (CIA), or the White House," the September 1999
report said.”

Meanwhile, the survelllance of Al-Qaeda operatives on U.S. soil
continued. Between 2000 and 2001, the CIA had made the FBI aware of the
names of about 100 suspected members of bin Laden’s terrorist network
thought to be headed to, or aready in, the United States. A 23 August 2001
cable specifically referred to Khalid Al-Midhar and Nawag Alhazmi, who
were allegedly aboard the hijacked airplane that crashed into the Pentagon.*®’

Six months before 11" September, U.S. agencies became aware through
authoritative intelligence warnings that bin Laden was planning to implement
Project Bojinka soon. Three months later, these warnings were repested. The
warnings were, again, not dismissed. On the contrary, the U.S. intelligence
community took the reports very serioudy. Newsbytes, an online division of
the Washington Post, reported in mid-September that:

“U.S. and Isradli intelligence agencies received warning signals at least
three months ago that Middle Eastern terrorists were planning to hijack
commercial arcraft to use as weapons to attack important symbols of
American and Isragli culture, according to a story in Germany’s daily
Frankfurter Allgemeine Zeitung (FAZ).

The FAZ, quoting unnamed German intelligence sources, said that the
Echelon spy network was being used to collect information about the
terrorist threats, and that U.K. intelligence services apparently also had
advance warning. The FAZ, one of Germany’s most respected dailies,
said that even as far back as six months ago western and near-east
press services were receiving information that such attacks were being
planned. Within the American intelligence community, the warnings
were taken seriougly and surveillance intensified, the FAZ said.”*®®

The last comment—*Within the American intelligence community, the
warnings were taken seriousdy”—is crucid. It clearly indicates that in
response to the ECHELON warnings, the entire U.S. intelligence
community—all U.S. intelligence agencies—were on aert for a Project
Bojinka-style attack, and consequently intensified surveillance. The New
Yorker further reports that according to Richard A. Clarke, U.S. Nationa
Coordinator for Counterterrorism in the White House, about ten weeks
before 11" September, the U.S. intelligence community was convinced that a
terrorist attack by Al-Qaeda on U.S. soil was imminent. Seven to eight weeks
prior to the 11" September attacks, all internal U.S. security agencies were
warned of an impending Al-Qaeda attack against the Untied States that
would likely occur in several weeks time. This warning coincided with the
second ECHEL ON warning cited before:



88 The War on Freedom

“Meanwhile, intelligence had been streaming in concerning a likely Al
Qaeda attack. ‘It al came together in the third week in June’ Clarke
said. ‘The C.I.A.’sview was that amgjor terrorist attack was coming in
the next severa weeks’ On July 5th, Clarke summoned dl the
domestic security agencies—the Federal Aviation Administration, the
Coast Guard, Customs, the Immigration and Naturalization Service,
and the F.B.l.—and told them to increase their security in light of an
impending attack.”*®°

It is apparent then that al U.S. intelligence agencies were fully expecting
an impending attack by Al-Qaeda by the beginning of July 2001, and
moreover that the U.S. intelligence community was aware that “terrorists
were planning to hijack commercia aircraft to use as weapons to attack
important symbols of American... culture” In other words, the U.S.
intelligence community was anticipating a Project Bojinkastyle attack.
Among the buildings identified as “symbolic of American culture” in Al-
Qaeda' s Project Bojinka plans, known by U.S. intelligence, was the World
Trade Center. That the WTC was an extremely likely target is further clear
from the fact that operatives linked to Osama bin Laden had previoudy
targeted the Twin Towersin afailed bombing attempt. As a consequence, the
entire domestic intelligence and security apparatus seems to have been
alerted to increase relevant security and surveillance.

Warnings of the impending attack continued to be received theresfter.
Approximately 4 weeks prior to 11" September, the CIA received specific
information of an attack on U.S. soil. The Associated Press reports that:
“Officids dso said the CIA had developed genera information a month
before the attacks that heightened concerns that bin Laden and his followers
were increasingly determined to strike on U.S. soil.” A CIA official affirmed
that: “There was something specific in early August that said to us that he
was determined in striking on U.S. soil.” AP elaborates that: “The
information prompted the CIA to issue awarning to federal agencies.”*™

It was further reveded by a United Press International (UPI) report by
U.S. terrorism correspondent Richard Sde on ECHELON’s monitoring of
bin Laden and other terrorist groups that:

“The targets of Echelon center on the penetration of the magjor
components of most of the world's telephone and telecommunications
systems. This could cover conversations NSA targets. Also included
are dl the telexes carried over the world’'s telecommunications
networks, along with financial dedlings. money transfers, airline
destinations, stock information, data on demonstrations or international
conferences, and much more.”



4. Warning signs of 9-11 and Intelligence Failures 89

ECHELON's effectiveness against bin Laden’s network was further
reveded in reation to a case againgt him in a U.S. Digrict Court in
Manhattan, illustrating that the National Security Agency was able to
penetrate bin Laden’s most secure communications. The case, Sale noted, “is
based mainly on National Security Agency intercepts of phone calls between
bin Laden and his operatives around the world—Afghanistan to London,
from Kenyato the United States.”

The technology had been used since at least 1995. Ben Venzke, Director
of Intelligence and Specia Projects for iDefense, a Virginia information
warfare firm, is also quoted: “Since Bin Laden started to encrypt certain cdls
in 1995, why would they now be part of a court record? ‘Codes were
broken, U.S. officids said, and Venzke added that ‘you don’'t use your
highest levels of secure communications al the time. It's too burdensome
and it exposes it to other types of exploitation..”” The UPI report clarifies that
much of the evidence in the case had been obtained in ECHELON intercepts
subsequent to the 1998 bombings of U.S. embassies in East Africa'™ Given
that U.S. officids “believe the planning for the Sept. 11 attacks probably
began two years ago,” information on preparations for the attacks should
have been available to, and picked up by, ECHELON.""?

Confirmation that U.S. intelligence had been successfully monitoring Al-
Qaeda's communications right through to the aftermath of 11™ September
came from Utah Senator Orrin Hatch, a conservative Republican with wide
contacts in the national security establishment. On the day of the attacks,
Hatch stated that the U.S. government had been monitoring Osama bin
Laden’s communications eectronicaly, and had thus intercepted two bin
Laden aides celebrating the attacks: “They have an intercept of some
information that included people associated with bin Laden who
acknowledged a couple of targets were hit.”*"

ABC News further reported that shortly before 11" September, the U.S.
National Security Agency intercepted “multiple phone calls from Abu
Zubaida, bin Laden’s chief of operations, to the United States” The
information contained in these intercepted phone calls has not been
disclosed.*"™

Given that ECHELON was monitoring Osama bin Laden and Al-Qaeda,
and even breaking their secure codes, the implications are alarming. As
Canadian socia philosopher Professor John McMurtry of Guelph University,
Ontario, has noted in this connection:

“The pervasive Echelon survelllance apparatus and the most
sophisticated intelligence machinery ever built is unlikely not to have
eavesdropped on some of the very complicated organisation and plans
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across states and boundaries for the multi-site hijacking of planes from
major security structures across the U.S.—especially since the suicide
pilots were trained as pilots in the U.S,, and the World Trade Centre
had aready been bombed in 1993 by Afghan ex-alies of the CIA.
Since the prime suspect, Osama bin Laden, is himsalf an ex-CIA
operative in Afghanistan, and his moves presumably under the
intensest scrutiny for past successful terrorist attacks on two U.S.

embassies in 1998, one has to reflect on the connections.”*"

Air AuthoritiesWere Warned of Bojinka

It is worth noting here that around the time of the firss ECHELON
warnings, near the end of June 2001, Airjet Airline World News also issued a
warning, specifying Project Bojinka: “During the trial a Secret Service agent
testified that Y ousef boasted during his extradition flight to New York that
he would have blown up severa jumbo jets within a few weeks if his plan
had not been discovered. The government said the defendants even devised a
name for their airline terror plot named, ‘Project Bojinka ... The airlines are
at risk—They need to take al appropriate measures and counter-measures to
ensure the safety of their passengers”’”® The White House National
Coordinator for Counterterrorism, Richard Clarke, had aso given direct
warning to the Federal Aviation Administration (FAA) to increase security
measures in light of an impending terrorist attack in July 2001.*"" The FAA
refused to take such measures.

Former Federa Air Safety Inspector Rodney Stich, who has 50 years of
experience in aviation and air safety, had warned the FAA about the danger
of skyjacking, specifically highlighting the fact that cockpit doors weren’t
secure, and further that pilots should be alowed to carry basic weapons. The
FAA refused to implement his suggestions, and when it became apparent the
threat was real, they blocked efforts to arm pilots, or to place air marshals on
planes, among other security measures. In an extensive study of the subject,
Stich observes that:

“Federal inspectors... had years earlier reported the hijacking threat
and the smple inexpensive measures to prevent hijackers from taking
control of the aircraft. Numerous fata hijackings further proved the
need for urgent preventative measures. Instead of taking the legally
required corrective actions, arrogant and corrupt FAA management
personnel destroyed official reports of the dangers and the need for
corrective actions;, warned air safety inspectors not to submit reports
that would make the office look bad when there is a crash related to the
known problems; threatened inspectors who took corrective actions or
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continued to make reports—even though crashes from these
uncorrected safety problems continued to occur.”*"®

The Los Angeles Times corroborates this assessment: “Federa
bureaucracy and airline lobbying dowed and weakened a set of safety
improvements recommended by a presidential commission—including one
that atop airline industry official now says might have prevented the Sept. 11
terror attacks...

“The White House Commisson on Aviation Safety and Security,
created in 1996 after TWA Hight 800 crashed off Long Island, N.Y .,
recommended 31 steps that it said were urgently needed to provide a
multilayered security system at the nation's airports... The Federa
Aviation Administration expressed support for the proposals, which
ranged from security inspections at airports to tighter screening of mail
parcels, and the Clinton administration vowed to rigorously monitor
the changes. But by Sept. 11, most of the proposals had been watered
down by industry lobbying or were bogged down in bureaucracy, a
Times review found.”*"

The U.S. government thus bears direct responsibility for this state of
afairs, by consstently failing to comply with its avowed responsibility to
“rigoroudy monitor” and enforce the required changes. Larry Klayman,
Chairman and General Counsel of Judicia Watch, the Washington-based
lega watchdog, comments that: “It is now apparent—given the near total
lack of security at U.S. airports and el sewhere—that the U.S. government has
not been forthright with the American people...

“During the last eight years of scandal during the Clinton
administration, and the first eight months of the Bush Administration,
reports this morning confirm that little to nothing was done to secure
our nation’s airports and transportation systems as a whole—despite
warnings. Instead, cosmetic reform of education, social security, taxes,
and other less important issues were given precedence. In addition, the
American people were led to believe that appropriate anti-terrorist
counter measures were being taken. Instead of telling the truth so the
problems could be addressed, politicians painted a rosy picture in order
to be elected and re-elected.”**°

This is clearly more than a case of incompetence. This systematic
inaction, despite escalating warnings of a terrorist threat to the U.S. from the
air, indicates wilful and reckless negligence of the highest order on the part
of the U.S. government, rooted in sheer indifference to the potential loss in
American lives.
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Intensification of Surveillance
After Confirmation of Bojinka Plans

It is against this backdrop that the multiple intelligence warnings of an
impending terrorist act by bin Laden's operatives should be assessed.
Clearly, on the basis of the 1995 revelations about Project Bojinka, coupled
with the authoritative warnings in 2001 from America’'s own ECHELON
network among others, “the American intelligence community” was aware
that bin Laden was planning imminent attacks on U.S. soil through the
hijacking of civilian airliners to be used as bombs against key buildings
“symbolic of American culture” Among the buildings in Washington and
New York known to be on bin Laden’'s list of targets was the World Trade
Centre.

Project Bojinka, in other words, was underway. U.S. inteligence
agencies subsequently intensified their surveillance, and in doing so began
tracking suspected terrorists. This indicates that the U.S. intelligence
community had intensified surveillance by its various agencies in direct
response to fears of a Project Bojinkastyle attack on U.S. soil, orchestrated
by Osama bin Laden.

It is appropriate then to consider in more detail the findings of this
surveillance. WorldNetDaily, the Internet news service of the U.S.-based
non-profit Western Journalism Center, reports some pertinent revelations in
this respect:

“The FBI and other federal law enforcement agencies also knew that
two of the hijackers were in the country, according to the Los Angeles
Times. They were on a terrorist watch list. But the airlines were not
notified... The FBI had several terrorists under surveillance, according
to the Oct. 1 issue of Newsweek. They intercepted communications
just prior to Sept. 11 that suggested something very big was about to
happen... Stll, there were more clues. Zacarias Moussaoui was
arrested after flight trainers tipped off the feds that he wanted to learn
how to fly a 747 but wasn't interested in takeoffs or landings. Zacarias
was traveling on a French passport. When contacted, the French
government reported that he was a suspected terrorist [linked to Osama
Bin Laden].”**

Reuters reported in relation to Zacarias that: “The FBI arrested an
Idamic militant in Boston last month and received French intelligence
reports linking him to Saudi-born dissident Osama bin Laden but apparently
did not act on them,” a French radio station said on Thursday...



4. Warning signs of 9-11 and Intelligence Failures 93

“Europe 1 radio reported that U.S. police arrested a man with dual
French and Algerian nationality who had severa passports, technical
information on Boeing aircraft and flight manuals. The man had been
taking flying lessons, it added. Asked for information by the Federd
Bureau of Investigation, French security services provided a dossier
clearly identifying him as an Idamic militant working with bin
Laden.”*%

CBS investigative documentary programme 60 Minutes |l elaborated
that the information provided in the French intelligence report depicted
Zacarias as “a dangerous Idamic extremist”. Some of the information came
from Jean-Louis Brugruiere, a French judge and terrorist hunter who said
that the French had given the FBI “everything we had” '*° At the time of his
arrest, Zacarias had been in possession of technica information on Boeing
aircraft and flight manuals. It was on 26™ August that the FBI headquarters
was informed by French intelligence that Zacarias had ties to Al-Qaeda and
Osama hin Laden. Despite the confirmation of his involvement in bin
Laden’s terrorist network, a special counterterrorism panel of the FBI and
CIA reviewed the information against him, but concluded there was
insufficient evidence that he represented a threat. The Minnesota flight
school, Pan Am International Flight Academy, where Zacarias had been
training, also warned the FBI in no uncertain terms.

As the Minnegpolis Star-Tribune reported, “Moussaoui raised suspicions
at the Pan Am International Flight Academy in Egan [Minnesota]” when he
attended the Academy in August 2001 to learn how to fly jumbo jets. He
“firgt raised eyebrows when, during a smple introductory exchange, he said
he was from France, but then didn’t seem to understand when the instructor
spoke French to him... Moussaoui then became belligerent and evasive about
his background... In addition, he seemed inept in basic flying procedures,
while seeking expensive training on an advanced commercia jet
simulator.”***

Even the flight school’s own employees “began whispering that he could
be a hijacker.” Director of Operations at the Academy John Rosengren
recounts how Zacarias instructor was “concerned and wondered why
someone who was not a pilot and had so little experience was trying to pack
s0 much training into such a short time... ‘The more he was able to tak to
him, the more he decided he was not pilot material... There was discussion
about how much fuel was on board a 747-400 and how much damage that
could cause if it hit anything.’” *®°

So the instructor contacted the FBI, as the San Francisco Chronicle
reported:
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“An instructor at a Minnesota flight school warned the FBI in August
of his suspicion that a student who was later identified as a part of
Osama bin Laden's terror network might be planning to use a
commercia plane loaded with fudl as aweapon, a member of Congress
and other officials said yesterday. The officias, who were briefed by
the school, said the instructor warned the FBI in urgent tones about the
terrorist threat posed by the student, Zacarias Moussaoui.

According to U.S. Representative James L. Oberstar of Minnesota, the
instructor called the bureau several times to find someone in authority
who seemed willing to act on the information. His warnings could not
have been more blunt. Oberstar noted that: ‘He told them, ‘Do you
reglize that a 747 loaded with fuel can be used as a bomb?

Congressiona officials said the account by the school, the Pan Am
International Flight Academy in Eagan, outside Minneapolis, raised
new questions about why the FBI and other agencies did not prevent
the hijackings... [The flight instructor] was a former military pilot who
grew suspicious after encounters in which Moussaoui was belligerent
and evasive about his background and because he was so adamant
about learning to fly a 747 jumbo jet despite his clear incompetence as
apilot. Moussaoui, 33, was arrested in August on immigration charges.
But despite the urging of the school and federa agents in Minnesota
and despite a warning from the French that Moussaoui was linked to
Muslim extremists, FBI headquarters resisted opening a broader
investigation until after Sept. 11.”*%°

Indeed, the U.S. government actively prevented a further investigation
from being conducted. Local FBI investigators in Minneapolis had
immediately viewed Zacarias as a terrorist suspect and sought authorisation
for a specia counterintelligence surveillance warrant in order to search the
hard drive of his home computer. The government’s Justice Department plus
top FBI officias blocked an FBI request for a national security warrant to
search Zacarias computer, claiming that FBI agents lacked sufficient
information to meet the legal requirements to justify the warrant. The block
remained in place even after the notification from French intelligence that
Zacarias was linked to bin Laden.*®’

According to ABC News, however, a the time the Justice Department
justified the refusal of a warrant by claiming that there was insufficient
evidence connecting Zacarias to any known terrorist group: “Moussaoui was
taken into custody on August 16, but to the outrage of FBI agentsin the field,
headquarters was slow to react and said he could not be connected to any
known terror group.”'®® This was despite the information from French
intelligence demonstrating the latter’s links to Osama hin Laden and Al-
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Qaeda. While some law enforcement officials justify the block as a lega
necessity, others strongly disagree that such justification has any real basisin
law. “That decision is being questioned by some FISA experts, who say it's
possible a warrant would have been granted,” reported Greg Gordon. “The
specia court that reviews FISA requests has approved more than 12,000
Justice Department applications for covert search warrants and wiretaps and
rejected only one since the act was passed in 1978, according to government
reports.”*** MS-NBC has similarly reported that:

“...other law enforcement officids are equally insistent that a more
aggressive probe of Moussaoui—when combined with other
intelligence in the possession of U.S. agencies—might have yielded
sufficient clues about the impending plot. ‘The question being asked
here is if they put two and two together, they could have gotten a lot
more information about the guy—if not stopped the hijacking,” said
one investigator.”**°

The New York Times comments that the Moussaoui case “raised new
questions about why the Federal Bureau of Investigation and other agencies
did not prevent the hijackings.”***

The U.S. response to Mohamed Atta, the alleged lead hijacker, was even
more extraordinary. The German public TV channel, ARD, reported on 23"
November, 2001, that Mohamed Atta was subject to telephone monitoring by
the Egyptian secret service. The latter had found that Atta had made at least
one recent visit to Afghanistan from his home in Hamburg, Germany. The
FBI had aso been monitoring Atta's movements for several months in 2000,
when he traveled severa times from Hamburg to Frankfurt and bought large
quantities of chemicals potentialy usable in making explosives. Atta's name
had aso been mentioned in a Hamburg phone cal between Idamic
fundamentalists monitored by the German police in 1999, %

In January 2001, Atta was permitted reentry into the United States after a
trip to Germany, despite being in violation of his visa status. He had landed
in Miami on 10" January on a flight from Madrid on a tourist visa—yet he
had told immigration inspectors that he was taking flying lessonsin the U.S,,
for which an M-1 student visa is strictly required. Jeanne Butterfield,
Executive Director of the American Immigration Lawyers Association,
points out that: “Nine times out of 10, they would have told him to go back
and file [for that status] oversess. Y ou're not supposed to come in as a visitor
for pleasure and go to work or school.”*%®

PBS Frontlines also takes note of “The failure of the INS to stop the
attack’ s ringleader, Mohamed Atta, from entering the U.S. three times on a
tourist visa in 2001, even though officials knew the visa had expired in 2000
and Atta had violated its terms by taking flight lessons.”***
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This failure should be evauated in context with the fact that Atta had
been under FBI surveillance for stockpiling bomb-making materias.
Furthermore, Canadian TV reported that Atta had already been implicated in
a terrorist bombing in Isragl, with the information passed on to the United
States before he was first issued his tourist visa.'®®

Y et despite these blatant terrorist connections, Atta was still alowed into
the United States freely, and made repesated trips to Europe, each time
returning to the U.S., and being admitted by U.S. customs and immigration
without obstruction—not because visa regulations were lax, but because they
were willfully violated. The London Observer notesin surprise that Atta:

“... was under surveillance between January and May last year after he
was reportedly observed buying large quantities of chemicas in
Frankfurt, apparently for the production of explosives and for
biological warfare... The U.S. agents reported to have trailed Atta are
sad to have faled to inform the German authorities about their
investigation. The disclosure that Atta was being trailed by police long
before 11 September raises the question why the attacks could not have
been prevented with the man’s arrest.”**°

Atta also appears to have been under continua surveillance by the FBI.
He was among the suspected terrorists linked to bin Laden training at U.S.
flight schools, which the FBI had already known about for years. Asthe BBC
observed: “The evidence.. reinforces concerns that the internationa
intelligence community may have known more about Atta before September
11 than was previoudly thought, but had failed to act.”**’

There was a similar lack of response in relation to other suspected
terrorists under U.S. surveillance. Human Events reported that:

“The FBI and other federal law enforcement agencies knew about the
presence of at least two of the terrorists in the United States, but failed
to get the information to airlines. Khalid Al-Midhar and Nawaq
Alhamzi, who were on Flight 77 that hit the Pentagon, were aready on
the so-called watch list. But federa officials failed to notify arline
officials who might have been able to stop at least one of the terror
attacks, reports the Los Angeles Times.”**®

The CIA and FBI knew three weeks before the attacks that these two
hijackers, including one with a link to the bombing of the U.S. destroyer
Cole in October 2000, were in the United States. Yet despite being on a
terrorism watch list, which details individuals banned from entering the
country due to their apparent links to terrorist activities, they were neither
barred from entry into the U.S. nor apprehended later. The Washington Post
has further pointed out, incredulously, that more than 50 people were
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probably involved in preparations for the operation within the U.S.—without
agencies doing anything about it:

“The scattered details that have emerged about the plot put this failure
in stark relief: More than 50 people were likely involved, Justice
Department officials have said, and the plot required extensive
communications and planning to pull off. The group’s size—not to
mention the complexity of its endeavor—should have offered many
opportunities for intelligence infiltration. Yet the conspirators
proceeded unmolested. What is striking is how safe these people
apparently felt, how unthreatened by law enforcement. Some of the
terrorists were here for long periods. They left and entered the country
unimpeded. Some were reportedly on the so-caled ‘watch list, a
government catalogue of people who ostensibly are not permitted to
enter the country. Y et this apparently caused them no problems.”***

Further corroborative revelations have surfaced, indicating the extent of
the FBI’s failure to act. According to reports in Newsweek, the Washington
Post and the New York Times, after 11" September U.S. military officids
gave the FBI information “suggesting that five of the aleged hijackers
received training in the 1990s at secure U.S. military installations.”*®
Newsweek has further elaborated that U.S. military training of foreign
students occurs as a matter of routine, with the authorisation—and
payment—of respective governments, clarifying in particular that with
respect to training of Saudi pilots, “Training is paid for by Saudi Arabia.”
The hijackers, we should note, were aimost exclusively Saudi; 15 of the 19
hijackers were Saudis, mostly from wealthy families:

“U.S. military sources have given the FBI information that suggests
five of the aleged hijackers of the planes that were used in Tuesday’s
terror attacks received training at secure U.S. military installations in
the 1990s. Another of the alleged hijackers may have been trained in
strategy and tactics at the Air War College in Montgomery, Ala., said
another high-ranking Pentagon officia. The fifth man may have
received language instruction at Lackland Air Force Base in San
Antonio, Tex. Both were former Saudi Air Force pilots who had come
to the United States, according to the Pentagon source... NEWSWEEK
visted the base early Saturday morning, where military police
confirmed that the address housed foreign military flight trainees... It
is not unusual for foreign nationalsto train at U.S. military facilities. A
former Navy pilot told NEWSWEEK that during his years on the base,
‘we always, always, aways trained other countries pilots. When | was
there two decades ago, it was Iranians. The shah was in power.
Whoever the country du jour is, that’s whose pilots we train.’



98 The War on Freedom

Candidates begin with ‘an officer’s equivalent of boot camp,” he said.
‘Then they would put them through flight training.” The U.S. has a
long-standing agreement with Saudi Arabia—a key aly in the 1990-91
gulf war—to train pilots for its National Guard. Candidates are trained
in air combat on several Army and Navy bases. Training is paid for by
Saudi Arabia”**

Knight Ridder news service provided more specific details of the
findings. Mohamed Atta had attended International Officers School at
Maxwell Air Force Base in Montgomery, Alabama; Abdulaziz Alomari had
attended Aerospace Medical School at Brooks Air Force base in Texas; and
Saeed Alghamdi had been to the Defense Language Ingtitute in Monterey,
Cdlifornia.

The U.S. government has attempted to deny the charges despite the name
matches, alleging the existence of biographica discrepancies. “Officias
stressed that the name matches may not necessarily mean the students were
the hijackers because of discrepancies in ages and other persona data” But
measures appear to have been taken to block public scrutiny of these aleged
discrepancies. On 16™ September, news reports asserted that: “Officials
would not release ages, country of origin or any other specific details of the
three individuals.” This situation seems to have continued up to the time of
writing.

Even Senate inquiries into the matter have been studiously ignored by
government law enforcement officias, who when pressed, have been unable
to deny that the hijackers were training at secure U.S. military installations.
When Newsweek reported that three of the hijackers were trained at the
secure Pensacola Naval Station in Florida, Senator Bill Nelson faxed
Attorney Genera John Asnhcroft demanding to know if it was true.

When queried by investigative journalist Daniel Hopsicker about
Ashcroft’ s reply, a spokesman for Senator Nelson explained: “In the wake of
those reports we asked about the Pensacola Naval Air Station but we never
got a definitive answer from the Justice Department. So we asked the FBI for
an answer ‘if and when' they could provide us one. Their response to date
has been that they are trying to sort through something complicated and
difficult.”

Hopsicker aso queried a major in the U.S. Air Force's Public Affairs
Office who “was familiar with the question,” and who, unlike U.S. law
enforcement, believed that the matter was clear-cut. She explained the Air
Force's officid ‘denid’ as follows: “Biographicaly, they’'re not the same
people. Some of the ages are 20 years off.” But when questioned to illustrate
the specific discrepancy, she was forced to admit there was none. Hopsicker
relates that: “*Some’ of the ages? We told her we were only interested in
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Atta. Was she saying that the age of the Mohamed Atta who attended the Air
Force's International Officer's School at Maxwell Air Force Base was
different from the terrorist Atta's age as reported? Um, er, no, the mgjor
admitted.” Hopsicker asked if he could contact the other alleged “Mohamed
Atta’ who is supposed to have been confused with the hijacker, who had
trained at the International Officer’'s School at Maxwell Air Force Base, to
confirm that they were, in fact, two different individuals. The major declined
without explanation, stating that she did not “think you're going to get that
information.”

By mid-October 2001, the FBI’s investigations into these matters were
being wrapped up, athough no specific answers to this issue, palatable
enough to be released to the public, were found. “On Oct. 10, FBI Agents
were ordered to curtal their investigation of the Sept. 11 attack in an order
describing the investigation of the terrorist hijackings as ‘the most exhaustive
in its history,”” reported Hopsicker. “‘The investigative staff has to be made
to understand that we're not trying to solve a crime now, said one law
enforcement officidl...

“The order was said to have met with resistance from FBI agents who
believed that continued surveillance of suspects might have turned up
critica evidence to prove who orchestrated the attacks on the World
Trade Center and the Pentagon. Officials said FBI Director Robert
Mueller, who was sworn in last month, believed that his agents had a
broad understanding of the events of Sept. 11. It was how time to move
on."?%

The smple question brought up by these revelations is, how did terrorists
receive clearance for training at secure U.S. military and intelligence
facilities, and for what purpose?

As early as three days after the 11" September attacks, FBI Director
Robert S. Mueller 111 claimed that these findings were new and had not been
known by the FBI previoudy. The Washington Post noted that he had:
“described reports that several of the hijackers had received flight training in
the United States as ‘news, quite obvioudy,” adding, ‘If we had understood
that to be the case, we would have—perhaps one could have averted this.’”**
But astonishingly, the same Post article illustrated that Mudler had lied
about the FBI’ s lack of knowledge. The Post reported in the same article that,
contrary to the FBI Director’s initid testimony, the FBI had in fact known
for several years that terrorists were training at U.S. flight schools—yet,
absolutely nothing had been done about it:

“Federal authorities have been aware for years that suspected terrorists
with ties to Osama bin Laden were receiving flight training at schools
in the United States and abroad, according to interviews and court
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testimony... A senior government official yesterday acknowledged law
enforcement officials were aware that fewer than a dozen people with
links to bin Laden had attended U.S. flight schools.”***

A report for the Online Journal by Daniel Hopsicker, former Executive
Producer of a business news show airing internationally on NBC, confirms
that:

“Authorities are probing the European business associations of a
Venice flight school owner, whose school at the Venice airport trained
the nucleus of foreign national terrorist pilots, looking for possible
links to international organized crime groups... Three of the airliners
involved in the September 11 terrorist attack—two in Manhattan, and
one wrested to the ground over Pennsylvania—were piloted by
terrorists who had trained at two flight schools at the Venice, Florida
airport.”*%®

“Almost al of the terrorist pilots,” Hopsicker reports, “received their
initial training in Venice,” at either of two flight schools owned respectively
by Arne Kruithof and Rudi Dekkers. “Together, these two schools trained the
core cadre of foreign terrorist pilots” But U.S. intdligence dlowed this
training to continue unimpeded, even amidst escalating warnings of a
terrorist attack on U.S. soil through the use of hijacked civilian airplanes, and
despite having monitored the terrorists for several years. “The FBI was
swarming Huffman Aviation by 2 am., just 18 hours following the attack.
They removed student files from two schools at the Venice airport: Huffman
Aviation and the Florida Flight Training Center just down the street,” owned
by the above two individuals.

Indeed, it appears that the reason the FBI was able to move so quickly is
that “federal authorities have been aware for years that suspected terrorists
with ties to Osama bin Laden were receiving flight training at schools in the
United States.” Hopsicker further observes:

“Experts have been wondering how a conspiracy of such size and
duration could have gone unnoticed by U.S. intelligence agencies and
law enforcement. At least 15 of the far-flung network of terrorist pilots
got their money from the same (so far-unnamed) source. While in the
Venice area last year, the terrorist suspects opened checking accounts
during the summer.

We called someone who used to work at something like the CIA. ‘How
could the agency not have known about 15 foreign pilots al paid from
one source? He chose his words carefully. ‘I would assume that they
did know. It would seem almost impossible for them not to.’”?%
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Hopsicker aso points out that the suspicious background and activities of
Rudi Dekkers, the owner of Huffman Aviation where most of the terrorists
who went on to implement the 11™ September attacks were trained, are
worthy of a further intelligence inquiry. There are a number of glaring
anomalies noted by Hopsicker, a few of which are mentioned here. Dekkers
chronology of his flight training of hijackers Atta and Al-Shehhi, for
instance, directly contradicts the testimony of other flight instructors at Jones
Aviation Flying Instructors, Inc.

Additionally, “Dekkers had purchased his aviation school at just about
the time the terrorist pilots moved into town and began their lessons,”
according to an aviation employee at Venice Airport. Another observer at the
Airport admitted: “I’ve always had some suspicions about the way he
breezed into town out of nowhere. Just too many odd little things. For
example, he has absolutely no aviation background as far as anyone can tell.
And he evidently had no use for, nor knowledge of, FAA rules and regs.” A
Specid Operations Commando leader from the nearby McDill Air Force
Base observed: “Rudi’s greedy, and when you're greedy you can be used for
something.” >’

According to law enforcement officiads, Dekkers has aso reportedly
been recently indicted in his native country, Holland, on financial charges
that may include fraud and money laundering.?®® Yet despite his dubious
background, activities and connections, in addition to his role in training
most of the terrorists responsible for 11" September, he does not appear to
have been investigated by the FBI. Indeed, his innocence seems to have been
presumed from the outset: “Forty-eight hours after the Sept. 11 attack, a
flight school owner named Rudi Dekkers, known to have trained virtualy the
entire terrorist pilot cadre... seemed impervious to suspicion.”?*

Most intriguing in this whole affair is the revelation of a Venice Airport
executive, as reported by Hopsicker, that Britannia Aviation, which operates
from a hangar at Rudi Dekker’s Huffman Aviation at Venice Airport, had a
“green light” from the Justice Department’'s Drugs Enforcement
Adminigtration (DEA), and that the local Venice Police Department “had
been warned to leave them alone.” Britannia Aviation had been awarded a
fiveeyear contract to run a large regional maintenance facility at the
Lynchburg, Virginia, Regiona Airport. At the time of the award, virtualy
nothing was known about the company. When Britannia was chosen over a
respected and successful Lynchburg company boasting a multi-million dollar
balance sheet and more than 40 employees, aviation executives there began
voicing concerns to reporters at the local newspaper.

. it was discovered that Britannia Aviation is a company with
virtualy no assets, employees, or corporate history. Moreover, the
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company did not even possess the necessary FAA license to perform
the aircraft maintenance services for which it had just been contracted
by the city of Lynchburg... When Britannia Aviation's financia
datements were released after prodding by the loca aviation
community, they revealed Britannia to be a ‘company’ worth less than
$750.”

It also emerged that the company had, according to one of its executives
Paul Marten, “for some time been successfully providing aviation
maintenance services for Caribe Air, a Caribbean carrier,” that Hopsicker
notes is, in fact, “a notorious CIA proprietary air carrier which, even by the
standards of a CIA proprietary, has had a particularly checkered past...

“Caribe Air's history includes ‘blemishes like having its aircraft
seized by federa officias at the infamous Mena, Arkansas, airport a
decade ago, after the company was accused by government prosecutors
of having used as many as 20 planes to ship drugs worth billions of
dollarsinto this country.”

Y et as aready noted, an executive at Venice Airport informed Hopsicker
that a DEA source at the airport “reluctantly told me that Britannia had a
‘green light’ from the DEA at the Venice airport, whatever that means. He
also said the local Venice Police Department (which has mounted round-the-
clock patrols at the airport since Sept.11) had been warned to leave them
alone”

Why does Britannia—a company reportedly with CIA connections that is
operating illegally out of the same flight school which trained Al-Qaeda
hijackers—have a “green light” from the Justice Department’s DEA, and
effective immunity from local police inquiries? Daniel Hopsicker comments
that: “The new evidence adds to existing indications that Mohamed Atta and
his terrorist cadre’'s flight training in this country was part of a so-far
unacknowledged U.S. government intelligence operation which had
ultimately tragic consequences for thousands of civilians on September 11...

“Far from merely being negligent or adeep at the switch... the
accumulating evidence suggests the CIA was not just aware of the
thousands of Arab student pilots who began pouring into this country
several years ago to attend flight training, but was running the
operation for still-unexplained reasons...

It was ‘Idamic fundamentalis’ Osama bin laden who cloaked his
covert activities under the cover of religious charities. Were we now
discovering that our own government intelligence agencies used the
same ruse? What was going on here? ... [W]hy did a transparent
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dummy front company like Paul Marten’s Britannia Aviation have a
‘green light’ from the DEA? A green light for what?'**°

The above accounts certainly show that athough U.S. intelligence
agencies were aware of Al-Qaeda terrorists training in U.S. flight schools,
and had apparently been surveilling their activities for years, they did not
attempt to apprehend them—despite the escalating warnings of an imminent
attack by Osama bin Laden’s operatives. This was a consequence of a
decision by the FBI command. ABC News reported that only a few weeks
before the attacks in early August, the FBI office in Phoenix alerted FBI
headquarters to the unusua influx of Arab students with Al-Qaeda
connections training at local flight schools. This warning was ignored.”*" It
therefore appears that Mueller had attempted to mislead the public about the
scope of the FBI’s knowledge.

However, his admission that such knowledge could have empowered the
U.S. to avert the attacks, taken into account with the fact that the FBI did
indeed possess such knowledge, brings up the pertinent question of why the
FBI failed to do so, despite being perfectly capable of doing so, according to
the FBI Director’s own indirect admission. In what seems to be an attempt to
explain away the FBI’s rather shocking inaction, while Osama bin Laden's
terrorist lackeys were undergoing extensive training at U.S. military
facilities, financed by Saudi authorities as Newsweek reports—and while
innumerable credible warnings received by the U.S. intelligence community
repeatedly predicted air attacks on “symbols of American culture” by bin
Laden-linked terrorists, via the hijacking of civilian planes—the senior U.S.
government official cited above claimed that “there was no information to
indicate the flight students had been planning suicide hijacking attacks.” The
Post recorded him as follows. “We were unable to marry any information
from investigations or the intelligence community that talked to their use of
this expertise in the events that we saw unfold on the 11™.7%*2

In this context, to interpret the FBI’s failure to act as mere incompetence,
compounded by bureaucracy, strains the limits of reason. It aso flies in the
face of the most eementary methods of intelligence gathering. As
demonstrated in the preceding documentation, there was abundant
intelligence information predicting an imminent attack by Al-Qaeda
operatives on U.S. soil. Moreover, this information indicated that Osama bin
Laden was orchestrating the hijacking of civilian planes to be used as bombs
against key U.S. buildings in Washington and New Y ork. Reports show that
this information was “taken serioudy” by “the American intelligence
community.” Hence, U.S. intelligence agencies were already well aware that
plans to implement Project Bojinka were in progress—and had accordingly
intensified surveillance in direct response.



104 The War on Freedom

The FBI and the CIA had known quite specifically that key targets of the
plan were buildings congtituting “symbols of American culture” located in
Washington and New Y ork, including the World Trade Centre. Furthermore,
as a consequence of surveillance, the FBI had known for severa years that
suspected terrorists with ties to bin Laden were undergoing training at U.S.
flight schools and secure U.S. miilitary facilities—and in the latter case, with
high-level U.S. military clearance, financed by the Saudi Arabian
government. Marrying this information together, as we have done here,
clearly demonstrates that the obvious course of action was to apprehend,
interrogate and follow up investigations into the Al-Qaeda operatives under
surveillance, particularly those training at U.S. flight schools.

Y et nothing of the sort was done. Despite being under direct surveillance
by the U.S. intelligence community during 2000 and 2001—surveillance
which intensified after receipt of credible warnings of an imminent Project
Bojinkastyle attack by Al-Qaeda—these hijackers, including Mohamed
Atta, were alowed to travel freely into and out of the U.S. They were
apparently granted high-level clearance to undergo military training at secure
U.S. feacilities with Saudi government funding as well.

The freedom with which Al-Qaeda operatives entered and left the U.S.
should be understood in the context of testimony from Michael Springmann,
former head of the Visa Bureau at the U.S. Consulate in Jeddah, Saudi
Arabia, between 1987 and 1989. Springmann, has had 20 years of experience
in the U.S. government, and is now a practising lawyer in Washington DC.
He stated on BBC's ‘Newsnight' that: “In Saudi Arabia | was repeatedly
ordered by high level State Dept officias to issue visas to unqualified
applicants. These were, essentially, people who had no ties either to Saudi
Arabiaor to their own country.”**

In another interview with CBC's Radio One, he stated that according to
confirmation he received from U.S. government officials, the “CIA was
recruiting terrorists to fight againgt the then Soviets” Osama bin Laden,
moreover, “was their asset, and was working with them.” There were “as
many as a hundred” recruits, people “with no ties to any place in particular...
Afghanistan was the end user of their facilities. They were coming to the
U.S. for training as terrorists. The countries that had supplied them did not
want them back.” Springmann testified that CIA officials had consistently
violated State Department regulations to issue visas to these people.

“CBC: Does this demonstrate a relationship between the CIA and Osama
Bin Laden dating back as far as 19877

“SPRINGMANN: That's right, and as you recall, they believe that this
fdlow Sheikh Abdurrahman who was tied to the firss New York World
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Trade Center bombing had gotten his visa from a CIA case officer in the
Sudan. And that the 15 or so people who came from Saudi Arabia to
participate in the attacks on the WTC and the Pentagon had gotten visas
through the American consulate genera in Jeddah.

“CBC: So what does that suggest, that this pipeline was never rolled up,
that it's till operating?

“SPRINGMANN: Exactly. | thought that it had been, because I'd raised
sufficient hell that | thought that they’d done it. | had complained to the
Embassy in Riyadh, | had complained to diplomatic security in Washington,
| had complained to the Generd Accounting Office, | had complained to the
State Department I nspector-Generd’ s Office, | had complained to the Bureau
of Consular Affairs at the State Department and apparently the reverberations
from this were heard al over the State Department.

“CBC: If what you say may be true, many of the terrorists who allegedly
flew those planes into those targets, got their U.S. visas through the CIA and
your U.S. consulate in Jeddah. That suggests a relationship ongoing as
recently as obviously September. But what was the CIA presumably
recruiting these people for as recently as September 11th?

“SPRINGMANN: That | don’'t know. And that’s one of the things that |
tried to find out through a series of Freedom of Information Act requests
starting ten years ago. At the time the State Department and the CIA
stonewalled my requests. They’re still doing so.

“CBC: If the CIA had a relationship with the people responsible for
September 11th, are you suggesting therein that they are somehow complicit?

“SPRINGMANN: Yes, ether through omission or through failure to
act... By the attempts to cover me up and shut me down, this convinced me
more and more that this was not a pipedream, this was not imagination...

“CBC: But when you take the events of 87, when visas were being issued
to people unqualified for them, it suggests that happened again to the same
people responsible for the attacks on New York and Washington, that's a
guantum leap. How do you justify that?

“SPRINGMANN: For dl | know, for al we know, this may have not
been the intended consequence, it could' ve been a mistake, it could’ ve been a
migudgement. Or for al we know, it could’ ve been an effort to get the U.S.
directly involved in some fashion. | mean it's only a few thousand dead and
what’ s this against the greater gain for the United States in the Middle East?

“CBC: But you're quite sure that Mohamed Atta and others had their
visas issued in Jeddah?
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“SPRINGMANN: Well this is what | was told by reading an article in
the Los Angeles Times.”***

Despite Springmann’s prolific warnings and complaints that had alerted
the State Department to his opposition to these events, the U.S. government
responded not by rolling up the pipeine, but by opening it up even further.
This occurred in the face of increasing evidence of Saudi connections to
terrorism. The St. Petersburg Timesreports that: “After the Persian Gulf War
in 1991, the visa Situation became murkier. FBI agents complained that their
Saudi counterparts hampered investigations into terror attacks, including a
1996 bombing on Dhahran that killed 19 U.S. servicemen. The Americans
also suspected that the Saudi monarchy was doing little to root out terrorism
on Saudi soil and to stop anti-American threats...

“Yet, instead of tightening visa requirements, the U.S. government
made it easier for Saudi visitors to come to America. Under a program
caled U.S. Visa Express, introduced four months before the Sept. 11
attacks, Saudis were dlowed to arrange visas through 10 travel
agencies—often without coming to the U.S. Embassy or consulate for
interviews.”*°

We should recall that these preposterous measures, which are in stark
violation of the State Department’s mandatory regulations for the issuing of
visas, were ingtituted by the Bush administration at a time when the U.S.
intelligence community was on dert for an imminent Al-Qaeda attack. This
is not an issue of the supposed need to tighten borders further, but of why
existing regulations were ignored and violated. Furthermore, it is a matter of
record that U.S. intelligence was already well aware at this time that key
figures in the Saudi establishment supported Osama bin Laden's terrorist
network (See Chapter V1). Indeed, Springmann himself had warned the State
Department repeatedly that unqualified applicants were being issued U.S.
visas by the CIA. Yet, the U.S. government apparently alowed the
fraudulent visa arrangement to continue, unabated.

High-Level Government Blocks
on Intelligence Investigations

There is good reason to believe that the FBI's failure to apprehend
suspected terrorists, who were linked to bin Laden and operating within the
U.S,, was the result of high-level blocks from the FBI command and Justice
Department. Evidence for this comes from the authoritative testimony of
U.S. attorney David Philip Schippers, former Chief Investigative Counsel for
the U.S. House Judiciary Committee, and head prosecutor responsible for
conducting the impeachment against former President Bill Clinton. His long
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record of impeccable expertise and extensive experience makes him a highly
credible source?*®

Two days after the attacks, Schippers went public in an interview with
WRRK in PFittsburgh, PA., dating that he had attempted to warn U.S.
Attorney General John Ashcroft, along with other federa officials, about the
terrorist attacks weeks before they occurred. He stated that he had received
information from U.S. intelligence sources, including FBI agents, that a
massive attack was being planned by terrorists, targeting the financial arteries
of lower Manhattan. Schippers had attempted to bring this information to the
attention of John Ashcroft, six weeks before the tragedy of Black Tuesday.”’
Schippers went public again in October 2001, reiterating that, severa months
prior to September, impeccable sources in the U.S. intelligence community,
including agents of the U.S. government’s law enforcement agency, the FBI,
had approached him with information about the impending attacks.

According to Schippers, these agents knew, months before the 11"
September attacks, the names of the hijackers, the targets of their attacks, the
proposed dates, and the sources of their funding, aong with other
information. At least two weeks prior to 11" September, the FBI agents again
confirmed that an attack on lower Manhattan, orchestrated by Osama bin
Laden, was imminent. However, the FBI command cut short their
investigations into the impending terrorist attacks and those involved,
threatening the agents with prosecution under the National Security Act if
they publicised information pertaining to their investigations.

The agents subsequently sought the council of David Schippers in order
to pressure elements in the U.S. government to take action to prevent the
attacks. Schippers warned many Congressmen and Senators, and aso
attempted to contact U.S. Attorney General John Ashcroft without success,
managing only to explain the situation to alower-ranking Justice Department
official who promised areturn call from Ashcroft the next day. The Attorney
Genera did not return the call despite the gravity of the situation. Schippers
is now legally representing one FBI agent in a suit againgt the U.S.
government in an attempt to subpoena their testimony, so that he can legaly
spesk about the blocked investigations on public record. In a Tak Radio
interview on the Alex Jones Show, based in Austin, Texas, Schippers stated:

“Have you ever heard of Y ossef Bodansky? ... Heisthe guy that wrote
the book about Bin Laden. He was hooked up with some Congressional
leaders in the House—kind of an unofficial, for lack of a better word, a
strike force, a task force on terrorism [Bodansky was Director of the
U.S. Congress' Task Force on Terrorism and Unconventional Warfare
(Ahmed)]. They sent out a warning on February 19, 1995, saying there
was going to be a massive attack by the terrorists in the heartland of the
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United States and it was going to be a federd facility. Everybody
ignored it. By the way, | have seen that warning... | don’'t have it in
front of me so | can't go into the specifics of it too heavily but at the
same time, there was in that warning that there was going to be a
massive attack in Washington — it took them six years to do it. The
targets were going to be Washington, the White House and the Capitol
Building — and that they were going to use airliners to attack them.”*'®

In an interview with Geoff Metcaf on WorldNetDaily, Schippers

clarified this as follows:

“I [had] information indicating there was going to be a massive attack
in lower Manhattan [from FBI sources]. | couldn't get anybody to
listen to me... about a month-and-a-half before Sept. 11. The origina
thing that | heard—and you might ask Mr. Bodansky about that... He
was one of the people behind the warning that came out Feb. 19, 1995,
and this was the [original] warning that | saw: that there was going to
be an attack on the United States by bin Laden’s people, that the
origina target—and this is the way it reads—the original target was
supposed to be the White House and the Capitol building, and they
were going to use commercial airliners as bombs.”**

Alex Jones commented in his interview with the former Chief Counsd:

“Now later you got it from FBI agents in Chicago and Minnesota that there
was going to be an attack on lower Manhattan.” David Schippers responded
by explaining how his subsequent warnings were ignored: “Yes—and that’'s
what started me caling...

“| started calling out there. First of al, | tried to see if | could get a
Congressman to go to bat for me and at least bring these people out
there and listen to them. | sent them information and nobody cared. It
was always, ‘We'll get back to you,” ‘we'll get back to you,” ‘we'll get
back to you.” Then | reached out and tried to get to the Attorney
Generd, when finally we got an attorney general in there that | would
be willing to talk to. And, again, | used people who were personal
friends of John Ashcroft to try to get him. One of them called me back
and said, ‘Alright | have talked to him. He will call you tomorrow
morning.’” This was like a month before the bombing...”**°

The call never came. In an interview with the Eagle Forum of Illinois

concerning the evidence of a terrorist attack, “this time on the financia
district in south Manhattan,” Schippers stated: “Five weeks before the
September 11 tragedy, | did my best to get a hold of Attorney General John
Ashcroft with my concerns. The best that | could do was get in touch with an
underling in that office who told me that al investigations start out at lower
levels such as his”?** The Washington DC-based public interest law firm
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Judicia Watch which investigates and prosecutes government corruption and
abuse, reported in mid-November 2001 that it was joining forces with
Schippers to represent his FBI Specia Agent against the U.S. Justice
Department:

“... an active FBI Special Agent filed a complaint last week
concerning FBI/Justice Department interference in and mishandling of
terrorist investigations. The FBI Specia Agent, who wishes to remain
anonymous at this time, alleges that he was retaliated against when he
continued to push for and pursue certain terrorist investigations over
the objections of his FBI and Justice Department supervisors. The FBI
Specid Agent, who is represented by Judicid Watch and David
Schippers, Esg., filed the complaint last week with the Justice
Department’s  Office of Inspector Generd (IG) and Office of
Professional Responsibility (OPR).

Based on the evidence, the FBI Speciad Agent believes that if certain
investigations had been alowed to run their courses, Osama bin
Laden’s network might have been prevented from committing the
September 11, 2001 terrorist attacks which resulted in the deaths of
nearly 5,000 innocents. Judicia Watch is requesting a full scale,
independent investigation into its client’s concerns and seeks to hold
accountable those responsible for preventing the full investigation of
terrorist activity here in the United States and abroad.”**

David Schippers elaborated on these matters towards the end of February
2002 in an interview with this author. He confirmed that U.S. intelligence
had “established the sources of the money flow of bin Laden” as early as
1996, but by 1999 intelligence officers began facing fundamenta high-level
obstructions to their investigations into these matters. Schippers is
maintaining the anonymity of his sources to avoid undue pressure on them
from elements in government and intelligence agencies.

The earliest warning of attacks was issued by the U.S. Congress' Task
Force on Terrorism and Unconventional Warfare in February 1995, which
specified in generd terms that Al-Qaeda was planning a terrorist attack on
lower Manhattan, through the use of hijacked civilian planes as bombs.
According to Schippers, the same individuals who issued this authoritative
warning had been working ever since on uncovering further information on
the same threat. He stated that the warning “had started out just a general
threat, but they narrowed it and narrowed it, more and more with time,” until
the “same people who came out with the first warning” informed him in
“May 2002" that “an attack on lower Manhattan is imminent.” Schippers
elaborates that these U.S. intelligence officers had approached him as a result
of “growing frustration” at the higher echelons of the intelligence community
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who were refusing to take action in response to the imminent threat to U.S.
national security.

In addition to the several FBI agents who had spoken to Schippers
directly, other U.S. intelligence sources told him that “there are others all
over the country who are frustrated, and just waiting to come out.” The
frustration of these intelligence officers, Schippers explained, was because of
the obstructions of a “bureaucratic elite in Washington short-stopping
information,” with the consegquence that they have granted “terrorism a free
reign in the United States.”

Schippers was aso able to confirm the specific nature of some of the FBI
investigations, which had been cut short under high-level orders, noting for
instance that the agents who had approached him claimed that “they had Atta
[the chief hijacker] in their sights.” The agents also claimed to have been
aware of the names and activities of “very strange characters training at flight
schools,” which they had attempted to “check out.”

Such investigations were blocked from above, to the fury of agents on
the trail of individuals who appear to have gone on to perpetrate the atrocities
of 11th September—including chief hijacker Mohammed Atta himself. There
was smply no adequate justification for these blocks, legal or otherwise, the
agents argue, adding that the obstructions came down for no apparent reason.
Accordingly, one of them remarked to Schippers that “if they had been
permitted to follow through with their investigations, 9-11 would never have
happened.”?*®

The conservative New American magazine has aso interviewed severa
FBI agents who have corroborated Schippers testimony. In a March 2002
report, the magazine reported that:

“Three veteran federa law enforcement agents confirmed to THE
NEW AMERICAN that the information provided to Schippers was
widely known within the Bureau before September 11th. Because these
individuals face possible persona or professiona retaliation, they
agreed to speak with us on condition of anonymity. Two of them,
however, have expressed a willingness to testify before Congress
regarding the views they have shared with us.”

A former FBI officid with extensive counterterrorism experience told
the magazine: “1 don't buy the idea that we didn't know what was coming.”
He referred to the extraordinary speed with which the FBI had produced
detailed information on the attack and the hijackers responsible: “Within 24
hours [of the attack] the Bureau had about 20 people identified, and photos
were sent out to the news media. Obvioudly this information was available in
the files and somebody was sitting on it.”



4. Warning signs of 9-11 and Intelligence Failures 111

Another active FBI counter-terrorism investigator stated that it was
widdly known “al over the Bureau, how these [warnings] were ignored by
Washington... All indications are that this information came from some of
[the FBI'S] most experienced guys, people who have devoted their lives to
this kind of work. But their warnings were placed in a pile in someone's
office in Washington... In some cases, these field agents predicted, aimost
precisely, what happened on September 11th. So we were al holding our
breath... hoping that the situation would be remedied.”

The first former FBI agent’s further damning comments to the New
American are particularly worth noting:

“This is pretty appaling. The FBI has had access to this information
since a least 1997. We're obvioudy not doing our job. | never
expected to see something like this happen in our country, but in a way
| wasn't shocked when it did. There's got to be more to this than we
can see—high-level people whose careers are at stake, and don’t want
the truth coming out... What agenda is someone following? Obvioudly,
people had to know— there had to be people who knew this
information was being circulated. People like [Al-Qaeda terrorists]
don’t just move in and out of the country undetected. If somebody in
D.C. is taking this information and burying it—and it's very easy to
control things from D.C.—then this problem goes much, much
deeper... It's terrible to think this, but this must have been alowed to
happen as part of some other agenda.”***

It should be noted here that high-level blocks were aso placed on FBI
and military intelligence investigations of possible terrorist connections
related to members of the bin Laden family and Saudi royals. The London
Guardian has elaborated that U.S. intelligence had faced high-level blocks in
their investigations into bin Laden terrorist connections:

“FBI and military intelligence officials in Washington say they were
prevented for political reasons from carrying out full investigations
into members of the bin Laden family in the U.S. before the terrorist
attacks of September 11...

U.S. intelligence agencies... are complaining that their hands were
tied... They said the restrictions became worse after the Bush
adminigtration took over this year. The intelligence agencies had been
told to ‘back off’ from investigations involving other members of the
Bin Laden family, the Saudi royds, and possible Saudi links to the
acquisition of nuclear weapons by Pakistan. ‘There were particular
investigations that were effectively killed.””?*°
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The documentation provided previoudy, in tandem with David
Schippers' revelations regarding the detailed information possessed by U.S.
intelligence on the 11" September terrorist attacks and who was planning
them, is damning evidence that, in spite of sufficient information, there was
deliberate inaction, in line with high-level Bush administration directives.
Indeed, this inference is corroborated by a report in The Herald which notes
the FBI's arrest of alleged Al-Qaeda conspirator Zacarias Moussaoui “at a
Minnesota flight school in August last year, and a July report from the
agency’s Phoenix, Arizona, office which warned that Middle Eastern
students” who “had a connection to Osama bin Laden” were “enrolling for
flying lessons in considerable numbers...

“U.S. lawmakers remain astounded that the Phoenix memo and
Moussaoui’'s arrest falled to set adam bels ringing a FBI
headquarters, even after one agent speculated at a high-level meeting
that Moussaoui might have been taking lessons to enable him to crash
an aircraft into the World Trade Centre in New Y ork.”??®

FBI Director Robert Muedler admitted this in May congressional
hearings. The New York Post added that: “FBI headquarters ignored its own
agent’s red-flag warning a month before 9/11 that Zacarias Moussaoui was
the kind of person who might ‘fly something into the World Trade Center,’
FBI Director Robert Mueller admitted yesterday... Mueller’s revelation at a
congressonal hearing showed... that an FBI investigator... actualy
considered the scenario that occurred Sept. 11" and warned of it at a high-
level FBI meseting.?”” We should ask, of course, on what basis did the FBI
agent assert at this high-level meeting the possibility that the World Trade
Centre in New York would be the target of a hijacking suicide attack by a
suspected Al-Qaeda terrorist? Only a few days prior to the 11™ September
attacks, FBI agents in Minnesota recorded in an officia internal FBI
document that Zacarias “might be planning on flying something into the
World Trade Center.”**®

In context with the documentation discussed previoudy, it is clear that
the agents did not do so randomly in an information vacuum—indeed, thisis
not how intelligence operates. On the contrary, there was very precise
information available to the FBI and other intelligence agencies on Al-
Qaeeda’s Project Bojinka plans, specifying targets in Manhattan, which
provided reasonable grounds to believe that the World Trade Centre was the
most probable target of an imminent Al-Qaeda attack. The Herald report
illustrates, however, that although this information was widely known and
discussed in the U.S. intelligence community—including the top strata—
further investigation and preventive measures were blocked under “high-
level” directives.
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The response of FBI Headquarters to related urgent internal FBI reports
issued around the same time illustrates this. A 10™ July 2001 memo from the
FBI's Phoenix office “sent to FBI headquarters by a Phoenix FBI agent,
warned that bin Laden could have been using U.S. flight schools to train
terrorists and suggested a nationwide canvass for Middle Eastern aviation
students.” This memo was completely ignored by the FBI command, “never
acted upon or distributed to outside agencies prior to Sept. 11”. Now, at least
two names on the list “have been identified by the CIA as having links to a
Qaeda.” A 6" August presidential briefing handed to George W. Bush had
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further warned of the danger of a hijacking attempt by Al-Qaeda.

Additionally, as noted above, late in mid-August the FBI command was
again derted to the impending threat of an attack in relation to the arrest of
Zacarias. His arrest and interrogation at that time illustrates that proper and
routine procedure entailed doing the same with other Al-Qaeda suspects.
However both the July and August warnings from local FBI counterterrorist
investigators were ignored by FBI Headquarters; indeed, FBI investigations
into these increasingly aarming findings and circulation of the relevant
memos were simply blocked from above. In other words, the top strata of the
FBI unilaterally vetoed routine appeals for action from its own
counterterrorist experts.

Multiple Intelligence Warnings
Converged on 11" September

As September neared, multiple authoritative intelligence warnings
surfaced with increasing intensity, warning of a terrorist attack against the
U.S. We should recdl that in response to ECHELON’s warnings, U.S.
intelligence agencies were dready on dert for evidence of a very specific
Project Bojinka-style operation, which would target key buildings in
Washington and New York. The White House National Coordinator for
Counterterrorism, based on CIA confirmation, had alerted all domestic
security and intelligence agencies of an impending Al-Qaeda attack, to be
implemented in several weeks time, at the beginning of July. According to
Chief Investigative Counsel David Schippers, U.S. sources had informed him
as early as May that the intelligence community had credible information of
an imminent attack targeting the “financial district of lower Manhattan,” and
that intelligence officers throughout the country were frustrated by high-level
blocks on investigations and information. The FBI appears to have had
specific information indicating that the World Trade Centre was thus the
most probable target. Against this background, the multiple warnings of an
impending attack by Osama bin Laden from a variety of credible authorities
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should have increasingly reinforced the overal intelligence confirmation of
the attacks. USA Today reports that:

“Since passenger-filled commercial planes dammed into the World
Trade Center and the Pentagon 5 weeks ago, a conventional wisdom
has emerged that the terrorist attacks were so extraordinary that they
couldn't have been predicted...

In fact, a growing mountain of evidence suggests that the hijackings
not only were imaginable, they aso were foreshadowed. The Bush
administration received what Secretary of State Colin Powell describes
as a'‘lot of signs throughout the summer that terrorists were plotting
U.S. attacks. Among them: a-Qaeda mentions of an impending
‘Hiroshima on U.S. soil.”**

The London Telegraph reported a few days after the 11" September
attacks that:

“Israddi intelligence officias say that they warned their counterparts in
the United States last month that large-scale terrorist attacks on highly
visible targets on the American mainland were imminent...

The Telegraph has learnt that two senior experts with Mossad, the
Israeli military intelligence service, were sent to Washington in August
to dert the CIA and FBI to the existence of a cell of as many of 200
terrorists said to be preparing a big operation... [They] linked the plot
to Osama bin Laden.”?**

Russan President Vladimir Putin, a leading actor in the new
internationa codition against terrorism and a close aly of President Bush
and Prime Minister Blair, informed interviewers on MSNBC that the
Russian government had warned the U.S. of imminent attacks on airports and
government buildings in the strongest possible terms for severa weeks prior
to the 11" September attacks®*?> These warnings were quite specific in that
they indicated the hijacking of airplanes to be used against civilian buildings.
According to Russian press reports, Russian intelligence had notified the
U.S. government of air attacks against civilian buildings and told them that
25 pilots had been specifically trained for the suicide missions.”*

French intelligence had aso warned their U.S. counterparts of an

impending attack in September. The respected French daly Le Figaro
reported that:

“According to Arab diplomatic sources as well as French intelligence,
very specific information was transmitted to the CIA with respect to
terrorist attacks against American interests around the world, including
on U.S. soil. A DST [French intelligence] report dated 7 September
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enumerates al the intelligence, and specifies that the order to attack
was to come from Afghanistan”?**

According to the London Independent, the U.S. government “was
warned repeatedly that a devastating attack on the United States was on its
way.” The newspaper cited an interview given by Osama bin Laden to a
London-based Arabic-language newspaper, al-Quds al-Arabi, in late August.
At about the same time, tighter security measures were ordered at the World
Trade Center, for unexplained reasons?*®

Further confirmation of the impending attacks came from the occurrence
of other very specific warnings. Three days after the terrorist attacks, U.S.
Senator Dianne Feinstein pointed out that: “Bin Laden’'s people had made
statements three weeks ago carried in the Arab press in Great Britain that
they were preparing to carry out unprecedented attacks in the U.S.” 2%

In the summer of 2001, an Iranian man phoned U.S. law enforcement
and warned of an imminent attack on the World Trade Center in the week of
9" September. German police confirmed the calls, but further stated that the
U.S. Secret Service refused to reveal any further information on the matter.
The caler’s identity has not been disclosed.?’

According to MS-NBC, in the week before 11" September, acaler to a
Cayman Idands radio talk show gave several warnings of an imminent attack
on the U.S. by bin Laden. The identity of the caller has not been disclosed.?%®

The U.S. dso received an authoritative warning from the Egyptian
President, aU.S. aly and close friend of the Bushes, which was based on the
country’ s intelligence. The Associated Press reported that:

“Egyptian President Hosni Mubarak says he warned the United States
that ‘something would happen’ 12 days before the Sept. 11 terror
attacks on New Y ork and Washington... ‘We expected that something
was going to happen and informed the Americans. We told them,
Mubarak said. He did not mention a U.S. response.”**°

Another authoritative warning came from Garth L. Nicolson, Chief
Scientific Officer and Research Professor at the Ingtitute for Molecular
Medicine in Huntington Beach, Cdifornia. Nicolson has been caled to
testify as an expert before the U.S. Senate in relation to Department of
Defense investigations of Gulf War chemical and biologica incidents.?*°
Professor Nicolson testified that:

“My wife, Dr. Nancy Nicolson and | received at least three warnings of
the attack on the Pentagon on Sept. 11, 2001 The nature of these
warnings (the specific site, date and source) indicated to us that they
were credible. We have many contacts in the retired intelligence
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community, including Special Forces, and domestic and foreign
intelligence services. Mostly these were individuals that we assisted
with their hedth problems from the Gulf War, Vietnam or other
conflicts.

The most dramatic source was a Head of State of a North African
country. This occurred during avisit to Tunisiain July 2001. This head
of dtate was travelling under cover and met with us at our hotel. He
warned us as to the correct date and one of the targets, the Pentagon.
We were not given any information as to the method or any other
targets.

The information was passed on to the Director of Policy, DoD, the
National Security Council, the leadership in the House of
Representatives and the Inspector General of the U.S. Army Medical
Corps, who happened to be visiting us a month or so before Sept. 11.

To our knowledge no action was ever taken on this information. There
has been some mention in the press that others also warned the U.S.
Government that on Sept. 11, 2001 there would be a terrorist attack on
U.S. soil. | do not know if any of the information from our sources or
other sources was ever taken seriously by the Nationa Security
Council.”***

Yet another warning from multiple intelligence agencies just before 11"
September put the American intelligence community on aert. The New York
Times reported:

“One intercept [of bin Laden’s communications] before the Sept. 11
attack was, according to two senior intelligence officials, the first early
warning of the assault and it set off a scramble by American and other
intelligence agencies... That message, which was intercepted by the
intelligence services of more than one country, was passed on to the
United States, officids from three countries said. ‘... we assumed it
would be soon, a senior intelligence officia said.”**

On 7" September, the U.S. State Department issued a worldwide aert
warning that “American citizens may be the target of a terrorist threat from
extremist groups with links to [Osama bin Laden’'s] al-Qaeda organization.”
According to ABC News, the “report cited information gathered in May that
suggested an attack somewhere was imminent.”**® It is worth reiterating here
that Schippers was notified in the same month by key figures in the U.S.
intelligence community, who had been working on the Al-Qaeda threat for
years, that the attacks would target lower Manhattan. These reports show that
U.S. intelligence agencies were on aert for an imminent attack by bin Laden
very shortly before 11" September. Moreover, U.S. intelligence had privately
anticipated that lower Manhattan would be the target.
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Given the previous multiple warnings from various intelligence agencies,
compounded and reinforced by the findings of America's own intelligence
network, it is clear that bin Laden’s Project Bojinka-style plan, to which the
U.S. was derted only a few months earlier, was soon to be implemented. The
World Trade Center was among the known targets of Project Bojinka
Additionally, 11" September was the anniversary of the conviction of Ramzi
Y ousef for the first World Trade Center bombing severa years ago.

According to Philippine Chief Superintendent Avelino Razon, “U.S.
federa officials were aware of Project Bojinka and... the Philippines crack
terrorist team was continuing to work closely with them... ‘1 remember that
after the firs World Trade Center bombing Osama bin Laden made a
statement that on the second attempt they would be successful,” Razon
stressed. He said they could have chosen to carry out the attack on September
11, to mark the anniversary of Y ousef’s conviction for the first attack severa
years ago.”*** As previously noted, Austraian anayst Paul Monk points out
that 11" September should have been a“watch date.”

According to Newsweek, the FBI, which as noted previoudy aready had
many terrorists under surveillance, were intercepting their communications.
Shortly before 11" September they wrote comments such as: “There is a big
thing coming,” “They’ re going to pay the price,” “We re ready to go.”**

Just before the attacks, U.S. inteligence received information from
Osama bin Laden himsdf that something “big” would happen on 11"
September. NBC News reported at the beginning of October that Osama bin
Laden had phoned his mother two days before the World Trade Center
attacks and told her: “In two days you're going to hear big news, and you're
not going to hear from me for a while” According to NBC, a foreign
intelligence service had recorded the call and relayed the information to U.S.
intelligence?*®

The convergence of these multiple warnings would have reinforced
earlier warnings, thus clearly indicating that Project Bojinka was to be
implemented in September, with some information—including the admission
of bin Laden himself—specifying 11" September in no uncertain terms. In
particular, we should remind ourselves of the testimony of David Schippers,
which was based on information received from FBI agents—that amid these
multiple warnings, and on the basis of its own intensive surveillance and
intelligence gathering operations, the FBI had specific details of an
impending air attack on civilian buildings in lower Manhattan in September
2001. Y et nothing was done.

Further indication of the extent of the American intelligence
community’s forewarning, particularly in relation to the specific timing of its
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planned execution, can be found from anaysis of financia transactions
before 11" September. Only three trading days before 11™ September, shares
of United Airlines—the company whose planes were hijacked in the attacks
on New York and Washington—were massively “sold short” by as yet
unknown investors.

This was done by buying dirt-cheap “put” options, which give the owner
a short-term right to sell specific shares a a price well below the current
market—a long-shot bet. When the stock prices unexpectedly dropped even
lower, in response to the terrorist attacks, the options multiplied a
hundredfold in value, making millions of dollars in profit. These “short”
options plays are a sure sign of investors with foreknowledge of an event that
would occur within a few days, and dragtically reduce the market price of
those shares. The San Francisco Chronicle reported that:

“Investors have yet to collect more than $2.5 million in profits they
made trading options in the stock of United Airlines before the Sept.
11, terrorist attacks, according to a source familiar with the trades and
market data The uncollected money raises suspicions that the
investors—whose identities and nationalities have not been made
public—had advance knowledge of the strikes.

... October series options for UAL Corp. were purchased in highly

unusual volumes three trading days before the terrorist attacks for a
total outlay of $2,070; investors bought the option contracts, each
representing 100 shares, for 90 cents each [a price of |ess than one cent
per share, on atota of 230,000 options]. Those options are now selling
at more than $12 each. There are ill 2,313 so-called ‘put’ options
outstanding [representing 231,300 shares and a profit of $2.77 million]

according to the Options Clearinghouse Corp.

... The source familiar with the United trades identified Deutsche Bank
Alex. Brown, the American investment banking arm of German giant
Deutsche Bank, as the investment bank used to purchase at least some
of these options...”**

But the United Airlines case was not the only dubious financia
transaction indicating, in the Chronicle’ s words, “advanced knowledge of the
sirikes” The Isradi  Herzliyya International Policy Ingtitute for
Counterterrorism documented the following transactions related to 11"
September, involving American Airlines—whose planes were also used in
the attacks—and other companies with offices in the Twin Towers:

“Between September 6 and 7, the Chicago Board Options Exchange
saw purchases of 4,744 put options on United Airlines, but only 396
cal options... Assuming that 4,000 of the options were bought by
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people with advance knowledge of the imminent attacks, these
‘indgders’ would have profited by aimost $5 million.

On September 10, 4,516 put options on American Airlines were bought
on the Chicago exchange, compared to only 748 calls. Again, there was
no news at that point to justify this imbaance;... Again, assuming that
4,000 of these options trades represent ‘insiders,” they would represent
again of about $4 million [the above levels of put options were more
than six times higher than normal].

No similar trading in other airlines occurred on the Chicago exchange
in the days immediately preceding Black Tuesday.

Morgan Stanley Dean Witter & Co., which occupied 22 floors of the
World Trade Center, saw 2,157 of its October $45 put options bought
in the three trading days before Black Tuesday; this compares to an
average of 27 contracts per day before September 6. Morgan Stanley’s
share price fell from $48.90 to $42.50 in the aftermath of the attacks.
Assuming that 2,000 of these options contracts were bought based
upon knowledge of the approaching attacks, their purchasers could
have profited by at least $1.2 million.

Merrill Lynch & Co., with headquarters near the Twin Towers, saw
12,215 October $45 put options bought in the four trading days before
the attacks; the previous average volume in those shares had been 252
contracts per day [a dramatic increase of 1200%]. When trading
resumed, Merrill’s shares fell from $46.88 to $41.50; assuming that
11,000 option contracts were bought by ‘insiders,” their profit would
have been about $5.5 million.

European regulators are examining trades in Germany’s Munich Re,
Switzerland’'s Swiss Re, and AXA of France, dl major reinsurers with
exposure to the Black Tuesday disaster [AXA aso owns more than
25% of American Airlines stock].”**®

These multiple, massive and unprecedented financia transactions point
unequivocaly to the fact that the investors behind these trades were
speculating in anticipation of a mid-September 2001 catastrophe that would
involve both United Airlines and American Airlines, and offices in the Twin
Towers—a clear demonstration of their foreknowledge or involvement in the
11" September  attacks. Ernest Welteke, President of the German
Bundesbank, has concluded that it is certain that a group of speculators knew
the attack was coming. According to the New York Times, he stated: “There
have been fundamental movements in these markets [i.e. the airlines], and
the oil price rise just ahead of the attacks is otherwise inexplicable.”**°
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The London Times reports that the U.S. government has a similar
perspective: “ American authorities are investigating unusually large numbers
of shares in airlines, insurance companies and arms manufacturers that were
sold off in the days and weeks before the attacks. They believe that the sales
were by people who knew about the impending disaster.”**°

But as noted by U.S. investigative journalist and former Los Angeles
Police Department (LAPD) narcotics detective Michael C. Ruppert, who rose
to fame for uncovering the CIA role in drug-running operations in the 1980s,
and who has been interviewed by both the House and the Senate for his
expertise on CIA covert operations. “It is well documented that the CIA has
long monitored such trades—in rea time—as potential warnings of terrorist
attacks and other economic moves contrary to U.S. interests.”*** The UPI
aso reported that the U.S.-sponsored ECHELON intelligence network
closely monitors stock trading. >

The London Times further points out that the UK Financial Services
Authority (FSA) is a “stock market watchdog” possessing a “transaction
monitoring department that checks suspicious share movements.” The FSA,
however, has not issued any informative statement on the investigation into
the share movements before 11" September: “The FSA would not comment
on its ingructions from the CIA.”*** In other words, there are both
intelligence and civilian monitoring systems that monitor share transactions
for the express purpose of tracking suspicious movements, and which,
therefore, would have received warning. Elaborating, Ruppert observes that:

“It has been documented that the CIA, the Israeli Mossad and many
other intelligence agencies monitor stock trading in rea time using
highly advanced programs reported to be descended from Promis
software. This is to adert nationa intelligence services of just such
kinds of attacks. Promis was reported, as recently as June, 2001 to be
in Osama bin Laden’s possession and, as a result of recent stories by
FOX, both the FBI and the Justice Department have confirmed its use
for U.S. intelligence gathering through at least this summer. This
would confirm that CIA had additional advance warning of imminent
attacks.”*>*

Ruppert further describes the CIA’s tracking of financia transactions as
follows:

“One of the primary functions of the Central Intelligence Agency by
virtue of its long and very close history of relationships with Wall
Street... the point where the current executive vice president of the
New York Stock Exchange is aretired CIA genera counsel, has had a
mandate to track, monitor, al financial markets worldwide, to look for
anomalous trades, indicative of either economic warfare, or insider
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currency trading or speculation which might affect the U.S. Treasury,
or, asin the case of the September 11 attacks, to look for trades which
indicated foreknowledge of attacks like we saw.

One of the vehicles that they use to do this is a software called Promis
software, which was developed in the 1980s, actualy 1979, by Bill
Hamilton and a firm called INSLAW, in [the] Washington D.C. area.
And Promis is very unique for two reasons: first of all, it had the ability
to integrate a wide range of databases using different computer
languages and to make them al into one readable format. And
secondly, in the years since, Promis has been mated with artificial
intelligence to even predict moves in markets and to detect trades that
are anomalous, as aresult of those projections.

S0, as recently as last year, | met with members of the RCMP [Royd
Canadian Mounted Police] national security staff, who came down to
Los Angeles where | am, who are investigating stolen applications of
Promis software and its applications, and we reconfirmed at that time
that, not only the U.S,, but Isragl, Canada, and many other countries
use Promis-like software to track real-time trades in the stock markets
to warn them of these events.”

However, he clarifies that such software is not necessary for intelligence
agencies to note the ominous implications of the trades going on shortly
before 11" September:

“The key evidence... was the trades themselves, the so-caled put
options and the short selling of American Airlines, United Airlines,
Merrill Lynch, Morgan Stanley, and a couple of reinsurance companies
in Europe, which are just really off the maps. You wouldn't need
software to look at these trades and say, ‘Oh my God, this is directly
connected to the World Trade Center.’

Herzliyah, International Policy Ingtitute in Israel which tracks counter-
terrorism, aso tracks financia trading. That's a clear cut sign about
how closely the two are related. And their reports are very clear that
between September 6 and 7 the Chicago Board Options Exchange,
CBOE, saw purchases of 4,744 put options on UAL, but only 396 cal
options. On September 10, the day before the attacks, 4,516 put options
were placed on American Airlines, against only 748 cals, cals being
bets that the stock will go up, puts being that the stock will go down.
No similar trading in any other airlines occurred on the Chicago
Exchange in the days immediately preceding Black Tuesday. That
means that someone had advance knowledge that only the stocks of
these two airlines would be adversely impacted. Had it just been an
industry-wide dump, then you would have seen the same kind of
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activity on every airline, not just these two. But what is aso very
anomalous, very out of whack here, is the fact that the number of put
options placed, that the level of these trades was up by 1,200 percent in
the three days prior to the World Trade Center attacks.”*>®

The Wall Sreet Journal reported some disturbing developments in the
investigation into this suspicious share trading at the beginning of October
2001. The ongoing investigation by the Security and Exchange Commission
had by then been joined by a U.S. Secret Service probe into purchases of an
exceptionaly large number of five-year U.S. Treasury notes, just prior to the
attacks. Among the Treasury note transactions was a single $5 hillion trade.
The Journal points out that:

“Five-year Treasury notes are among the best investments in the event
of aworld crisis, especidly one that hits the U.S. The notes are prized
for their safety and their backing by the U.S. government, and usually
rally when investors flee riskier investments, such as stocks.”**®

The day after the Journal report came out, chief of the FBI's financia
crimes unit Dennis Lormel attempted to downplay the significance of these
trades, claiming in testimony before a Congressional committee that “To date
there are no flags or indicators’ showing that terrorists used strategies such
as “short selling” to profit from the 11" September attacks.”>’ However, FOX
News cited German central bank president Ernst Welteke, who explained
toward the end of September that “a study by his bank strongly points to
‘terrorism insider trading’ not only in shares of heavily affected industries
such as airlines and insurance companies, but aso in gold and oil.”**®
Admitting that there has been a great deal of “speculation and rumours,”
Welteke also stated that “there are ever clearer signs that there were activities
on international financial markets which must have been carried out with the
necessary expert knowledge.”**°

Similarly, USA Today cited co-founder of PTI Securities Jon Najarian,
described as an “active player” on the Chicago Board Options Exchange,
confirming that: “The volumes were exceptional versus the norm.”*®
Principal of Broadband Research John Kinnucan commented: “1 saw put-call
numbers higher than I’ve ever seen in 10 years of following the markets,
particularly the options markets.”*®" As CBS 60 Minutes reported: “Sources
tell CBS News that the afternoon before the attack, alarm bells were
sounding over unusual trading in the U.S. stock options market.” >

These trades strongly suggest that certain well-connected and wealthy
investors had advance knowledge of the attacks. To date, both the Securities
& Exchange Commission (SEC) and the FBI have been tight-lipped about
their investigation of the trades. “The SEC and the Federa Bureau of
Investigation have said nothing about their investigation into suspect trades,”
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according to the San Francisco Chronicle®® Indeed, the FBI appears to have
taken measures to block public knowledge of the progress of the
investigation.

The Investment Dealers Association (IDA), a trade association for the
Canadian securities industry, posted on its web site an SEC list of 38 stocks.
The SEC had requested Canadian security firms to investigate suspicious
trading in these stocks between 27 August and 11 September 2001. But as
soon as U.S. officials became aware that the full list of stocks had been
posted online, they demanded the remova of the list from the Investment
Dedlers Association's site. The IDA complied, but reporters were able to
copy the list before its removal . >

The list of stocks includes the parent companies of American,
Continental, Delta, Northwest, Southwest, United and U.S. Airways, as well
as Carnival and Royal Caribbean cruise lines, aircraft maker Boeing and
defense contractor Lockheed Martin. Severa insurance companies are on the
lis—American International Group, Axa, Chubb, Cigna, CNA Financid,
John Hancock and MetLife. Several giant companies that were former
tenants in the World Trade Center were also on the list: the largest tenant,
investment firms Morgan Stanley; Lehman Brothers;, Bank of America; and
the financia firm Marsh & McLennan. Other magjor companies on the list
were General Motors, Raytheon, LTV, WR Grace, Lone Star Technologies,
American Express, Bank of New York, Bank One, Citigroup and Bear
Stearns.”®®

A probe of suspicious stock trading in these companies would attempt to
isolate the investors, or group of investors, involved therein, thus uncovering
those who had foreknowledge of the attacks.

Why did U.S. officials object to publication of a list of stocks in which
suspicious trading occurred? Moreover, why have the results of the
investigation so far, and any progress being made, not been made public?

Given that there are both intelligence and civilian systems that monitor
share transactions for the express purpose of tracking suspicious movements,
and given further that the transactions just prior to 11" September were so
unprecedented, massive and specific, these systems would have received
advance warning. These monitoring systems would also have clearly pointed
to a specified time for the attacks as occurring between early and mid-
September. U.S. intelligence would have been derted as early as 7"
September that American and United Airlines, along with the World Trade
Center, were potentia targets. The question remains, again, as to why
nothing was done in response.
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The London Independent has noted in relation to such events that: “To
the embarrassment of investigators, it has also emerged that the firm used to
buy many of the ‘put’ options—where a trader, in effect, bets on a share
price fall—on United Airlines stock was headed until 1998 by ‘Buzzy’

Krongard, now executive director of the CIA "%

There is, indeed, abundant evidence discussed by Ruppert that the
relationship between Wall Street and the CIA is &kin to a ‘revolving door.’
For instance, elaborating on the Independent’s observations, Ruppert notes
that one of the key firms involved in the put options for United Airlines,
Deutsche Bank Alex. Brown, was until 1998 managed by A. B. “Buzzy”
Krongard. Before then, until 1997, Krongard was Chairman of the
investment bank AB Brown, which was acquired by Banker’s Trust in 1997.
He then became, as part of the merger, Vice-Chairman of Banker’s Trust-AB
Brown. He joined the CIA in 1998 as counsal to CIA Director George Tenet,
to be later promoted to CIA Executive Director by President Bush in March
2001. BT was acquired by Deutsche Bank in 1999, forming the single largest
bank in Europe. Ruppert has also documented other crucia details relating to
the interrel ationship between the CIA, banks and the brokerage world. **’

Long-standing links between Western intelligence and finance appear to
have been instrumental in the foreknowledge of certain corporations about
the attacks. Veteran U.S. journalists Alexander Cockburn and Jeffrey St
Clair reported in their respected current affairs newdetter, Counterpunch,
that “an internd memo was sent around Goldman Sachs in Tokyo on
September 10 advising al employees of a possible terrorist attack. It
recommended al employees to avoid any American government
buildings.”**®

11" September War nings
Were Not Ignored by U.S. Authorities

Indeed, there is evidence that the threat was not ignored, at least not in
certain selected respects. The San Francisco Chronicle reported one day after
the attacks that Mayor Willie Brown received a phone call eight hours before
the hijackings from what he described as his air security staff, warning him
not to travel by air:

“For Mayor Willie Brown, the first signs that something was amiss
came late Monday when he got a call from what he described as his
airport security—a full eight hours before yesterday’ s string of terrorist
attacks—advising him that Americans should be cautious about their
air travel ... Exactly where the cal came from isabit of a mystery. The
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mayor would say only that it came from ‘my security people at the
airport.’"?%®

San Francisco Mayor Willie Brown was booked to fly from the Bay area
to New York City on the morning of September 11.°”° Clearly, it seems that
certain high-level U.S. security authorities anticipated some sort of grave
danger, and bdieved it to be urgent, threatening and certainly real enough to
inform a U.S. City Mayor about to catch a flight to New Y ork—but not the
genera public.

The London Times reported that the famous noveist, Salman Rushdie,
received a similar warning to avoid U.S. and Canadian airlines. According to
Rushdie's own testimony, the warning came directly from the U.S. Federal
Aviation Administration (FAA). The Times reports:

“The author Salman Rushdie believes that U.S. authorities knew of an
imminent terrorist strike when they banned him from taking internal
flights in Canada and the U.S. only a week before the attacks. On
September 3 the Federal Aviation Authority made an emergency ruling
to prevent Mr Rushdie from flying.” "

Another news report records that “the FAA has confirmed it stepped up
security levels relating to Rushdie,” but “the airlines weren't willing to
upgrade their security” in relation to the wider public.?”” It is public
knowledge that Rushdie is under 24-hour protection of UK Scotland Yard's
Specid Branch, and that al his travel plans are approved by the MI5 for
domestic travel within the UK, and by the MI6 for internationa travel. The
MI5 and MI6 are the British equivaent of the American CIA. Clearly, it
appears that British intelligence anticipated a grave danger, under the
guidance of U.S. authorities, and believed it to be urgent, threatening and real
enough to inform Rushdie—but once again not the general public.

Another report points to the Pentagon’s dubious role. Newsweek reported
that on 10" September 2001, the day before the attacks, “a group of top
Pentagon officials suddenly canceled travel plans for the next morning,
apparently because of security concerns.”*”® An earlier report by Newsweek,
published two days after the attacks, referred to the same event in more
detail:

“... the state of dert had been high during the past two weeks, and a
particularly urgent warning may have been received the night before
the attacks, causing some top Pentagon brass to cancel atrip. Why that
same information was not available to the 266 people who died aboard
the four hijacked commercid aircraft may become a hot topic on the
Hill.”*"™
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Apparently, top Pentagon officials had known not only of an imminent
threat to “security” in relation to their “travel plans,” but had even anticipated
its exact timing and taken measures to protect themselves—but not the
generd public. Together, these reports strongly suggest that high levels of the
U.S. military intelligence community knew something very significant—and
took it serioudly.

It is noteworthy that these reports also strongly suggest foreknowledge
among high-level elements of the U.S. military intelligence community, that
attacks would occur mid-September, and even more specificaly on the 11"
of that month. As WorldNetDaily editor and veteran American journalist
Joseph Farah rightly observes:

“Now, you're probably wondering why Willie Brown and Saman
Rushdie [and senior Pentagon officials] are more important to the U.S.
government than you and me and Barbara Olson. I’'m wondering the
same thing...

These selective warnings—and | have no doubt there were many more
we have not yet heard about—suggest strongly that the FBI, CIA and
other federal agencies had the information, knew something big was
up, something that involved terrorist attacks on airliners, but failed to
disclose the information to the airlines and the flying public in general.
| think heads should roll at the FBI and CIA. | think there ought to be
an investigation into what the FAA knew and when it knew it. | think,
once agan, the federd government has neglected its main
responsibility under the Congtitution—protecting the American people
from attack.”*"®

The U.S. Intelligence Community

As early as 1995, the U.S. had information relating to the plans to launch
air attacks on the World Trade Center—information that was repeatedly
confirmed by the American intelligence community since then, all the way to
the year 2001. Y et these agencies neglected amost entirely to do anything to
prevent or prepare for these attacks as far as the genera public was
concerned.””® Indeed, all such possible measures were cut short. Such was the
case with the investigations by FBI agents confirming the impending 11"
September terrorist attacks, whose leads were severed by the FBI command
without explanation—a situation apparently maintained with the complicity
of the Attorney General, a Presidential appointee. The U.S. government’s
leading law enforcement agency thus deliberately ignored its own findings,
and blocked these findings from being publicised.
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We should particularly consider ECHELON's warnings of a Project
Bojinkastyle attack by Al-Qaeda on U.S. soil, targeting “symbols of
American culture,” first 6 months and then 3 months prior to September.
According to the Newsbytes division of the Washington Pogt, “the warnings’
that terrorists planned to hijack civilian airplanes and use them as bombs
“were taken serioudy” by “the American intelligence community”, as a
consequence of which “surveillance intensified.” Furthermore, White House
Counter-terrorism chief Richard A. Clarke confirms that the CIA fully
anticipated an impending Al-Qaeda attack on U.S. soil in June 2001, and that
the entire intelligence community was aderted by the beginning of July, just
over six weeks prior to 11" September.

Warnings indicated that Project Bojinka would be implemented in the
next several weeks. The World Trade Center was a confirmed target of
Project Bojinka. The testimony of David Schippers confirms that knowledge
that the impending attack would target key buildings in lower Manhattan, of
which the World Trade Center is most prominent as a terrorist target, was
fairly widespread among high-levels elements of the U.S. intelligence
community. This seems to lead the chain of responsibility for the failure to
act right to the top: the Director of Central Intelligence (DCI).

The term “intelligence community” is a specific terminology coined by
U.S. intelligence agencies to refer to al the 13 officia government agencies
that have an “intelligence” role. The Newsbytes report on the ECHELON
warnings, apart from noting that the entire intelligence community was
aerted to an impending Project Bojinka-style terrorist attack, also indicates
that surveillance, i.e. intelligence gathering efforts, were increased in direct
response to the ECHELON warnings. This means that U.S. intelligence
agencies had adequate information with which to marry their specific
findings, eg. the FBI's surveillance and investigations of Al-Qaeda
operatives training at U.S. flight schools.

The official line has been that intelligence agencies had no reason to
believe that these people with links to bin Laden were about to use their
training to perform a terrorist act—but the documentation presented here
shows that this is entirely false: the intelligence community aready knew
what Al-Qaeda was planning—it was just a matter of who and when.

Indeed, as a direct consequence of the intensification of surveillance,
U.S. intelligence began finding out who. And as a direct consequence of the
convergence of urgent warnings from multiple credible sources, including
the interception of communications by Osama bin Laden himsdf, the
probable date of the attacks also grew increasingly evident. Yet when FBI
agents began finding out who (e.g. Al-Qaeda operatives training at U.S.
military and flight facilities), the investigations were blocked by the FBI
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command and Justice Department. When multiple warnings together pointed
clearly to the probability of an imminent attack by bin Laden, likely to occur
on 11" September, these warnings were ignored.

The idea that the failure to act was a result of the incompetence resulting
from unintentional bureaucratic stumbling blocks within the American
intelligence community, fails to address the reality and nature of the multiple
warnings received by that community. It is aso based on a lack of
understanding of the nature of intelligence gathering and the intelligence
structure in the United States.

There are 13 official government agencies that constitute the U.S.
intelligence community, with a huge budget of $30 billion. The Director of
Centrd Intelligence is charged by law with the coordination and
dissemination of intelligence gathered from all U.S. agencies, including the
FBI. Additionally, many FBI agents work directly at CIA headquarters. The
CIA, in line with its mandate for centra manageria oversight of the U.S.
intelligence community, produces ‘strategic level’ intelligence assessments
for the U.S. government, drawing upon all available intelligence sources. A
discussion follows of the nature and purpose of CIA dtrategic level
intelligence assessments, regularly presented to leading members of the
White House Cabinet.””’

There is also a State Department Worki ng Group set up to accomplish
the same task in which the CIA participates®”® A body of experts known as
the Counterterrorism Security Group (CSG) exists, which was effectively
chaired by White House Counterterrorism chief Richard Clarke. The CSG
congtitutes a connecting point for al federal agencies, whose members are
“drawn mainly from the C.1.A., the National Security Council, and the upper
tiers of the Defense Department, the Justice Department, and the State
Department,” and who meet “every week in the White House Situation
Room.” The CSG assesses dl reliable intelligence related to counterterrorism
received by these agencies and departments”’

The regular intelligence assessments produced by the CIA for the top
decison-makers of the U.S. government, which draw on dl available
intelligence sources, are known as ‘strategic level’ assessments. ‘ Strategic
level’ refers to the highest level of decison-making—at the national or
aliance level. For example, during the Second World War, when Churchill
and Roosevelt met to discuss their long-range plans, they were considering
strategic level issues. ‘Strategic intelligence’ is thus designed to answer the
category of questions that arise at the level of strategic decision-making: e.g.
is country X about to turn hogtile? If so, what would be their overdll
capability to attack 7%
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The threat of a large-scale terrorist attack orchestrated by operatives
located in a particular country (in this case Afghanistan), and
harboured/supported by the ruling regime of that country (in this case the
Taliban), would certainly come under this “ strategic” category. Such athreat,
and its various dimensions and implications, should therefore have been
passed directly to members of the White House Cabinet, including President
Bush himself. According to established procedures by which the CIA keeps
U.S. decision-makers informed, President Bush and other key members of
his Cabinet would have received CIA intelligence assessments on the
imminent Al-Qaeda operation.*®* This seems to lend significant weight to the
conclusion that the CIA, the DCI, the State Department, the President, and
key figures around him in the White House, were ultimately responsible for
doing nothing in the face of the mounting evidence of an impending threat to
U.S. national security.

Furthermore, since the ECHEL ON warnings were “taken serioudly,” this
means that the U.S. intelligence community should have been on aert and
anticipating a Project Bojinka-style attack. The DCI would consequently
have been doing its best to evaluate and coordinate information coming in
from all sources to prevent the attack. Given that the U.S. intelligence
community anticipated a Project Bojinka-style attack by Al-Qaeda operatives
on U.S. oil, and had consequently intensified surveillance, al credible
information and warnings that were subsequently collected were reviewed
againg this backdrop, with the specific intention of gathering further
intelligence on bin Laden’'s plans. This subsequent data, therefore, would
have been understood in context with the plans of which the U.S. intelligence
community had already become aware—six months and then three months
prior to 11" September.

Thus, from both a statutory and an organisational standpoint, the
argument of incompetence or bureaucratic blocking is extremely weak. Even
to argue that elements of the Bush administration had significant knowledge
of what would happen, but not enough detail to take measures to prevent the
atacks, is based on a very shallow appraisal of the nature and number of
intelligence warnings received. As evidenced on public records, these
warnings were not only extremely detailed, but also extremely specific as to
probable perpetrators, methods, targets, and dates”®* As the Intelligence Note
Book of the Canadian Forces Intelligence Branch Association clarifies in
relation to methods of intelligence gathering:

“... one aways wants to have as many different sources as possible
confirming one's intelligence assessment. When many different
sources are combined in this way to produce one fina assessment, this
is known as ‘fused,” ‘multi-source’ or even ‘all-source’ intelligence.
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Really, the sources used are a technicality, of more concern to the
intelligence personned producing the assessment than to the end-user.
The end-users primary interest in the sources used will smply be to
reflect how certain the conclusions are. The more different sources
there are indicating a conclusion, the more certain we can be about that
conclusion.”?®

Indeed, the numerous warnings received and intercepted by the U.S.
intelligence community in regard to 11" September certainly met the four
established criteria of what constitutes an intelligence success in strategic
warning. Robert K. Betts, Professor of Politica Science and Director of the
Ingtitute of War and Peace Studies at Columbia University, and Director of
National Security Studies at the Council on Foreign Relations®* refers to
these criteria as follows:

“Intercepted information about the location and timing of attack was so
rich as to make the deduction of warning obvious.

The event involved was truly vital to U.S. security rather than just one
among many important problems, so leaders had no reason to avoid
focusing on the warning.

There was no problem of estimating the enemy’s political intent to
resort to force, asin pre-war crises.

There was nothing to be lost from prompt and vigorous military
reaction to warning...”*®

Hence, there cannot be any excuse within the U.S. intelligence
community for ignoring or blocking further leads and subsequent warnings.
When the ECHELON warnings were followed by warning after warning to
the U.S. inteligence community from Isragl, Russia, France, Egypt, aong
with numerous leads and warnings within the U.S. itself, according to the
established procedures of intelligence gathering, the intelligence community
should have grown increasingly certain of what was about to occur, by
whom, and when. This is particularly clear given that the ECHELON
warnings were taken seriously by the U.S. intelligence community—thus
providing the backdrop of credibility against which subsequent reliable
warnings could be assessed. Y et, we find that the very opposite happened.

Either pertinent CIA intelligence assessments were not passed on to the
Cabinet, in violation of mandatory standard procedures, or they were, and the
warnings were deliberately ignored by the nation’s top decision-makers. The
former scenario is implausible, smply because it is contrary to established
procedures. The CIA produces dtrategic leve intelligence assessments,
drawing on al sources in the U.S. intelligence community, which are
presented to the President and other top decision-makers. These assessments
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are directly concerned with issues of nationa security. It is therefore
reasonable to believe that the escalating threat to national security posed by
Al-Qaeda was, in accordance with routine mandatory procedures, passed on
to the President and select members of his Cabinet.

The only other alternative is that the procedures were violated. But, there
is no good reason to believe this. If we arbitrarily conjecture that procedure
was not followed, and the threat was not passed on to top-decision makers,
then one would have to instead conclude that responsibility rests with
significant high-level elements of the U.S. military intelligence community,
who would bear responsibility for keeping top U.S. decison-makers in the
dark. The question would then remain: why and for what purpose, if any, did
they do s0?

Arguably, there is no good reason to accept that this scenario is plausible.
On the contrary, there is good reason to accept the probability that,
considering their dire gravity, warnings on the impending Al-Qaeda
operation did reach the top. According to mandatory procedures, the
imminent threat to U.S. national security posed by Al-Qaeda should have
been passed on to top decison-makers through CIA intelligence
assessments’®®

If established procedures were followed, as they should have been, and
top decison-makers were informed, then the blame lies not only at the
highest levels of the DCI, CIA, FBI, the Justice Department, the National
Security Agency, and the State Department, but also with the White House
Cabinet. According to these procedures, the relevant members of the Cabinet
would have recelved notification of the warnings and subsequent
developments in accordance with the CIA’s ‘strategic level’ assessment of
the Al-Qaeda threat, as well as related relays of intelligence warnings. Thisis
a more reasonable hypothesis, smply because it is in accordance with the
known rules of intelligence warning in relation to issues of U.S. national
Security.

In the opinion of this author, therefore, the data provided here weighs
strongly in favour of the conclusion that significant elements of the Bush
administration did indeed receive advance warning of the attacks, but refused
to act in the interests of the general public by pursuing measures to prevent
the attacks.

Even at the minimal possible level of responsibility on the part of the
Bush administration, the evidence on record strongly suggests that the U.S.
government had enough advance warning to be at least certain of terrorist
attacks on U.S. soil through the hijacking of civilian planes—but despite this,
failed to ingtitute even the most minimal of preventive measures.
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For instance, the attacks could have been blocked even if the government
had ensured that recommended security measures and precautions were
pursued by the Federal Aviation Administration at airports, on planes, and so
on. Yet the U.S. government, despite longstanding knowledge of the threat of
impending suicide attacks from the air—a threat that was about to become a
redity in 2001, according to highly credible intelligence warnings—did
nothing of the sort. Indeed, the facts on record are sufficient to provide
reasonable grounds to believe that the ‘intelligence failure’ was in fact not a
fallure at dl, but a directive—or rather, the inevitable culmination of
carefully imposed high-level directives and blocks that restrained agencies
from acting on the very clear intelligence received.

Tyrone Powers, a former FBI Special Agent specidising in
counterterrorism—now Professor of Law Enforcement and Criminal Justice
at Anne Arundel County Community College and Director of the Institute for
Criminal Justice, Lega Studies and Public Service—points out that there was
“credible information from the FBI, CIA and foreign intelligence services
that an attack was imminent”. The information indicated that an Al-Qaeda
hijacking attempt was probable. Powers describes this as the
“consequentidism” inherent to the decision making process which he has
witnessed firsthand in his intelligence and counter-intelligence background:
“...on occasion, [damaging] acts are alowed if in the minds of the decision-
makers, they will lead to ‘greater good’,” and as long as the damage is
contained within certain limits. Powers further refers pressure on intelligence
agencies to vastly reduce their powers, concern over the “blowback” from
the controversies of the Presidentia election; the desire on the part of
elements of the intelligence community to “recongtitute the CIA” after its
perceived “emasculation by the Clinton administration;” their belief that such
a reconstitution required “a need, a demand and a free hand that would be
given by ademocratic Congress [only] if there was a National outcry.”

He sates: “My experience tells me that these incidents would have
reached the level a which the ‘consegquentiaism’ thought process would
have been made a rea option”—in other words, that elements of the
intelligence community and the administration may have deliberately failed
to act in the belief that the resultant damage would contribute to a “greater
good,” providing a pretext for such policies as the recongtitution of the CIA.
However, Powers emphasises that this policy would have been the result of a
“miscalculation”—a failure to anticipate the extent of this damage: “But the
amount of destruction wrought on a civilian population shocked even the
advocates of this policy.” %’

In other words, the U.S. inteligence community had sufficient
information of an impending Al-Qaeda hijacking attack, but was probably
blocked from undertaking preventive action from above.
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Of course, a full-blown inquiry into the causes of the ‘intelligence
failure that alowed the 11" September attacks to occur is essential to
determine what U.S. government, military and intelligence agencies knew,
when they knew it, and why they failed to act. Outside of such an inquiry, it
is impossible to conclusively determine the exact degree of advance warning
received by particular U.S. government, military and intelligence agencies.

Ongoing attempts by the Bush administration to actively block such an
inquiry into the causes of the so-caled 9-11 ‘intelligence failure,” however,
only serve to further support the conclusion just outlined. CNN reported at
the end of January 2002 that:

“President Bush persondly asked Senate Magority Leader Tom
Daschle Tuesday to limit the congressional investigation into the
events of September 11, congressional and White House sources told
CNN...

The request was made at a private meeting with congressional leaders
Tuesday morning. Sources said Bush initiated the conversation... He
asked that only the House and Senate intelligence committees look into
the potential breskdowns among federal agencies that could have
allowed the terrorist attacks to occur, rather than a broader inquiry that
some lawmakers have proposed, the sources said. Tuesday’ s discussion
followed a rare cal to Daschle from Vice President Dick Cheney last
Friday to make the same request... Some Democrats, such as Sens.
Joseph Lieberman of Connecticut and Robert Torricelli of New Jersey,
have been cdling for a broad inquiry looking at various federa
government agencies beyond the intelligence community.” *®

The pretext for the administration’s proposals, according to Daschle, is
that “resources and personnel” would be taken “away from the war on
terrorism,” in the event of a wider inquiry that is not limited to the
assumption that the administration’s inaction was solely a consequence of
“breakdowns among federal agencies.”

Paradoxicaly, the Bush administration thus justified blocking a wider
inquiry into the intelligence failure that allowed the 11" September attacks to
occur, by the need to support the administration’s attempts to counter
terrorism. In other words, the administration suppressed an inquiry into the
greatest terror attack in U.S. history—in the name of fighting terrorism.

It is unfortunate that CNN chose not to point out that an integra
dimension of any meaningful counterterrorist programme is the gathering of
intelligence with the view to avoiding a terrorist attack—which is exactly
what Bush's proposals will help prevent. Not only is it clear that the Bush
administration was not serious about averting terrorism prior to 11"
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September, it aso appears that the administration has maintained the same
attitude—despite the obvious consequences.

The documentation collated in the previous pages demonstrates beyond
doubt that innocent American civilians paid with their lives because high-
level dements of the Bush administration engineered blocks on U.S.
intelligence agencies in order to fulfil and protect another agenda. Unless a
full-blown independent inquiry into this process is mounted soon, there is
little doubt that more innocent Americans will pay with their lives again.
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5. The Collapse of Standard Operating 5
Procedureson 9-11

“September 11 was not so unprecedented. Passenger jet hijackings
have happened before, and the U.S. government has prepar ed
detailed plansto handle them. On September 11 these plans were
ignored in their entirety.”

George Szamuely
(New York Press, Val. 15, No. 2)

“For 60 decisive minutes, the military and intelligence agencies let the
fighter planes stay on the ground.”

Herr von Buelow, former State Secretary
in the German Defence Ministry
(Tagesspiegel, 13 January 2002)

The sequence of events on 11" September 2001 was as follows:

8:45 am.—American Airlines Flight 11 from Boston smashed into
the north tower of the World Trade Center.

9:03 am.—United Airlines Flight 175 from Boston smashed into the
south tower.

9:40 am.—AA Hlight 77 from Dulles hits the Pentagon.

10:10 am.—United Flight 93 from Newark crashed in Shanksville,
Pennsylvania.

“Yet the most amazing feature of the U.S. government’s response to
these events was the amost complete absence of it,” notes American
journalist George Szamuely in the New York Press, referring to the work of
investigative journalist Jared Israel. “Jared Isragl on  his website
www.tenc.net has blazed atrail with fascinating and meticulous research.”*%
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Jared lsrael, a Colombia and Harvard University educated independent
researcher, writing with lllarion Bykov, has indeed conducted a useful
investigation of the sequence of events on 11" September:

“Andrews Air Force Base is a huge military installation about 10 miles
from the Pentagon. On 11 September there were two entire squadrons
of combat-ready fighter jets at Andrews...

Their job was to protect the skies over Washington D.C. They failed to
do their job. Despite over one hour’'s advance warning of a terrorist
attack in progress, not a single Andrews fighter tried to protect the city.
The FAA, NORAD and the military have cooperative procedures by
which fighter jets automatically intercept commercial aircraft under
emergency conditions. These procedures were not followed.”*®°

Standard Operating Proceduresfor Air Emergencies

Here, we will analyse the responses of the U.S. government and military
to the air attacks on 9-11 in context with the norma rules of emergency
response employed by air authorities in crisis situations.

Air Traffic Controllers routinely request fighter craft to intercept
commercial planes for various reasons when problems faced cannot be
solved through radio contact, e.g. to inform commercia pilots when their
plane is off course, or smply to assess the situation directly.

The deviation of commercia planes from their designated flight paths is
a common problem solved via interception. As a matter of mandatory
Standard Operating Procedures, no approva from White House is required
for interception. On the contrary, interception occurs on the basis of
established flight and emergency response rules.

Military interceptors do not need instructions from the White House to
carry out emergency response procedures and other such services—they
aready have clear “instructions to act,” which are followed automatically in
relation to varying situations. Detailed FAA and Department of Defense
manuals are available online, clarifying that these ingtructions are
exceedingly comprehensive, including issues from minor emergencies to
full-blown hijackings. According to these instructions, serious problems are
handed over to the National Military Command Center in the Pentagon, if
necessary.

Commercid flights must adhere to Instrument Flight Rules (IFR).
According to the IFR, before takeoff pilots must file a flight plan with the
FAA:
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“Commercia flights fly according to predefined flight plans. These
flight plans are intended to provide quick routes that take advantage of
favorable winds while avoiding the routes traveled by other aircraft.
The usual flight plan is a series of three connected routes. a standard
instrument departure (SID) route, an en route path, and a standard
instrument arrival (STAR). Each route consists of a sequence of
geographic points, or fixes, which, when connected, form a trgjectory
from the point of departure to the point of arrival.”***

As soon as a plane deviates from its flight plan—for instance, by making
awrong turn a a ‘fix’—an Air Traffic Controller contacts the pilot. If the
Controller fails to make contact or routine communication becomes
impossible, established rules dictate that an aircraft will be requested to
scramble and assess the situation by ‘interception.’

A clear example of this routine procedure is the FAA’s response when
the Lear jet chartered by golf professona Payne Stewart deviated from its
flight path while the pilot failed to reply by radio. MS-NBC reported that:

“Pilots are supposed to hit each fix with pinpoint accuracy. If a plane
deviates by 15 degrees, or two miles from that course, the flight
controllers will hit the panic button. They'll call the plane, saying
‘American 11, you're deviating from course.” It's considered a red
emergency, like a police car screeching down a highway at 100 miles
an hour. When golfer Payne Stewart’s incapacitated Learjet missed a
turn a a fix, heading north instead of west to Texas, F-16 interceptors
were quickly dispatched.”?%*

The FAA, in other words, immediately contacted the military when it
was confirmed that the plane was off course, and communication with the
plane was blocked. As CNN reported:

“Severad Air Force and Air Nationa Guard fighter jets, plus an
AWACS radar control plane, helped the Federa Aviation
Administration track the runaway Learjet and estimate when it would
run out of fuel.” %

Once a plane is intercepted by military jets, daytime communications
with a commercial plane that fails to respond properly to radio contact are
described by the FAA manual as follows: “... [The interceptor military craft
communicates by] Rocking wings from a position dlightly above and ahead
of, and normally to the left of, the intercepted aircraft...” This action conveys
the message: “You have been intercepted.” The commercia jet is then
supposed to respond by rocking its wings to indicate compliance, upon which
the interceptor performs a “dow level turn, normally to the left, on to the
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desired heading [direction].” The commercia plane then responds by
following the escort ”**

The deviation of a plane from its designated flight path obviously creates
a hazard in the form of a potentia collison with another plane. The FAA
thus has a clear definition of what constitutes an emergency Situation:
“Consider that an aircraft emergency exists... when:... There is unexpected
loss of radar contact and radio communications with any... aircraft.””®®
Elsawhere, the FAA states: “EMERGENCY DETERMINATIONS: If... you
are in doubt that a situation constitutes an emergency or potential emergency,
handle it as though it were an emergency.”**°

An FAA Air Defense Liaison Officer stationed in the headquarters of the
North American Aerospace Defense Command (NORAD) plays the role of
coordinating the FAA with the U.S. military to handle emergencies as
efficiently as possible.”*” While NORAD normally scrambles fighter jets, if
necessary, other military jets can be scrambled as well: “Normally, NORAD
escort aircraft will take the required action. However, for the purpose of
these procedures, the term ‘escort aircraft’ applies to any military aircraft
assigned to the escort mission.”**®

Again, the response to the deviation of Payne Stuart’s jet from its flight
path provides an example. ABC News reported that:

“Fird, a fighter jet from Tyndall, Fla, was diverted from a routine
training flight to check out the Learjet. Two F-16s from another Florida
base then picked up the chase, later handing it over to two Air National
Guard F-16s from Oklahoma, which handed it over to two F-16s from
Fargo, North Dakota.”**°

As a matter of mandatory routine, the established instructions for a
serious emergency are followed, and this includes emergencies involving the
possihility of a hijacking. In the event of a serious emergency, or if a possible
hijacking has occurred: “The escort service will be requested by the FAA
hijack coordinator by direct contact with the National Military Command
Center (NMCC).”3%

The Department of Defense affirms the same, adding that once military
planes are scrambled in accordance with immediate responses, the
Department of Defense will be contacted for approval of special measures:
“In the event of a hijacking, the NMCC will be notified by the most
expeditious means by the FAA. The NMCC will, with the exception of
immediate responses... forward requests for DoD [Department of Defense]
assistance to the Secretary of Defense for approval.”***

An |EEE Spectrum Specia Report citing an Air Traffic Control expert
further emphasises that: “Procedures dictate that controllers aert the U.S.
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military when a hijacking is known to be under way. The typica response is
for the Air Force to scramble intercept jets.”**

It should be reiterated that procedures aso require controllers to
immediately adert the military to scramble fighter craft, if a plane deviates
from its flight path and communication between the plane and controllers is
blocked. This occurs whether or not the situation consists of a potentia
hijacking, as was the case with Payne Stuart's Lear jet, which was
intercepted by military planes almost immediately, and while communication
with the jet was blocked.

Indeed, “The U.S. military has their own radar network ...(NORAD).
They are tied into the FAA computer in order to get information on incoming
flights.” If a target is discovered “without flight plan information,” or in
violation of the same, “they will call on the ‘shout’ line to the appropriate
[Air Traffic Control] Center sector for an ID.” If the Center sector “has no
datablock or other information on it, the military will usually scramble an
intercept flight. Essentialy aways they turn out to be private pilots... not
talking to anybody, who stray too far outside the boundary, then get picked
up on their way back in. But, procedures are procedures, and they will likely
find two F-18s on their tail within 10 or so minutes.”*** The NMCC can thus
tap into radar stations to monitor emergencies and hijackings, as occurred
during Payne Stewart’s flight when “officers on the Joint Chiefs were
monitoring the Learjet on radar screens insde the Pentagon’s National
Military Command Center.”%%*

Indeed, according to the admission of NORAD spokesman Marine Corps
Maor Mike Snyder recorded in the Boston Globe, “its fighters routinely
intercept aircraft”:

“When planes are intercepted, they typicaly are handled with a

graduated response. The approaching fighter may rock its wingtips to

attract the pilot’s attention, or make a pass in front of the aircraft.

Eventudly, it can fire tracer rounds in the arplane’s path, or, under

certain circumstances, down it with a missile.” %

The well-known example of Payne Stuart’s Learjet also gives an idea of
the acceptable time periods of a routine air response. On 11" September,
there was virtually no air response at al:

“... from the official National Transportation Safety Board crash report:

9:19 am. [of Payne Stewart’s plane]:

The flight departs.

9:24: The Learjet’s pilot responds to an instruction from air traffic
control.
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9:33: The controller radios another instruction. No response from the
pilot. For 4 %2 minutes the controller tries to establish contact.

9:38: Having failed, the controller callsin the military. Note that he did
not seek, nor did he require, the approval of the President of the United
States, or indeed anyone. It's standard procedure, followed routingly,
to cdl in the Air Force when radio contact with a commercia
passenger jet is logt, or the plane departs from its flight path, or
anything along those lines occurs.

9:54: 16 minutes later—the F-16 reaches the Learjet a 46,000 feet and
conducts a visual inspection. Total eapsed time: 21 minutes.”>%

Flights175and 11

Using the chronology of events compiled by ABC News just after 11™
September (timelines vary according to the source), al four commercia
planes involved in the attacks took to the air between 7:59 am. and 8:14
am., 11" September 2001—including American Airlines Flight 11, United
Airlines Flight 93, American Airlines Flight 77, and United Airlines Flight
175.

By 8:20 am., Flight 11, bound for Los Angeles, had made an unexpected
hard turn left and begun heading toward New Y ork. The craft’s transponder,
which alows the air traffic controller to identify the plane, was disconnected.
Within moments, air traffic controllers noticed something was aso very
wrong with United Flight 175. Instead of heading west to its assigned
destination Cdlifornia, it took a U-turn over New Jersey and headed northeast
toward Manhattan’s World Trade Center.

John Miller of ABC News reported that: “There doesn't seem to have
been darm bells going off, traffic controllers getting on with law
enforcement or the military. Theré's a gap there that will have to be
investigated...”®*" Indeed, it appears that the FAA did nothing for 18
minutes; “Boston ATC notifies NORAD that Flight 11 has been hijacked at
8:38.7%% But when radar and cockpit contact is blocked, and/or when planes
deviate from their flight plan, standard FAA procedure is to order the
scramble of fighter jetsimmediately in order to regain contact with the pilot.
Indeed, the New York Pressclarifies that:

“According to The New York Times, air traffic controllers knew at
8:20 am. ‘that American Airlines Flight 11, bound from Boston to Los
Angeles, had probably been hijacked. When the first news report was
made at 8:48 am. that a plane might have hit the World Trade Center,
they knew it was Flight 11." There was little ambiguity on the matter.
The pilot had pushed a button on the aircraft yoke that alowed
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controllers to hear the hijacker giving orders... The U.S. is supposed to
scramble military aircraft the moment a hijacking is confirmed.” **°

In an earlier report on the subject, the New York Press aso records that:
“Initial reports suggested that no aircraft were scrambled to intercept or shoot
down the hijacked jets.” **°

On 13th September, Acting Chairman of the Joint Chiefs of Staff and Air
Force Genera Richard B. Myers stated before the Senate Armed Services
Committee: “When it became clear what the threat was, we did scramble
fighter aircraft, AWACS, radar aircraft and tanker aircraft to begin to
establish orbits in case other aircraft showed up in the FAA system that were
hijacked.”

Myers was then asked: “Was that order that you just described given
before or after the Pentagon was struck? Do you know?’ The Air Force
Genera admitted that he did know, replying: “That order, to the best of my
knowledge, was after the Pentagon was struck.”*'* Myers was asked three
times before the Committee about the failure to scramble planes, and each
time confirmed the same. At no time in this testimony did Myers indicate
that he did not know, had not been in a postion to know, or might be
mistaken.

A spokesman for NORAD, Marine Corps Major Mike Snyder,
corroborated Myers' testimony, explaining that no U.S. fighter jets had been
scrambled at al until after the Pentagon crash. Reporting on the NORAD
statement, the Boston Globe reported on 15" September that: “[T]he
command did not immediately scramble any fighters even though it was
alerted to a hijacking 10 minutes before the first plane... dammed into the
first World Trade Center tower... The spokesman said the fighters remained
on the ground until after the Pentagon was hit...” The failure to act was
particularly surprising since Snyder had also admitted that “fighters routinely
intercept aircraft.”*"

The same was admitted by Vice-President Dick Cheney on 16"
September in a‘Meset the Press' session with NBC News correspondent Tim
Russert, who observed that: “The first hijacking was confirmed at 8:20, the
Pentagon was struck at 9:40, and yet, it seems we were not able to scramble
fighter jetsin time to protect the Pentagon and perhaps even more than that.”
Cheney did not dispute Russert’s assertion, and further suggested that it was
the President who made the decision to allow planes to scramble after the
Pentagon crash*"

Suddenly, the officia story changed. U.S. Air Force and government
officials reneged on their own multiple testimonies, attempting to explain
away the failure to respond to the attacks. Contradicting the initia reports
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and testimony of U.S. officias, it was later claimed that fighter jets had in
fact been scrambled from Otis Air National Guard Base in Cape Cod,
Massachusetts when the first tower was hit. It is in this context that the New
York Press takes to task the shift in the official explanation:

“So why were no fighters dispatched to intercept planes on an
extraordinary day like Sept. 11? Within days the story changed and it
turned out that two F-15 fighters had in fact been scrambled from Otis
Air National Guard Base in Cape Cod, MA. Whether this took place
before or after the first tower was struck is not clear. In any case it was
too late to make a difference.”***

Thus at 8:45 am., Flight 11 dammed into the North Tower of the World
Trade Center near the 100" floor of the 110 storey building. According to the
modified official version of the sequence of events, hastily propagated a few
days later in contradiction to previous confessions, fighters from Otis were
indeed ordered to scramble—at 8:44 am.. Even if we take these accounts
serioudly, they only bring up further questions and hardly exonerate the U.S.
FAA and military.

Firstly, whenever fighter jets were scrambled, it was a long time after
8:20 am., when Flight 11's hijacking was fully confirmed. Secondly, there
was a long gap before the fighters from Otis obeyed their aready long
overdue scrambling orders. Two F-15 Eagles supposedly managed to take off
from the Otis ANG Base at 8:52 am.—8 minutes after being ordered to do
0, which is amogt triple the norma time for such aircraft to go from
“scramble order” to 29,000 feet. Almost 32 minutes thus passed between the
confirmation of the hijackings of Flight 11 and 175 and the scrambling of the
intercept fighters—an ominous anomaly that has yet to be investigated.**

At 9:03 am., eighteen minutes after Flight 11's crash, Flight 175
smashed into the South Tower of the World Trade Centre, near the 90" floor.
By this time, as noted by the New York Press: “When the second tower was
hit the fighters were still 70 miles from Manhattan.”**°

But this should not have been a problem. The U.S. had eighteen minutes
after the first plane hit the WTC in which to intercept Flight 175. New Y ork
City, where the WTC is based, is only 71 miles from McGuire Air Force
Base in New Jersey, a major and active facility. An F-15 strike eagle flies at
1850+ nmph, equivaent to Mach 2.5+.

According to the U.S. Air Force's own website, as a matter of routine the
arcraft goes from “scramble order” to 29000 feet in only 2.5 minutes. Even
a Mach 2, an F-15 would cover the ground from New Jersey’s Air Force
Base to New York in under 3 minutes, and thus could have easily intercepted
Flight 175. Y et this never happened.
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The New York Press has also addressed the anomalies in the new
‘official’ version of eventsin detail:

“Clearly another, more comforting, story was needed, and on the
evening of Sept. 14 CBS launched it by reveding that the FAA had
indeed derted U.S. air defense units of a possible hijacking at 8:38
am. on Tuesday, that six minutes later two F15s received a scramble
order at Otis Air National Guard Base on Cape Cod and that by 8:56
the F-15s were racing toward New York. Unfortunately, the fighters
were still 70 miles away when the second jet hit the south tower.
Meanwhile, at 9:30 am., three F-16s were launched from Langley Air
Force base, 150 miles south of Washington. But just seven minutes
later, at 9:37 am., Flight 77 smashed into the Pentagon. The F-16s
arrived in Washington just before 10 am.

This story, which has now become the ‘officia’ version, raises more
questions than it answers. F-15s can travel a speeds of 1875 mph
while F-16s can travel a 1500 mph [resp. 31 and 25 miles a minute]. If
it took the F-16s half an hour to cover 150 miles, they could not have
been traveling at more than 300 mph—at 20 percent capability. Boeing
767s and 757s have cruising speeds of 530 mph. Tak about a lack of
urgency! Assuming Otis Air National Guard Base is about 180 miles
away from Manhattan it should have taken the F-15s less than six
minutes to arrive. Moreover, since Washington, DC, is little more than
200 miles from New Y ork, the two F15 fighters would have had time
to get to DC, intercept Flight 77 and grab breakfast on the way.
Ah, but of course the transponders were turned off. So no one could
keep track of the planes. If it were true that the moment a transponder
is turned off a plane becomes invisible there would be no defense
against enemy aircraft. Normal radar echo return from the meta
surface of an aircraft would till identify it on the radar scope.”®"
Indeed, according to the Canadian Defense website, ‘Canada-United
States Defense Regulations:’
“NORAD uses a network of ground-based radars, sensors and fighter
jets to detect, intercept and, if necessary, engage any threats to the
continent... Through outstanding cooperation and cohesiveness,
NORAD has proven itself effective in its roles of watching, warning
and responding.”*'®
Even if we believe the later version of events espoused by the U.S.
government, claiming that planes were scrambled prior to the Pentagon
crash, a close anadysis of this new officia account only confirms the
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consstent failure to respond in accordance with Standard Operating
Procedures.

Flight 77

The New York Press continues to analyse the fate of Flight 77:

“We dso learned that two F-16 fighters had been scrambled from
Langley Air Force Base to try to intercept Flight 77, but they aso
arrived too late. In fact, they only took off from Langley two minutes
before the Boeing 757 smashed into the Pentagon.

There are a number of problems with this story. In the first place, 45
minutes had elapsed from the time the air traffic controllers lost contact
with Flight 77 and its crash into the Pentagon. On Sept. 15 The New
York Times reported: ‘Flight 77... would have been visble on the
FAA'’s radar system as it reversed course in the Midwest...to fly back
to Washington. The radars would have observed it even though its
tracking beacon had been turned off.’*'

Hight 77 had first deviated from its flight plan at about 8:46 am. The
New York Times noted that: “within a few minutes more... [i.e. 8:50]
controllers would have known that... Flight 77 had probably been
hijacked.”**® This was probably because “controllers at Washington Air
Route Traffic Control Center—who handled American Airlines Flight 77,
which hit the Pentagon—knew about the hijacking of American Flight 11
even before it crashed.”**

Indeed, at 9:00 am., Flight 77's transponder signa ceased, as the plane
flew back straight towards Washington DC. All this would normally have
sufficed to compel the FAA to notify the military to scramble fighter craft,
and in the extraordinary circumstances which had occurred with the
hijacking of Flights 11 and 175 aready confirmed, this would have been
doubly necessary.

And again, when the first hijacked plane crashed into the World Trade
Center, theemergency responsesof U.S. ar safety and defense systems should
have beenintensified. Apart from thefactthat the Pentagon should already have
been monitoring events, the country’s emergency services were externaly
notified dmost immediately. According to Newsday, at “9:06, Washington
notifies dl ar traffic facilities nationwide of the suspected hijacking of Hight
11.”%?* ThePentagon wasnotified of the emergency simultaneously. New Y ork
Police broadcast at 9:06 am. that: “This was a terrorist attack. Notify the
Pentagon.”*?® Flight 77 hit the Pentagon ataround 9:40a.m.

NORAD Commander Gen. Eberhart claimed in testimony before the
Senate Armed Services Committee that the FAA had failed to notify
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NORAD and the Department of Defense that the flight was heading toward
Washington DC and had probably been hijacked, until 9:24 am.*** This
implies that there was an inexplicable gap of aimost 45 minutes between the
time the FAA had lost contact with Flight 77, which was heading directly
toward Washington DC, and the time the FAA notified NORAD. This is
despite the fact that it was clear a 9:06 am. that a terrorist attack was
underway.

But anyhow, NORAD would have been monitoring the progress of these
flights, including Fight 77, independently, and the Pentagon had already
been notified. Indeed, according to the New York Times, “military officias in
a command center on the east side of the [Pentagon] were urgently talking to
law enforcement officials about what to do.”** Taken into context with the
fact that the Pentagon had been externally notified to the national emergency
as early as 9:06, this means that military officials refused to scramble fighters
for at least 20 minutes.

The implications of this gap are even more ominous given that NORAD
apparently chose not to scramble fighter craft that were much closer to
Washington DC. Ingstead, they chose to scramble interceptors from Langley
Air Force Base, which is 130 miles from Washington—rather than Andrews
Air Force Base, which is 10 miles away. The result was that “the fighter
planes that scrambled into protective orbits around Washington did not arrive
until 15 minutes after Flight 77 hit the Pentagon.”**®

The U.S. Department of Defense initially issued reports that there were
smply no loca fighter jets available to intercept Flight 77. According to USA
Today, attempting to provide an explanation based on U.S. Department of
Defense sources. “Andrews Air Force Base, home to Air Force One, is only
15 miles [sic] away from the Pentagon, but it had no fighters assigned to it.
Defense officials won't say whether that has changed.”

Y et in areport on the same day, USA Today stated in contradiction to its
other story, that Andrews Air Force Base did actualy have fighters present
there—but supposedly they were not on aert: “The District of Columbia
National Guard maintained fighter planes at Andrews Air Force Base, only
about 15 miles [sic] from the Pentagon, but those planes were not on aert
and not deployed.”**’

Both these reports amounted to disinformation, as is suggested by their
mutual inconsistency. Quoting directly from U.S. National Guard sources,
the San Diego Union-Tribune clarified the redlity of the matter:

“Air defense around Washington is provided mainly by fighter planes

from Andrews Air Force Base in Maryland near the Digtrict of
Columbia border. The D.C. Air National Guard is aso based there and
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equipped with F-16 fighter planes, a National Guard spokesman said.
‘But the fighters took to the skies over Washington only after the
devastating attack on the Pentagon.’ "%

It is thus clear that combat-ready fighters assigned to the protection of
Washington DC did not do anything at all for amost one and a haf hours,
athough it was known that Flight 77 was heading toward DC. Even when
NORAD was, according to Gen. Eberhart, notified by the FAA at 9:24 of the
danger posed by Flight 77, rather than scrambling Andrews fighter craft 10
miles away from Washington DC, craft from more distant Langley Air Force
base were scrambled instead.

Indeed, Andrews Air Force Base houses two combat-ready squadrons
served by hundreds of full-time personnd: the 121st Fighter Squadron (FS-
121) of the 113th Fighter Wing (FW-113), equipped with F-16 fighters; and
the 321st Marine Fighter Attack Squadron (VMFA-321) of the 49th Marine
Air Group, Detachment A (MAG-49 Det-A), equipped with F/A-18 fighters.
According to the authoritative U.S. military information website, DC
Military:

“...as part of its dua mission, the 113th provides capable and ready

response forces for the District of Columbia in the event of a natura

disaster or civil emergency. Members also assist local and federal law
enforcement agencies in combating drug trafficking in the Digtrict of

Colombia. [They] are full partners with the active Air Force...In the

best tradition of the Marine Corps, a ‘few good men and women’

support two combat-ready reserve units at Andrews AFB. Marine

Fighter Attack Squadron (VMFA) 321, a Marine Corps Reserve

sguadron, flies the sophisticated F/A-18 Hornet. Marine Aviation

Logistics Squadron 49, Detachment A, provides maintenance and

supply functions necessary to maintain aforce in readiness.”**

In other words, Andrews Air Force Base, an “active’ facility, had at least
two “combat-ready” squadrons designated for “capable and ready response,”
whose task was to defend DC in the event of “a natural disaster or civil
emergency.” These squadrons provide “capable and ready response forces,”
to maintain a“force in readiness.”

These military terms congtitute official Air Force jargon, which entall
that fighter craft at Andrews are in a constant state of readiness to respond in
the event of a disaster or emergency. In other words, they are available to be
scrambled on emergencies. Other reports further show that Andrews aircraft
were available to be alerted and activated in response to the Pentagon attack.

The Sunday Telegraph observed that: “Within minutes of the attack
American forces around the world were put on one of their highest states of
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alert— Defcon 3, just two notches short of al-out war—and F-16s from
Andrews Air Force Base were in the air over Washington DC.”**°

The Denver Post similarly reported that:

“... an audible gasp went up from the rear of the audience as a large
black plume of smoke arose from the Pentagon. Terrorism suddenly
was at the doorstep and clearly visible through the big glass windows
overlooking the Potomac River. Overhead, fighter jets scrambled from
Andrews Air Force Base and other installations and cross-crossed the
skies...A thick plume of smoke was climbing out of the hollow center
of the Pentagon. Everyone on the train understood what had happened
moments before.”***

NBC smilarly clarified that Andrews aircraft were only scrambled after
the hijacked plane crashed into the Pentagon, and not at all before this time:
“It was after the attack on the Pentagon that the Air Force then decided to
scramble F-16s out of the DC National Guard Andrews Air Force Base to fly
cover, a protective cover over Washington, DC.”*** As Jared Israel pointedly
remarks. “The media should have demanded to know the truth about why
fighter jets assigned to protect Washington didn’'t scramble an hour before
the Pentagon was hit.” He asks:

“... since planes were flying into buildings, and since Washington, DC

was the city most likely to be the next target, why would planes be

scrambled all the way from Langley Air Force Base, 129 miles from

Washington, as late as 9:30? Why wouldn't they be scrambled from

Andrews Air Force Base, 10 miles from the Pentagon, at around 8:50,

when the military knew that a hijacked plane had hit the World Trade

Center?'3%

An Egyptian military-strategic analyst whose expertise is accredited by
both the U.S. Army and the British Ministry of Defence has asked a similar
question. Retired Mgjor Genera Dr. Mahmoud Khalaf—a Fellow at Egypt’s
Higher Military Academy, Member of the Roya College of Defence Studies
in London, Honorary Member of the Association of the United States Army
in Fort Benning (Georgia), and a participant in severa training courses with
the U.S. Army in the United States and Germany—comments:

“The first question [is related to] the air-defense system, the North
American aerospace defense command (NORAD). This system is a
very sophisticated system, and it is supposed to detect any airplane that
takes off...

One pilot did warn. He contacted the Federal Aviation Administration
(FAA), and indeed informed it that there was a hijacking, and the air-
defense command was informed. We have a surprising case here. The
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air base in Andrews: this air base, by the way, has its own defense
system around the base, which consists of two jet fighters (which can
scramble); they would be in the air within 2-3 minutes. The squadron
in Andrews received the dert in the same moment but did not fly? This
issue disappeared and nobody talked about it. This is noteworthy.”**

The officia U.S. government explanation of this dire failure to protect
Washington DC can be found in excerpts from an NBC press conference
with U.S. Vice-President Dick Cheney:

“Journalist Mr Russert: What's the most important decision you
think he [President Bush] made during the course of the day?

Dick Cheney: Wéll, the—I suppose the toughest decision was this
guestion of whether or not we would intercept incoming commercial
aircraft... We decided to do it. We'd, in effect, put a flying combat air
patrol up over the city; F16s with an AWACS, which is an airborne
radar system, and tanker support so they could stay up along time... It
doesn't do any good to put up a combat ar patrol if you don't give
them instructions to act, if, in fact, they feel it's appropriate.”®*

Cheney had clearly created the impression that the U.S. military required
Presidential authorisation to scramble fighter jets to intercept American
Airlines Flight 77 before it hit the Pentagon. He seems to have done so on the
basis of withessing actua discussions within the White House related to this
issue. He also avoided any discussion of the ominous failure to intercept this
flight. Both these actions on his part amounted to disinformation, intended or
unintended.

According to Air Force standard operating procedures, Presidential
approval is required only for shooting down a civilian aircraft. Therefore, the
idea that the interception of the incoming commercia aircraft by fighter
planes was “the toughest decision” to be made on Presidentia authority isin
contradiction to the rules recorded in FAA documents, which establish that
fighter jets routinely intercept commercial aircraft under designated
circumstances. White House approval is not required for these interceptions.

Contrary to what Cheney implied, and as documented here, fighter jet
interceptions of commercia aircraft are followed through automatically (and
on a mandatory basis) in emergencies, such as hijackings. The idea
inadvertently suggested by Cheney, apparently based on the occurrence of
White House discussions in which he was involved, is that the President had
somehow intervened in these routine rules, leading to their amost total
disruption.

Cheney’s testimonia on NBC implied that it was the President who
decided to dlow planes to scramble one and a haf hours too late, thus
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bearing principa responsibility for the sabotage of systems designed to
protect civilians. Cheney further suggested that interception of the
commercial flight automatically implied shooting it down. “It doesn’t do any
good to put up a combat air patrol if you don't give them instructions to act,
if, in fact, they fedl it's appropriate,” he stated.
“Journalist Mr Russert: So if the United States government became
aware that a hijacked commercial airline was destined for the White
House or the Capitol, we would take the plane down?

Dick Cheney:: Yes. The president made the decision... that if the plane
would not divert... as a last resort, our pilots were authorized to take
them out. Now, people say, you know, that’s a horrendous decision to
make. Well, it is. You've got an arplane full of American citizens,
civilians, captured by... terrorists, headed and are you going to, in fact,
shoot it down, obvioudly, and kill al those Americans on board?

..It's a presidentia-level decision, and the president made, | think,
exactly the right call in this case, to say, ‘| wished we'd had combat air
patrol up over New York. ”**®

The American Heritage Dictionary defines “intercept” as follows: “to
stop, deflect or interrupt the progress or intended course of.” Interception of a
plane is thus aimed a changing its course and does not in itsaf imply
violence. The question as to why no fighter craft were scrambled to intercept
Flight 77, as would happen in any routine emergency, thus remains as
pertinent as ever, since in this respect there was no burning issue of whether
or not a commercia plane should be shot down. Another question aso
remains—Why did no fighter craft scramble before the Pentagon was hit?

Cheney apparently deflected attention from this issue in the astonishing
assertion that: “It doesn’'t do any good to put up a combat air patrol if you
don’'t give them instructions to act, if, in fact, they fed it's appropriate.”
Here, Cheney claimed not only that White House approval is necessary to
consider whether or not the routine scrambling of fighters should occur—
when in fact such scrambling takes place automatically, according to clear
FAA rules—but that this was because detailed instructions are needed from
White House as to what the craft should perform. Otherwise, Cheney
asserted, there is no point in putting up “combat air patrol.”

Cheney thus seemed to inadvertently admit that the White House Cabinet
was responsible for the failure of combat air patrol to scramble, and thus
responsible for the violation of Standard Operating Procedures. It is worth
emphasising that Cheney’s statements indicate that his understanding of the
President’s role in determining the response of the U.S. Air Force appears to
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be based on his direct experience of the decision-making process that
occurred among members of his Cabinet.

Evaluating such evidence Jared Isragl observes:

“Mr. Cheney’s implicit argument—that there is no point in sending up
an escort unless the pilot has clearance to shoot down a commercid
jet—is absurd. Why would such a decision have to be made in advance
of scrambling the escort? Even if an airliner has been taken over by a
terrorist with a suicide mission, how could Mr. Cheney, Mr. Bush or
anyone else other than God Himsdlf possibly predict how the hijacker
would respond to an intercept by military jets? Even if a hijacker were
ready to die for the glory of crashing into the Pentagon, does that mean
he would aso be ready to die for the glory of ignoring a military pilot's
order to land? So even if the military had no authority to shoot down
Flight 77, why not send up escort planes? Isn't that in fact how police
and the military routinely handle hijack situations—by mobilizing a
potentially overwhelming force in the hope of getting the hijacker to
surrender?’®*’

The question that thus remains is, why did no fighter craft scramble for
interception between when Hight 77 was hijacked (between 8:50 and 8:55
AM) and the time the plane smashed into the Pentagon (very close to 9:41
am.)? Why were routine emergency response rules violated for so long and
S0 consistently?

A recap of the events of 11" September only exacerbates these concerns.
For 35 minutes, from 8:15 am. until 9:05 am., it was widely known within
both the FAA and the U.S. military that planes had been hijacked and had
subsequently deviated off their designated flight paths. Despite this, it was
not until after Flight 77 smashed into the Pentagon at around 9:40 am. that
any Washington-based Air Force planes were scrambled to intercept. And
according to initia reports, no planes at al were scrambled throughout the
U.S. until thistime.

In other words, the Nationa Command Authority did virtually nothing
for as long as 95 minutes, in systematic violation of its own rules and
instructions for dealing with such sStuations, despite the fact that local
‘combeat ready’ aircraft were available to be scrambled. Astonishingly, it was
after over one whole hour and thirty-five minutes—involving three crashes
of aircraft into key U.S buildings—that U.S. fighter planes from Andrews
finaly scrambled and flew over Washington DC. It is noteworthy that thisis
the first time in history that such a failure has occurred—air authorities
respond to problems and emergencies amost immediately on a routine
baS-SSBS
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Flight 93

The travesty did not end there, but continued with the fourth plane,
United Airlines Flight 93. Director of the U.S. Air National Guard, Mgjor
Genera Paul Weaver, stated that: “[n]o Air National Guard or other military
planes were scrambled to chase the fourth hijacked airliner, United Airlines
Flight 93.”%% This is even more astonishing. Three hijacked commercial
planes had already crashed consecutively into the World Trade Center and
the Pentagon, yet no military craft were scrambled to at least intercept the
fourth hijacked plane—a plane which crashed in Pennsylvania ailmost an
hour and a half after the first Tower was hit.

Downplaying the dire implications of the utter absence of interceptors
being scrambled in accordance with compulsory FAA and Department of
Defense rules, U.S. Deputy Defense Secretary Paul Wolfowitz stated that:
“[T]he Air Force was tracking the hijacked plane that crashed in
Pennsylvania on Tuesday after other airliners dammed into the Pentagon and
World Trade Center and had been in a postion to bring it down if

n 340

necessary.

Wolfowitz also explained that: “any military intervention would have
ultimately been the decision of President George W. Bush.”®**' But this
obscured the facts. The Air Force should have immediately scrambled
military craft to intercept the plane, yet the Director of the Air Nationa
Guard confirmed that no planes at al were scrambled—in violation of the
Guard' s own rules governing methods of emergency response.

Theissue is not whether the Air Force was monitoring Flight 93, which it
certainly should and would have been, but why the mandatory procedure of
scrambling fighter jetsto at least intercept the plane was not followed. As the
New York Press commented increduloudy: “So why was it not brought
down? Or at the very least intercepted? Three key buildings had been
attacked. And there is still no emergency!”**

An Overview of the Collapse of SOP on 9-11

U.S. military expert Stan Goff has summarised the sequence of events
well. Goff is a 26-year U.S. military veteran. A retired U.S. Army Specid
Forces Master Sergeant who was tactics instructor at the U.S. Army’s Jungle
Operations Training Center in Panama, Goff taught Military Science and
Doctrine at the U.S. Military Academy at West Point, and was involved in
operations in eight designated conflict areas from Vietnam to Haiti. He
observes:
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“I have no idea why people aren’t asking some very specific questions
about the actions of Bush and company on the day of the attacks...

Four planes get hijacked and deviate from their flight plans, al the
while on FAA radar. The planes are al hijacked between 7:45 and 8:10
AM Eastern Daylight Time. Who is notified? This is an event aready
that is unprecedented. But the President is not notified and going to a
Florida e ementary school to hear children read.

By around 8:15 AM, it should be very apparent that something is
terribly wrong. The President is glad-handing teachers. By 8:45, when
American Airlines Flight 11 crashes into the World Trade Center, Bush
is settling in with children for his photo ops a Booker Elementary.
Four planes have obviously been hijacked simultaneoudy, an event
never before seen in history, and one has just dived into the worlds best
know twin towers, and still no one natifies the nominad Commander in
Chief.

No one has apparently scrambled any Air Force interceptors either. At
9:03, United Flight 175 crashes into the remaining World Trade Center
building. At 9:05, Andrew Card, the Presidential Chief of Staff
whispers to George W. Bush. Bush ‘briefly turns somber’ according to
reporters. Does he cancel the school visit and convene an emergency
meeting? No. He resumes listening to second graders... and continues
this bandity even as American Airlines Flight 77 conducts an
unscheduled point turn over Ohio and heads in the direction of
Washington DC.

Has he ingtructed Chief of Staff Card to scramble the Air Force? No.
An excruciating 25 minutes later, he finally deigns to give a public
statement telling the United States what they aready have figured out;
that there's been an attack by hijacked planes on the World Trade
Center. There's a hijacked plane beelining to Washington, but has the
Air Force been scrambled to defend anything yet? No.

At 9:30, when he makes his announcement, American Flight 77 is still
ten minutes from its target, the Pentagon. The Administration will later
claim they had no way of knowing that the Pentagon might be a target,
and that they thought Flight 77 was headed to the White House, but the
fact is that the plane has aready flown South and past the White House
no-fly zone, and is in fact tearing through the sky at over 400 nauts.

At 9:35, this plane conducts another turn, 360 degrees over the
Pentagon, all the while being tracked by radar, and the Pentagon is not
evacuated, and there are still no fast-movers from the Air Force in the
sky over Alexandria and DC. Now, the rea kicker: A pilot they want
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us to believe was trained at a Florida puddle-jumper school for Piper
Cubs and Cessnas, conducts a well-controlled downward spiral,
descending the last 7,000 feet in two-and-a-half minutes, brings the
planein so low and flat that it clips the electrical wires across the street
from the Pentagon, and flies it with pinpoint accuracy into the side of
this building at 460 nauts.

When the theory about learning to fly this well at the puddle-jumper
school began to lose ground, it was added that they received further
training on a flight smulator. This is like saying you prepared your
teenager for her first drive on 1-40 at rush hour by buying her a video
driving game... There is a story being constructed about these
events.”**

Stan Goff’s observations are very important, and should be duly noted.
He testifies that, in his opinion as a U.S. military expert, the official version
of events is not the redlity, but rather a “story being constructed” by the
government. He bases this conclusion on his in-depth understanding of the
procedures and capabilities of the U.S. military.

The question that then remains is this: what is the government attempting
to deflect attention from, by the construction of fase “stories’? As this
analysis has demonstrated with certainty, at every step during the escalating
crisis on 11" September, clear rules governing the emergency response of
U.S. air authorities were systematically broken. The New York Press rightly
concludes:

“Passenger jet hijackings are not uncommon and the U.S. government
has prepared detailed plans to handle them. On Sept. 11 these plans
were ignored in their entirety... Here are the FAA regulations
concerning hijackings. ‘The FAA hijack coordinator...on duty at
Washington headquarters will request the military to provide an escort
arcraft for a confirmed hijacked aircraft... The escort service will be
requested by the FAA hijack coordinator by direct contact with the

National Military Command Center (NMCC).” Here are the

instructions issued by the Chairman of the Joint Chiefs of Staff on June

1, 2001: ‘In the event of a hijacking, the NMCC will be notified by the

most expeditious means by the FAA. The NMCC will...forward

requests for DOD assstance to the Secretary of Defense for
approval.’... The U.S. is supposed to scramble military aircraft the
moment a hijacking is confirmed.”***

But the repeated testimony of the Chairman of the Joint Chiefs of Staff,
the Vice-Presdent and NORAD spokesmen confirms that no planes at al
were scrambled until after the Pentagon attack. The next crucia question is
then: why were these rules, normally adhered to with such routine, suddenly
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violated on 11" September—especialy considering the extensive advance
warnings of the attacks that were received by the U.S. military intelligence
community?

What occurred on this tragic day was clearly just the sort of emergency
that air authorities are fully trained, instructed, experienced, ready and
avallable to ded with. Yet, dthough four planes were simultaneoudly
hijacked, air authorities did amost nothing about it—in violation of the
mandatory rules of response.

It is also an integral aspect of these rules that emergencies are passed on
to NORAD and the National Command in the Pentagon, which, if necessary,
are backed by government officias in the Department of Defense and other
key U.S. leaders with military authority. It is their fundamental duty to
monitor and oversee the process of responding to such emergencies.
Therefore, these agencies bear ultimate responsbility for violation of the
basic ingtructions, which were designed to deter crises and save lives in
emergency situations.

It should aso be noted that, on analysis of the official version of events,
the FAA faled to contact the military in accordance with standard
procedures (the military subsequently also failed to respond in accordance
with standard procedures). It aso appears that the FAA had “open lines’ with
the U.S. Secret Service—at least as soon as the first WTC Tower was hit.>*°
This suggests that the Secret Service, which was thereafter in constant
contact with the FAA, was aware of, and involved in the situation. Therefore,
the Secret Service bears additiona responsibility for the latter’s violations of
procedure.

Indeed, it is worth noting the observations of Anatoli Kornukov, the
Commander-in-Chief of the Russian Air Force—which of course is closaly
collaborating with the United States in the ‘war on terror’—on the officia
line of the U.S. government. The Russian current affairs periodical Pravda
Online reported:

“‘Generdly it isimpossible to carry out an act of terror on the scenario
which was used in the USA yesterday.’ This was said by the
commander-in-chief of the Russian Air Force, Anatoli Kornukov. ‘We
had such facts [i.e, events or incidents] too,’ said the genera
straightforwardly. Kornukov did not specify what happened in Russia
and when and to what extent it resembled the events in the US. He did
not advise what was the end of air terrorists attempts either. But the
fact the genera said that means a lot. As it turns out the way the
terrorists acted in America is not unique. The notification and control
system for the air transport in Russia does not alow uncontrolled
flights and leads to immediate reaction of the anti-missile defense,
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Kornukov said. ‘As soon as something like that happens here, | am
reported about that right away and in a minute we are al up,” said the
general.”346

It is, of course, well known that the U.S. Air Force is far superior to
Russa’'s. There are few reasonable inferences one can draw from this
analysis. Attempting to explain the absolute negligence of the Air Force on
11™ September by aluding to the novelty of the threat, alegedly leading to
mistakes as a result of tactical surprise, fails to account for the fact that
established procedures are in place to anticipate such threats. As already
noted, for instance, there is a manual governing emergency response rules for
hijackings. The question that then remains is why Standard Operating
Procedures (SOP) were not followed, and in this context, who ensured that
SOP was not followed, and for what purpose?

Myersand Bush on 9-11:
Negligence Pointsto Complicity

An inkling of an answer to this question may be found in the shocking
inaction of Genera Richard B. Myers, and of President George W. Bush Jr.,
on 11" September. According to the Washington Post, former NORAD
Commander Gen. Richard B. Myers “was deeply involved in the military’s
response [on 11" September] this week from the outset.”**’

That morning, the New York Press reports, the Chairman of the Joint
Chiefs of Staff, Gen. Myers, was having a routine meeting on Capitol Hill
with Senator Max Cleland.**® According to the American Forces Press
Service (AFPS), just before the meeting began: “While in an outer office, he
said, he saw a television report that a plane had hit the World Trade Center.
‘They thought it was a small plane or something like that,” Myers said. So
the two men went ahead with the office call.”>*°

In other words, having been notified of an unprecedented emergency in
New York, with a plane for the first time in history ploughing into the World
Trade Center, the response of these two officials, and specifically of Gen.
Myers, who has specific responsibility to oversee the military response to
such emergencies, was to ignore it. This constituted a direct and apparently
quite deliberate negligence of his military duty during this obvioudy
unprecedented crisis. While Myers and Cleland chatted away, a “hijacked jet
plowed into the World Trade Center’s north tower, another one plowed into
the south tower and a third one into the Pentagon. And till they went on with
their meeting.”**° The AFPS further noted in this connection that:

“Meanwhile, the second World Trade Center tower was hit by another
jet. “Nobody informed us of that, Myers said. ‘But when we came out,
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that was obvious. Then, right at that time, somebody said the Pentagon
had been hit.’

Somebody thrust a cell phone in Myers hand. Gen. Ralph Eberhart,
commander of U.S. Space Command and the North American
Aerospace Defense Command [NORAD] was on the other end of the
line ‘talking about what was happening and the actions he was going to
take. "%

In his testimony before the Senate Armed Services Committee, Myers
additionally confirmed that the decision to scramble fighter craft was made
during his conversation with the current Commander of NORAD, Gen.
Eberhart: “1 spoke to the commander of NORAD, General Eberhart. And at
that point, | think the decision was at that point to start launching aircraft.”
This statement is particularly damning given that in the same testimony,
Myers aso confirmed that the Pentagon had been overseeing the crisis at
least as soon as the first of the Twin Towers was hit:

“Senator Levin: The time that we don't have is when the Pentagon
was notified, if they were, by the FAA or the FBI or any other agency,
relative to any potentia threat or any planes having changed direction
or anything like that. And that's the same which you will give us
because that's...

Myers: | can answer that. At the time of the first impact on the World
Trade Center, we stood up our crisis action team. That was done
immediately. So we stood it up. And we started talking to the federal
agencies. The time | do not know is when NORAD responded with
fighter aircraft. | don't know that time.” %%

These reports indicate, apart from Myers utter indifference to
notification of an air attack on the WTC, and corroborating what has been
discussed above, that the U.S. military had been monitoring the crisis at least
as soon as the first tower had been hit. Yet Myers aso tedtified that the
military only began to consider actions to be taken in response to the attacks,
after the Pentagon was hit. The Acting Chairman of the Joint Chiefs Myers
was apparently contacted by NORAD Commander Gen. Eberhart about “the
actions he was going to take,” after three hijacked civilian planes had already
hit the World Trade Center and the Pentagon, at which time it was finaly
decided between them to scramble aircraft.

This suggests that both Air Force Gen. Myers and Gen. Eberhart
knowingly violated mandatory standard emergency response procedures by
considering a response to the hijackings amost one and a half hours later
than they should have. Indeed, aircraft should have been scrambled
immediately and automatically, as soon as the hijackings were confirmed—
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indeed, as soon as the planes had deviated from their flight paths, and
communication between them and air control was blocked.

Routine procedures dictate that high-level military approval is required
only for special measures and after fighter craft have already scrambled. Y et,
it appears that both Myers and Eberhart waited until after the Pentagon was
attacked before allowing fighter craft to be scrambled. It is aso worth noting
that Senator Max Cleland, Chairman of the Personnel Subcommittee of the
Armed Services Committee and member of the Senate Governmental Affairs
Committee, was aso involved in this astonishing process of indifference—he
was fully aware of the unfolding crisis, yet like Myers, was quite unmoved.

George Bush Jr.’s response illustrated a similar indifference. The New
York Press continues to note that meanwhile, in Florida, “just as President
Bush was about to leave his hotel he was told about the attack on the first
WTC tower. He was asked by a reporter if he knew what was going on in
New York.” ABC News has confirmed this. John Cochran, who was
covering the President's trip, informed Peter Jenningson ABC TV

“He [the President] got out of his hotel suite this morning, was about to
leave, reporters saw the White House chief of staff, Andy Card,
whisper into his ear. The reporter said to the president, ‘Do you know
what's going on in New York? He said he did, and he said he will
have something abouit it [i.e. a statement] later.”**

Asthe Press reports, “He said he did, and then went to an elementary
school in Sarasota to read to children.”*>* Another statement from Vice-
President Cheney provides further insight into this. “The Secret Service has
an arrangement with the FAA. They had open lines after the World Trade
Center was...” Cheney never finished his sentence, but it is obvious that he
had meant to say something along the lines of “hit.”*® It is aso well known
that, as respected Canadian media critic Barry Zwicker points out:

“The (president of the United States)... travels with an entire staff...
(including) the Secret Service, which is responsible for his safety. The
members of this support team have the best communications
equipment in the world. They maintain contact with, or can essly
reach, Bush's cabinet, the national Military Command Center in the
Pentagon, the (FAA)...”

But Zwicker also reports that: “By 8:20, according to its own officia
report, the Federd Aviation Authority, the FAA, is fully aware of the
unprecedented emergency in the skies.” The implications are duly noted by
Zwicker as follows. “In other words, around 8:46 at the absolute latest the
Secret Service and the President would have known of al four hijacked
airliners and that one had hit the World Trade Center.”*®
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Y et only the President, Commander-in-Chief of the U.S. military, had the
authority to order the shooting down of a civilian airliner. Additionaly, the
U.S. military command and Department of Defense—of which Air Force
Generd Myers is a leading figure as Chairman of the Joint Chiefs—are
integrally involved in responding and/or approving various measures once
planes are scrambled.

But rather than immediately holding an emergency meeting on the
Stuation to consider specia instructions for interceptors, Bush continued to
the elementary school where he went on to read to children. The sheer
indifference of both Myers and Bush at a time when they carried, among
other U.S. government and military officias, responsibility for the country’s
security is both astonishing and revealing: indicative of a scale of negligence
amounting to effective complicity .

If these individuals had acted sooner, they might have averted the later
attacks on the World Trade Center and the Pentagon, saving thousands of
lives. Yet by refusing to respond in any way at dl to the attacks, and by
ddiberately continuing with their comparatively mundane activities, they
shirked their specific duties to the American people, thereby playing their
own role in ensuring that the attacks went ahead unhindered.

The negligence displayed by President Bush indicates a wider,
systematic negligence amongst the U.S. Secret Service and military
command. Despite his own critical responsibility as Commander-in-Chief,
with the sole authority to shoot down a civilian airplane, the President was
able to continue on his way to the elementary school in Sarasota, without any
apparent protest or advice from the Secret Service and military, which should
have called him for an emergency meeting immediately after the first WTC
attack occurred.

This broad circle of systematic, top-level U.S. military negligence,
despite knowledge of the WTC attack and further impending attacks, since
the flight paths of the other planes and their consequent destinations were
being monitored by the Pentagon, suggests their complicity through a
deliberate, orchestrated failure to act.

Moreover, the damning implications of this sequence of events smply
cannot be understood without considering that Standard Operating
Procedures (SOP) were completely and inexplicably dropped on 11"
September—something that had never occurred before. The question then
remains as to who was responsible for ensuring that routine emergency
response rules were not adhered to, and why.
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In the opinion of this author, the total lack of interest on the part of the
Bush administration in the answer to this question, so as to locate the roots of
the collapse of SOP on 11" September, incriminates them further.

Jared Israel’s conclusions in his work, as featured by the New York
Press, are disconcerting, but constitute an explanation that follows logically
from an analysis of the available data concerning the terrible events of 11™
September:

“Some of what happened on 9-11, such as planes flying into buildings,
is unusual. But most of what happened, such as commercia jets flying
off-course, transponder failures and possible hijackings, are common
emergencies... [T]hese emergencies are routinely handled with expert
efficiency based on clear rules...

U.S. air safety and air defense emergency systems are activated in
response to problems every day. On 9-11 they failed despite, not
because of, the extreme nature of the emergency. This could only
happen if individuals in high positions worked in a coordinated way to
make them fail.”

It is concelvable that this sort of coordinated, high-level collapse could
occur—either through deliberate intent on the part of these individuals to
cause emergency systems to fail, or through systematic, unintentiona
incompetence—reaching to the highest levels of the U.S. military command.
The latter is an extremely implausible scenario, because if such systematic,
unintentional incompetence could occur simultaneoudly at such high levels, it
would have to be the consequence of a grotesque degree of institutiona
incompetence throughout the emergency response services of the FAA,
NORAD, the U.S. Air Force, and other relevant institutions.

If this was the case, however, then evidence of institutiona
incompetence within these emergency response services should have
frequently surfaced during previous responses to routine emergencies,
possible hijackings, and so on. There is no such evidence.

As lgrael rightly pointed out, “commercia jets flying off-course,
trangponder failures and possible hijackings, are common emergencies...
[T]hese emergencies are routindly handled with expert efficiency based on
clear rules.”

Israel further argues in relation to the coordinated collapse of emergency
response systems on 11" September: “Such operatives would almost surely
have faled if they tried to disrupt and abort routine protection systems
without top-level support. The failure of the emergency systems would be
noticed immediately.” This would be the case whether these operatives had

acted out of intent to cause a collapse, or out of mere incompetence.
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“Moreover, given the catastrophic nature of the attacks, the highest
military authorities would be alerted. Acting on their own, the operatives
could expect that their orders would be countermanded and that they
themselves would be arrested [or dealt with in an otherwise appropriate
manner].”

Thus, Israel concludes. “The sabotage of routine protective systems,
controlled by dtrict hierarchies, would never have been contemplated let
alone attempted absent the involvement of the supreme U.S. military
command.”

“This includes at least U.S. President George Bush, U.S. Secretary of
Defense Dondd Rumsfeld and the then-Acting Head of the Joint
Chiefs of Staff, Air Force Genera Richard B. Myers. [This
demonstrates] probable cause for charging the above-named persons
with treason for complicity in the murders of thousands of people
whom they had sworn to protect.”*’

Award-winning Canadian journalist and media analyst Barry Zwicker—
former correspondent for the Toronto Sun and the Globe and Mail, and
currently a media critic on CBC-TV, CTV's Newsl, and Vison TV—boldly
dissects the official line:

“Throughout the northeastern United States are many air bases. But
that morning no interceptors respond in a timely fashion to the highest
dert stuation. This includes the Andrews squadrons which have the
longest lead time and are 12 miles from the White house.

Whatever the explanation for the huge failure, there have been no
reports, to my knowledge, of reprimands. This further weakens the
‘Incompetence Theory.” Incompetence usualy earns reprimands. This
causes me to ask—and other media need to ask—if there were ‘stand

down’ orders.”**®

Elaborating on this in a media commentary for Vison TV, Zwicker
concludes:

“The multiple hijackings are unprecedented. The first occurs at 7:45 in

the morning. It's a full hour before the first plane hits the World Trade

Center. But it's an hour and 20 minutes—and after the second plane

hits—that the President allegedly becomes informed. Think about that.

Then, he gives no orders. Why? He continues to listen to a student talk

about her pet goat. Why?

It's another 25 minutes until he makes a statement, even as flight 77 is
making a bee-line for Washington, DC. In the dmost two hours of the
total drama not a single U.S. Air Force interceptor turns a wheel until
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it's too late. Why? Was it total incompetence on the part of aircrews
trained and equipped to scramble in minutes?

Wéll, unlike the U.S. Air Force, I'll cut to the chase. Simply to ask
these few questions is to find the official narrative frankly implausible.
The more questions you pursue, it becomes more plausible that there's
a different explanation: namely, that eements within the top U.S.
military, intelligence and politica leadership—which are closely
intertwined—are complicit in what happened on September the
11th.”%*°

This conclusion is supported by the behaviour of President Bush, Gen.
Myers, Gen. Eberhart, as well as other U.S. officids around them, while
planes manned by Al-Qaeda terrorists were ploughing successively into the
World Trade Center and Pentagon. In light of what appears to be their
studious indifference to the attacks while they occurred, despite their
responsibility for the nation’s security and their critical role in decisons
relating to the behaviour of the Air Force, Isragl’s inferences, like Zwicker’s,
become only more pertinent. Indeed, the astonishing responses of Bush and
Myers should be understood in context with the revelations contained in this
previoudy discussed statement of U.S. Vice-President Dick Cheney:

“... the toughest decision was this question of whether or not we would
intercept incoming commercial aircraft...

We decided to do it. We'd, in effect, put a flying combat air patrol up
over the city; F-16s with an AWACS, which is an arborne radar
system, and tanker support so they could stay up a long time... It
doesn't do any good to put up a combat air patrol if you don't give
them ingtructions to act, if, in fact, they fed it's appropriate... It's a
presidential-level decision, and the president made, | think, exactly the
right call in this case, to say, ‘| wished we'd had combat air patrol up
over New York.’ "%

These observations place the testimony of Myers in context. What is
indisputably clear from Cheney’s testimonials on NBC's ‘Meet the Press; is
that there were certain discussions among the nation’ s top decision-makersin
the White House, including the President, which fundamentally determined
the response of the U.S. Air Force on 11" September 2001. Cheney confirms
this on the basis of what appears to be his direct experience of, and
participation in, these discussions.

Cheney stated that the entire issue of scrambling planes for interception
on 11" September was a “presidentia-level decision.” Cheney also explicitly
indicated that the decision to scramble planes was discussed by members of
the White House Cabinet, who eventualy “decided to do it” with Presidentia



5. The Collapse of Sandard Operating Procedures on 9-11 171

authorisation. This is highly significant, in that it places direct responsibility
for the behaviour of the U.S. Air Force on 11" September on the President
and his Cabinet.

Furthermore, according to Cheney, the critical decision that was issued
by leading members of the Cabinet, with Presidential authorisation, resulted
in planes being scrambled over New Y ork— nearly one and a half hours later
than what is required by FAA and Department of Defense manuals.

This is aso highly significant, in that it indicates that the failure of the
U.S. Air Force to immediately scramble planes, in violation of mandatory
standard procedures, was the direct result of a high-level White House
decision. At face value then, Cheney’s testimony suggests that the blame for
the obstruction of mandatory standard procedures lies squarely on the
President and members of his Cabinet.

Placing this in context with our above discussion, it thus appears that
NORAD’s decision to scramble fighter craft, following Gen. Eberhart’'s
consultation with Gen. Myers and after the Pentagon attacks (as opposed to
immediately), was the ultimate consequence of a Presidential-level decision
from within the White House.

In the opinion of this author, this strongly suggests that significant, high-
level elements of the U.S. military and the Bush administration bear direct
responsibility for the terrorist acts that occurred on 11™ September on U.S.
soil, through what appears to be a combination of deliberate action and
inaction.

The facts on record weigh strongly in favour of this conclusion,
providing reasonable grounds to believe that these officials were complicit in
the 11" September atacks, through the active obstruction of routine
protective systems, which are designed to automatically deflect the type of
emergencies that occurred on 11" September. This appears to have been
maintained through the orchestrated prolongation (for up to one and a half
hours) of systematic negligence as the attacks occurred, on the part of
elements of the FAA, NORAD, the Pentagon, the Secret Service, the White
House and the President—despite the clear danger they presented.

Of course, outside of a full-blown independent investigation, it is
impossible to provide a conclusive anaysis, and one cannot pretend that the
documentation gathered here suffices as final proof of these conclusions. A
further inquiry is therefore essentia, to fully understand the events of 11"
September, in the context of the lack of a response by the U.S. Air Force.
Nevertheless, pending such an inquiry and its findings, it is the opinion of
this author that the inferences made here best explain the documentation
presented.
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6. American Tieswith the Most Wanted M an
on Earth

“[1t is] awidely circulated but incorrect notion that the CIA once had
arelationship with Osama bin Laden. For the record, you should
know that the CIA never employed, paid, or maintained any
relationship whatsoever with bin Laden.”

CIA spokeswoman
(Ananova, 31 October 2001)

The official line of the U.S. government is that Osama bin Laden and his
Al-Qaeda network came to power and operate independently of the United
States. Accordingly, this view has now become established dogma—Osama
bin Laden himself is an outcast from his own family due to his extremist
view and actions, while the Saudi establishment with whom he was once
close is aso vehemently opposed to his activities. This is a dogma that is
officialy adopted by the White House and, moreover, uncriticaly
accepted—even by purported critics of U.S. palicy.

There is, however, abundant evidence that — contrary to the public
professions of U.S. officias, Saudi officials, members of the bin Laden
family, and even Osama bin Laden himself — Osama continues to maintain
relations with his family, rooted in long-standing business activities. There is
also considerable evidence that bin Laden maintains long-standing ties with
the Saudi establishment. “Bin Laden family members have said they are
estranged from their brother, who turned against the Saudi government after
joining Mudim fighters following the Soviet Union's 1979 invasion of
Afghanistan,” reported U.S. correspondent Sig Christenson.®®* Yet, the
documentary record contradicts this version of events to a significant extent.
The redlity of the matter isfar more complex.

Osama bin Laden and the CIA: Cold War Allies

Osama bin Laden’s father, Sheikh Muhammad bin Laden, was founder
of the formidable bin Laden construction dynasty, which soon became
“legendary in Arab construction, in the Saudi kingdom, the Gulf emirate of
Ras a-Khamah and in Jordan, for magor road, arport and other
infrastructure projects,” according to ABC News correspondent and Middle
East specidist John K. Cooley.
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“The firm attracted engineering talent from all over the world and
rapidly amassed a huge fortune...

By the time Sheikh Muhammad killed himself by crashing his own
arcraft in 1966, the bin Laden conglomerate of companies was the
biggest private contractor of its kind in the world... [B]y the late
1970s, one of Sheikh Muhammad's young sons, Usama, was running
much of the business. Under his guidance, the group maintained its
reputation for professona excellence and ‘can do’ spirit in large
projects. Usama bin Laden’s inherited share of the family fortune was
soon augmented by huge earnings.”**

Ahmed Rashid noted in the Pittsburgh Post-Gazette that Osama bin
Laden’s involvement in the U.S.-backed Afghan resistance against Soviet
occupation was fully supported by his family: “[His family] backed the
Afghan struggle and helped fund it; when Osama bin Laden decided to join
the non-Afghan fighters with the Mujaheddin, his family responded
enthusiastically.”**

So did the United States. Cooley reports that Osama bin Laden's
activities in Afghanistan occurred “with the full approval of the Saudi regime
and the CIA.”*** Under contract with the CIA, he and the family company
built the multi-billion dollar caves in which he has apparently been hiding:

“He brought in engineers from his father's company and heavy
construction equipment to build roads and warehouses for the
Mujaheddin. In 1986, he helped build a CIA-financed tunnel complex,
to serve as a mgjor arms storage depot, training facility and medical
center for the Mujaheddin, deep under the mountains close to the

Pakistan border.”%
Cooley points out further that:

“Through his own persona reputation as a pious Mudim who favored
the cause of Wahabi Idamism, and through involvement of the bin
Laden companies in construction and renovation at the holy shrines of
Mecca and Medina, he seemed to both Saudi intelligence and the CIA
an ideal choice for the leading role he began to play. Bin Laden began
to pay, with his own company and funds, for recruitment,
transportation and training of the Arab volunteers who flocked, first to
Peshawar, and to Afghanistan... By 1985 bin Laden had collected
enough millions from his family and company weslth... to organize a-
Qaida.”*®

“Delighted by his impeccable Saudi credentials,” records Cooley, “the
CIA gave Usama free rein in Afghanistan, as did Pakistan's intelligence
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generals.”®®’ Former head of the U.S. Visa Bureau in Jeddah, Michael
Springmann, further testified as to how the U.S. supported these efforts:

“In Saudi Arabia | was repeatedly ordered by high level State Dept
officias to issue visas to unqualified applicants...

These were, essentially, people who had no ties either to Saudi Arabia
or to their own country. | complained bitterly at the time there. |
returned to the U.S., | complained to the State Department here, to the
Genera Accounting Office, to the Bureau of Diplomatic Security and
to the Inspector General’s office. | was met with silence. What | was
protesting was, in redlity, an effort to bring recruits, rounded up by
Osama Bin Laden, to the U.S. for terrorist training by the CIA. They
would then be returned to Afghanistan to fight against the then-Soviets.
The attack on the World Trade Center in 1993 did not shake the State
Department’s faith in the Saudis, nor did the attack on American
barracks at Khobar Towers in Saudi Arabia three years later, in which
19 Americans died. FBI agents began to fed their investigation was
being obstructed. Would you be surprised to find out that FBI agents
are a bit frustrated that they can't be looking into some Saudi
connections?’ %%

Bin Laden’s affiliations to the family business did not end there. “After
the Soviet withdrawal in 1989 bin Laden returned for a short period to Saudi
Arabia to tend to the family construction business at its Jeddah head
office.”*®® Even after the 1989-91 period, when Saudi security held on to bin
Laden’s passport, supposedly “hoping to prevent or at least discourage his
contact with extremists he had worked with... during the Afghan jihad,” he
had considerable influence in Saudi roya circles: “After Irag's invasion of
Kuwait he lobbied the Saudi royd family to organize civil defense in the
kingdom and to raise a force from among the Afghan war veterans to fight

||’a.q.”370
Osama: Not a Black Sheep

Since then, there is good reason to doubt officia claims that Osama bin
Laden is now an outcast, a “black sheep,” from his family due to his
extremist views and activities. As dready noted, his family was quite
“enthusiastic” about Osama's involvement in the “Afghan jihad” against the
Soviets during the 1980s.

Additiondly, the entire family is well-known for its adherence to the
extreme Wahabi interpretation of Idam: “His father is known in these areas
as a man with deeply conservative religious and political views and for his
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profound distaste for non-1samic influences that have penetrated some of the
most remote corners of old Arabia.”*"*

Moreover, the origins of the bin Laden family make it highly unlikely
that this sort of break would occur between its members.

“Though he grew up in the Saudi Arabian city of Jiddah, about 700
miles away across the Arabian peninsula, those who know him say he
retains the characteristics of the people of this remote Yemeni region:
extremely clannish and intensely conservative in their adherence to
grict forms of Islam.”®"

Credible reports further indicate that, in fact, such a clean break between
Osama bin Laden and his family has never occurred, and that the Al-Qaeda
leader still maintains close relations with his family. For instance, U.S.
national security expert James Bamford cites declassified documents, newly
released under the Freedom of Information Act, illustrating that: “In recent
years, NSA has regularly listened to bin Laden’s unencrypted telephone
cals. [National Security] Agency officials have sometimes played tapes of
bin Laden talking to his mother to impress members of Congress and select
visitors to the agency.”>"

In 1998, another report noted that although members of Osama's family
publicly disown him: “[FBI agent] Y ossef Bodansky, director of the House
Task Force on Terrorism and Unconventiond Warfare, said ‘Osama
maintains connections with some of his nearly two dozen brothers. He
would not elaborate.”*"

Washington DC’s public interest law firm, Judicial Watch, observes that:
“Other reports have questioned whether members of his Saudi family have
truly cut off Osama bin Laden. Osama's sister-in-law, in a recent interview
with ABC News, said that she believed that members of her family till
supported bin Laden.”*"

The French daily Le Figaro reported that: “While he was hospitalised
[in the American Hospital in Dubal in July 2001], bin Laden received visits
from many members of his family as well as prominent Saudis and
Emirates.”®’°

Bush and Bin Laden Family Ties

So while there is compelling evidence that Osama bin Laden has not
broken away from his family, it is also a matter of record that the Bush
administration is in turn very significantly tied to the same family. Reports
have emerged that Carlyle Group, the giant U.S. defence contractor that
employs former President George W. Bush Sr., has had long-standing
financia tiesto the bin Laden family.



The War on Freedom

The Carlyle Group’s investments include ownership in a least 164

companies worldwide. As a leading defence contractor, Carlyle has profited
immensely from the war on Afghanistan and the corresponding militarisation
of U.S. foreign policy. The Wall Street Journal records that:

“If the U.S. boosts defense spending in its quest to stop Osama bin
Laden's aleged terrorist activities, there may be one unexpected
beneficiary: Mr. bin Laden’s family...

Among its far-flung business interests, the well-heeled Saudi Arabian
clan—which says it is estranged from Osama—is an investor in a fund
established by Carlyle Group, a well-connected Washington merchant
bank speciaizing in buyouts of defense and aerospace companies.
Through this investment and its ties to Saudi royalty, the bin Laden
family has become acquainted with some of the biggest names in the
Republican Party. In recent years, former President Bush, ex-Secretary
of State James Baker and ex-Secretary of Defense Frank Carlucci have
made the pilgrimage to the bin Laden family’s headquarters in Jeddah,
Saudi Arabia. Mr. Bush makes speeches on behalf of Carlyle Group
and is senior adviser to its Asian Partners fund, while Mr. Baker isits
senior counselor. Mr. Carlucci is the group’s chairman. Osama is one
of more than 50 children of Mohammed bin Laden, who built the
family’'s $5 hillion business, Saudi Binladin Group, largely with
construction contracts from the Saudi government...

A Carlyle executive said the bin Laden family committed $2 million
through a London investment arm in 1995 in Carlyle Partners Il Fund,
which raised $1.3 hillion overal. The fund has purchased several
aerospace companies among 29 deals. So far, the family has received
$1.3 million back in completed investments and should ultimately
realize a 40% annualized rate of return, the Carlyle executive said. But
a foreign financier with ties to the bin Laden family says the family’s
overal investment with Carlyle is considerably larger. He called the $2
million merely an initid contribution. ‘It's like plowing a field,” this
person said. ‘You seed it once. You plow it, and then you reseed it
again. "%

The same Wall Street Journal report notes that there is a history here.

U.S. government officias have aways been keenly interested in the bin
Laden family’s views of the U.S,, particularly in relation to investment.

“During the past severa years, the [bin Laden] family’s close ties to
the Saudi royal family prompted executives and staff from closely held
New York publisher Forbes, Inc. to make two trips to the family
headquarters, according to Forbes Chairman Caspar Weinberger, a
former U.S. Secretary of Defense in the Reagan administration. ‘We
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would call on them to get their view of the country and what would be
of interest to investors.’”%"

Weinberger was pardoned by President George Bush Sr. for his crimina
conduct in the Iran-Contra scandal in 1989. The San Francisco Chronicle
reported that through the Carlyle Group, both George Bush Sr. and the
bin Laden family will benefit from the war on Afghanistan. “As America's
military involvement abroad deepens, profits are increasing for the Carlyle
Group—and, it turns out, for thousands of California civil servants,” writes
U.S. correspondent David Lazarus.

“The Carlyle Group, as in a secretive Washington, D.C., investment
firm managing some $14 billion in assets, including stakes in a number
of defense-related companies...

Carlyle counts among its chieftains former Defense Secretary (and
deputy CIA Director) Frank Carlucci, former Secretary of State James
Baker and, most notably, former President George Bush.

Until October, the Carlyle Group also maintained financia ties with
none other than the family of Osama bin Laden... The Carlyle Group
has cultivated and enjoyed a decidedly low profile for the past 14
years. Yet it has succeeded in attracting to its ranks not just a who's
who of Republican bigwigs but also a dazzling array of international
politicos.

John Mgjor, the former British prime minister, is a Carlyle adviser, as
are former Philippine President Fidel Ramos and former Thai Premier
Anand Panyarachun. So is a former presdent of Germany’s
Bundeshank and a former head of the U.S. Securities and Exchange
Commission... Critics of the Carlyle Group have grown increasingly
voca in recent weeks, particularly over the perception that a private
organization with unmistakable links to the White House is benefiting
from America's military action in Afghanistan.” "
The Village Voice observes that the current President, George Bush Jr.,
also has firm links to Carlyle:
“In a case of ‘like father, like son,’ President Bush aso had
connections to the Carlyle Group, the Voice has learned. In the years
before his 1994 bid for Texas governor, Bush owned stock in and sat
on the board of directors of Caterair, a service company that provided
airplane food and was aso a component of Carlyle. For his consulting
position, Bush was paid $15,000 a year, according to a Texas insider,
and a bonus $1000 for every meeting he attended—roughly $75,000 in
total. Reports show Carlyle was aso a maor contributor to his
electoral fund.”>*°



182 The War on Freedom

The Washington DC-based public interest law firm, Judicial Watch,
which investigates and prosecutes government corruption and abuse, harshly
criticised the Bush-bin Laden connection toward the end of September:

“George H.W. Bush, the father of President Bush, works for the bin
Laden family business in Saudi Arabia through the Carlyle Group, an
international consulting firm. The senior Bush had met with the bin
Laden family at least twice. (Other top Republicans are aso associated
with the Carlyle group, such as former Secretary of State James A.
Baker.) The terrorist leader Osama bin Laden had supposedly been
‘disowned’ by his family, which runs a multi-billion dollar business in
Saudi Arabia and is a mgjor investor in the senior Bush's firm. Other
reports have questioned, though, whether members of his Saudi family
have truly cut off Osama bin Laden. Indeed, the Journal also reported
yesterday that the FBI has subpoenaed the bin Laden family business
bank records.”

Judicid Watch Charman and General Counsel Lary Klayman
commented that: “The idea of the President’s father, an ex-president himself,
doing business with a company under investigation by the FBI in the terror
atacks of September 11 is horrible. Presdent Bush should not ask, but
demand, that his father pull out of the Carlyle Group.”**" These concerns
were reiterated by Charles Lewis, Executive Director of the Center for Public
Integrity:

“Carlyle is as deeply wired into the current administration as they can
possibly be. George Bush is getting money from private interests that
have business before the government, while his son is president. And,
in a redly peculiar way, George W. Bush could, some day, benefit
financidly from his own administration’s decisions, through his
father’ s investments. The average American doesn’'t know that. To me,
that’ s a jaw-dropper.”®*

That the bin Laden family would have benefited from the Bush
administration’s decisions is aso somewhat of a “jaw-dropper.” Given that
there are credible reports that Osama bin Laden has not broken away from
his family and that he maintains ties with them—and possible financial ties at
that—the revelations that the Bush family has long-standing financia ties to
the bin Laden family in the defence industry, among other business
connections, is a dartling indication of the degree of the Bush
administration’s dubious role in 11" September. The extent to which Carlyle
Group is connected to the U.S. government only exacerbates these concerns.
Judicia Watch further reported in late September that:

“[D]ocuments recently uncovered through Judicia Watch's FOIA to
the Department of Defense shows that the Carlyle Group has high-level
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access to the U.S. government. The documents include a February 15,
2001 letter on Carlyle Group letterhead to Defense Secretary Donad
Rumsfeld from former Defense Secretaries Frank Carlucci and William
Perry, both now with Carlyle Group. The documents aso include
Secretary Rumsfeld's April 3 response to Messrs. Carlucci and Perry.
The letters seemingly discuss the restructuring of the Defense
Department. The Carlyle Group is listed in the documents as Defense
Department contractor.”®*

Carlyle, in other words, is so wired into the Bush administration that it
has a direct impact on the structure of the administration’s Department of
Defense. These concerns are further exacerbated in light of the Bush
administration’s systematic blocking of investigations into the terrorist
connections of the bin Laden family. As noted by Agence France Press,

“FBI agents in the United States probing relatives of Saudi-born terror
suspect Osama Bin Laden before September 11 were told to back off
soon after George W Bush became president...

Bush at one point had a number of connections with Saudi Arabia's
prominent Bin Laden family... [T]here was a suspicion that the U.S.
strategic interest in Saudi Arabia, which has the world’'s biggest ail
reserve, blunted its inquiries into individuals with suspected terrorist
connections—so long as the U.S. was safe... [There arg] secret
documents from an FBI probe into the September 11 terror attacks that
showed that at least two other U.S.-based members of the Bin Laden
family are suspected to have links with a possble terrorist
organisation.”***

However, despite the officia stance of the Bush adminigtration that the
binLaden family is &bove suspicion, the latter is currently under
investigation by the FBI. The Wall Street Journal notes that: “[T]he Federa
Bureau of Investigation has issued subpoenas to banks used by the bin Laden
family seeking records of family dealings.”*®* ABC News further reports
that:

“No matter how they try to distance themselves, or denounce Osama,
the FBI is very interested in learning more about the family business
and has subpoenaed all their records. A recent French Intelligence
report reveals a web of bin Laden companies both good and bad.
Investigators are trying to make sure no family member is funneling
money to the blackest sheep of al. ‘They say they don't support
anything he is doing, that he is a pariah now in the family,” says Winer.
But they have been quite secretive over the years like a number of
families in the Middle East about how the financia network actually
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operates. He adds, ‘It is a very tangled web of relationships that needs
to be sorted out.’ "%

The BBC current affairs programme ‘Newsnight' has noted other
pertinent facts in this connection, reporting that prior to 11" September, the
FBI had been ordered to back off from investigating the terrorist connections
of bin Laden’srelatives:

“In the eight weeks since the attacks, over 1,000 suspects and potential
witnesses have been detained. Y e, just days after the hijackers took off
from Boston aiming for the Twin Towers, a specia charter flight out of
the same airport whisked 11 members of Osama Bin Laden's family off
to Saudi Arabia. That did not concern the White House. Their officia
line is that the Bin Ladens are above suspicion—apart from Osama, the
black sheep, who they say hijacked the family name. That's fortunate
for the Bush family and the Saudi roya household, whose links with
the Bin Ladens could otherwise prove embarrassing. But Newsnight
has obtained evidence that the FBI was on the trail of other members of
the Bin Laden family for links to terrorist organisations before and
after September 11th.

This document is marked ‘Secret.” Case ID — 199-Eye WF 213 5809.
199 is FBI code for case type. 9 would be murder. 65 would be
espionage. 199 means national security. WF indicates Washington field
office special agents were investigating ABL—because of it's
relationship with the World Assembly of Mudim Youth, WAMY—a
suspected terrorist organisation. ABL is Abdullah Bin Laden, president
and treasurer of WAMY .

This is the deegpy Washington suburb of Falls Church, Virginia where
amost every home displays the Stars and Stripes. On this
unremarkable street, at 3411 Silver Maple Place, we located the former
home of Abdullah and another brother, Omar, also an FBI suspect. It's
conveniently close to WAMY. The World Assembly of Mudiim Y outh
is in this building, in a little room in the basement at 5613 Leesburg
Pike. And here, just a couple blocks down the road at 5913 Leesburg,
is where four of the hijackers that attacked New Y ork and Washington
are listed as having lived.

The U.S. Treasury has not frozen WAMY's assets, and when we talked
to them, they insisted they are a charity. Y et, just weeks ago, Pakistan
expelled WAMY operatives. And India claimed that WAMY was
funding an organisation linked to bombings in Kashmir. And the
Philippines military has accused WAMY of funding Mudim
insurgency. The FBI did look into WAMY, but, for some reason,
agents were pulled off the trail.”
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U.S. national security expert John Trento noted that athough the FBI had
“wanted to investigate these guys... they weren’t permitted to.” Yet, he also
observes that WAMY have “had connections to Osama bin Laden’s people’
as well as other “groups that have terrorist connections.” Furthermore, they
“fit the pattern of groups that the Saudi royal family and Saudi community of
princes—the 20,000 princes—have funded who've engaged in terrorist
activity. Now, do | know that WAMY has done anything that's illegal? No, |
don’'t know that. Do | know that as far back as 1996 the FBI was very
concerned about this organisation? | do.”**” The London Guardian observed
that the FBI had investigated “two of Osamabin Laden’srelatives’ aswell as
WAMY, but closed its files on them due to high-level constraints in 1996
“before any conclusions could be reached.”*®

BBC Newsnight's Gregory Palast further reported other high-leve
blocks on FBI investigations into bin Laden-related terror connections, based
on what appear to be attempts to protect U.S. corporate interests—including
the fact that Bush Jr.’s fortune was built on doing business with the bin
Laden family:

“The younger Bush made his first million 20 years ago with an oil
company patly funded by Sdem Bin Laden's chief U.S
representative. ..

Y oung George aso received fees as director of a subsidiary of Carlyle

Corporation, a little known private company which has, in just a few

years of its founding, become one of Americas biggest defence
contractors. His father, Bush Senior, is also a paid advisor. And what
became embarrassing was the revelation that the Bin Ladens held a
stake in Carlyle, sold just after September 11... | received a phone call

from a high-placed member of a U.S. intelligence agency. He tells me

that while there's always been constraints on investigating Saudis,

under George Bush it's gotten much worse. After the elections, the

agencies were told to ‘back off’ investigating the Bin Ladens and Saudi

royas, and that angered agents... FBI headquarters told us they could

not comment on our findings.” %%

Bush Jr.’s latest order to “back off” the bin Laden family and Saudi
royas followed previous orders dating back to 1996, frustrating efforts to
investigate the latter. The London Guardian has elaborated that:

“FBI and military intelligence officials in Washington say they were
prevented for political reasons from carrying out full investigations
into members of the Bin Laden family in the U.S. before the terrorist
attacks of September 11...
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U.S. intelligence agencies have come under criticism for their
wholesale failure to predict the catastrophe at the World Trade Centre.
But some are complaining that their hands were tied... High-placed
intelligence sources in Washington told the Guardian this week: ‘ There
were adways constraints on investigating the Saudis.” They said the
restrictions became worse after the Bush administration took over this
year. The intelligence agencies had been told to ‘back off’ from
investigations involving other members of the Bin Laden family, the
Saudi royals, and possible Saudi links to the acquisition of nuclear
weapons by Pakistan. ‘There were particular investigations that were
effectively killed.””**°

Greg Palast has elaborated on these findings in an interview with the
Green Press. He stated that he and his team of investigators had “obtained
documents from inside the FBI showing that investigations had been shut
down on the bin Laden family, the roya family of Saudi Arabia—and that is
big, because there are 20,000 princes in the roya family—and their
connections to the financing of terrorism...

“Now there is one exception. The FBI, the CIA and all the rest of the
agencies are dlowed to investigate Osama, the so-called black sheep of
the family. But what we were finding was that there was an awful lot
of gray sheeps in this family—which is a family of billionaires which
istied in with the Saudi roya household which appears to be involved
in the funding of terrorist organizations or organizations linked to
terrorism... Now the problem was the investigations were shut down.
There were problems that go back to Father Bush—when he was head
of the CIA, he tried to stop investigations of the Saudis, continued on
under Reagan, Daddy Bush's president, and it continued under Clinton
too... | have to add it was aso CIA and al the other international
agencies... | can say that the sources are not just FBI trying to get even
with the other agencies, but in fact other agencies. The information was
that they were absolutely prohibited, until Sept. 11, at looking at the

Saudi funding of the Al-Qaeda network and other terrorist

organizations. There is no question we had what looked like the biggest

failure of the intelligence community since Pearl Harbor but what we
are learning now is it wasn't afailure, it was a directive.”***

Palast aso refers to a particular example of how this situation had grown
so dire that the FBI command refused to even consider investigating the
Saudis:

“[T]here was a Saudi diplomat who defected. He had 14,000

documents in his possesson showing Saudi roya involvement in

everything from assassinations to terror funding. ..



6. American Ties with the Most Wanted Man on Earth 187

He offered the 14,000 documents to the FBI but they would not accept
them. The low-level agents wanted this stuff because they were
tremendous leads. But the upper-level people would not permit this,
did not want to touch this material. That is quite extraordinary. We
don’'t even want to look. We don't want to know. Because obvioudy
going through 14,000 documents from the Saudi government files
would anger the Saudis. And it seems to be policy number one is we
don’t get these boys angry.”**

Increasing press scrutiny of these matters, leading to embarrassing
revelations for both the Bush and bin Laden families, appears to have been
behind the latter’' s sudden decision to withdraw their stake in Carlyle in the
aftermath of 11" September**® The timing of this action only raises further
guestions about the nature of this Bush-bin Laden financia affair, and
whether it really was as innocent as is claimed. If so, why the need for the
bin Laden family to pull out, thus preempting further investigations and
inquiries?

And finally, it should be noted that among the multiple projects for the
establishment of ail pipelines through Afghanistan, there is a joint venture
between the construction firm H. P. Price and the bin Laden family.*** H. P.
Price has changed its nhame to Bredero Shaw, Inc. It now happens to be
owned by a subsidiary of the giant Halliburton Corporation, of which current
Vice-President Dick Cheney was CEO until the elections in 2000.

The picture that emerges from all this is scandalous. It appears that the
Bush family has long-standing financial connections to the bin Laden family.
It also gppears that Osama bin Laden maintains connections with his family.
Moreover, members of his family have been, and are, under investigation by
U.S. intelligence for the financial support of terrorism, and specifically for
the financial support of Osama.

Prior to 11" September, President Bush Jr. blocked inquiries into the bin
Laden family’s terrorist connections. Furthermore, both families were set to
benefit financially from the war on Afghanistan that was triggered by the 11"
September attacks. This appears to indicate a longstanding financia
connection, through the bin Laden family, between Osama bin Laden, the
Bush family and the current administration.

Osama and the Saudis: a Covert Alliance

There is dso specific evidence that Osama bin Laden continues to
receive extensive support, not only from members of his own family, but aso
from members of the Saudi establishment. Martin S. Indyk,** former senior
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U.S. State Department official and a highly respected commentator on U.S.
foreign policy, admits that:

“In the Saudi case, the Clinton administration indulged Riyadh's
penchant for buying off trouble as long as the regime also paid its huge
arms bills, purchased Boeing aircraft, kept the price of oil within
reasonable bounds, and dlowed the United States to use Saudi air
bases. ..

The Saudis had protected themselves by co-opting and accommodating
the Idamist extremists in their midst, a move they felt was necessary in
the uncertain aftermath of the Gulf War... And once Crown Prince
Abdullah assumed the regency in 1996, the ruling family set about the
determined business of buying off its opposition... The vulnerabilities
exposed by the Gulf War, however, created a greater need for shoring
up Wahhabi support. The regime accordingly financed the export of
Wahhabism through the building of hundreds of mosques and
madrassas (religious schools) abroad. The activity was particularly
intense in areas affected by the collapse of the Soviet Union—the
Bakans, Central Asia, Afghanistan, and Pakistan—where the Saudis
engaged in competition with Iranian mullahs for the hearts and minds
of loca Mudim populations. A public-private partnership was also
created in which rich Saudi families would help to fund the enterprise.

While Saudi export of Wahhabism was proceeding apace, the
charitable organizations established to funnel the money were being
subverted for other purposes. It is now clear that bin Laden, despite
being stripped of his Saudi citizenship, was able to take advantage of
this system to raise funds and establish his network. Saudi-backed
ingtitutions... were used as covers for financing a Qaeda s nefarious
activities. And the Sunni fundamentalist Taliban regime in
Afghanistan, providers of sanctuary to bin Laden and his cohort, aso
found itsalf the direct and indirect beneficiary of Saudi largess...”*®*

Corroborating and expanding on Indyk’s observations, the New Yorker
reports that: “Since 1994 or earlier, the National Security Agency has been
collecting electronic intercepts of conversations between members of the
Saudi Arabian roya family, which is headed by King Fahd...

“The intercepts depict a regime increasingly corrupt, aienated from the
country’s religious rank and file, and so weakened and frightened that
it has brokered its future by channelling hundreds of millions of dollars
in what amounts to protection money to fundamentalist groups that
wish to overthrow it.”
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Furthermore, the NSA intercepts “have demonstrated to anaysts that by
1996 Saudi money was supporting Osama bin Laden’s Al Qaeda and other
extremist groups in Afghanistan, Lebanon, Yemen, and Centrad Asia, and
throughout the Persan Gulf region.” According to one senior U.S.
intelligence official, the Saudi regime had “gone to the dark side.”**” The
Toronto-based newsmagazine Now further reports that:

“Generaly accepted, too, is the idea that the monarchy boosted d
Qaeda through its funding of the Wahhabi movement, a militant
Idamist sect... U.S. officids were unwilling to make an issue of a
Qaeda’ s connections to wedlthy Saudis... Even after bin Laden turned
his wrath on the U.S. in the 1990s, he maintained close contact with
key Saudi figures including Prince Turki a-Faisal, the powerful
intelligence chief and brother of King Fahd.”>*

Indeed, according to the Los Angeles Times:

“[In the 1990s] Tdiban authorities aso opened the country’s airstrips
to high-ranking Persian Gulf state officials who routinely flew in for
lavish hunting parties... Sometimes joined by Bin Laden and Taliban
leaders, the dignitaries, who included several high-ranking officias
from Saudi Arabia and the Emirates—Ieft behind money, vehicles and
equipment with their hosts, according to U.S. and Afghan accounts...
According to U.S. and former Afghan civil air officias, the hunters
included Prince Turki a Faisal, son of the late Saudi King Faisa. He
headed that nation's intelligence service until late August [2001],
maintaining close ties with Bin Laden and the Taiban. Another visitor,
officials said, was Sheik Mohammed ibn Rashid a Maktum, the Dubai
crown prince and Emirates defense minister.”%%

It should be noted that: “Prince Turki, head of the Saudi Secret Service
for more than 20 years, a constrained friend of the CIA, made abundant use
of bin Laden’s networks,” according to Swiss investigative reporter Richard

400

Labeviere™ The Prince resigned from his position just two weeks before
11™ September *°*

USA Today has also reported that “prominent businessmen in Saudi
Arabia continue to transfer tens of million of dollars to bank accounts linked
to Osama Bin Laden.” Citing senior U.S. intelligence officias and a Saudi
government document, USA Today noted that the money transfers had begun
five years earlier. One of the businessmen under investigation, Mohammad
Hussein al-Amoudi, runs the largest bank in Saudi Arabia, as well as the
Capitol Trust Bank in New York. Vernon Jordan, one of Bill Clinton’s close
friends, is his lawyer.”” Central Asia specidist Ahmed Rashid, a member of
the Center for Public Integrity’s Internationa Consortium of Investigative
Journalists, further reports that the Saudis prefer “to leave Bin Laden alone in
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Afghanistan because his arrest and tria by the Americans could expose the
deep relationship that Bin Laden continued to have with sympathetic
members of the Roya Family and elements within Saudi intelligence, which
could prove deeply embarrassing.” *®®

Investigative journalist Greg Palast provides further information on the
“deep relationship” between Saudi royals and Osama bin Laden based on
sources in U.S. intelligence and elsewhere. He comments in an interview
with the Green Press that:

“[T]he Saudis say that they have removed Osama bin Laden’s
citizenship in Saudi Arabia. Of course, there are no citizens of Saudi
Arabig, there are only subjects. So he is not alowed to be a subject of
the king of Saudi Arabia What aloss...

And they have frozen his assets, supposedly. But the information | am
getting from other sources is that they have given tens of millions of
dollars to his networks. This is being done as much as a protection
racket as anything else... Osama is often compared to Hitler but he
should be seen as John Gotti times one hundred. He is running a
massive international protection racket: Pay me or | will blow you up.
The fact these payments are made is one of the things the Bush
adminigtration is trying very hard to cover-up. Now whether these
payments were paid because they want to or it is coercion the Bush
administration does not want to make a point of it. | have to tell you the
Clinton administration was not exactly wonderful on this either.”***

High-level U.S. government and intelligence officids, including those in
the Bush adminigtration, have therefore long been aware of the financia
support of Osama bin Laden by members of the Saudi establishment. Y et, the
administration has apparently, quite deliberately, refused to do anything
about it, and is moreover attempting to cover up the fact.

In 1998, for example, the CIA ignored warnings from Robert Baer, Case
Officer in the CIA’s Directorate of Operations, that the Saudi regime was
harbouring an Al-Qaeda cell led by two known terrorists. U.S. intelligence
offered its Saudi counterpart a more detailed list of known terrorists in the
country in August 2001. Saudi intelligence refused to accept it. The
Financial Timesreported that:

“A former U.S. intelligence agent has alleged that the CIA ignored

detailed warnings he passed on in 1998 that a Gulf state was

harbouring an al-Qaeda cdll led by two known terrorists...

When FBI agents attempted to arrest them, the Gulf state’s government

provided the men with alias passports, the former agent clams... Mr

Baer said he [was provided with] a computer record of ‘hundreds of
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secret al-Qaeda operatives in the Gulf region, many in Saudi Arabia
[by a military associate of a prince in a Gulf roya family]. Mr Baer
said that in August 2001, at the military officer's request, he offered
the list to the Saudi Arabian government. But an aide to the Saudi
defence minister, Prince Sultan, refused to look at the list or to pass
them (the names) on... The information Mr Bagr gave to the CIA was
not followed up, he said.”**®

It should be noted that this occurred after the U.S. intelligence
community received multiple warnings of an impending terrorist attack on
U.S. soil by Osama bin Laden’s Al-Qaeda. This is the same period during
which the U.S. government granted U.S. visas to various Saudis in violation
of stringent State Department visa regulations, through the “U.S. Visa
Express’ programme. This s also the period during which terrorists of Saudi
ethnicity were reportedly training at U.S. flight schools and secure U.S.
military facilities. Baer explains the context:

“At a time when terrorist threats were compounding globaly...
Americans were making too much money to bother. Life was good.
The White House and the Nationa Security Council became cathedrals
of commerce where the interests of big business outweighed the
interests of protecting American citizens a home and abroad.
Defanged and dispirited, the CIA went along for the ride.”**°

The U.S.-Saudi Alliance

While the Saudi establishment, or significant elements thereof, support
Osama bin Laden, in turn, the United States has always protected the Saudi
establishment. In this context, we should take note of a New Statesman report
recording that:

“Bin Laden and his gang are just the tentacles; the head lies safely in
Saudi Arabia, protected by U.S. forces...

The hijackers responsible for the 11 September outrage were not
illiterate, bearded fanatics from the mountain villages of Afghanistan.
They were al educated, highly skilled, middle- class professionas. Of
the 19 men involved, 13 were citizens of Saudi Arabia... Regardless of
whether Osama Bin Laden gave the order or not, it is indisputable that
the bulk of his rea cadres (as opposed to foot soldiers) are located in
Egypt or Saudi Arabia—America's two principa alies in the region,
barring Isradl. In Saudi Arabia, support for Bin Laden is strong. He
was a close friend of the Saudi intelligence boss Prince Turki Bin
Faisal a-Saud, who was dismissed in August apparently because of his
failure to curb attacks on U.S. personnd in Riyadh. The real reason,
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however, was probably his refusa to take sides in the fierce faction
fight to determine the succession after the death of the paralysed King
Fahd. Both sides are aware that too close an alignment with the U.S.
could be explosive. That is why, despite its support for the U.S., the
Saudi regimeis not ‘alowing its bases to be used' ...

[T]he state religion... is not an everyday version of Sunni or Shi'a
Idam, but a peculiarly virulent, ultra-puritanical strain known as
Wahhabism. This is the religion of the Saudi royal family, the state
bureaucracy, the army, the air force and Bin Laden—the best-known
Saudi citizen in the world, believed currently to resde in
Afghanistan... Wahhabism remains the state religion of Saudi Arabia
During the war between Afghanistan and the Soviet Union, Pakistani
military intelligence requested the presence of a Saudi prince to lead
the jihad. No volunteers were forthcoming, and Saudi leaders
recommended the scion of a rich family close to the monarchy. Bin
Laden was despatched to the Pakistan border and arrived in time to
hear President Jmmy Carter’s national security adviser, Zbigniew
Brzezinski, turban on head, shout: ‘Allah is on your side.’

The religious schools in Pakistan where the Taliban were created were
funded by the Saudis, and Wahhabi influence was very strong. Last
year, when the Taliban threatened to blow up the old statues of Buddha
in Afghanistan, there were appeals from the ancient seminaries of Qom
in Iran and al-Azhar in Egypt to desist on the grounds that ISlam is
tolerant. A Wahhabi delegation from Saudi Arabia advised the Taliban
to execute the plan. They did... The expeditionary force being
despatched to Pakistan to cut off the tentacles of the Wahhabi octopus
may or may not succeed, but its head is safe and sound in Saudi
Arabia, guarding the oil wells, growing new arms, and protected by
U.S. soldiers and the U.S. air-force base in Dhahran. Washington's
fallure to disengage its vitd interests from the fate of the Saudi
monarchy could well lead to further blow-back.”*"”

There is an important context to this longstanding political and military
alliance between Saudi Arabia and the United States, which has continued
despite U.S. knowledge of the former's support of Al-Qaeda. The
Washington Post observes that the “good fortune” of “a small group of Saudi
citizens’ who have “accumulated vast persona wedlth,” “has spilled over to
the benefit of American and European money managers, investment banks
and the companies in which the money is invested...

“Members of the royal family—there are about 40,000 of them,
including 8,000 princes—led the way. The Saudi government has
never reported what share of oil income went to the roya family,
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whose senior princes accumulated fantastic fortunes. According to a
credible account, members of the roya family have billions of dollars
on deposit in the Banque Pictet in Geneva, for example...

After nearly three decades of accumulating this wedlth, the group
referred to by bankers as ‘high net worth Saudi individuas holds
between $500 hillion and $1 trillion abroad, most of it in European and
American investments. Brad Bourland, chief economist of the Saudi
American Bank (one-quarter owned by Citibank), said in a speech in
London last June that his bank’s best estimate of the total is about $700
billion, with the possibility that it is as much as $1 trillion.

Raymond Seitz, vice chairman of Lehman Brothers in London and a
former U.S. ambassador to Britain, gave a Smilar estimate. Seitz said
Saudis typically put about three-quarters of their money into the United
States, the rest in Europe and Asia That would mean that Saudi
nationals have invested perhaps $500 billion to $700 hillion in the
American economy.

Thisis a huge sea of fungible assets supporting the American economy
and belonging to a relatively small group of people—about 85,000
Saudis, Seitz said, is the estimate of bankers. Managing these hundreds
of hillions can be a lucrative business for brokers and bankers in
L ondon, Geneva and New Y ork.”*%®

Indeed, a more in-depth inquiry demonstrates that there are very specific,
long-standing financia connections between the White House and leading
Saudi figures, who reportedly support Osama bin Laden. One report by the
investigative journalist Wayne Madsen, who has been caled to testify as an
expert witness before U.S. Congressional hearings on covert U.S. foreign
policy, is worth quoting extensively:

“Bush’s own businesses were once tied to financial figures in Saudi

Arabiawho currently support bin Laden...

In 1979, Bush's first business, Arbusto Energy, obtained financing
from James Bath, a Houstonian and close family friend. One of many

investors, Bath gave Bush $50,000 for a5 percent stake in Arbusto. At

the time, Bath was the sole U.S. business representative for Salem bin

Laden, head of the wealthy Saudi Arabian family and a brother (one of

17) to Osama bin Laden. It has long been suspected, but never proven,

that the Arbusto money came directly from Salem bin Laden. In a
statement issued shortly after the September 11 attacks, the White

House vehemently denied the connection, insisting that Bath invested
his own money, not Salem bin Laden’s, in Arbusto.
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In conflicting statements, Bush at first denied ever knowing Bath, then
acknowledged his stake in Arbusto and that he was aware Bath
represented Saudi interests. In fact, Bath has extensive ties, both to the
bin Laden family and magor players in the scandal-ridden Bank of
Commerce and Credit International (BCCl) who have gone on to fund
Osama bin Laden. BCCI defrauded depositors of $10 hillion in the’80s
in what has been called the ‘largest bank fraud in world financial
history’ by former Manhattan District Attorney Robert Morgenthau.
During the '80s, BCCI aso acted as a main conduit for laundering
money intended for clandestine CIA activities, ranging from financial
support to the Afghan mujahedin to paying intermediaries in the Iran-
Contra affair.

When Salem bin Laden died in 1988, powerful Saudi Arabian banker
and BCCI principad Khaid bin Mahfouz inherited his interests in
Houston. Bath ran a business for bin Mahfouz in Houston and joined a
partnership with bin Mahfouz and Gaith Pharaon, BCCI’s frontman in
Houston’s Main Bank.

The Arbusto dead wasn't the last time Bush looked to highly
questionable sources to invest in his oil dealings. After severd
incarnations, Arbusto emerged in 1986 as Harken Energy Corporation.

When Harken ran into trouble a year later, Saudi Sheik Abdullah Taha
Bakhsh purchased a 17.6 percent stake in the company. Bakhsh was a
business partner with Pharaon in Saudi Arabia his banker there just
happened to be bin Mahfouz.

Though Bush told the Wall Street Journa he had ‘no idead BCCI was
involved in Harken's financiad dealings, the network of connections
between Bush and BCCI is so extensive that the Journal concluded
their investigation of the matter in 1991 by dating: ‘The number of
BCCI-connected people who had dedlings with Harken — all since
George W. Bush came on board — raises the question of whether they
mask an effort to cozy up to a presidential son.” Or even the president:
Bath finally came under investigation by the FBI in 1992 for his Saudi
business relationships, accused of funneling Saudi money through
Houston in order to influence the foreign policies of the Reagan and
first Bush administrations.

Worst of dl, bin Mahfouz allegedly has been financing the bin Laden
terrorist network — making Bush a U.S. citizen who has done business
with those who finance and support terrorists. According to USA
Today, bin Mahfouz and other Saudis attempted to transfer $3 million
to various bin Laden front operations in Saudi Arabia in 1999. ABC
News reported the same year that Saudi officials stopped bin Mahfouz
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from contributing money directly to bin Laden. (Bin Mahfouz's sister
is dso a wife of Osama bin Laden, a fact that former CIA Director
James Woolsey reveaded in 1998 Senate testimony.)

When President Bush announced he is hot on the trail of the money
used over the years to finance terrorism, he must redize that trail
ultimately leads not only to Saudi Arabia, but to some of the same
financiers who originaly helped propd him into the oil business and
later the White House. The ties between bin Laden and the White
House may be much closer than heis willing to acknowledge.”*%

But as already noted, early on in his Presidency, Bush Jr. made efforts to
prevent investigations of the financial ties between bin Laden and the White
House. FBI inquiries into the possible terrorist connections of Saudi royas
and other members of the Saudi establishment—along with the bin Laden
family—were obstructed.

“[FBI investigators] were pursuing these matters, but were told to back
off,” noted David Armstrong, an intelligence expert at the Washington DC-
based Public Education Center, a nonprofit investigative organisation.*'° The
Boston Herald elaborates that:

“A steady stream of billion-dollar oil and arms deals between
American corporate leaders and the elite of Saudi Arabia may be
hindering efforts by the West to defeat international Islamic
terrorism...

U.S. business and political leaders are so wedded to preserving the
gilded American-Saudi marriage that officials in Washington D.C.
continue to give the oil-rich Gulf monarchy a wide berth, despite
mounting evidence of support in Saudi Arabia for Osama bin Laden’s
terrorist network, some experts say... The Saudis have aso baked at
freezing the assats of organizations linked to bin Laden and
international terrorism, some of which are Saudi-run.” ***

And this state of affairs largely continues, even now. Indeed, another
Boston Herald report records a particularly disconcerting example of this,
related to the figure of Bin Mahfouz: “Two billionaire Saudi families
scrutinized by authorities for possible financial ties to Osama bin Laden’s
terrorist network continue to engage in major oil deals with leading U.S.
corporations,” to the unnerving silence of the Bush administration.

“The bin Mahfouz and Al-Amoudi clans, who control three private

Saudi Arabian oil companies, are partners with U.S. firmsin a series of

ambitious oil development and pipeline projects in central and south

Asia, records show...
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Working through their companies—Delta Oil, Nimir Petroleum and
Corra Petroleum—the Saudi families have formed international
consortiums with U. S. oil giants Texaco, Unocal, Amerada Hess and
Frontera Resources. These business relationships persist despite
evidence that members of the two Saudi families—headed by
patriarchs Khalid bin Mahfouz and Mohammed Hussein Al-Amoudi—
have had ties to Idamic charities and companies linked financiadly to
bin Laden’s a-Qaeda organization.”

Curioudly, both Mahfouz and Al-Amoudi “have been left untouched by
the U.S. Treasury Department.” A May 1999 report by the U. S. Embassy in
Saudi Arabia records that a Saudi company, Delta Oil was created by 50
prominent Saudi investors in the early 1990s, the prime force behind which
“appears to be Mohammed Hussein Al-Amoudi, who is based in Ethiopia
and oversees a vast network of companies involved in construction, mining,
banking and ail ...

“The Al-Amoudis business interests, meanwhile, are enmeshed with
the bin Mahfouz family, which owns the third privately held Saudi oil
company, Nimir Petroleum. Nimir was established by the Mahfouz
family in Bermudain 1991, according to the U. S. Embassy report. The
closeness of the two clans is underlined by their joint oil venture,
Delta-Nimir, as well as by their partnership in the Saudi firm The
Marei Bin Mahfouz & Ahmed Al Amoudi Group of Companies &
Factories. Meanwhile, information continues to circulate in intelligence
circles in the United States and Europe suggesting wedthy Saudi
businessmen have provided financial support to bin Laden.

Much of it revolves around a 1999 audit conducted by the Saudi
government that reportedly discovered that the bin Mahfouz family’s
Nationd Commercid Bank had transferred at least $3 million to
charitable organizations believed to be fronts for bin Laden’'s terror
network... Some of the Saudi money transferred from National
Commercia Bank alegedly went to the Idlamic charity Blessed Relief,
whose board members included bin Mahfouz's son, Abdul Rahman bin
Mahfouz. In October, the U. S. Treasury Department named Blessed
Relief as a front organization providing funds to bin Laden. ‘Saudi
businessmen have been transferring millions of dollars to bin Laden
through Blessed Réelief,” the agency said.”

The Herald further notes that: “Despite officials suspicions, the bin
Mahfouz and Al-Amoudi oil companies continue to profit from their working
relationship with America's own ail dite.”** In another report, the Herald
points out that the bin Laden family has many direct financia ties to bin
Mahfouz:
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“Public records and intelligence reports show that the Saudi Binladin
Group, the international business conglomerate run by some of Osama
bin Laden’s half-brothers, has numerous business ventures with the bin
Mahfouz family... The financia ties between the bin Laden and bin
Mahfouz families ae many and run the gamut from
telecommunications to construction management to high finance.”

It is thus worth noting the observation of Paul Michael Wihbey, a Fellow
a the Ingtitute for Advanced Strategic and Political Studies in Washington
D.C.: “I think we underestimate bin Laden. He comes from the highest levels
of Saudi society and he has supporters at al levels of Saudi Arabia Thereis
no reason to think that every single member of his family has shut him
down.”**?

Osamagate?

In his study of Al-Qaeda and U.S. relations, based on four years of
intensive research, the leading Swiss television journalist Richard Labeviere,
who has written extensively on Arab and African affairs, similarly finds that
“Saudi Arabia is bankrolling bin Laden’s networks.” They have grown in
power, he reports, “with the active support of Saudi Arabia, the United Arab
Emirates and other oil monarchies and with the benevolence of the American
[intelligence] services engaged in these areas.”

Labeviere, who draws extensively on European intelligence sources, thus
concludes in his book, Dollars for Terror (which received favourable
reviews in the European press), that the international terrorism networks
spawned by Osama bin Laden have been “nurtured and encouraged by
elements of the U.S. intelligence community, especialy during the Clinton
years” Al-Qaeda, he reports, “was protected because the network was

designed to serve U.S. foreign policy and military interests.”

A former U.S. Army Sergeant, Egyptian-born Ali Mohamed, testified in
aNew York court that he helped train members of Al-Qaeda after he left the
army in 1989. In 2000, he aso admitted his involvement in the bombing of
the embassies in Africa. Labeviere, however, reports that the former U.S.
Army Sergeant “trained Ilamic militants in several camps in the New Y ork
area and suggests that he was an active U.S. agent.”***

A native of Egypt, Ali Mohamed rose to the rank of maor in the
Egyptian Special Forces. In 1984, he was expelled from Egypt’s military asa
religious extremist. He contacted the CIA, “offering to be a spy,” according
to aU.S. officia who spoke on condition of anonymity. The CIA judged him
unreliable and dropped him as a source, the official said. He was later placed
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on a U.S. government watch list, according to U.S. officias.”*** He should
therefore have been banned from entry into the U.S.

A report in the Wall Street Journal further indicates that the FBI and the
CIA must have been aware of Mohamed's mingling with terrorists. Yet, he
was nevertheless able to obtain a U.S. visa, marry an American woman,
become a U.S. citizen, settle in California and even become a U.S. Army
Sergeant by 1986. Until 1989, he was lecturing on the Middle East at the
U.S. Army’s John F. Kennedy Specid Warfare Center and School at Fort
Bragg, North Carolina.

The U.S. Army and the CIA declined to comment when asked by
Journal reporters about whether Mohamed was working for the CIA in the
U.S. proxy war against the Soviets in Afghanistan. San Jose obstetrician Ali
Zaki, a close friend of Mohamed, was more forthcoming: “Everyone in the
community knew he was working as a liaison between the CIA and the
Afghan cause.”**°

Mohamed's relations to the U.S. military and intelligence community
thereafter are unclear. According to a report in the Raleigh News &
Observer:

“Mohamed’'s relationship with the FBI and intelligence services
remains wrapped in secrecy. His plea agreement is sedled, as are many
of the court documents and much of the testimony. Mohamed was
expected to testify—but did not—at the trial at which the four others
were convicted. Mohamed and his lawyer have declined al interview
requests.”

The same report notes evidence suggesting that the CIA may have
continued to use Mohamed as an agent. The News & Observer records that,
at around the same time he became a mgjor in Egyptian Specia Forces, while
also joining the extremist group Islamic Jihad:

“... the Egyptian army sent Mohamed to Fort Bragg for specia forces

training—common for officers from countries the United States

regards asfriendly...

Training beside U.S. Green Berets, he learned how to command elite
soldiers on difficult missons such as specia reconnaissance,
unconventional warfare and counter-insurgency operations. After four
months, he received a diploma with a green beret on it. Returning
home, he served in the Egyptian army for three more years. In 1984, he
left to work as a security expert for Egypt Air—and started to make
contact with the CIA.”

He became a regular U.S. Army soldier in 1986. In 1988, while till on
active duty, he visited Afghanistan on leave, where he fought the Soviets and
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made contact with Osama bin Laden, apparently with CIA sponsorship.
Honourably discharged in 1989, Mohamed joined the U.S. Army Reserves
for another five years. Documents from U.S. court cases prove that while
either on active duty or a member of the U.S. Army Reserves, Mohamed
continued to travel abroad to meet with Osama bin Laden and his colleagues,
aswdll astrain Al-Qaeda members within America

“Near the end of his tour at Fort Bragg, Mohamed apparently got
busier in his work with terrorist groups. Documents from court cases
show that he traveled on weekends to New Jersey, where he trained
other Idamic fundamentaists in surveillance, weapons and explosives.
He continued this training after he was honorably discharged in 1989
with commendations in his file, including one for ‘patriotism, valor,
fidelity and professional excellence.’”

Retired Lt. Col. Robert Anderson, who was aso at Fort Bragg, testifies
that despite informing his superiors of Mohamed's activities in relation to
terrorists, nothing was done. In 1988, Mohamed had even openly admitted to
Anderson and others that he was to participate in the war against Soviet
occupation in Afghanistan. As the News & Observer notes, “it was highly
irregular, if not illegd, for an active-duty U.S. soldier to fight in a foreign
war.” Anderson submitted an intelligence report to his superiors two weeks
before Mohamed' s departure that was completely ignored. The silence of his
superiors led him to conclude that Mohamed was indeed “ sponsored” by U.S.
intelligence.*"’

To this day, there remains a cloud of secrecy maintained by the U.S.
government about Mohamed's role, his simultaneous ties with U.S. military
intelligence and Al-Qaeda, and how long this continued. Astonishingly,
Mohamed was apparently permitted by the U.S. military intelligence
community to continue his terrorist activities unhindered through the
1990s—until the U.S. embassy bombings in 1998.

This situation continued even when U.S. Special Forces documents
stolen by Mohamed surfaced in the 1995 terror trid in New York, clearly
pointing to his terrorist connections and activities in alliance with Al-Qaeda.
Even now, Mohamed has not been permitted to testify in the trids over the
U.S. embassy bombings, and continues to be held in U.S. custody in a secure,
undisclosed location, unsentenced despite his guilty plea. The Associated
Press reports that:

“It remains unclear how Mohamed managed to enter the United States
and join the Army in the 1980s, despite the CIA’s misgivings. Equally
unclear is how he was able to maintain his terror ties in the 1990s
without being banished by either side, even after the Special Forces
documents he stole turned up in the 1995 New York triad. The State
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Department, CIA, and FBI declined to answer questions about
Mohamed. Officias have refused to discuss how much he has helped
in their investigations as he awaits sentencing, which has been
postponed indefinitely.”**®

The question, of coursg, is this. What is the U.S. government trying to
keep under wraps about the former U.S. Army Sergeant who trained Al-
Qaeda terrorists, so much so that despite his guilty pleafor the 1998 embassy
bombings, he has as yet neither been permitted to testify in an open court,
nor sentenced for his crime— indefinitely?

Richard Labeviere provides a reasonable answer, drawing on European
intelligence sources to record that the CIA blocked the FBI from cracking
down on bin Laden’ sterrorist networks:

“Bin-Ladengate is unfolding, and there is no escape. If it blows up one
day, this scandal will reveal exactly how the various American
intelligence agencies were involved in the process that led to the
Nairobi [Kenya] and Dar es Salaam [ Tanzania] bombings.”

He further reports that athough Clinton and his top aides did not
anticipate that Al-Qaeda would turn against the United States, even when
they findly did, “they figured the U.S. would gain more from it in the long
run.”**® He citesaformer CIA analyst on the objectives of this policy, which
is clearly motivated by strategic and economic interests rather than concern
for American lives. Hinting a a policy involving the ongoing use of Al-
Qaeda to secure regional U.S. dtrategic interests, continuing throughout the
1990s, the CIA analy<t stated:

“The policy of guiding the evolution of Iam and of helping them
againgt our adversaries worked marvelousy well in Afghanistan
againgt the Red Army. The same doctrines can ill be used to
destabilize what remains of Russian power, and especialy to counter
the Chinese influence in Central Asia.”

Thus, even after Osama bin Laden was placed on the FBI's Most Wanted
List with a reward offered for his capture, the State Department “never
exerted any real pressure on the Taliban to apprehend him.” A subsequent
report in the Associated Press (AP) reveded that the U.S. bombing of Sudan
and Afghanistan, in apparent response to the embassy bombings, was not
targeted at Osama bin Laden.

AP noted that despite the Clinton administration’s “specific intelligence’
on bin Laden’s location, they had decided not to attempt to capture or Kill
him—contrary to the public pretext for the bombing. Based on a hundred
interviews, numerous journalistic investigations, European intelligence
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sources, as well as years of archival research and travels, Labeviere's
findings should be taken seriougly.*?°

Indeed, it is a matter of record that the U.S. government had received
advance warning of the Kenya bombing two weeks before it occurred.
During the tria in 2000 of four men charged in the bombings, defence
lawyers successfully demonstrated that U.S. officials did not pass the
received warnings on to the personnel of the threatened embassies, thus
establishing a significant degree of U.S. responsibility for the desth toll. ***

Labeviere's book, with meticulous documentation, places al this in the
context of an ongoing U.S. policy that aims to selectively foster ‘Idamic’
militancy to secure various strategic and economic interests around the
world. This conclusion is strongly supported by the fact that the U.S. has
conscioudy used Al-Qaeda to support U.S. plans in Central Asia, the
Caucasus and the Balkans towards the end of the 1990s. In a succinct
overview of this policy, Director of the Centre for Research on Globalisation
(CRG) Professor Michel Chossudovsky*?* finds that:

“Lost in the barrage of recent history, the role of the CIA in supporting
and developing international terrorist organisations during the Cold
war and its aftermath is casudly ignored or downplayed by the
Western media...

The ‘blowback’ thesis** is a fabrication. The evidence amply confirms
that the CIA never severed its ties to the ‘1damic Militant Network.’
Since the end of the Cold War, these covert intelligence links have not
only been maintained, they have in fact become increasingly
sophisticated. New undercover initiatives financed by the Golden
Crescent drug trade were set in motion in Central Asia, the Caucasus
and the Balkans. Pakistan's military and intelligence apparatus
(controlled by the CIA) essentiadly ‘served as a catayst for the
disntegration of the Soviet Union and the emergence of six new
Muslim republicsin Central Asia.’”

Chossudovsky refers to, among other reports in the press, a lengthy
Congressiond report by the Republican Party Committee (RPC) in 1997
confirming that the Clinton administration “helped turn Bosnia into a militant
Idamic base,” by direct complicity in military support to Bosnian fighters
provided through the support of groups “believed to be connected with such
fixtures of the Idamic terror network as Shelk Omar Abdel Rahman (the
convicted mastermind behind the 1993 World Trade Center bombing) and
Osama bin Laden, a wedthy Saudi émigré believed to bankroll numerous
militant groups.”***
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It appears that such co-optation of Al-Qaedato achieve U.S. interests had
been tried before, in the inter-Muslim conflict during the early stages of the
Bosnia war, when the the U.S. supported the assault by the |zetbegovic
regime against local Muslim rival Fikret Adbic.*?®

The “Bosnia pattern” referred to by the RPC was replayed in Kosovo.
U.S. Representative John Kasich of the House Armed Services Committee
admitted that: “We connected ourselves with the KLA which was the staging
point for Bin Laden.”**® In fact, the U.S. government was allied with bin
Laden in the war on Yugodavia through CIA assistance to the Kosovo
Liberation Army (KLA). The Washington Times, for instance, reported that:
“Some members of the Kosovo Liberation Army, which has financed its war
effort through the sale of heroin, were trained in terrorist camps run by
internationa fugitive Osama bin Laden...

“[T]he KLA members, embraced by the Clinton administration in
NATO's... bombing campaign to bring Yugoslav President Slobodan
Milosevic to the bargaining table, were trained in secret camps in
Afghanistan, BosniaHerzegovina and elsewhere, according to newly
obtained intelligence reports... The reports said bin Laden's
organization, known as a-Qaeda, has both trained and financiadly
supported the KLA. Many border crossings into Kosovo by ‘foreign
fighters aso have been documented and include veterans of the
militant group Idamic Jhad from Bosnia, Chechnya and
Afghanistan.”*’

In his CRG paper, ‘Osamagate,’ Chossudovsky refers to authoritative
Congressional testimony and press reports confirming the same. These
examples—there are others—support the thesis explored by Labeviere:
successive U.S. administrations have permitted their alies, Pakistan and
Saudi Arabia, among others, to continue to support Al-Qaeda, with the view
that the latter would conduct regiona operations which ultimately destabilise
U.S. rivals, and thus inadvertently secure U.S. interests.

Labeviere documents a “short-sighted” policy that at first did not
anticipate the degree to which Al-Qaeda would turn against the U.S,, but
even after reaping the bloody fruits of its own policy in the 1998 embassy
bombings, continued to signal a green light to its alies funneling finances
and arms to Al-Qaeda. The maintenance of such a green light signal seems
based on the calculation that the policy would ultimately suit U.S. interests
far better than the alternative option: pursuing meaningful measures to crack
down on bin Laden’s network, including intense pressure on its own regiona
dlies. This effective ‘harbouring’ of Al-Qaeda by successve U.S.
administrations through regiona allies, including the Bush administration,

appears to have continued, even in the aftermath of 11™ September 2001.
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U.S. Protection of Osama

An examination of U.S. attempts to capture Osama bin Laden only adds
weight to the ominous implications of the above facts. According to the
authoritative Jane's Intelligence Review: “In February 1995, U.S. authorities
named bin Laden and his Saudi brother-in-law, Mohammed Jama Khalifa,
among 172 unindicted co-conspirators with the 11 Muslims charged for the
World Trade Center bombing and the associated plot to blow up other New
York landmarks.”**®

Despite this, the United States has consistently blocked attempts to
investigate and capture bin Laden. In March 1996, for example, when bin
Laden was present in Sudan after leaving Saudi Arabia, Mgjor General
Elfatih Erwa—then Sudanese Minister of State for Defense—offered to
extradite bin Laden either to Saudi Arabia or the United States.

“The Sudanese security services, he said, would happily keep close
watch on bin Laden for the United States. But if that would not suffice,
the government was prepared to place him in custody and hand him
over, though to whom was ambiguous. In one formulation, Erwa said
Sudan would consider any legitimate proffer of crimina charges
against the accused terrorist.”**°
Instead of accepting the offer of extradition and indictment of bin Laden,
the U.S. did the opposite:
“[U.S. officialg] said, ‘Just ask him to leave the country. Just don’t let
him go to Somalia, Erwa, the Sudanese generdl, said in an interview.
‘We said he will go to Afghanistan, and they [U.S. officials] said, ‘Let
him.” On May 15, 1996, Foreign Minister Taha sent afax to Carney in
Nairobi, giving up on the transfer of custody. His government had
asked bin Laden to vacate the country, Taha wrote, and he would be
freeto go."**

But this was only one incident out of many in relation to Sudanese
intelligence on the Al-Qaeda network.*** The London Observer, for instance,
reported that: “ Security chiefs on both sides of the Atlantic repeatedly turned
down the chance to acquire a vast intelligence database on Osama bin Laden
and more than 200 leading members of his a-Qaeda terrorist network in the
years leading up to the 11 September attacks...

“They were offered thick files, with photographs and detailed
biographies of many of his principa cadres, and vita information
about al-Qaedd s financid interests in many parts of the globe. On two
Separate occasions, they were given an opportunity to extradite or
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interview key bin Laden operatives who had been arrested in Africa
because they appeared to be planning terrorist atrocities.

None of the offers, made regularly from the start of 1995, was taken
up... The Observer has evidence that a separate offer made by
Sudanese agents in Britain to share intelligence with M16 has been
rejected. This follows four years of similar rebuffs. One U.S. source
who has seen the files on bin Laden’s men in Khartoum said some
were ‘an inch and a half thick’ They included photographs, and
information on their families, backgrounds and contacts. Most were
‘Afghan Arabs.’ Saudis, Yemenis and Egyptians who had fought with
bin Laden against the Soviets in Afghanistan.

‘We know them in detail,” said one Sudanese source. ‘We know their
leaders, how they implement their policies, how they plan for the
future. We have tried to feed this information to American and British
intelligence so they can learn how this thing can be tackled.” In 1996,
following intense pressure from Saudi Arabia and the U.S., Sudan
agreed to expel bin Laden and up to 300 of his associates. Sudanese
intelligence believed this to be a great mistake. ‘ There we could keep
track of him, read hismail,” the source went on.”

Indeed, instead of agreeing to bin Laden’s extradition and indictment,
two years later the U.S. launched an attack on Sudan targeting the Al-Shifa
pharmaceutical plant, claiming that Sudan was harbouring bin Laden-
connected terrorists, in particular by alowing Al-Shifa—alleged by the U.S.
to be developing chemical and biological weapons of mass destruction on bin
Laden’s behalf—to continue operation.

Yet just before the U.S. missile attack, Sudan had made further offers in
relation to hunting down members of bin Laden’s network, that the U.S. had
ignored. According to “a copy of a persona memo sent from Sudan to Louis
Freeh, former director of the FBI, after the murderous 1998 attacks on
American embassies in Kenya and Tanzania,” Sudan had arrested “two
named bin Laden operatives held the day after the bombings after they
crossed the Sudanese border from Kenya...

“They had cited the manager of a Khartoum leather factory owned by
bin Laden as a reference for their visas, and were held after they tried
to rent a flat overlooking the U.S. embassy in Khartoum, where they
were thought to be planning an attack. U.S. sources have confirmed
that the FBI wished to arrange their immediate extradition. However,
Clinton's Secretary of State, Madeleine Albright, forbade it. She had
classed Sudan as a ‘terrorist state,” and three days later U.S. missiles
blasted the al-Shifa medicine factory in Khartoum. The U.S. wrongly
claimed it was owned by bin Laden and making chemica weapons. In
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fact, it supplied 60 per cent of Sudan’s medicines, and had contracts to
make vaccines with the UN.”

Despite this illegal bombing perpetrated by the Clinton administration, ***
Sudan continued to hold the suspects for a further three weeks, “hoping the
U.S. would both perform their extradition and take up the offer to examine
their bin Laden database. Findly, the two men were deported to Pakistan.
Their present whereabouts are unknown.” Furthermore, U.S. indifference to
intelligence information on bin Laden continued into the year 2000:

“Last year the CIA and FBI, following four years of Sudanese
entreaties, sent a joint investigative team to establish whether Sudan
was in fact a sponsor of terrorism. Last May, it gave Sudan a clean hill
of hedth. However, even then, it made no effort to examine the

voluminous files on bin Laden.”**

Sudanese intelligence on Osama bin Laden and Al-Qaeda was not the
only source of massive information spurned by the U.S. government. Jane’'s
Intelligence Digest reports that: “Back in March [2001] Moscow’s
Permanent Misson at the UN submitted to the UN Security Council an
unprecedentedly detailed report on Al-Qaeda's terrorist infrastructure in
Afghanistan, but the U.S. government opted not to act.” The “extent of
intelligence data tabled by the Russians’” was “breathtaking.” Also uncovered
by the report was “the degree of Pakistani military and security involvement
in Afghanistan.”***

The testimony of the late John O’Neill, the Irish-American FBI agent
who for several years led U.S. investigations into Osama bin Laden’s Al-
Qaeda network, is cruciad in understanding the real context of such U.S.
blockage of attempts to investigate, indict and capture bin Laden. O’ Neill,
who was Deputy Director and Director of Anti-terrorism for the FBI,
investigated the bombings of the World Trade Center in 1993, a U.S. base in
Saudi Arabia in 1996, the U.S. embassies in Nairobi and Dar-Es-Salaam in
1998, and the U.S.S. Cole in 2000. According to his FBI associates, John
O'Neill “has been regarded as a dedicated, relentless and hard-charging
investigator who was one of the FBI's brightest stars.” Barry W. Mawn,
Assistant Director of the FBI in charge of the New York office described
O'Neill as“atirelessworker” in whom he had “complete confidence.”** The
Irish Times reported that in interviews with French intelligence analyst Jean-
Charles Brisard:

“He complained hitterly that the U.S. State Department—and behind it
the oil lobby who make up President Bush’'s entourage—blocked
attempts to prove bin Laden’s guilt. The U.S. ambassador to Yemen,
Ms Barbara Bodine, forbade O’ Neill and his team of so-called Rambos
(as the Yemeni authorities called them) from entering Yemen. In
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August 2001, O'Neill resigned in frustration and took up a new job as
head of security at the World Trade Centre. He died in the September
11th attack... The FBI agent had told Brisard: ‘All the answers,
everything needed to dismantle Osama bin Laden’s organisation, can
be found in Saudi Arabia’

But U.S. diplomats shrank from offending the Saudi roya family.
O'Nelll went to Saudi Arabia after 19 U.S. servicemen died in the
bombing of a military ingtalation in Dhahran in June 1996. Saudi
officias interrogated the suspects, declared them guilty and executed
them—uwithout letting the FBI talk to them. ‘ They were reduced to the
role of forensic scientists, collecting material evidence on the bomb
site, Brisard says. O'Neill said there was clear evidence in Y emen of

bin Laden’s guilt in the bombing of the U.S.S. Cole *in which 17 U.S.

servicemen died,” but that the State Department prevented him from

getting it.”

We should emphasise here that by deliberately blocking O’ Neill’s access
to the “clear evidence” of bin Laden’s guilt—which would have justified his
indictment and arrest—the State Department deliberately allowed bin Laden
to escape apprehension.

Elaborating on O’ Neill’s observations on the Saudi role, former French
intelligence officer Brisard, who authoreda report on Al-Qaeda for the French
intelligence agency DST, and his colleague Guillaume Dasquié, Editor of
Intelligence Online, record that “a significant part of the Saudi royal family
supports bin Laden.” Pointing out that attacksingde the kingdom have targeted
U.S. interests, not the Saudis, Brisard notes that: “Saudi Arabia has aways
protected bin Laden—or protecteditsalf from him.”*%°

The late O’'Nelll was certainly not aone in his stance. According to
Pulitzer prize-winning journalist Seymour Hersh, reporting in the New
Yorker, “American intelligence officials have been particularly angered by
the refusa of the Saudis to help the FBI and the CIA run ‘traces —that is,
name checks and other background information—on the nineteen men, more
than haf of them believed to be from Saudi Arabia, who took part in the
atacks on the World Trade Center and the Pentagon...

“*They knew that once we started asking for a few traces the list would
grow,” one former official said. ‘It’'s better to shut it down right away.’
He pointed out that thousands of disaffected Saudis have joined
fundamentalist groups throughout the Middle East. Other officias said
that there is a growing worry inside the FBI and the CIA that the actud
identities of many of those involved in the attacks may not be known
definitively for months, if ever. Last week, a senior intelligence officia
confirmed the lack of Saudi cooperation and told me, angrily, that the
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Saudis ‘have only one constant—and it's keeping themselves in

power.’ n437

There is also evidence compounding O'Neill’s testimony (discussed
previoudy) that there was direct contact between the CIA and Osama bin
Laden as late as the summer of 2001. The respected French daily Le Figaro,
owned by the U.S. defence contractor Carlyle Group that employs former
Presdent George W. Bush Sr., reported in October 2001 that Osama bin
Laden underwent treatment in July at the American Hospital in Dubai, where
he met a ClA officia. Radio France International (RFI) aso corroborated the
report, which was based on authoritative French intelligence sources as well
as “awitness, a professional partner of the administrative management of the
hospital.” The newspaper recorded:

“Dubai, one of the seven emirates of the Federation of the United Arab
Emirates, North-East of Abu-Dhabi. This city, population 350,000, was
the backdrop of a secret meeting between Osama bin Laden and the
local CIA agent in July. A partner of the administration of the
American Hospital in Duba claims that public enemy number one
stayed at this hospital between the 4th and 14th of July...

Each floor of the hospital has two ‘VIP suites and fifteen rooms. The
Saudi billionaire was admitted to the waell-respected urology
department run by Terry Callaway, galstone and infertility specialist.
Dr Calaway declined to respond to our questions despite several phone
cdls... While he was hospitalised, bin Laden received visits from many
members of his family as well as prominent Saudis and Emiratis.
During the hospital stay, the local CIA agent, known to many in Dubai,
was seen taking the main elevator of the hospital to go to bin Laden's
hospital room. A few days later, the CIA man bragged to afew friends
about having visited bin Laden. Authorised sources say that on July
15th, the day after bin Laden returned to Quetta, the CIA agent was
called back to headquarters...

According to Arab diplomatic sources as well as French intelligence,
very specific information was transmitted to the CIA with respect to
terrorist attacks against American interests around the world, including
on US soil. A DST [French intelligence] report dated 7 September
enumerates al the intelligence, and specifies that the order to attack
was to come from Afghanistan.

In August, a the U.S. Embassy in Paris, an emergency meeting was
called between the DGSE [French foreign intelligence service] and
senior U.S. intelligence officials. The Americans were extremely
worried, and requested very specific information from the French about
Algerian activists, without advising their counterparts about the
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reasons for their requests. To the question ‘what do you fear in the
coming days?, the Americans kept a difficult-to-fathom silence.

Contacts between the CIA and bin Laden began in 1979 when, as a
representative of his family’s business, bin Laden began recruiting
volunteers for the Afghan resistance against the Red Army. FBI

investigators examining the embassy bombing sites in Nairobi and Dar
es Salaam discovered that evidence led to military explosives from the
US Army, and that these explosives had been delivered three years
earlier to Afghan Arabs, the infamous international volunteer brigades
involved side by side with bin Laden during the Afghan war against the
Red Army. In the pursuit of its investigations, the FBI discovered
‘financing agreements that the CIA had been developing with its
‘Arab friends for years. The Dubai meeting is then within the logic of

‘a certain American policy. ”*®

The London Guardian elaborated on the French report, noting that:

“Two months before September 11 Osama bin Laden flew to Dubai for
10 days for treatment at the American hospital, where he was visited
by the loca CIA agent... The disclosures are known to come from
French intelligence... Intelligence sources say that another CIA agent
was also present; and that Bin Laden was also visited by Prince Turki
a Faisa, then head of Saudi intelligence, who had long had links with
the Taliban, and Bin Laden.”**

Bin Laden's apparent stay at the American hospital in Duba has also
been commented on by the London Times.**® These reports, while now
denied by both the CIA and the hospital concerned, must be taken serioudy
due to the fact that they are based on highly credible sources, namely a
partner of the hospital’s administrative management along with disclosures
from French intelligence—sources that both Le Figaro and Radio France
International describe as “authoritative.”

Arab specidlist Antoine Sfeir commented that the ongoing CIA-bin
Laden contacts indicated by these reports are not surprising: “The CIA
maintained contacts with bin Laden until 1998. Those contacts didn’t end
after bin Laden moved to Afghanistan. Until the last minute, CIA agents
hoped bin Laden would return to U.S. command, as was the case before
1998." Sfeir further noted that the information on the ongoing CIA-bin
Laden connection had been in circulation for 15 days before £ November
2001. 4

Radio France Internationa followed up its first report with more specific
information, identifying the CIA agent as Larry Mitchell, “a connoisseur of
the Arab world and specidist of the (Arab) peninsula,” whose business card
identified him as a “consular agent.” According to RFI, Mitchdl is “a CIA
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agent and a prominent fixture in Dubai’s expatriate community.” RFI aso
reported that the precise date of the agent’s encounter with bin Laden was
12" July, two days before the head of Al-Qaeda left the hospital.**?

The respected weekly newspaper the New York Press has taken these
reports serioudy.**® They have aso been commented on by Michel
Chossudovsky, Professor of Economics at the University of Ottawa and
Director of the Centre for Research on Globalisation (CRG) based in
Montreal, Canada. He observes that:

“An article in the French daily Le Figaro confirms that Osama bin
Laden underwent surgery in an American Hospital in Dubai in July.

During his stay in the hospital, he met with a CIA officia. While on
the World's ‘most wanted list,’ no attempt was made to arrest him
during his two week stay in the hospital, shedding doubt on the
Adminigtration’ s resolve to track down Osama bin Laden.

Barely afew days ago Defense Secretary Rumsfeld stated that it would

be difficult to find him and extradite him. It's like ‘searching for a

needle in a stack of hay.” But the U.S. could have ordered his arrest

and extradition in Dubai last July. But then they would not have had a

pretext for waging a war. Meanwhile, innocent civilians are being

killed by B-52 Bombers as means ‘to go after’ Osama bin Laden.

According to UN sources, the so-called ‘ campaign against international

terrorism’ could lead to the death of severa million people from an

impending famine.”***

But the blocking of attempts to apprehend Osama bin Laden does not end
there. Judicial Watch has aso noted the curious fact that a number of
organisations in the U.S., some of which have even received government
funding, reportedly support Osama bin Laden financialy: “Based on our
analysis of publicly available documents, and other published reports, it is
clear that this U.S.-based network has also provided financial resources for
Osama bin Laden and his terrorist operations.”

Judicial Watch accuses America's Interna Revenue Service (IRS) of
looking “the other way when it came to investigating and taking action
againgt radical 1damic front groups which reportedly launder money to fund
terrorist operations on American soil.” The Washington DC law firm further
notes that one particular group, the Idamic African Relief Agency (IARA),
which has continued to operate unhindered, reportedly “received 2 U.S. State
Department grants in 1998 worth $4.2 million dollars’ and “transferred
money to Mercy International ... that purchased the vehicles used by Osama
bin Laden to bomb the U.S. embassies in both Kenya and Tanzania on
August 8, 1998.”**° The Agency also has reported ties to “an individual who
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supplied the cell phone Osama bin Laden used to orchestrate the bombing of
two U.S. embassies in Africain 1998.”*4°

The conservative U.S. news service, NewsMax, elaborated on Judicial
Watch's concerns, reporting the legal watchdog's charge that: “Osama hin
Laden’ sal Qaida network, Hamas and others continue to use tax-exempt U.S.-
based charitiesto bankroll terror, unencumbered by eventhe hint of anaudit...

“At least 16 U.S.-basednon-profit entities have beenlinked financially to
bin Laden, the legal watchdog group says. Thedecision not to investigate
these groups is especidly difficult to understand given that the
information in the Judicial Watch complaint is hardly a state secret. On
the contrary, the complaint is based largely on reports published over the
last three years in venues like the New York Times... One such
questionable non-profit, the Idamic African Rdief Agency (IARA), has
been directly linked to earlier attacks on U.S. interests by bin Laden [in
1998]... Not only did [Internal Revenue Service Commissioner] Rossotti
& Co. not investigate, that same year the Clinton State Department
showered the |ARA with $4.2 million in grants.”**’

In the wake of this dire publicity concerning the Bush administration’s
continuation of the Clinton ‘turn ablind eye to terrorists’ legacy, the former’s
Treasury Department reportedly began investigating two of the aleged
“front” organisations, including the IARA. But as Judiciad Watch noted in a
November update on these developments: “Though now under investigation
by the Treasury Department, the organization, based in Columbia Missouri,
still operates freely.” The law firm's Chairman and Genera Counsdl Larry
Klayman, observes:

“It is quite apparent that U.S. charitable dollars have been misused to

finance international terrorism and the likes of Osama bin Laden.

Given the numerous ties of the Idamic African Reief Agency and

other non-profit front groups to terrorism, Judicial Watch does not

understand what is holding up law enforcement action against them.

Asset seizures must begin immediately, before it is too late.” **®

Jonathan Weiner, former U.S. Deputy Assistant Secretary of State for

International Law Enforcement, has pointed out that some of these charities
are legitimate enterprises “whose funds have been diverted or taken

advantage of or used for terrorist purposes.”

Nevertheless, the ongoing lack of a full-blown inquiry is disconcerting,
as is the unrestricted freedom with which these organisations continue to
operate, despite supposed investigations.**°

Weiner aso confirmed in November 2001 that Bahrain, Kuwait, Saudi
Arabia, and the United Arab Emirates have failed to assist federd officiasin
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the disclosure of known terrorist funds moving back and forth between those
countries:

“Since September 11th, al those countries have frozen accounts or
have looked in their banking systems for the money of people
associated with terrorist finance, [and] have gone through the entire list
provided by the United States... country after country has announced,
‘We've looked for funds. We' ve looked diligently. We ve been ready
to freeze some funds. We just haven't found anything.” No money in
the UAE, no money in Kuwait... There is, | can tell, no money
announced in Saudi Arabia, none announced in Bahrain. Well, given
that we know [that terrorist] funds came out of there and we know [that
terrorist] funds went back there, their inability to find funds is pretty
astonishing.”**°

The Bush administration has been directly complicit in this. The New
Yorker notes that even in the aftermath of 11" September, the Saudi
establishment has been “shielded from Washington's foreign-policy
bureaucracy.” According to one U.S. government expert on Saudi affairs,
“Only atiny handful of people inside the government are familiar with U.S.-
Saudi relations. And that is purposeful.” This cozy relationship appears to be
behind the Bush administration’s blocking of inquiries into Saudi-bin Laden
terrorist connections. “When the Saudis were confronted by press reports that
some of the substantial funds that the monarchy routinely gives to Ilamic
charities may actually have gone to Al Qaeda and other terrorist networks,
they denied any knowledge of such transfers. [National Security Agency]
intercepts, however, have led many in the inteligence community to
conclude otherwise.”

Y et despite the U.S. government’s longstanding knowledge of the Saudi
establishment’s financial support of Osama hbin Laden and Al-Qaeda, as also
corroborated by former State Department official Jonathan Weiner, “The Bush
administration has chosennot to confront the Saudi leadership over itsfinancial
support of terror organizations and itsrefusal to hdp inthe investigation. ‘ Asfar
as the Saudi Arabians go, they’ve been nothing but cooperative, President
Bushsaid atanews conference on September 24th."***

Two banks located in Bahrain and Kuwait—the Faysal Idamic Bank and
the Kuwait Finance House—which had been listed in European reports as
having terorist ties, “were also excluded from Bush J.’s financia
crackdown after 11" September.” Worse still, both of these ingtitutions are
correspondent banks with Deutschebank, the German financial giant with
links to insider trading in connection with 11" September.

Reuters further reported on 7" November 2001 that the U.S. Treasury
Department had added 61 people and organisations to the President’ s origina
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Executive Order of 23 September, purportedly directed at cracking down on
the financia arteries of Al-Qaeda—including banks in Somalia and Nassau,
the Bahamas. “But mysteriously, no banks in Bahrain, Kuwait, or Saudi
Arabiawere named in either the original order or its expansion.”

More curiously, according to the FBI, Osama bin Laden's personal
bank—al Shama Idamic Bank—which is headquartered in Khartoum,
Sudan, and which bin Laden helped capitdize with $50 million in private
funds, “is being investigated by U.S. or overseas authorities.” Yet the U.S
News reported on 8" October 2001 that the FBI refuses to indicate exactly
which authority, an event that is made al the more ominous by the fact that
President Bush has dso failed to include Osama bin Laden's a Shama
Islamic Bank in his Executive Order.** Yet it is a matter of record that bin
Laden’s persona bank is used through correspondent transactions with other
banks to fund Al-Qaeda projects.

For instance, according to the Washington Post, one of bin Laden's
associates testified at the U.S. trid on the 1998 African embassy bombings
that: “$250,000 was wired from a Shamal Idamic Bank directly into the bin
Laden cohort's Texas bank account—where he used it to buy a plane
delivered to bin Laden... intended to transport Stinger missiles.”

The Financial Times elaborated that:

“The money was wired from the Wadi a Aqig account at al Shama
bank via Bank of New York to a Bank of America account held in
Dallas, Texas by Essam a Ridi. Al Ridi, an Egyptian flight instructor
who met bin Laden in Pakistan in 1985, flew the plane to
Khartoum.”**

Thus, even now there appears to be an effective unofficia block on U.S.
investigations into Saudi and bin Laden terrorist connections, originating

from high-level elements of the Bush administration.

Asthe Toronto Sar comments. “What are we to make of al of this? One
possible conclusion is that the bin Laden terror problem was alowed to get
out of hand because bin Laden, himsdf, had powerful protectors in both
Washington and Saudi Arabia.”***

These facts should be understood in context with Brisard's and Dasquié' s
revelations in their study, Bin Laden, that many members of the Saudi royal
family—whom Bush has personaly shidded from FBI investigation—
actudly support Osama bin Laden. Even now, the FBI continues to largely
ignore Saudi Arabia. According to the London Times reporting at the
beginning of November 2001, “FBI arrogance and secrecy dismays the U.S.”
The FBI has apparently “exhausted most of its leads’ and acts as if
“convinced that the key to a-Qaeda operations lay in Germany.” Thisisin
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spite of the fact that FBI arrests made by the security services in Germany
and other European countries based on these dleged FBI leads have
consistently shown that “in amost every case these cells knew nothing about
the September 11 hijacks.”**®

Even more extraordinary is the refusal to apprehend known Al-Qaeda
cells currently operating within the U.S. According to the London Telegraph:
“The redl fear for the future since the attacks in New Y ork and Washington is
that dozens, perhaps hundreds of operatives loya to Al’Qaeda are in
America and Canada ready to strike again, awaiting a call from Osama Bin
Laden...

“In every terrorist act by Al’ Qaeda since the early 1990s bin Laden has
ensured that the actua suicide bombers were ‘deepers,’ long-time
resdents of the countries they attacked, with ordinary jobs, identity
papers and a socia and family life. Bin Laden has spent a decade
building up such networks of individuas, some of whom have never
travelled to Afghanistan to meet him.”**®

Yet as the Washington Post reported in late September, the FBI had
known “for the last several years’ of the existence in the U.S. of such
multiple Al-Qaeda groups:

“The FBI has not made any arrests because the group members entered
the country legally in recent years and have not been involved in illega
activities since they arrived, the officids said. Government officials

say they do not know why the cells are here, what their purpose is or

whether their members are planning attacks. One official even

described their presence as ‘possibly benign,” though others have a
more sinister interpretation and give assurances that measures are in

place to protect the public.”**’

Firgly, U.S. government officials are issuing contradictory statements to
justify their failure to apprehend confirmed ‘deeper’ members of the Al-
Qaeda terrorist network led by Osama bin Laden within the U.S. This in
itself gives good reason to doubt the official explanations.

Secondly, the failure to apprehend these known Al-Qaeda operatives is
in stark contrast to official U.S. policy, initiated at the behest of Attorney
Gengrd John Ashcroft, where hundreds of Arab-Americans, Mudim-
Americans and immigrants have been rounded up and questioned based
solely on their ethnicity and religion. The result has been that Arabs and
other foreigners without any connection to terrorism at al are being detained
indefinitely, while known members of bin Laden’s terrorist network walk
around the U.S. fredly.
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Thirdly, the idea that known members of the Al-Qaeda terrorist network
have not been arrested because they may be “benign,” istotally absurd, given
that the Al-Qaeda network is responsible for the murder of nearly 3,000
innocent civilians on 11" September, and many others in previous attacks.
The U.S. government, in other words, has been knowingly harbouring Al-
Qaeda terrorists both before and after 11" September.

The resultant picture is shocking. In tandem with the documentary record
briefly discussed before, it strongly suggests a possible combination of U.S.
collusion and complicity, rooted in brute strategic and economic interests.
The U.S. government has maintained, and continues to maintain, regional
alliances with client regimes that it knows full well support Al-Qaeda.

The government has also ensured, and continues to ensure, that the
principal sources of Al-Qaeda’s support continue to operate unimpeded,
thanks to the obstruction and deflection of investigations. The government
has aso knowingly harboured Al-Qaeda terrorists, and continues to do so. It
appears that one of the primary determinants of this policy is the desire on
the part of elements of the U.S. government to maintain interests that are
secured through these regiona alliances.

The U.S.-Pakistan Alliance and the I S|

The missing link in this increasingly sinister web of relationships is the
role of Pakistani intelligence in 11" September. To understand this role, it is
necessary to understand the historic ties between Pakistan, Al-Qaeda and the
United States. Osama bin Laden was recruited during the 1980s in
Afghanistan, “ironically under the auspices of the CIA, to fight Soviet
invaders.”**®

In 1979, “the largest covert operation in the history of the CIA” was
launched in response to the Soviet invasion of Afghanistan.**® Centrd Asia
speciaist Ahmed Rashid records in the leading foreign policy journal
Foreign Affairs that:

“With the active encouragement of the CIA and Pakistan's IS [Inter
Services Intelligence], who wanted to turn the Afghan jihad into a
global war waged by all Mudim states against the Soviet Union, some
35,000 Mudlim radicals from 40 Islamic countries joined Afghanistan's
fight between 1982 and 1992. Tens of thousands more came to study in
Pekistani madrasahs. Eventualy more than 100,000 foreign Mudlim
radicals were directly influenced by the Afghan jihad.”*®

Through the Pakistani 1Sl, the CIA covertly trained and sponsored the
Afghan fighters. In this respect, the IS served as the intermediary through
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which the CIA funnelled arms, planning and training to the Afghan rebels.
As the Washington Post notes:

“In March 1985, President Reagan signed National Security Decision
Directive 166 [authorizing] stepped-up covert military aid to the
mujahideen...

[This Directive] made clear that the secret Afghan war had a new goal:
to defeat Soviet troops in Afghanistan through covert action and
encourage a Soviet withdrawal. The new covert U.S. assistance began
with a dramatic increase in arms supplies—a steady rise to 65,000 tons
annually by 1987,... as well as a ‘ceasdless stream’ of CIA and
Pentagon specidists who traveled to the secret headquarters of
Pakistan's ISl on the main road near Rawalpindi, Pakistan. There the
CIA specidists met with Peakistani intelligence officers to help plan
operations for the Afghan rebels.”***

The Pakistani 1S thus became an integra instrument of U.S. foreign
policy in the region. Supported by the CIA through intensive military
assistance, the 1S became a “paralel structure wielding enormous power
over all aspects of government.”**

The result was not merely a working partnership between the American
and Pakistani intelligence agencies, but a subservient relationship, in which
the CIA maintained overal directive dominance over an 1Sl that pursued
policies within the strategic framework established by its principa donor, the
United States. This can clearly be seen in the impact of the intensification of
regional CIA operations through the ISI on Generd Zia Ul Hag's
military regime:

“*Relations between the CIA and the ISl had grown increasingly warm

following Zia's ouster of Bhutto and the advent of the military

regime’... During most of the Afghan war, Pakistan was more
aggressively anti-Soviet than even the United States. Soon after the

Soviet military invaded Afghanistan in 1980, Zia sent his ISl chief to

destabilize the Soviet Central Asian states. The CIA only agreed to this

plan in October 1984.. ‘the CIA was more cautious than the

Pekistanis” Both Pakistan and the United States took the line of

deception on Afghanistan with a public posture of negotiating a

settlement while privately agreeing that military escalation was the best

course.” %

Jane’'s Defence Weekly provides a detailed overview of this U.S.-
Pakistan-Afghanistan triangle: “The U.S.-led ‘proxy war’ model was based
on the premise that 1lamists made good anti-Communist alies. The plan was
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diabolicaly smple: to hire, train and control motivated Idamic
mercenaries...

“The trainers were mainly from Pakistan's Inter Services Intelligence
(1SI) agency, who learnt their craft from American Green Beret
commandos and Navy SEALS in various U.S. training establishments.
Mass training of Afghan mujahideen was subsequently conducted by
the Pakistan Army under the supervision of the elite Special Services
Group (SSG), specialists in covert action behind enemy lines and the
ISl... According to intelligence estimates over 10,000 Idamic
mercenaries, trained in guerrilla warfare and armed with sophisticated
weapons, are unemployed in Pakistan today, waiting to be transported
to the next jihad...

In 1988, with U.S. knowledge, Bin Laden created Al Qaeda (The
Base): a conglomerate of quasi-independent Ilamic terrorist cells in
countries spread across at least 26 countries... Washington turned a
blind eye to Al-Qaeda.”***

Thus, without the consistent support of the U.S. government, Pakistan
would not possess a powerful military intelligence apparatus in the form of
the ISI. Indeed, according to leading U.S. South Asia expert Selig Harrison:
“The Taliban are a creation of America’s Central Intelligence Agency (CIA)
in cooperation with Pakistan’s Inter-Services Intelligence Directorate (151)...

“After the Soviet invasion of Afghanistan in 1979, the CIA had

encouraged militant Ilamic groups from around the world to come to

Afghanistan. The U.SA. and its alies provided 3 hillion dollars for

building up the largest ever funded ‘resistance movement’ ... Pakistan

played a centra role in the operation. Not only that most of the
militants had been prepared and trained in Pakistani madrassas (Idamic
religious schools) and camps, Pakistan provided aso money and arms.

The CIA had left much of the decison how to use the U.S. funds to

Pakistani specialists.”

Most crucialy, Harrison pointed out as recently as March 2001 that the
ISI’s role as a regiona instrument of the CIA has not ended. The “old
association between the intelligence agencies continues.” Harrison observes
that: “The CIA dill has close links with the 1S1.7*® Indeed, as noted in
previous chapters, multiple officia U.S. government sources confirm that,
through Pakistani military intelligence, the U.S. had been providing support
to the Taiban before the anti-Taiban shift took precedence. The State
Department’s Patterns of Global Terrorism reported in 2000, regarding
Genera Pervez Musharraf’s regime, that:
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“The United States remains concerned about reports of continued
Pekistani support for the Taliban’s military operations in Afghanistan.
Credible reporting indicates that Pakistan is providing the Taliban with
materiel, fuel, funding, technical assistance, and military advisers.
Pakistan has not prevented large numbers of Pakistani nationals from
moving into Afghanistan to fight for the Taliban. ISlamabad aso failed
to take effective steps to curb the activities of certain madrassas, or
religious schools, that serve as recruiting grounds for terrorism.”*%

But behind the public front of concern, Pakistan's support of the Taliban
was supported by the United States. We should remind ourselves of the
previousy noted confirmation of the U.S. House of Representatives
International Relations Committee in mid-2000 that: “[T]he United States
has been part and parcel to supporting the Taiban al along, and ill islet me
add...

“You have a military government in Pakistan now that is arming the
Taliban to the teeth... Let me note; that [U.S.] aid has always gone to
Taiban areas... We have been supporting the Taliban, because dl our
aid goes to the Tdiban areas. And when people from the outside try to
put aid into areas not controlled by the Taliban, they are thwarted by
our own State Department... At that same moment, Pakistan initiated a
major resupply effort, which eventually saw the defeat, and caused the
defeat, of dmost al of the anti-Taliban forces in Afghanistan.” *®’

Two days after the attacks on the World Trade Centre and the Pentagon,
a delegation led by the Director-Genera of the Pakistani 1Sl, Lt. Gen.
Mahmoud Ahmed, was in Washington. The delegation was holding high-
level talks with officials at the U.S. State Department.*®® Reuters reported
that the Pakistani ISl chief, in fact, “was in the U.S. when the attacks
occurred.”** The New York Times further noted that “he happened to be here
on aregular visit of consultations.”*”® The London Daily Telegraph revealed
that he had arrived in the U.S. on 4th September, a week before the 11™
September attacks.*™

One day before the WTC and Pentagon attacks, the Pakistani daily The
News observed that: “ISI Chief Lt-Gen Mahmood's week-long presence in
Washington has triggered speculation about the agenda of his mysterious
meetings at the Pentagon and Nationa Security Council...

“Officidly, State Department sources say he is on a routine visit in
return to CIA Director George Tenet's earlier visit to Islamabad.
Officia sources confirm that he met Tenet this week. He also held long
parleys with unspecified officials at the White House and the Pentagon.
But the most important meeting was with Mark Grossman, U.S. Under
Secretary of State for Political Affairs. U.S. sources would not furnish
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any details beyond saying that the two discussed ‘matters of mutua
interests'...

One can safely guess that the discussions must have centred around
Afghanistan, relations with India and China, disarmament of civilian
outfits, country’s nuclear and missiles programme and, of course,
Osama Bin Laden...

What added interest to his vigt is the history of such visits. Last time
Ziauddin Butt, Mahmood's predecessor, was here during Nawaz
Sharif’s government domestic politics turned topsy-turvy within days.
That this is not the first vist by Mahmood in the last three months
shows the urgency of the ongoing parleys.”*"

In the aftermath of these high-level, behind-the-scenes meetings, which
continued after 11™ September, it was confirmed that under U.S. orders and
representing U.S. demands, Lt. Gen. Mahmoud Ahmad would meet with
Taliban leaders to negotiate Osama bin Laden’s extradition to the U.S. The
Washington Post reported that: “At American urging, Ahmed traveled... to
Kandahar, Afghanistan. There he delivered the bluntest of demands. Turn
over bin Laden without conditions, he told Taliban leader Mohammad Omar,
or face certain war with the United States and its allies.”*”® Once again, this
event illustrated the degree to which the ISl represents an instrument of U.S.
interests.

Just prior to the commencement of the Anglo-American bombing
campaign against Afghanistan, Lt. Gen. Mahmoud Ahmad was dismissed
from his position as IS| Director-General. ISl Public Relations stated that he
had sought retirement after being superseded on 8th October. But it was soon
found that he had actually been dismissed quietly, at U.S. instigation, for far
more serious reasons. the alleged leader of the 11th September suicide
hijackers, Mohamed Atta, received funding on the Generd’ s instructions.

Yet as dready discussed, the 1Sl has had access to considerable military
and financial aid from the U.S,, for the purpose of supporting operations in
Afghanistan by militant groups. Could U.S. aid have been funnelled to Atta,
and possibly other Al-Qaeda members, through the 1SI? The Times of India
reported that:

“While the Pakistani Inter Services Public Relations claimed that

former ISl director-genera Lt-Gen Mahmud Ahmad sought retirement

after being superseded on Monday, the truth is more shocking.

Top sources confirmed here on Tuesday, that the general lost his job
because of the ‘evidence’ India produced to show his links to one of
the suicide bombers that wrecked the World Trade Centre. The U.S.
authorities sought his removal after confirming the fact that $100,000
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were wired to WTC hijacker Mohammed Atta from Pakistan by
Ahmad Umar Shelkh at the instance of Gen Mahmud.

Senior government sources have confirmed that India contributed
significantly to establishing the link between the money transfer and
the role played by the dismissed ISl chief. While they did not provide
details, they said that Indian inputs, including Sheikh’s mobile phone
number, helped the FBI in tracing and establishing the link.

A direct link between the ISl and the WTC attack could have enormous
repercussions. The U.S. cannot but suspect whether or not there were
other senior Pakistani Army commanders who were in the know of
things. Evidence of a larger conspiracy could shake U.S. confidence in
Pakistan's ability to participate in the anti-terrorism coalition.”*"*

This report was based on the officia findings of Indian intelligence,
which had been promptly passed on to U.S. officials in Washington. Agence
France Press confirmed that:

“A highly-placed government source told AFP that the ‘damning link’
between the Generd and the transfer of funds to Atta was part of
evidence which India has officially sent to the U.S. ‘ The evidence we
have supplied to the U.S. is of a much wider range and depth than just
one piece of paper linking a rogue genera to some misplaced act of
terrorism,’ the source said.”*"

These damning revelations were soon further confirmed in the Pakistani
and American press. The respected Pakistani newspaper Dawn, for instance,
reported that the links first uncovered by Indian intelligence had been
confirmed by the American FBI. When the FBI traced calls made between
Genera Ahmad and Sheikh’'s cellular phone, a pattern linking the genera
with Sheikh clearly emerged:

“Director General of Pakistan's Inter-Services Intelligence (1S1) Lt Gen
Mahmud Ahmed has been replaced after the FBI investigators
established credible links between him and Umar Sheikh, one of the
three militants released in exchange for passengers of the hijacked
Indian Airlines plane in 1999. The FBI team, which had sought
adequate inputs about various terrorists including Sheikh from the
intelligence agencies, was working on the linkages between Sheikh and
former 1Sl chief Gen Mahmud which are believed to have been
substantiated... Informed sources said there were enough indications
with the U.S. intelligence agencies that it was at Gen Mahmud's
ingtruction that Sheikh had transferred 100,000 U.S. dollars into the
account of Mohammed Atta, one of the lead terrorists in strikes at the
World Trade Centre on Sept 11.”47
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The Wall Street Journal has also confirmed these reports*’” According
to the conservative U.S. news service WorldNetDaily, “Dennis M. Lorme,
director of FBI's financia crimes unit, confirmed the transaction” between
the 1Sl and the CIA.*"® It is worth noting again the acute observations of the
Times of India that:

“A direct link between the 1Sl and the WTC attack could have
enormous repercussions. The U.S. cannot but suspect whether or not
there were other senior Pakistani Army commanders who were in the
know of things. Evidence of a larger conspiracy could shake U.S.
confidence in Pakistan's ability to participate in the anti-terrorism
coalition.” *"®

This should be understood in context with the observations of Middle
East specialist Mohamed Heikal, former Egyptian Foreign Minister and “the
Arab world's most respected political commentator.” The London Guardian
reports that Heikal questions whether Osama bin Laden and his Al-Qaeda
network were solely responsible for the September 11 attacks. He pointed out
in October that:

“Bin Laden does not have the capabilities for an operation of this
magnitude. When | hear Bush talking about a-Qaida as if it was Nazi
Germany or the communist party of the Soviet Union, | laugh because
| know what is there. Bin Laden has been under surveillance for years:
every telephone call was monitored and a-Qaida has been penetrated
by American intelligence, Pakistani intelligence, Saudi intelligence,
Egyptian intelligence. They could not have kept secret an operation
that required such a degree of organisation and sophistication.”**°

Military veteran Stan Goff, a retired U.S. Army Specia Forces Master
Sergeant and an expert in military science and doctrine, similarly observes
that: “ One, there is the premise that what this de facto administration is doing
now is a ‘response’ to September 11th. Two, there is the premise that this
attack on the World Trade Center and the Pentagon was done by people
based in Afghanistan. In my opinion, neither of these is sound...

“This cartoon heavy they’ve turned bin Laden into makes no sense,
when you begin to appreciate the complexity and synchronicity of the
atacks. As a former military person who's been involved in the
development of countless operations orders over the years, | can tell
you that this was a very sophisticated and costly enterprise that would
have left what we call a huge ‘signature.” In other words, it would be
very hard to effectively conceal .”*®*

The testimony of Milton Beardman, the former director of CIA
operations in Afghanistan, is aso worth noting. In a CBS interview after the
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11™ September attacks with Dan Rather, Beardman was asked if he thought
Osama bin Laden was responsible for the attacks. Beardman virtualy
snubbed the possibility, observing that on his evaluation of the scale of the
atacks, blame should not be automatically laid on bin Laden. Instead, he
elaborated that it was more likely that a far more “ sophisticated” intelligence
operation was behind these precise coordinated attacks. Indeed, when pressed
by Rather on the posshbility of bin Laden's involvement, Beardman
responded: “Look, if they didn't have an Osama bin Laden, they would
invent one.”*%?

Other intelligence experts have been even more forthright in deriding the
idea that Al-Qaeda could perform the 11" September operation aone.
Former CIA official Robert Bagr, who was Case Officer in the Directorate of
Operations for the CIA from 1976 to 1997, and who received the Career
Intelligence Medal in 1997, observes. “Did bin Laden act aone, through his
own a-Qaida network, in launching the attacks? About that I’'m far more
certain and emphatic: no.”*®®

U.S. military intelligence expert Professor Anthony Cordesman—Senior
Fellow in Strategic Assessment at the Washington-based Center for Strategic
and International Studies (CSIS) and former senior officia in the Office of
the Secretary of Defense, the State Department, the Department of Energy,
the Defense Advanced Research Projects Agency, and the NATO
International  Staff—strongly warned against assuming that Osama bin
Laden’s Al-Qaeda was to blame.

He emphasised the fact that no known terrorist network, including Al-
Qaeda, has the capability to carry out the sophisticated 11" September
attacks alone: “There is a level of sophistication and co-ordination that no
counterterrorism expert had ever previoudy anticipated, and we don't have a
group that we can immediately identify that has this kind of capability.”***

Eckehardt Werthebach, former President of Germany’s domestic
intelligence service, Verfassungsschutz, notes that “the deathly precision”
and “the magnitude of planning” behind the 11" September attacks would
have required “years of planning” An operation of this level of
sophigtication, would need the “fixed frame” of a state intelligence
organisation, something not found in a“loose group” of terrorists like the one
alegedly led by Mohammed Atta while he studied in Hamburg, Germany.
Werthebach thus argues that the scale of the attacks indicates that they were a
product of “state organized actions.”*®°

Ancther former German official has similarly dismissed the conventional

explanation. German intelligence expert Herr von Buelow, who was State
Secretary in the German Defence Ministry in the 1970s and Socid
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Democratic Party Speaker in the Schalk-Golodkowski investigation
committee in 1993, observed that:

“[T]he planning of the attacks was technically and organizationaly a
master achievement. To hijack four huge airplanes within a few
minutes and within one hour, to drive them into their targets, with
complicated flight maneuvers! This is unthinkable, without years-long
support from secret apparatuses of the state and industry.”**°

Military-strategic analyst and retired Mgor Genera Dr. Mahmoud
Khaaf (credentias on p. 156) agrees with this analysis. In a presentation at
the Center for Asian Studies in the University of Cairo, he observed:
“Military-strategic analysis is an independent branch of science within the
strategic sciences, and not mere predictions and speculations. But, it has
complete rules that are identical to ‘post-mortem tests,” an autopsy process

used to find out the causes of the death...

“First, [regarding the September 11 attacks] we are confronted with a
technical operation of extremely great dimensions. We estimate that
the planning organ for this operation must have consisted of at least
100 specialized technicians, who needed one year for planning... The
high level of the operation does not match the level of the evidence
presented... Now, the puzzling question is the preparation and training
of these people who had the capability to follow up and execute...
There is, actually, one question, which is posed here. That is that there
is no proportiondity between the performance of the operation and the
performance of bin Laden and his followers.”*®’

Indeed, the picture clears in light of the fact noted by Ahmed Rashid that
ISl ties to Osama bin Laden continued throughout the 1990s. Rashid, for
example, refersto “The IS’ s close contacts with bin Laden, and the fact that
he was helping fund and train Kashmiri militants who were using the Khost
camps... in December 1998...

“Bin Laden himself pointed to continued support from some el ements
in the Pakistani intelligence services in an interview. ‘As for Pakistan
there are some governmental departments, which, by the Grace of God,
respond to the Idamic sentiments of the masses in Pekistan. This is
reflected in sympathy and co-operation. However, some other
governmental departments fell into the trap of the infidels. We pray to
God to return them to the right path,” said Bin Laden.”

Rashid also notes that “Support for Bin Laden by elements within the
Pekistani establishment” has been accompanied by the fact that: “The U.S.
was Pakistan's closest ally, with deep links to the military and the 1SI.”*%®
The suggestive implications are that bin Laden derived intensive support for
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the 11" September operation from a state intelligence organisation. Indeed, a
CBS Evening News report by anchorman Dan Rather and foreign
correspondent Barry Peterson, citing authoritative Pakistani intelligence
sources, reveds that: “the night before the September 11 terrorist attack,
Osama bin Laden was in Pakistan. He was getting medical treatment with the
support of the very military that days later pledged its backing for the U.S.
war on terror in Afghanistan...

“Pakistan intelligence sources tell CBS News that bin Laden was
spirited into this military hospital in Rawalpindi for kidney diaysis
treatment. On that night, says this medical worker who wanted her
identity protected, they moved out al the regular staff in the urology
department and sent in a secret team to replace them. She says it was
treatment for a very specia person. The specia team was obviously up
to no good.

‘The military had him surrounded, says this hospital employee who
aso wanted his identity masked, ‘and | saw the mysterious patient
helped out of a car. Since that time’ he says, ‘I have seen many
pictures of the man. He is the man we know as Osama bin Laden. |
aso heard two army officers talking to each other. They were saying
that Osama bin Laden had to be watched carefully and looked after.’
Those who know bin Laden say he suffers from numerous aillments,
back and stomach problems. Ahmed Rashid, who has written
extensively on the Taliban, says the military was often there to help
before 9/11.7%%°

In light of the Times revelations, it seems that Pakistani military
intelligence did indeed play a crucia role in the 11" September attacks. But
despite the ISl role, it is a matter of record that the U.S. “confidence in
Pakistan” has continued al too enthusiastically. It should be noted that
Pekistani military headquarters in Rawalpindi are host to numerous resident
U.S. military intelligence operatives and advisers. The potential implications
are worthy of an urgent inquiry. As WorldNetDaily correspondent Paul
Sperry observes:

“The Bush administration has said the money trail is a crucia link in
uncovering the support network for the 19 hijackers, and then
destroying that network. However, a mgor hub of that network is in
Pakistan, and it's ill active.. It's become increasingly clear that
Pakistan is the epicenter of terrorism, and is most likely sheltering bin
Laden. Yet, at least publicly, the Bush administration continues to trust
the Pekistani government to help capture bin Laden and other anti-

American terrorists.”*%°
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The U.S., which one would think would be spearheading a full-scale
investigation into the role of the ISl, actualy prevented one from going
ahead by asking from behind the scenes for the 1Sl chief—whose funding of
Mohamed Atta just before 11" September had suddenly been revedled in
India (and later in Pakistan)—to quietly resign.

The U.S. has thus studiously obstructed a more in-depth inquiry,
preventing further understanding of the I1SI’s role, and preventing the 1Sl
chief from being arrested, investigated and put on trial for his support of
Atta—whom FBI files describe as “the lead hijacker of the first jet airliner to
dam into the World Trade Center and, apparently, the lead conspirator.”***

In an extensive analysis of the sequence of events relating to the 1SI’s
role, University of Ottawa analyst Professor Michel Chossudovsky observes

that:

“[T]he Bush Administration’s relations with Pakistan's 1S|l—including
its ‘consultations with General Mahmoud Ahmad in the week prior to
September 11—raise the issue of ‘cover-up’ as well as ‘complicity.’
While Ahmad was talking to U.S. officials a the CIA and the
Pentagon, the ISl allegedly had contacts with the September 11
terrorists. The perpetrators of the September 11 attacks had links to
Pekistan's 1Sl, which in turn has links to agencies of the U.S.
government. What this suggests is that key individuals within the U.S.
military-intelligence establishment might have known about 1Sl
contacts with the September 11 terrorist ‘ring-leader’ Mohamed Atta
and failed to act. Whether this amounts to the outright complicity of
the Bush Administration remains to be firmly established.”**

With regards to Chossudovsky’s last comment, even limited to the
available data currently at hand, the implications of these facts suggest the
admittedly distasteful possibility of U.S. complicity.

We should reiterate that, with the links between the ISI chief and terrorist
ring-leader Mohamed Atta discovered, including the former’s authorisation
of financial support of the latter, the only U.S. response was to quietly
pressure the then Director-General of Pakistani military intelligence, Lt. Gen.
Mahmoud Ahmad, to ‘request’ early retirement after the discovery of his
activitiesin India.

Y et, this amounts to an attempt to cut short a fuller investigation into the
ISI’s clearly supportive role in the 11" September attacks. As the Times of
India rightly noted: “A direct link between the ISl and the WTC attack could
have enormous repercussions. The U.S. cannot but suspect whether or not
there were other senior Pakistani Army commanders who were in the know
of things.”
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By pressuring the then ISl Director-General to resign without scanda on
the pretext of routine reshuffling, while avoiding any publicity with respect
to his siphoning of funds to aleged lead hijacker Mohamed Atta, the U.S.
had effectively blocked any sort of investigation into the matter. It prevented
wide publicity of these facts, and alowed the ISl chief, who was clearly
complicit in the terrorist attacks of 11" September, to walk away free.

It seems that the U.S. has attempted to protect the former ISl Director-
Generd and the ISl as a whole from any further damaging revelations on
what appears to be their complicity in supporting those behind the air attacks.
It is certainly conceivable that one consideration by the U.S. administration is
the instrumental role played by Musharraf’s Pakistan in U.S. regional
strategy. An inquiry into 1Sl complicity in the 11" September attacks could
jeopardise beyond repair the close U.S.-Pakistani relations that are so crucia
in U.S. strategy.

Yet, one would think that the dire threat to U.S. interests and security
supposedly posed by Al-Qaeda and its supporters would be sufficient for the
U.S. to temporarily override its regional dstrategy, to find and hold
accountable those responsible for the terrorist attacks. Instead, the U.S. is till
supporting those responsible.

There is no valid reason, therefore, to arbitrarily dismiss the possibility
that there are additional, broader reasons for the U.S. blocking of an inquiry
into 1Sl complicity in 11" September, as related to U.S. culpability. Indeed,
in light of the other documentation presented here, there is evidence
suggesting that thisis a reasonable, if not probable, possibility that isin need
of urgent investigation.

Whatever the motivations behind such a cynical policy, it is indisputable
that the U.S. response a least suggests a significant degree of indirect
complicity on the pat of the U.S. government, which appears more
interested in protecting, rather than investigating and prosecuting, a military
intelligence agency that funded the lead hijacker in the WTC and Pentagon
attacks. The term complicity is being used here in the broad sense of
responsibility through aiding and abetting the terrorists involved. And
indeed, by continuing to use and promote the Pakistani ISl in relation to its
regiona U.S. drategy, the U.S. is adso promoting a military intelligence
agency with confirmed links to terrorism.

When the U.S.” confirmed role in aiding and abetting |SI-backed support
of the 11™ September terrorist attacks is taken into account, dong with
longstanding U.S. ties to Osama bin Laden through his family, Saudi royas
and Pekistani military intelligence, U.S. complicity arguably becomes a far
more plausible and tenable explanation of the facts. It would therefore
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amount to either extreme foolishness or presumptive prejudice to refuse to
consider this explanation.

Given the facts discussed previoudly, given the U.S.” intimate links with
Pekistani intelligence, and given the latter’s direct linkage to the terror
attacks of 11" September, it is clearly time to bring the leading players of
U.S. government, military and intelligence agencies into the witness box.
Jared |srael has put the point well:

“[T]he U.S. pressured the now-retired head of Pekistani Intelligence,
Lt-Gen Mahmud Ahmad, to ‘request’ early retirement... If so, wasn't
this an attempt to head off a fuller investigation? And doesn't that
mean the U.S. side knows Ahmad is guilty as charged?

And by demanding early retirement, rather than a trial for terrorism,
hasn't the U.S. government acknowledged that a) in sending $100,000
to one of the alleged WTC hijackers, Ahmad was acting in accord with
ISl policy and b) the CIA or other U.S. covert forces were aso
involved?

If... Lt-Gen Mahmud Ahmad was pushed into retirement to prevent a
scandal, and if President Bush really wants to punish the parties behind
9-11, why doesn’'t he demand a full investigation so that the guilty can
be brought to justice, whether they are to be found in Kabul, or

Idamabad, or Riyadh, or Langley or Washington, D.C.2...

Washington's silence is one more piece of evidence that the ‘infinite
war’ against terrorism is an infinite sham.”**

Isradl is right to bluntly state the possibility of U.S. involvement in Lt.
Gen. Ahmad's funding of Mohamed Atta. He is dso right in noting that the
implications of the known aspects of the U.S. policy clearly illustrate that the
war against terror is a “sham.” If it were not a sham, then we would expect
that, as part and parcel of the war on terror, the U.S. government would
mount a full-fledged inquiry into the ISl role. The fact that the Bush
administration has blocked such an inquiry proves that the administration is
not genuinely concerned with finding the terrorists responsible for 11"
September and holding them accountable.

Other interests of the Bush administration, evidently, take precedence.
Indeed, it is apparent that such U.S. strategic and economic interests are
largely responsible for why the U.S. government’s policy continues to
promote supporters of terrorism. Exactly what these interests are—whether
they are merely regionally strategic or encompass the need to protect a more
snister U.S. complicity—requires a further independent inquiry. A full
investigation into these issues is therefore a matter of urgency.



6. American Ties with the Most Wanted Man on Earth 227

As investigative journalist Wayne Madsen observes in a useful summary
of why a further independent inquiry into these events is required:

“The CIA’s connections to the 1Sl in the months before September 11
and the weeks after are aso worthy of a full-blown investigation. The
CIA continues to maintain an unhedthy alliance with the ISl, the
organization that groomed bin Laden and the Tdiban...

General Ahmed was in Washington, DC on the morning of September
11 meeting with CIA and State Department officials as the hijacked
planes dammed into the World Trade Center and Pentagon... [It was
later] confirmed that General Ahmed ordered a Pakistani-born British
citizen and known terrorist named Ahmed Umar Shelk to wire
$100,000 from Pakistan to the U.S. bank account of Mohammed Atta,
the lead hijacker... [N]Jo move has been made to question General
Ahmed or those U.S. government officials, including Deputy Secretary
of State Richard Armitage, who met with him in September. Clearly,
Genera Ahmed was a mgjor player in terrorist activities across South
Asa, yet gill had very close ties to the U.S. government. Genera
Ahmed's terrorist-supporting activities—and the U.S. government
officials who tolerated those activities—need to be investigated.”***
But they have not been investigated, and any such investigation has now
been successfully shelved by the Bush administration. The imperidistic
agenda, pursued behind the scenes of U.S-ingtigated ISl reshuffling —

apparently meant to deflect attention from 1Sl complicity in the attacks —
became manifest only a few days after Lt. Gen. Mahmoud Ahmad's early

‘retirement,” when the U.S.-led bombardment of Afghanistan began:

The Pekistani newspaper the Frontier Post reported that U.S.
Ambassador Wendy Chamberlain had contacted the Pakistani Minister of
Qil. A previousy abandoned UNOCAL pipeline planned to stretch from
Turkmenistan, through Afghanistan, and along the Pakistani coast, designed
to sdl oil and gas to China, was once more ready for construction, “in view
of recent geopolitical developments.”4%°
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7. The New War: Power and Profit, at Home 7
and Abroad

“ Afghanistan’s people have been brutalized — many are starving and
many have fled... The United States respects the people of
Afghanistan — after all, we are currently itslargest source of
humanitarian aid — but we condemn the Taliban regime... Our war
on terror beginswith al Qaeda, but it does not end there. It will not
end until every terrorist group of global reach has been found,
stopped and defeated.”

U.S. President George W. Bush Jr.
(Address to a Joint Session of Congress and the American People, 20
September 2001)

“We'regoing to protect and honor the Constitution, and | don’t have
the authority to set it aside. If | had the authority to set it aside, this
would be a danger ous gover nment, and | wouldn’t respect it. We'll
not be driven to abandon our freedoms by those who would seek to

destroy them.”

U.S. Attorney Genera John Ashcroft
(Lega Times, 22 October 2001)

TheBush Crisis

Prior to 11" September 2001, the Bush administration was entangled,
seemingly inextricably, in a crisis. Revelations in the press concerning the
fraudulent nature of George W. Bush Jr.’s rise to Presidency through the
suppression of votes, increasingly exacerbated the perception among
millions, both in the U.S. and around the world, that his administration was
illegitimate.*®°

This perception was further exacerbated by the fact that, as noted by
Robert Pollin, Professor of Economics at the University of Massachusetts at
Amherst: “U.S. economic policymakers have failed for amost a year to
respond adequately to the looming global recession.”*" Indeed, a pand of
academic experts announced in November that the U.S. economy had been in

recession since March 2001, a recession that was only steadily worsening.**®
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In the face of this deepening recession both within the U.S. and abroad,
support for the Bush administration began to rapidly erode. Consequently,
the administration began to display signs of internal dissension and disarray,
fueled by the inability to solve rocketing unemployment rates, massive losses
on the stock market, outrage at the disappearance of the budget surplus—not
to mention the government’ s reneging on its own pledges not to spend Social
Security funds.

The New York Times reported in August the growing trepidation among
world leaders that the global economy was plunging straight into a global
recession: “The world economy, which grew at a raging pace just last year,
has slowed to a crawl as the United States, Europe, Japan and some major
developing countries undergo a rare simultaneous Sump...

“The latest economic statistics from around the globe show that many
regional economic powers—Italy and Germany, Mexico and Brazil,
Japan and Singapore—have become economically stagnant, defying
expectations that growth in other countries would help compensate for
the dowdown in the United States... [M]any experts say the world is
experiencing economic whiplash, with growth rates retreating more
quickly and in more of the leading economies than at any time since
the ail shock of 1973. And this time there is no single factor to account
for the widespread weakness, persuading some economists that
recovery may be sow in coming. ‘We have gone from boom to bust
faster than any time since the oil shock,” said Stephen S. Roach, the
chief economist of Morgan Stanley, a New York investment bank.
‘When you screech to a halt like that, it feels like getting thrown
through the windshield.””

The Bush administration had attempted to paint an overly optimistic
picture of this escalating economic dump, described sceptically by the New
York Times: “The Bush administration still puts a relatively bright gloss on
the picture” While noting the White House projection of a sharp upturn in
the U.S. economy later in 2001 or in early 2002, the Times went on to report
that Ford Motor Co. was preparing to announce more layoffs. CEO Jacques
Nasser had observed that: “We don't see any factor that’ s going to restore the
robustness of the economy” in the next 12 to 18 months.**°

The bleak assessment was corroborated by the Wall Sreet Journal:
“Almost a year after the dump in high tech and manufacturing began, many
of the other pillars that have been supporting the economy are starting to
weaken...

“Businesses that started dashing spending on equipment and software
late last year are now doing the same on office and industria real
estate... Automobile sales, which were surprisingly healthy most of this
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year thanks to generous incentives and low interest rates, have started
to dide.... Since April, most industry groups tracked by the Labor
Department have been reducing payroalls.... Construction shaved 61,000
jobs between March and July, the clearest example of the spillover
from high tech and manufacturing.”

Then the U.S. Department of Labor released its August 2001 report,
illustrating the sharp rise in the unemployment rate from 4.5 percent to 4.9
percent in a single month. Every sector of the economy was faced with job
cuts, leading to amost one million jobs being wiped out in August done. The
prospect of a collapse in consumer spending further meant that investors had
rushed to dump their stock holdings. The Dow Jones Industrial Average fell
230 points, ending the day well below the 10,000 mark. Lacking any other
economic quick fixes, the Federal Reserve continued to drop interest rates
with amost no perceptible results. The Bush tax cut was a failure,
succeeding only in rewarded the rich for being rich while further penalising
the poor, and accordingly widely criticised.

Abroad, the Bush administration was becoming increasingly isolated due
to its foreign policies. In Iraq, the U.S. sanctions policy, dong with U.S.
plans to intensify its confrontational stance against the country, was met with
open opposition from France, Germany, Russia and China. The U.S. was in
conflict with most of its nominal alies on a whole host of issues on the Bush
foreign policy agenda—including global warming, missile defence, and an
international criminal court—and was consequently failing to push through
resolutions via the United Nations Security Council and other international
bodies.

Along with this, the unprecedented escaation of widespread social
protests through a massive wave of ‘anti-globalisation’ demonstrations,
illustrated increasing outrage both in the U.S. and around the world at
policies seen as unjust and self-serving. The Bush administration was
increasingly perceived to be aleading player in such policies.

Polls showed that Bush approva ratings—both persona and political—
were plummeting, and were accompanied by increasing discussion of his
administration’s illegitimacy, in light of the vote fraud at Florida In dl
likelihood, it was going to be extremely difficult for the Bush administration
to maintain its aready uncomfortably dim mgority in the House for the
midterm elections in 2002.°° Indeed, the strategic and military planning
outlined in Brzezinski’s Council on Foreign Relations study in 1997 would
have been impossible to implement at this time.

The 11" September attacks came at a time of severe crisis for the Bush
administration. Faced with multiple problems both a home and abroad, with
domestic polls plummeting and U.S. alies increasingly aggravated, the Bush
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administration was confronted with an escalating crisis of legitimacy. As
U.S News reports, the Bush administration’s “initial, go-it-alone instincts
offended even close friends...

“But it was much more than Bush's bluntness that put off friends in
Europe and Asia The administration had championed a treaty-busting
missile shield, taken a hard line on China, and regjected pacts to ban
nuclear tests, establish a war crimes court, and curb globa warming.
From abroad, Bush seemed to define U.S. interests narrowly and to act
unilaterally. Newspapers caricatured him as alone cowboy.” "

Sociologist Walden Bello, Professor at the University of the Philippines
and Executive Director of the Bangkok-based research centre Focus on the
Global South, further summarises the escalating crisis of legitimacy faced by
the Bush administration, as well as the overal structure of world order in
genera, under U.S. dominance:

“Just a few weeks before, some 300,000 people had marched in Genoa
in the biggest show of force yet of an anti-corporate globalization
movement that had gone from strength to strength with demonstrations
in Seattle, Washington, DC, Chiang Mai, Prague, Nice, Porto Alegre,
Honolulu, and Gothenburg. The Genoa protests underlined the fact that
the legitimacy of the key ingtitutions of global economic governance—
the International Monetary Fund (IMF), World Bank, and the World
Trade Organization (WTO)—was at an dl time low, as was the whole
doctrine of liberalization, deregulation, and privatization that came
under the rubric of neolibera economics or the ‘Washington
Consensus.” This erosion of credibility had been brought about by a
concatenation of disasters including the Asian financia crisis, the
dow-motion disaster of structurd adjustment in Africa and Latin
America, and the spread of the financid crisis, first to Russa and
Brazil and now to Argentina. What made the crisis of legitimacy of the
key indtitutions of capitaist globaization so volatle is that it
intersected with a profound structural crisis of the global economy.

Before September 11, moreover, an erosion of legitimacy haunted not
only the ingtitutions of global economic governance but also the
institutions of political governance in the North, particularly the United
States. Increasing numbers of Americans had begun to redlize that their
libera democracy had been so thoroughly corrupted by corporate
money politics that it deserved being designated a plutocracy. In the
US presidential campaign of 2000, Senator John McCain ran a popular
campaign that was centered on one issue: reforming a system of
corporate control of the electoral system that, in scale, was unparalleled
in the world. The fact that the candidate most favored by Big Business
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lost the popular vote—and according to some studies, the electora vote
as well—and till ended up president of the world’'s most powerful
libera democracy did not help in shoring up the legitimacy of a
political system that had been described by many observers as aready
in a state of being in a state of ‘cultura civil war’ between
conservatives and liberals, a polarization that had roughly haf the
country on each side of the divide.”**

Exploiting 9-11

It is thus a matter of record that prior to 11" September, faced with alack
of any significant domestic support and growing resistance from other
powerful rivals in Europe and Asia the U.S. government had become
increasingly hampered in implementing its traditional policies. There was
increasing opposition even among America s close alies to its interventionist
foreign policies. But handed the public mood of shock and revulsion over the
shocking tragedy of 11" September, the Bush administration was able to
exploit these sentiments to advance long-standing global economic and
strategic ams.

Powerful sections of the U.S. dlite thus viewed the events of 11"
September as a welcome opportunity to implement an agenda designed to
secure broad strategic and economic interests through the expansion and
consolidation of U.S. military influence. Accordingly, the Bush
administration immediately proposed an open-ended expansion of U.S.
military action abroad, coupled with the suppression of dissent a home,
which conveniently paved the way for just the sort of “sustained and directed
American involvement” in Central Asia hecessary for domination of Eurasia,
and thus the establishment of U.S. “global primacy,” as discussed extensively
by long-time U.S. strategic adviser Zbigniew Brzezinski.

With U.S. plans to conduct a military invasion of Afghanistan in place,
11™ September provided the pretext for the implementation of international
policies designed to subjugate the entire country. Under the guise of a
response to the terrorist attacks on New York City and the Pentagon on 11"
September 2001, the United States has led an internationa coalition of
powers in initiating a bombing campaign on Afghanistan. The campaign was
purportedly part of a new “war on terror,” an attempt to root out the
individuals suspected of having masterminded and arranged the attacks on
U.S. soil, and moreover to abolish the regime that harboured them.

But the U.S. response illustrates that this supposed “war on terrorism” is

itself guilty of the same category of politically-motivated atrocities that
amount to terrorism, making a mockery of the idea that the U.S. has
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genuinely humanitarian motives. Indeed, the officiad FBI definition of
terrorism states that: “Terrorism is the unlawful use of force or violence
against persons or property to intimidate or coerce a government, the civilian
population, or any segment thereof, in furtherance of politica or socia
objectives.”

Starving to Death, Waiting to be Killed

U.S. and British politica leaders promised their public that the
intervention in Afghanistan would not target the country’s civilian
population. U.S. House minority leader Dick Gephardt, for instance, insisted
that: “[T]his is not a strike against the people of Afghanistan.” But such
assurances appear to be contrary to fact. The West's strategy of targeting
civilians to achieve regional socio-political objectives in Afghanistan—a
strategy faling directly under the FBI definition of terrorism—was perhaps
most explicitly outlined in a statement by the Chief of British Defence Staff,
Admiral Michad Boyce. Referring to the ongoing bombing campaign, he
stated:

“The squeeze will carry on until the people of the country themselves
recognize that this is going to go on until they get the leadership
Changed.nSO?:

This admission appears to clearly indicate that Anglo-American strategy
includes the punishment of Afghan civilians as an integral objective,
designed to secure the fina am of toppling the Taiban regime. In this
context, the mass destruction of civilian structures and lives that
accompanied the bombing campaign can be understood as part of a deliberate
strategy of collective punishment against the Afghan people. That the war
against Afghanistanis itself an act of international terrorism thus clarifies the
duplicity of the concept of a“war on terrorism” led by the United States.

The New York Times reported around mid-September that: “\Washington
has also demanded [from Pakistan] a cutoff of fuel supplies,... and the
elimination of truck convoys that provide much of the food and other
supplies to Afghanistan's civilian population.”®®* By the end of that month,
America’s ‘newspaper of record’ reported that officials in Pakistan “said
today that they would not relent in their decision to sed off the country’s
1,400-mile border with Afghanistan, a move requested by the Bush
administration because, the officials said, they wanted to be sure that none of
Mr. Bin Laden’s men were hiding among the huge tide of refugees”>®

The U.S,, in other words, effectively caled for the mass daughter of
millions of Afghans, most of them aready on the brink of starvation, thanks
to sanctions imposed under U.S. pressure, by severing the country’s last few
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sources of limited sustenance. Additionally, aimost all aid missions withdrew
or were expelled from Afghanistan in anticipation of the coming bombing
campaign, while severd million innocent Afghans fearfully fled to the
borders, creating a massive refugee crisis.

With the borders of surrounding countries sealed for several weeks,
under U.S. pressure, the refugees were trapped, deprived of sustenance and
largely destined to die, with the international community barely batting an
eyelid. Indian novelist Arundhati Roy commented aptly on what was at first
dubbed Operation Infinite Justice, now euphemistically retitled Operation
Enduring Freedom: “Witness the infinite justice of the new century. Civilians
starving to death while they’ re waiting to be killed.” >

This, indeed, was the assessment of UNICEF, the World Food
Programme, the United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees, the
United Nations Programme for Humanitarian Affairs, the Office for the
Coordination of Development, and the United Nations High Commissioner
for Human Rights. A joint statement issued toward the end of September by
the above named warns that:

“A humanitarian crisis of stunning proportions is unfolding in

Afghanistan... With the eyes of the world on Afghanistan and the

neighbouring countries, we call attention to the following indicators of

a broad and disastrous humanitarian crisis:

a. More than five million people currently require humanitarian

assistance to survive, including more than one million people wh